THIS PROPOSED DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT AS CONTAINING ADEQUATE INFORMATION UNDER BANKRUPTCY CODE SECTION 1125(b) FOR USE IN THE SOLICITATION OF ACCEPTANCES OR REJECTIONS OF THE CHAPTER 11 PLAN DESCRIBED HEREIN. ACCORDINGLY, THE FILING AND DISSEMINATION OF THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT ARE NOT INTENDED TO BE, AND SHOULD NOT IN ANY WAY BE CONSTRUED AS, A SOLICITATION OF VOTES ON THE PLAN, NOR SHOULD THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT BE RELIED ON FOR ANY PURPOSE BEFORE A DETERMINATION BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT THAT THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT CONTAINS ADEQUATE INFORMATION.

THE DEBTOR RESERVES THE RIGHT TO AMEND OR SUPPLEMENT THIS PROPOSED DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AT OR BEFORE THE HEARING TO CONSIDER THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT.

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

-----x :

In re :

: Chapter 11 AMBAC FINANCIAL GROUP, INC., :

: Case No. 10-15973 (SCC)

Debtor.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT OF AMBAC FINANCIAL GROUP, INC.

Peter A. Ivanick Allison H. Weiss DEWEY & LEBOEUF LLP 1301 Avenue of the Americas New York, New York 10019 Tel: (212) 259-8000

Fax: (212) 259-6333

- and -

Todd L. Padnos (admitted *pro hac vice*)
DEWEY & LEBOEUF LLP
1950 University Avenue, Suite 500
East Palo Alto, California 94303
Tel: (650) 845, 7000

Tel: (650) 845-7000 Fax: (650) 845-7333

Attorneys for the Debtor and Debtor in Possession

Dated: July 8, 2011

New York, New York



10159731107080000000000001

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article I.	Introduction	1
A.	Purpose and Effect of the Plan	2
B.	Overview of Chapter 11	9
C.	Summary of Classification, Treatment, and Voting Rights of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests	10
D.	Summary of Solicitation Package and Voting Instructions	11
E.	The Confirmation Hearing	13
F.	Confirming and Consummating the Plan.	13
G.	Rules of Construction	13
Н.	Computation of Time	14
I.	Reference to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor	14
J.	Application of this Disclosure Statement and Plan Provisions to the Plan Settlement Option and the Deconsolidation Option	
	. Background	
A.	Overview of AFG's Business	
В.	AFG's Corporate Structure	
C. 1. 2.	AFG's Debt Structure The Senior Notes The Subordinated Notes	15
D.	Tax-Sharing Agreement	
E. 1. 2.	Events leading to the Chapter 11 Case	18
F.	Shareholder Litigation	23
G. 1. 2. 3.	Restructuring Initiatives Negotiations with Third-Party Investors Negotiations with the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee Negotiations with OCI	26 26
H. Article II	Events Leading Up to the Commencement Date	
A. 1. 2. 3.	Overview of the Chapter 11 Case Commencement of the Chapter 11 Case and First Day Orders The Trading Order Appointment of Committee Claims	29 30

	5.	IRS Adversary Proceeding	33
	6.	Wisconsin Proceedings	
	7.	Veera Adversary Proceeding	
	8.	Exclusivity	
	9.	One State Street Settlement	37
	10.	Shareholder Litigation Settlement	37
	11.	Efforts to Finalize Term Sheet	
В.	,	Γhe Plan	41
	1.	The Plan Settlement Option	42
	2.	The Deconsolidation Option	49
Articl	e IV.	Summary of the Plan	<u>50</u>
A.		Administrative Claims and Priority Tax Claims	51
	1.	Administrative Claims	51
	2.	Administrative Claims Bar Date	51
	3.	Accrued Professional Compensation	51
	4.	Priority Tax Claims	52
	5.	U.S. Trustee Fees	52
	6.	Indenture Trustee Fees and Informal Group Fees	52
В.	(Classification and Treatment of Classified Claims and Equity Interests	53
	1.	Summary Classification of Claims and Equity Interests	53
	2.	Treatment of Claims and Equity Interests	
	3.	Subordinated Claims	57
	4.	Confirmation Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1129(b)	58
	5.	Elimination of Vacant Classes	58
	6.	Controversy Concerning Impairment	58
C.]	Means for Implementation of the Plan	58
	1.	Sources of Consideration for Plan Distributions	58
	2.	New Organizational Documents	58
	3.	Continued Corporate Existence	59
	4.	Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtor	59
	5.	New Common Stock	59
	6.	Section 1145 Exemption	59
	7.	Cancellation of Securities and Indentures	59
	8.	Plan Settlement	60
	9.	Directors and Officers of the Reorganized Debtor	61
	10.	Corporate Action	
	11.	Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions	61
	12.	Exemption from Certain Taxes and Fees	62
	13.	Litigation Trust	62
D.	-	Treatment of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	
	1.	Assumption or Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	
	2.	Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	
	3.	Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	
	4.	Nonoccurrence of Effective Date	63

E.		Provisions Governing Distributions	64
	1.	Record Date for Distributions	
	2.	Timing and Calculation of Amounts to be Distributed	64
	3.	Disbursing Agent	
	4.	Rights and Powers of Disbursing Agent	64
	5.	Delivery of Distributions and Undeliverable or Unclaimed Distributions	
	6.	Compliance with Tax Requirements	
	7.	Allocations	
	8.	Setoffs and Recoupment	
	9.	Claims Paid or Payable by Third Parties	67
F.		Procedures for Resolving Contingent, Unliquidated, and Disputed Claims	67
	1.	Resolution of Disputed Claims	
	2.	Disallowance of Claims	69
	3.	Amendments to Claims	69
G.		Settlement, Release, Injunction, and Related Provisions	70
	1.	Discharge of Claims and Termination of Equity Interests	70
	2.	Injunction	
	3.	Exculpation	71
	4.	General Releases by the Debtor	71
	5.	General Releases by Holders of Claims and Equity Interests	
	6.	Releases Required Pursuant to the Stipulation of Settlement	71
	7.	Release of Liens	72
Н.		Conditions Precedent to Confirmation and Consummation of the Plan	73
	1.	Conditions Precedent to Confirmation	73
	2.	Conditions Precedent to Consummation	73
	3.	Waiver of Conditions	74
	4.	Effect of Nonoccurrence of Conditions to Consummation	74
I.		Modification, Revocation, or Withdrawal of the Plan	74
	1.	Modification and Amendments	
	2.	Effect of Confirmation on Modifications	74
	3.	Revocation or Withdrawal of the Plan	74
J.		Retention of Jurisdiction	75
K.		Miscellaneous Provisions.	77
	1.	Immediate Binding Effect	77
	2.	Additional Documents	
	3.	Payment of Statutory Fees	77
	4.	Dissolution of Committee	78
	5.	Reservation of Rights	78
	6.	Successors and Assigns	
	7.	Service of Documents	78
	8.	Further Assurances	
	9.	Term of Injunctions or Stays	
	10.	ϵ	
	11.	Exhibits and Related Documents	79

	12.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	13.	\mathcal{B}	
	14	11	
	15.		
Artic	le V.	Solicitation and Voting Procedures	<u>80</u>
A		The Solicitation Package	81
В.		Voting Deadline	81
C.		Voting Instructions	
	1. 2.	Beneficial Owners	
		Nominees	
D.		Voting Tabulation	
		I. Valuation Analysis and Financial Projections	
Aruc	ie vi	II. Confirmation Procedures	
A		The Confirmation Hearing	86
В.		Statutory Requirements for Confirmation of the Plan	86
	1.	Best Interests of Creditors Test/Liquidation Analysis	88
	2.	Feasibility	
	3.	Acceptance by Impaired Classes	
	4.	Confirmation Without Acceptance by All Impaired Classes	90
C.		Persons to Contact for More Information	91
D		Disclaimer	91
Artic	le V	III. Plan-Related Risk Factors and Alternatives to Confirming the Plan	92
A		Certain Bankruptcy Law Considerations	
11	1.	Parties in Interest May Object to the Debtor's Classification of Claims and	
		Equity Interests	92
	2.	The Debtor May Fail to Satisfy the Vote Requirement	93
	3.	The Debtor May Not Be Able to Secure Confirmation of the Plan	93
	4.	The Debtor May Object to the Amount or Classification of a Claim or	
		Interest	
	5.	Risk of Non-occurrence of the Effective Date	94
	6.	Contingencies Will Not Affect Votes of Impaired Classes to Accept or	0.4
	7	Reject the PlanLiquidation under Chapter 7	
	7.	•	
В.		Risks Related to a Plan Based upon the Plan Settlement Option	94
	1.	The Reorganized Debtor May Not Be Able to Realize Residual Value in	0.4
	2	AAC	
	2. 3.	The Rehabilitation Court May Not Approve the Plan Settlement	95
	3.	Ambac Consolidated Group Specific to the Plan Settlement Option	05
		Amoae Consolidated Group Specific to the Fian Settlement Option	93
	4	The Amount of Any Payments by AAC to the Reorganized Debtor	
	4.	The Amount of Any Payments by AAC to the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to the Applicable TSA Amendment Is Uncertain	97
~	4.	The Amount of Any Payments by AAC to the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to the Applicable TSA Amendment Is Uncertain	97 97

1.	A Plan Based upon the Deconsolidation Option Leaves Unresolved	
	Allocation of Administrative Expenses and the Costs of the IRS Adversary	
	Proceeding	97
2.	Litigation of Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated	
	Account and OCI May Result in an Unfavorable Outcome for the Debtor	98
3.	Rejection of the TSA and/or Deconsolidation May Not Be Effective,	
٥.	and/or May Not Result in Availability of NOLs to the Reorganized Debtor.	98
4.	If a Plan Based upon the Deconsolidation Option Is Confirmed, AFG's	
4.		00
~	Relationship with OCI Will Become Openly Adversarial	99
5.	Reverse Preemption May Result in Any Litigation between AFG and	0.0
	AAC Being Heard in Wisconsin	99
6.	Prior to any Deconsolidation Event, Certain Adverse Tax Consequences	
	Could Result from the Rehabilitation Plan and Possible Substantial	
	Amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the Initiation of	
	Rehabilitation	99
7.	AFG Might Have a Change in Control or Not Qualify for the L5	
	Exception and be Subject to a Limitation on the Use of its NOLs	100
_	2	
О.	Additional Factors to Be Considered	
1.	Business Factors	
2.	Risks Related to AAC, OCI and the Rehabilitation Proceedings	101
3.	Risk Factors That May Affect the Value of Securities to be Issued Under	
	the Plan and/or Recoveries under the Plan	107
4.	Because of the Limitations on Transfer of New Common Stock in the	
	Amended Certificate of Incorporation, the Reorganized Debtor's Ability	
	to Raise Capital Through Equity Investment Is Limited	108
5.	Potential Shareholder Action	
6.	Risks Related to U.S. Federal Tax Characterization of NOLs and the	100
0.	Ambac Consolidated Group Applicable to Both the Plan Settlement	
		100
7	Option and the Deconsolidation Option	109
7.	The Outcome of the IRS Adversary Proceeding May Be Unfavorable to	110
	the Debtor	110
8.	Certain Tax Implications of the Debtor's Reorganization May Increase the	
	Tax Liability of the Reorganized Debtor	110
9.	The Outcome of the NYC Tax Claim Objection May Be Unfavorable to	
	the Debtor	110
Ξ.	Disclosure Statement Disclaimer	110
	The Information Contained Harrin Is for Coliniting Votes Only	110
1.	The Information Contained Herein Is for Soliciting Votes Only	
2.	The Information in this Disclosure Statement May Be Inaccurate	110
3.	Financial Projections and Other Forward Looking Statements Are	
	Not Assured	111
4.	This Disclosure Statement Was Not Approved by the Securities and	
	Exchange Commission	111
5.	The Debtor Relied upon Certain Exemptions from Registration under the	
	Securities Act	112
6.	This Disclosure Statement Contains Forward Looking Statements	
7.	No Legal or Tax Advice Is Provided to You by this Disclosure Statement	
/ •	1 to Legal of 1 white in the track to 1 of of this Discionary Difficilly	

	8.	No Admissions Are Made by this Disclosure Statement	112
	9.	No Reliance Should be Placed upon any Failure to Identify Litigation	
		Claims or Projected Objections	113
	10.		
		Recover Transfers and Assets	113
	11.		
		Relied Upon by the Debtor's Advisors	113
	12.	± •	
		Update	113
	13.	1	
		Authorized	113
Articl	e IX	. Exemptions From Securities Act Registration	
A.		New Common Stock and Warrants	
В.		Issuance and Resale of New Common Stock and Warrants under the Plan	
	1.	Exemption from Registration	
	2.	Resale of New Common Stock; Definition of Underwriter	115
Articl	$^{\circ}$ V		
AIUCI	ι.	CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE	
Aiuci	υ Л. _.	PLANPLAN	116
Artici A.	•		
	•	PLAN	118
	•	PLAN	118
	1.	PLAN	118
	1.	PLAN	118
A.	1. 2.	PLAN Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtor	118
	1. 2.	PLAN Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtor	118 118 119
A.	1. 2. 3.	PLAN Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtor	118 118 119 122
A.	1. 2. 3.	PLAN	118 119 122 122
A.	1. 2. 3.	PLAN Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtor	118 119 122 123 123
A. B.	1. 2. 3.	PLAN Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtor	118 119 122 122 123 124
A.	1. 2. 3. 1. 2. 3.	PLAN	118 119 122 123 123 124
A. B.	1. 2. 3. 1. 2. 3. 1.	PLAN Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtor	118 119 122 123 123 124 125
A. B.	1. 2. 3. 1. 2. 3.	PLAN	118 119 122 123 123 124 125
A. B.	1. 2. 3. 1. 2. 3.	PLAN Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtor	118 119 122 123 123 124 125 125

Exhibits

Exhibit A: The Plan

Exhibits to the Plan (to be provided):

Exhibit A to the Plan: Cost Allocation Agreement

Exhibit B to the Plan: General Unsecured Warrant Agreement

Exhibit C to the Plan: Litigation Trust Agreement Exhibit D to the Plan: Reorganized AFG By-laws

Exhibit E to the Plan: Reorganized AFG Certificate of Incorporation

Exhibit F to the Plan: Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Exhibit G to the Plan: Subordinated Notes Warrant Agreement

Exhibit H to the Plan: TSA Agreement A Exhibit I to the Plan: TSA Amendment B Exhibit J to the Plan: TSA Amendment C

Exhibit B: Stipulation of Settlement

ARTICLE I. INTRODUCTION¹

Ambac Financial Group, Inc. (the "<u>Debtor</u>" or "<u>AFG</u>") is sending you this Disclosure Statement and requests that you vote to approve the proposed *Plan of Reorganization of Ambac Financial Group, Inc.*, attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> (the "<u>Plan</u>"). This Disclosure Statement describes certain aspects of the Plan, including the treatment of Holders of Claims and Equity Interests pursuant to the Plan, as well as certain aspects of the Debtor's operations, financial projections, and other related matters. The form of the Plan shall depend upon whether the Plan Settlement, as defined in the Plan and more fully described in Article III below, is effectuated on or before July 29, 2011 (the "<u>Plan Settlement Deadline</u>"), and the form taken by such Plan Settlement.

Unless otherwise specified herein, the Debtor is making the statements and providing the financial information contained herein as of the date hereof. Holders of Claims and Equity Interests reviewing this Disclosure Statement should not infer that, at the time of their review, the facts set forth herein have not changed since the date on the cover page of this Disclosure Statement. Holders of Claims entitled to vote to accept the Plan must rely upon their own evaluation of the Debtor and their own analysis of the terms of the Plan, including, but not limited to, any risk factors cited herein, in deciding whether to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

The contents of this Disclosure Statement may not be deemed as providing any legal, financial, securities, tax, or business advice. The Debtor urges each Holder of a Claim or an Equity Interest to consult with its own advisors with respect to any such legal, financial, securities, tax, or business advice in reviewing this Disclosure Statement, the Plan and each of the proposed transactions contemplated thereby. Furthermore, the Bankruptcy Court's approval of the adequacy of information contained in this Disclosure Statement does not constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval of the merits of the Plan.

Moreover, this Disclosure Statement does not constitute, and may not be construed as, an admission of fact, liability, stipulation, or waiver. Rather, Holders of Claims and Equity Interests should interpret this Disclosure Statement as a statement made in settlement negotiations related to contested matters, adversary proceedings, and other pending or threatened litigation or actions.

Prior to deciding whether to accept or reject the Plan, Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Note Claims are encouraged to consider carefully the entire Disclosure Statement, including the Plan and the matters described under Article VIII hereof, entitled "Plan-Related Risk Factors and Alternatives to Confirming and Consummating the Plan."

_

¹ This introduction is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information contained in the Plan and elsewhere in this Disclosure Statement. Capitalized terms used in this Disclosure Statement and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.

Other than that which is contained in this Disclosure Statement, the Debtor has not authorized any party to provide any information regarding the Plan. Additionally, other than as set forth in this Disclosure Statement, the Debtor has not authorized any representations concerning the Debtor or the value of its property. Claimants should not rely upon any information, representations, or other inducements given to obtain acceptance of the Plan that are different from, or inconsistent with, the information contained herein and in the Plan.

The Debtor's management has reviewed the financial information provided in this Disclosure Statement. Although the Debtor has used reasonable efforts to ensure the accuracy of this financial information, the financial information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Disclosure Statement has not been audited.

The Debtor recommends that potential recipients of New Common Stock, General Unsecured Warrants and Subordinated Notes Warrants (together with the General Unsecured Warrants, the "Warrants") consult with their own counsel regarding the securities laws consequences related to the transferability of the New Common Stock and the Warrants.

This Disclosure Statement summarizes certain provisions of the Plan, certain other documents, and certain financial information. The Debtor believes that these summaries are fair and accurate in all material respects; however, you should read the Plan and such other documents in their entirety. In the event of any inconsistency or discrepancy between a description contained in this Disclosure Statement and the terms and provisions of the Plan or the other documents or financial information incorporated herein by reference, the Plan, or such other documents, as applicable, shall govern for all purposes. To the extent that the Stipulation of Settlement or any order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Stipulation of Settlement is inconsistent with the Plan, the terms of the Stipulation of Settlement or the order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Stipulation of Settlement shall control.

The Debtor is providing the information in this Disclosure Statement solely for purposes of soliciting the votes of Holders of Claims entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan. Nothing in this Disclosure Statement may be used by any person for any other purpose. Further, all exhibits to this Disclosure Statement are incorporated into this Disclosure Statement as if set forth in full herein.

A. Purpose and Effect of the Plan

The primary purpose of the Plan is to effectuate the restructuring of the Debtor's capital structure in order to bring it into alignment with its present and future operating prospects and to provide the Debtor with greater liquidity. AFG is an insurance holding company which owns 100% of the voting equity interests of Ambac Assurance Corporation ("AAC," and together with the Debtor and its non-debtor subsidiaries, "Ambac"), a Wisconsin-domiciled financial guaranty insurance company. The Debtor depends upon dividend income from AAC to service its debt obligations. As a result of financial and restructuring events at AAC, discussed in Article II.E, AAC has been unable to pay dividends to the Debtor since 2007 and is unlikely to be able to pay dividends in the near future, which has constrained AFG's ability to pay its operating expenses and debt service obligations.

Pursuant to the Plan, on the Effective Date, or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, in full and final satisfaction and discharge of and in exchange for their Claims, each Holder of a Senior Notes Claim shall receive New Common Stock, and each Holder of a General Unsecured Claim and Subordinated Notes Claim shall receive New Common Stock and Warrants in the amounts outlined in the Plan; *provided, however*, that receipt of New Common Stock by the Subordinated Notes Claims is subject to certain conditions set forth in the Plan.

Following months of negotiations among stakeholders, as more fully discussed in Articles II and III, the Debtor and its major creditor constituencies have developed the proposed Plan Settlement, as more fully described in Article III, the structure and terms of which the Debtor believes will benefit all parties. If, on or before the Plan Settlement Deadline, each of the Office of the Commissioner of Insurance for the State of Wisconsin, as regulator of AAC, and the Commissioner of Insurance for the State of Wisconsin, as rehabilitator of the Segregated Account (either or both, as applicable, "OCI"), and AAC agree to the Plan Settlement and agree to execute the agreements and effectuate the transactions contemplated thereby, the Plan shall take the form of the "Plan Settlement Option," as more fully described below. If, by the Plan Settlement Deadline, OCI and AAC have not agreed to the Plan Settlement, the Plan shall take the form of the "Deconsolidation Option," as more fully described below; *provided, however*, that if the Debtor determines that it will be unable to effect the transactions contemplated by the Deconsolidation Option, the Debtor may choose to convert the Chapter 11 Case to a liquidation under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

In developing the Plan, the Debtor carefully reviewed its business operations and compared the estimated recoveries Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests would receive if it were to continue as an ongoing business enterprise to the estimated recoveries such claimants would receive under various liquidation scenarios. Based upon this analysis, the Debtor concluded that the recovery for Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests would be maximized by continuing to operate as a going concern. The Debtor believes that its business and assets have significant potential value that would not be realized in a liquidation under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. Moreover, the Debtor believes that any alternative to Confirmation of the Plan, including attempts by another party in interest to file a plan of reorganization, would result in significant delays, litigation, execution risk, and/or additional costs and, ultimately, would lower the recoveries for Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests. Accordingly, the Debtor strongly recommends that you vote to accept the Plan.

The following summarizes and compares the Plan Settlement Option and the Deconsolidation Option (together, the "Options"):²

² This chart only summarizes the Options. Reference should be made to the entire Disclosure Statement, the Plan and the exhibits thereto for a complete description of the Plan. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this chart shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Plan and in Articles III.B and IV of the Disclosure Statement

	The Plan Settlement Option	The Deconsolidation Option
Transaction	Debt for equity exchange: Holders of Senior Notes Claims to receive New Common Stock in the amount set forth in the Plan; Holders of General Unsecured Claims to receive New Common Stock and General Unsecured Warrants in the amounts set forth in the Plan; and Holders of Subordinated Notes Claims to receive Subordinated Notes Warrants in the amount set forth in the Plan, and if the Class of Subordinated Notes Claims votes in favor of the Plan, New Common Stock in the amount set forth in the Plan.	
Economic Interest in AAC	Reorganized AFG retains ownership of AAC stock. Reorganized AFG also obtains an economic interest in AAC in the form of \$350 million in Junior Surplus Notes issued by the Segregated Account and through the transactions giving effect to the Plan Settlement, specifically, the Cost Allocation Agreement, the TSA and applicable TSA Amendment.	Reorganized AFG causes a deconsolidation of the Ambac Consolidated Group by transferring more than 20% of its AAC stock or transferring the economic rights of more than 20% of its stock in AAC to either AFG Prime, a third-party, or third parties unrelated to Reorganized AFG.
TSA	TSA assumed and amended pursuant to the Plan.	TSA rejected pursuant to the Plan.
NOLs	Pursuant to TSA Amendment A, which is attached to the Plan as Exhibit H, the Allocated NOLs (as defined in TSA Amendment A) shall be available for use by AAC and shall be equal to (a) the lesser of (i) \$4.0 billion and (ii) the amount of NOLs available for use by the Ambac Consolidated Group minus the amount needed to shelter debt-related income realized pursuant to the Plan, less (b) AAC's attributable share of any NOLs surrendered pursuant to a settlement with the IRS. Subject to the applicable credits set for in TSA Amendment A, AAC may utilize the Allocated NOLs in exchange for a payment equal to 40% of the aggregate amount of AAC's regular tax liability and, without duplication, alternative minimum tax liability for the taxable year in which the NOLs are used that would otherwise have been	Reorganized AFG will either (i) elect, under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502- 36(d)(6), to reattribute up to the maximum amount of AAC's NOLs to AFG or (ii) take a worthless stock loss with respect to AAC stock to the maximum extent permitted under the IRC and applicable Treasury Regulations.

The Plan Settlement Option	The Deconsolidation Option
paid by AAC if such NOLs were not available for its use. ³	
Pursuant to TSA Amendment B, which is attached to the Plan as Exhibit I, the Allocated NOLs (as defined in TSA Amendment B) shall be available for use by AAC and shall be equal to (a) the lesser of (i) \$4.0 billion and (ii) the amount of NOLs available for use by the Ambac Consolidated Group minus the amount needed to shelter debt-related income realized pursuant to the Plan, less (b) AAC's attributable share of any NOLs surrendered pursuant to a settlement with the IRS. AAC may utilize the first 40% of the Allocated NOLs at no cost. Subject to the applicable credits set for in TSA Amendment B: (i) in exchange for the use of the next 23.75% of the Allocated NOLs, AAC shall pay to AFG 30% of the aggregate amount of AAC's regular tax liability and, without duplication, alternative minimum tax liability for the taxable year in which the NOLs are used that would otherwise have been paid by AAC if such NOLs were not available for its use; (ii) in exchange for the use of the next 23.75% of the Allocated NOLs, AAC shall pay to AFG 50% of the aggregate amount of AAC's regular tax liability and, without duplication, alternative minimum tax liability for the taxable year in which the NOLs are used that would otherwise have been paid by AAC if such NOLs were not available for its use; and (iii) in exchange for the last 12.5% of the Allocated NOLs, AAC shall pay to AFG 75% of the aggregate amount	
of AAC's regular tax liability and, without	

³ If a corresponding amended plan of rehabilitation with respect to the Segregated Account has not been proposed to the Rehabilitation Court by December 31, 2011, AAC shall make a Cash payment to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of \$50,000,000, and further, if such plan of rehabilitation has not been confirmed by the Rehabilitation Court by March 31, 2012, AAC shall make an additional Cash payment to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of \$50,000,000, and further, if a plan of rehabilitation has not become effective by June 30, 2012, AAC shall make a Cash payment to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of \$100,000,000; *provided, however*, that such cash payment shall serve as a credit, without duplication, against future payments in respect of Allocated NOLs.

	The Plan Settlement Option	The Deconsolidation Option
	duplication, alternative minimum tax liability for the taxable year in which the NOLs are used that would otherwise have been paid by AAC if such NOLs were not available for its use. ⁴	
	Pursuant to TSA Amendment C, which is attached to the Plan as Exhibit J, the Allocated NOLs (as defined in TSA Amendment C) shall be available for use by AAC in exchange for cash payments of \$60 million paid on each of the Effective Date and the first through fourth anniversaries thereof (inclusive).	
Claims against AAC	AFG shall release any claims, avoidance actions and causes of action which have been or could be brought against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI by or on behalf of AFG's estate, including preference or fraudulent transfer claims in respect of tax refund related payments made to AAC by AFG in September 2009 and February 2010, and any possible misallocation of tax refunds in exchange for (i) transactions giving effect to the Plan Settlement, including the Cost Allocation Agreement, the TSA and applicable TSA Amendment, (ii) a \$30 million Cash Grant ⁵ from AAC to AFG and (iii) \$350 million in Junior Surplus Notes issued by the Segregated Account.	A Litigation Trust will be established to preserve and prosecute any and all Claims and Causes of Action arising prior to the Effective Date, which have been or could be brought against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI by or on behalf of AFG's estate.
Releases	The Plan Settlement Option provides for broad releases of the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, AAC, the Segregated Account, OCI, the board of directors and board committees of the Debtor and AAC, all current and former individual	The Deconsolidation Option provides for broad releases of the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, the board of directors and board committees of the

^{...}continued from the preceding page

⁴ If the Rehabilitation Plan, as confirmed by the Rehabilitation Court on January 24, 2011, has not become effective, without modification or change, by December 31, 2011, AAC shall make a Cash payment to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of \$200,000,000; *provided, however*, that all such cash payment shall serve as a credit, without duplication, against future payments in respect of Allocated NOLs.

⁵ \$15 million of the Cash Grant may serve as a credit against future cash payments by AAC.

	The Plan Settlement Option	The Deconsolidation Option
	directors, officers, or employees of the Debtor and AAC, the Committee and the individual members thereof, the Indenture Trustees, the Informal Group and the individual members thereof, and each of their respective Representatives (each of the foregoing in its individual capacity as such).	Debtor and AAC, all current and former individual directors, officers, or employees of the Debtor and AAC, the Committee and the individual members thereof, the Indenture Trustees, the Informal Group and the individual members thereof, and each of their respective Representatives (each of the foregoing in its individual capacity as such). AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI are not released pursuant to the Plan in the Deconsolidation Option.
Expense Sharing	Expense sharing shall be governed by an amended Cost Allocation Agreement, which is attached to the Plan as Exhibit A, providing for payment of AFG's operating expenses up to a \$6 million per annum cap. AAC's obligation to reimburse AFG operating expenses shall be reduced by 50% of the sum of (a) the amount paid by AAC for the use of NOLs and (b) the amount of distributions received by AFG from any Target multiplied by the proportion of the purchase of such Target was funded by the Cash Grant. AAC shall pay 85% of the costs incurred since the Commencement Date related to the IRS Dispute.	Unresolved.
Dividends to AFG equity	Until the 5 th anniversary of the Effective Date, AFG may not pay cash dividends if the balance of the Cash Grant is or would become \$15 million or less.	As determined from time to time by the board of directors to the extent there is available cash.
Risk Factors	The Reorganized Debtor may not be able to realize residual value in its ownership of AAC common equity. Rehabilitation Court approval of the	It is unlikely that an agreement could be reached between the Reorganized Debtor and AAC regarding administrative expenses, and the Reorganized

The Plan Settlement Option	The Deconsolidation Option
transactions underlying the Plan Settlement if OCI and AAC accept the Plan Settlement cannot be assured.	Debtor may have to hire additional staff and independent contractors to provide services.
Certain tax consequences from the issuance of the Surplus Notes pursuant to the Rehabilitation Plan or substantial amendments to such plan currently under consideration may have adverse impacts on the Debtor's estate. The amount of any payments from AAC pursuant to the applicable TSA Amendment is uncertain at this time.	The Deconsolidation Option does not provide for a cash infusion from AAC to the Reorganized Debtor, creating a risk that the Reorganized Debtor will run out of cash and be unable to finance the IRS Adversary Proceeding and any other litigation, including litigating Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI. Litigation of claims against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI may not result in return to the Litigation Trust of sufficient funds to compensate for the expense of litigation.
	Rejection of the TSA may not be effective, and/or may not result in availability of NOLs to the Reorganized Debtor.
	The Reorganized Debtor, AFG Prime or other members of the Ambac Consolidated Group, as applicable, may not be able to utilize NOLs due to an inability to generate sufficient income or engage in more than an insignificant amount of an active trade or business.
	Litigation of claims against AAC may result in a full rehabilitation of AAC and/or conflicts between the

	The Plan Settlement Option	The Deconsolidation Option	
		Bankruptcy Court and the Wisconsin state court with respect to jurisdiction over and the law applicable to claims.	
IRS Dispute Risk Factors	1 ,	is a risk that the IRS Dispute may (i) not be resolved in the Debtor's favor, estantially deplete the Debtor's cash, and/or (iii) delay consummation of the	

The acceptance by OCI and AAC of the Plan Settlement, which is predicated on an equitable sharing of the savings resulting from the use by AAC of the NOLs, should reduce AAC's tax liabilities and increase cash available to pay AAC's policyholders. The Plan Settlement is designed such that a majority of the savings resulting from the use by AAC of the NOLs will be retained by AAC. If, however, OCI and AAC do not accept the Plan Settlement, and (i) the deconsolidation proposed in the Plan occurs and (ii) the NOLs are reattributed in their entirety from AAC to the Debtor, AAC would not have the ability to utilize the NOLs. As a result, AAC could incur hundreds of millions of dollars of increased tax liability to the detriment of policyholders and other parties with an interest in AAC. In sum, the Plan Settlement would materially benefit the Debtor and its creditors, and AAC and its policyholders.

B. Overview of Chapter 11

Chapter 11 is the principal business reorganization chapter of title 11 of the United States Code (the "Bankruptcy Code"). In addition to permitting debtor reorganization, subject to the priority of distributions prescribed by the Bankruptcy Code, chapter 11 promotes equality of treatment for similarly situated creditors and similarly situated interest holders. The commencement of a chapter 11 case creates an estate comprising, as of the commencement date, all of the legal and equitable interests of the debtor. The Bankruptcy Code provides that the debtor may continue to operate its business and remain in possession of its property as a "debtor in possession."

Consummation of a plan is the principal objective of a chapter 11 case. A bankruptcy court's confirmation of a plan is binding upon the debtor, all persons acquiring property under the plan, all of the debtor's creditors and interest holders, and any other person or entity as may be ordered by the bankruptcy court. Subject to certain limited exceptions, the order issued by the bankruptcy court confirming a plan provides for the treatment of the debtor's debt in accordance with the terms of the confirmed plan.

C. Summary of Classification, Treatment, and Voting Rights of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests

Under the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, not all parties in interest are entitled to vote on a chapter 11 plan. For example, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(f), holders of claims and interests Unimpaired by a plan are deemed to accept such plan and, therefore, are not entitled to vote. Additionally, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(g), holders of claims or interests receiving no distributions under a plan are deemed to have rejected such plan and are not entitled to vote.

The following chart summarizes the classification, treatment, and voting rights of Claims against and Equity Interests in the Debtor and the potential distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests under the Plan:⁶

Class	Claims/ Interests	Impairment	Voting Rights	Plan Settlement Estimated Recovery	Deconsolidation Estimated Recovery
1	Priority Non- Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Accept)	100%	100%
2	Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Accept)	100%	100%
3	General Unsecured Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote	[]% ⁷	[]%
4	Senior Notes Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote	[]%	[]%
5	Subordinated Notes Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote	[]%	[]%
6	Section 510(b) Claims	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)	0%	0%

⁶ This chart is only a summary of the classification and treatment of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests under each Option. Reference should be made to the entire Disclosure Statement and the Plan for a complete description of the classification and treatment of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests.

⁷ To be provided.

Class	Claims/ Interests	Impairment	Voting Rights	Plan Settlement Estimated Recovery	Deconsolidation Estimated Recovery
7	Inter- company Claims	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)	0%	0%
8	Equity Interests	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)	0%	0%

D. Summary of Solicitation Package and Voting Instructions

After the Court has approved the Disclosure Statement as containing adequate information, the Debtor proposes to distribute or cause to be distributed solicitation packages (the "Solicitation Packages") containing the documents described below to all parties entitled to receive notice of the Confirmation Hearing, including the U.S. Trustee, counsel for the statutory committee of creditors (the "Committee"), counsel for the Informal Group (as defined below), counsel for OCI, the Securities and Exchange Commission, all entities which have filed a written request for notice pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002, all creditors listed in the Schedules or which filed a proof of Claim prior to the Solicitation Deadline, and all Holders of Equity Interests.

The Solicitation Packages for Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims shall include (i) the Disclosure Statement Order (without exhibits), (ii) the Disclosure Statement, which shall include the Plan as an exhibit thereto, (iii) a customized Ballot (as defined below) and voting instructions (with a pre-addressed, postage prepaid return envelope), (iv) a notice of the Confirmation Hearing (the "Confirmation Hearing Notice"), and (v) cover letter from the Committee.

Holders of Priority Non-Tax Claims, Secured Claims, Section 510(b) Claims, Intercompany Claims and Equity Interests (the "Non-Voting Classes") shall receive a Confirmation Hearing Notice and a notice of non-voting status.

Because of significantly reduced costs and environmental benefits, Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims shall be served with Solicitation Packages in a CD-ROM format instead of printed copies; *provided, however*, that notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, printed copies of the Ballot, Master Ballot and Confirmation Hearing Notice shall be distributed to such Holders. Any party who desires a paper copy of these documents may request copies from the Balloting Agent by (i) writing to Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC, at 599 Lexington Avenue, 39th Floor, New York, NY 10022, or 2335 Alaska Avenue El Segundo, CA 90245, or (ii) calling (877) 660-6619. The Solicitation Package (except the Ballots and Master Ballots) can also be obtained by accessing the Debtor's restructuring website, www.kccllc.net/Ambac. All parties entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan shall receive a paper copy of each appropriate Ballot or Master Ballot.

Only the Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims are entitled to vote on the Plan. To be counted, all votes must be cast by using the ballot enclosed with the Solicitation Package (the "Ballot"), or, in the case of a bank, brokerage firm, or other nominee holding Senior Notes Claims or Subordinated Notes Claims in its own name on behalf of a beneficial owner, or any agent thereof (each, a "Nominee"), the master ballot provided to such Nominee (the "Master Ballot"). The Debtor has fixed August 12, 2011, as the date for the determination of Holders of record of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims entitled to receive the Solicitation Package (the "Voting Record Date"). Ballots and Master Ballots must be received by the Balloting Agent by 5:00 p.m. (prevailing Pacific Time) on September 23, 2011 (the "Voting Deadline"). Please see Article V. hereof, entitled "Solicitation and Voting Procedures," for additional information.

Unless the Debtor, in its discretion, decides otherwise, any Ballot or Master Ballot received after the Voting Deadline shall not be counted. The Balloting Agent will process and tabulate Ballots and Master Ballots for each Class entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan and, prior to the Confirmation Hearing, will file a voting report (the "Voting Report"). For answers to any questions regarding solicitation procedures, parties may contact the Balloting Agent directly, by (i) writing to Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC, at 599 Lexington Avenue, 39th Floor, New York, NY 10022, or 2335 Alaska Avenue El Segundo, CA 90245, or (ii) calling (877) 660-6619.

Any Ballot (or Master Ballot in the case of beneficial Holders of Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims voting through a Nominee) that is properly executed by a Holder of a Claim (or Nominee), but fails to indicate clearly an acceptance or rejection of the Plan, or that indicates both an acceptance and a rejection of the Plan, shall not be counted.

Each Holder of a General Unsecured Claim, a Senior Notes Claim or a Subordinated Notes Claim must vote all of its respective Claims in one Class either to accept or reject the Plan and may not split its votes within such Class. By signing and returning a Ballot (or Master Ballot in the case of beneficial Holders of Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims voting through a Nominee), each Holder of a Senior Notes Claim or a Subordinated Notes Claim (or its Nominee) will certify to the Bankruptcy Court and the Debtor that no other Ballot or Master Ballot with respect to such Claim has been cast or, if any other Ballots or Master Ballots have been cast, that such other Ballots or Master Ballots are revoked. All Ballots and Master Ballots are accompanied by voting instructions. It is important to follow the specific instructions provided with each Ballot and Master Ballot.

The Debtor is relying on section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and similar state securities laws (the "Blue Sky Laws"), as well as, to the extent applicable, the exemption from the Securities Act and equivalent state law registration requirements provided by Bankruptcy Code section 1145(a)(1), to exempt from registration under the Securities Act and the Blue Sky Laws the offer of New Common Stock, the Subordinated Notes Warrants and the General Unsecured Warrants in connection with the Plan.

E. The Confirmation Hearing

Bankruptcy Code section 1128(a) requires the Bankruptcy Court, after notice, to hold a hearing on confirmation of the Plan. Bankruptcy Code section 1128(b) provides that any party in interest may object to confirmation of the Plan.

The Debtor is requesting that the Bankruptcy Court fix October 5, 2011, or as soon as practicable thereafter, as the date and time of the Confirmation Hearing and will provide notice of the Confirmation Hearing to all necessary parties. The Confirmation Hearing may be adjourned from time to time without further notice except for an announcement of the adjourned date made at the Confirmation Hearing, whether or not such hearing has already been adjourned.

F. Confirming and Consummating the Plan

It is a condition to Confirmation of the Plan that the Bankruptcy Court shall have approved this Disclosure Statement as containing "adequate information" and entered the Confirmation Order in form and substance acceptable to the Debtor. Additionally, pursuant to the provisions of Article X. of the Plan, certain other conditions contained in the Plan must be satisfied or waived.

Following Confirmation, the Plan will be consummated on the date that is the first Business Day following the Confirmation Date on which the Confirmation Order is a Final Order and all conditions specified in Article X.A of the Plan have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Article X.C of the Plan (the "Effective Date").

G. Rules of Construction

The following rules for interpretation and construction shall apply to this Disclosure Statement: (i) capitalized terms used in this Disclosure Statement and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan; (ii) terms and phrases, whether capitalized or not, that are used but not defined herein or in the Plan, but that are defined in the Bankruptcy Code, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Bankruptcy Code; (iii) in the appropriate context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural, shall include both the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine, or neuter gender shall include the masculine, feminine, and the neuter gender; (iv) any reference herein to an existing document or exhibit having been Filed or to be Filed shall mean that document or exhibit, as it may thereafter be amended, modified, or supplemented; provided, however, that the "Rehabilitation Plan" refers only to the Rehabilitation Plan confirmed by the Rehabilitation Court on January 24, 2011; (v) unless otherwise specified, all references herein to "Articles" are references to Articles hereof; (vi) unless otherwise stated, the words "herein," "hereof," and "hereto" refer to this Disclosure Statement in its entirety rather than to a particular portion of this Disclosure Statement; (vii) captions and headings to Articles are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the interpretation hereof; (viii) the rules of construction set forth in Bankruptcy Code section 102 shall apply; and (ix) any immaterial effectuating provisions may be interpreted by the Reorganized Debtor in a manner that is consistent with the overall purpose and intent of the Plan and Disclosure Statement, all without further order of the Bankruptcy Court.

H. Computation of Time

Unless otherwise specified herein, Rule 9006(a) of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure (the "Bankruptcy Rules") shall apply in computing any period of time prescribed or allowed herein.

I. Reference to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor

Except as otherwise provided in this Disclosure Statement or the Plan, references in the Plan to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor shall mean the Debtor and the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, to the extent that the context requires.

J. Application of this Disclosure Statement and Plan Provisions to the Plan Settlement Option and the Deconsolidation Option

Unless stated as specifically applying to the Plan Settlement Option or the Deconsolidation Option, the information contained in this Disclosure Statement and the Plan shall apply regardless of whether the confirmed Plan provides for the Plan Settlement Option or the Deconsolidation Option.

ARTICLE II. BACKGROUND

A. Overview of AFG's Business

The Debtor, headquartered in New York City, is a holding company incorporated in the state of Delaware. The Debtor was incorporated on April 29, 1991. The Debtor's principal operating subsidiary, AAC, is a Wisconsin-domiciled financial guarantee insurer whose financial strength was formerly rated triple-A by each of the major rating agencies and which provided financial guarantees and financial services to clients in both the public and private sectors around the world.

Because of the deterioration of AAC's financial condition resulting from losses in its insured portfolio and the resulting downgrades of AAC's financial strength ratings, AAC originated only a *de minimis* amount of new business from November 2007 through the end of 2008 and has been unable to originate any new business since 2008. AAC's ability to pay dividends, and as a result AFG's liquidity, has been significantly restricted by the deterioration of AAC's financial condition and the rehabilitation of the Segregated Account of Ambac Assurance Corporation (the "Segregated Account"). In addition, AAC's ability to pay dividends has also been restricted by the terms of a settlement agreement (the "CDS Settlement Agreement") with the counterparties (the "CDS Counterparties") to outstanding credit-default swaps ("CDS") with Ambac Credit Products, LLP ("ACP") that were guaranteed by AAC.

The Debtor's principal business strategy is to reorganize its capital structure and financial obligations through the bankruptcy process and to increase the residual value of AAC's financial guarantee business for the benefit of the Debtor, as holder of AAC's common equity, by mitigating losses on poorly performing transactions (via the pursuit of recoveries in respect of paid claims, commutations of policies and repurchases of surplus notes issued in respect of

claims) and maximizing the return on its investment portfolio. The Debtor is not currently generating any new business through AAC, although the Debtor may acquire, merge with or commence business operations independent of AAC.

B. AFG's Corporate Structure

AFG is a public company. As of April 29, 2011, the Debtor had issued and outstanding approximately 302,428,811 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, net of 5,587,953 treasury shares, and no issued and outstanding shares of preferred stock. As of December 31, 2010, according to reports filed with the SEC, there were no persons known to be direct or indirect owners of more than 5% of the Debtor's common stock.

C. AFG's Debt Structure

As of November 8, 2010 (the "<u>Commencement Date</u>"), pursuant to the Senior Notes and the Subordinated Notes (each as defined below), the Debtor had approximately \$1,622,189,000 in outstanding unsecured indebtedness and related obligations.

1. The Senior Notes

The Debtor's Senior Notes rank equally in right of payment with all of the Debtor's other non-subordinated unsecured debt. The following describes the Debtor's Senior Note indebtedness:

- (i) Pursuant to that certain Indenture, dated as of August 1, 1991, between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon (as successor trustee to The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association)) (the "1991 Indenture"), the Debtor issued \$150,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 9-3/8% debentures due on August 1, 2011 (the "9-3/8% Debentures Due 2011"). In July 2001, the Debtor extinguished \$7,500,000 of the 9-3/8% Debentures Due 2011, reducing the principal amount of the outstanding indebtedness to \$142,500,000. In June 2010, the Debtor issued an aggregate of 13,638,482 shares of its common stock in exchange for a further \$20,311,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 9-3/8% Debentures Due 2011, reducing the principal amount of the outstanding indebtedness to \$122,189,000. As of the Commencement Date, the outstanding principal indebtedness in respect of the 9-3/8% Debentures Due 2011 was approximately \$122,189,000. The aggregate outstanding amount of principal plus interest in respect of the 9-3/8% Debentures Due 2011 is \$125,275,545.05.
- (ii) Pursuant to the 1991 Indenture, the Debtor issued \$75,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 7-1/2% debentures due on May 1, 2023 (the "7-1/2% Debentures Due 2023"). As of the Commencement Date, the outstanding principal indebtedness in respect of the 7-1/2% Debentures Due 2023 was approximately \$75,000,000. The aggregate outstanding amount of principal plus interest in respect of the 7-1/2% Debentures Due 2023 is \$77,921,875.00.
- (iii) Pursuant to that certain Indenture, dated as of August 24, 2001, between the Debtor and the Bank of New York Mellon (as successor trustee to JP Morgan

Chase Bank) (the "2001 Indenture"), the Debtor issued \$200,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 5.95% debentures due on February 28, 2103 (the "5.95% Debentures Due 2103"). As of the Commencement Date, the outstanding principal indebtedness in respect of the 5.95% Debentures Due 2103 was approximately \$200,000,000. The aggregate outstanding amount of principal plus interest in respect of the 5.95% Debentures Due 2103 is \$201,256,111.11.

- (iv) Pursuant to the 2001 Indenture, the Debtor issued \$175,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 5.875% debentures due on March 24, 2103 (the "5.875% Debentures Due 2103"). As of the Commencement Date, the outstanding principal indebtedness in respect of the 5.875% Debentures Due 2103 was approximately \$175,000,000. The aggregate outstanding amount of principal plus interest in respect of the 5.875% Debentures Due 2103 is \$176,085,243.06.
- (v) Pursuant to that certain Indenture, dated as of April 22, 2003, between the Debtor and the Bank of New York Mellon (as successor trustee to JP Morgan Chase Bank), the Debtor issued \$400,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 5.95% debentures due on December 5, 2035 (the "5.95% Debentures Due 2035"). As of the Commencement Date, the outstanding indebtedness in respect of the 5.95% Debentures Due 2035 principal indebtedness in respect of the 5.95% Debentures Due 2035 was approximately \$ 400,000,000. The aggregate outstanding amount of principal plus interest in respect of the 5.95% Debentures Due 2035 is \$410,115,000.00.
- (vi) The Debtor issued \$250,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 9.50% senior notes due on February 15, 2021 (the "9.50% Senior Notes Due 2021," and together with the 9-3/8% Debentures Due 2011, the 7-1/2% Debentures Due 2023, the 5.95% Debentures Due 2035, the 5.95% Debentures Due 2103, and the 5.875% Debentures Due 2103, the "Senior Notes") pursuant to that certain Indenture, dated as of February 15, 2006, and that certain Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 12, 2008, both between the Debtor and the Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee. Additionally, the Debtor issued 5,000,000 Equity Units (the "Equity Units") pursuant to that certain Purchase Contract Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2008, between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon, as purchase contract agent. Each Equity Unit has a stated amount of \$50 and initially consisted of a 5% beneficial ownership interest in \$1,000 principal amount of the 9.50% Senior Notes Due 2021 and a Purchase Contract requiring the Equity Unit holder to purchase a predetermined number of shares of the Debtor's common stock for \$50 in cash on May 17, 2011 (the "Purchase Contract"). Each Equity Unit holder's ownership interest in the 9.50% Senior Notes Due 2021 was initially pledged to The Bank of New York Mellon, as collateral agent, pursuant to that certain Pledge Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2008, between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon, as collateral agent, custodial agent, securities intermediary, and purchase contract agent, to secure such holder's obligations under the Purchase Contract. As of the Commencement Date, the outstanding principal indebtedness under the 9.50% Senior Notes Due 2021 was

approximately \$250,000,000. The aggregate outstanding amount of principal plus interest in respect of the 9.50% Senior Notes Due 2021 is \$255,475,694.44.

2. The Subordinated Notes

Pursuant to that certain Junior Subordinated Indenture and First Supplemental Indenture, both dated as of February 12, 2007, between the Debtor and the Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (the "First Supplemental Indenture"), the Debtor issued \$400,000,000 of 6.15% Directly Issued Subordinated Capital Securities due February 15, 2037 (the "DISCS" or the "Subordinated Notes," and together with the Senior Notes, the "Notes"). Pursuant to the terms of the First Supplemental Indenture, the Debtor was permitted to defer interest payments for up to ten years without giving rise to an event of default. Since August 15, 2009, the Debtor has elected to defer interest payments on the Subordinated Notes. As of the Commencement Date, approximately \$400,000,000 in principal amount was outstanding in respect of the Subordinated Notes. The aggregate outstanding amount of principal plus interest in respect of the Subordinated Notes is \$444,182,604.08. The Subordinated Notes rank junior in right of payment to all of the Debtor's existing unsecured debt, including the Senior Notes.

D. Tax-Sharing Agreement

Since 1991, the Debtor has been the common parent of an affiliated group of corporations that files a single consolidated U.S. federal income tax return (the "Ambac Consolidated Group"). The tax liabilities of individual Ambac Affiliates are governed by that certain Tax-Sharing Agreement, as amended, entered into among such entities on July 18, 1991 (the "TSA"). On December 16, 2009, the Ambac Affiliates party to the TSA entered into an amendment of the TSA (the "December 2009 Amendment"), which, among other things, granted to AAC a trust and/or security interest in U.S. federal income tax refunds allocable to net operating loss ("NOL") carryovers attributable to losses incurred by AAC.

In 2008, the Debtor adopted a method of accounting for losses on CDS entered into by ACP and insured by AAC. Also in 2008, the Debtor applied for a change in its method of accounting for CDS income, and filed with the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") a Form 3115 (Change of Accounting Methodology Request). CDS losses led to the Debtor's reporting approximately a \$33 million taxable loss for 2007 and a \$3.2 billion taxable loss for 2008. On September 23, 2008, August 11, 2009, and December 21, 2009, Ambac filed claims with the IRS for tentative carryback adjustments on Form 1139 (Corporate Application for Tentative Refund) as a result of the carryback to prior taxable years of approximately \$33 million and \$3.2 billion of NOLs in 2007 and 2008, respectively, previously reported in the Ambac Consolidated Group's federal income tax returns. Based upon these claims on account of NOLs generated in respect of AAC's CDS, in December 2008, September 2009, and February 2010, the IRS refunded to AFG \$11,470,930, \$252,704,185 and \$443,940,722, respectively (the "Tax Refunds"). In accordance with the TSA and the December 2009 Amendment, AFG transferred to AAC the September 2009 and February 2010 Tax Refunds (the "Tax Refund Transfers").

On June 7, 2010, pursuant to the terms of the CDS Settlement Agreement, the Ambac Affiliates party to the TSA entered into a subsequent amendment of the TSA (the "June 2010 Amendment"). The June 2010 Amendment, among other things, divided the Ambac

Consolidated Group into (i) one subgroup comprised of the Debtor and its non-AAC subsidiaries (the "Ambac Subgroup") and (ii) one subgroup comprised of AAC and its subsidiaries (the "AAC Subgroup"). The June 2010 Amendment requires the Debtor to compensate AAC on a current basis if it uses NOLs attributable to losses incurred by members of the AAC Subgroup to offset income attributable to the Ambac Subgroup, except to the extent the Ambac Subgroup uses the AAC Subgroup's NOLs to offset any income (including any increase in income resulting from a disallowance of any deduction, loss or credit) recognized by the Ambac Subgroup related to the restructuring, modification, cancellation, settlement or any other similar transaction related to any debt, liability or other obligation outstanding as of March 15, 2010. The potential loss of Ambac interest deductions is more fully described in Article X.C below.

As of March 31, 2011, Ambac has reported NOLs of approximately \$7.2 billion for federal income tax purposes.

E. Events leading to the Chapter 11 Case

1. Restructuring of Ambac Assurance Corporation

The Debtor's financial guarantee business historically was supported by AAC's triple-A ratings as well as investor confidence in AAC's financial strength. The deterioration of AAC's financial condition resulting from losses in its insured portfolio and the resulting downgrades of AAC's financial strength ratings prevented it from being able to write new business, which negatively impacted the Debtor's business, operations and financial results. AAC's present business plan is to run off its insured portfolio with the objective of returning residual value to the Debtor, as holder of AAC's common equity. Further, the Debtor's existing investment agreement and derivative product portfolios are being runoff.

(i) Negotiation of AAC Restructuring Options with the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance

As a result of downgrades by ratings agencies of AAC's financial strength ratings beginning in 2008, as well as significant disruption in the capital markets, AAC originated only a *de minimis* amount of new business from November 2007 through the end of 2008 and has been unable to originate any new business since 2008. The lack of revenue from writing new policies, combined with payment of policyholder claims well in excess of historic levels, caused OCI to approach AAC in September 2008, to discuss possible restructuring scenarios.

AAC's and the Debtor's management worked closely with OCI from September 2008 through March 2010 to analyze all aspects of Ambac's business and the effects of various restructuring scenarios, with a view to minimizing the collateral damage and loss resulting from such restructuring scenarios to AAC policyholders, AAC creditors, and AFG. The following restructuring of AAC was developed as the least harmful to AAC and its stakeholders.

(ii) Segregated Account and Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings

On March 24, 2010, AAC acquiesced to the request of OCI to establish the Segregated Account. Under Wisconsin insurance law, the Segregated Account is a separate insurer from AAC for purposes of the Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings (as defined and

described below). The purpose of the Segregated Account is to segregate certain segments of AAC's liabilities. The Segregated Account is operated in accordance with a plan of operation (the "Plan of Operation") and certain operative documents relating thereto. These operative documents provide that the Segregated Account will act exclusively through the Rehabilitator (as defined below). Pursuant to the Plan of Operation, AAC has allocated to the Segregated Account: (1) certain policies insuring or relating to CDS; (2) residential mortgage-backed securities ("RMBS") policies; (3) certain Student Loan Policies; and (4) other policies insuring obligations with substantial projected impairments or relating to transactions which have contractual triggers based upon AAC's financial condition or the commencement of rehabilitation, which triggers are potentially damaging (together, the "Segregated Account Policies"). The policies described in (4) above include (a) certain types of securitizations, including commercial asset-backed transactions, consumer asset-backed transactions and other types of structured transactions; (b) the policies relating to Las Vegas Monorail Company ("LVM"); (c) policies relating to debt securities purchased by, and the debt securities issued by, Juneau Investments, LLC ("Juneau"), and Aleutian Investments, LLC ("Aleutian"), which are both finance companies owned by AAC; (d) policies relating to leveraged lease transactions; and (e) policies relating to interest rate, basis, and/or currency swap or other swap transactions. AAC also allocated the following to the Segregated Account: (i) all remediation claims, defenses, offsets, and/or credits (except with respect to recoveries arising from remediation efforts or reimbursement or collection rights), if any, in respect of the Segregated Account Policies, (ii) AAC's disputed contingent liability under the recently settled long-term lease with One State Street, LLC ("OSS"), and its contingent liability (as guarantor), if any, under the recently terminated Ambac Assurance UK Limited ("Ambac UK") lease with British Land Company PLC, (iii) AAC's limited liability interests in ACP, Ambac Conduit Funding LLC, Aleutian and Juneau, and (iv) all of AAC's liabilities as reinsurer under reinsurance agreements (except for reinsurance assumed from Everspan Financial Guarantee Corp., a wholly-owned Affiliate of the Debtor ("Everspan")).

Net par exposure as of March 31, 2011, for the Segregated Account Policies is approximately \$42 billion.

The Segregated Account is capitalized by a \$2 billion secured note due 2050 issued by AAC and an aggregate excess of loss reinsurance agreement provided by AAC.

Additionally, on March 24, 2010, OCI commenced rehabilitation proceedings with respect to the Segregated Account (the "Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings") in the Circuit Court of Dane County, Wisconsin (the "Rehabilitation Court") to permit OCI to facilitate an orderly run-off and/or settlement of the liabilities in the Segregated Account. The Rehabilitation Court appointed Sean Dilweg, the Wisconsin Commissioner of Insurance, as rehabilitator of the Segregated Account (the "Rehabilitator"). On March 24, 2010, the Rehabilitation Court also entered a temporary injunction order (the "Temporary Injunction") effective until further order of the court enjoining certain actions by Segregated Account policyholders and other counterparties, including the assertion of damages or acceleration of

⁸ On January 5, 2011, Theodore K. Nickel replaced Sean Dilweg as Commissioner of Insurance, and is now the Rehabilitator.

losses based on early termination and the loss of control rights in insured transactions. Certain Segregated Account policyholders have filed lawsuits challenging the Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings.⁹

(iii) CDS Settlement Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the CDS Settlement Agreement, in exchange for the termination of the Commuted CDO of ABS Obligations (as defined below), AAC paid to the CDS Counterparties in the aggregate (i) \$2.6 billion in cash and (ii) \$2 billion in principal amount of newly issued surplus notes of Ambac Assurance (the "AAC Surplus Notes"). In addition, effective June 7, 2010, the outstanding CDS with the CDS Counterparties that remained in the general account of AAC (the "General Account") were amended to remove certain events of default and termination events, as set forth in the CDS Settlement Agreement.

Pursuant to the CDS Settlement Agreement, AAC filed an amendment to its articles of incorporation. Under such amendment, at least one-third (and, in any event, not less than three members) of the board of directors of AAC must be "Unaffiliated Qualified Directors" (as defined in the CDS Settlement Agreement). If at any time AAC does not have the requisite number of Unaffiliated Qualified Directors, AAC has agreed to use its commercially reasonable efforts to find additional Unaffiliated Qualified Directors. AAC is currently in compliance with this provision of its articles of incorporation.

The CDS Settlement Agreement includes covenants that remain in force until the AAC Surplus Notes have been redeemed, repurchased or repaid in full. These covenants generally restrict the operations of AAC and its subsidiaries to runoff activities. Certain of these restrictions may be waived with the approval of a majority of the Unaffiliated Qualified Directors and/or the OCI. However, other restrictions may only be waived with the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding AAC Surplus Notes (excluding any notes held by AAC or its Affiliates) that cast a ballot and, in certain cases, with the approval of all of the CDS Counterparties.

Pursuant to a commutation agreement entered into with each of the CDS Counterparties that is a party to CDS written by ACP with respect to certain collateralized debt obligations backed by asset-backed securities ("CDO of ABS") and related financial guarantee insurance policies written by AAC with respect to ACP's obligations thereunder, AAC and ACP commuted all of such obligations (the "Commuted CDO of ABS Obligations"), totaling \$16.5 billion of par in exchange for \$2.6 billion in cash and \$2 billion in AAC Surplus Notes, ¹⁰ as

⁹ The Rehabilitation Court further ordered that any interested party could seek modification or dissolution of the injunction, in whole or in part, by filing a written motion by June 22, 2010. On October 26, 2010, the Rehabilitation Court denied the challenges of certain Segregated Account policyholders and counterparties to the Segregated Account Proceedings and Temporary Injunction. On November 12, 2010, certain of these Segregated Account policyholders and counterparties commenced an appeal of the Rehabilitation Court's decision in the Court of Appeals for the State of Wisconsin. See Article II.A.6 hereof for more detail with respect to such appeals.

¹⁰ \$940 million of these AAC Surplus Notes are callable by AAC.

described above. In addition to the commutation of the Commuted CDO of ABS Obligations, AAC has also commuted for \$96.5 million of cash certain additional obligations, including certain non-CDO of ABS obligations, to the CDS Counterparties with par or notional amounting to \$1.406 billion. AAC commuted another CDO of ABS transaction in an amount equal to its remaining par value of \$90 million. It is expected that, subject to certain conditions, certain other non-CDO of ABS obligations with par amounting to a maximum of approximately \$701.8 million will be commuted within the next six months for approximately \$44.7 million. Each of the CDS Counterparties, in the aggregate and AAC, ACP and the Debtor, in the aggregate, have released the other party from any claims relating to any CDS or financial guarantee insurance policies commuted pursuant to such commutation agreements. In addition, AAC, ACP and the Debtor, in the aggregate, and a CDS Counterparty have generally released the other parties from any claims relating to actions taken or omitted to be taken prior to June 7, 2010, subject to certain exceptions.

Pursuant to the terms of the CDS Settlement Agreement, on June 7, 2010, the Debtor entered into the June 2010 Amendment with its Affiliates. The TSA can be further amended with the consent of OCI and majority of the Unaffiliated Qualified Directors.

(iv) Segregated Account Rehabilitation Plan

On October 8, 2010, the Rehabilitator filed a plan of rehabilitation with respect to the Segregated Account (the "Rehabilitation Plan") in the Rehabilitation Court. The Rehabilitation Court confirmed the Rehabilitation Plan on January 24, 2011 (the "Rehabilitation Plan Confirmation Order"). The effective date of the Rehabilitation Plan will be determined by the Rehabilitator. Claims on the Segregated Account Policies remain subject to a payment moratorium until the Rehabilitation Plan becomes effective. Insurance claims presented during the moratorium of approximately \$1.77 billion for policies allocated to the Segregated Account have not yet been paid. Under the confirmed Rehabilitation Plan, upon the effective date of the Rehabilitation Plan, holders of Permitted Policy Claims (as defined in the Rehabilitation Plan) will receive 25% of their permitted claims in cash and 75% in surplus notes of the Segregated Account (the "Segregated Account Surplus Notes"), and delivery of such cash and Segregated Account Surplus Notes will constitute satisfaction in full of the Segregated Account's obligations in respect of each claim. The policyholders will not have the option to reject the Segregated Account Surplus Notes as consideration for settling claim liabilities. The Segregated Account will also issue junior surplus notes (the "Junior Surplus Notes", and together with the AAC Surplus Notes and the Segregated Account Surplus Notes, the "Surplus Notes"), which will be subordinate to the Segregated Account Surplus Notes, in satisfaction of certain obligations that rank below Permitted Policy Claims pursuant to the Rehabilitation Plan. The Rehabilitation Plan also makes permanent the Temporary Injunction, as amended by the Supplemental Injunction.

The issuance of Surplus Notes as contemplated by the Rehabilitation Plan could subject AAC to the risk of deconsolidation from AFG for U.S. federal income tax purposes and of having to recognize significant cancellation of indebtedness income ("CODI"). Deconsolidation or the recognition of substantial CODI would likely have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of AAC and the Segregated Account. Consequently, the Rehabilitator is considering substantial amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the initiation of rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC.

Effective November 7, 2010, the Plan of Operation for the Segregated Account was amended for the purpose of allocating to the Segregated Account (i) any and all liabilities (including contingent liabilities) AAC has or may have, now or in the future, to the Debtor, or any successor to the Debtor, in regard to, or respecting, the Tax Refund Transfers and/or the TSA (other than any liability to the Debtor pertaining to any possible misallocation of up to \$38,485,850 of the Tax Refund Transfers (the "Misallocation Claim")), (ii) any and all liabilities (including contingent liabilities) AAC has or may have, now or in the future, to the IRS and/or the United States Department of the Treasury (the "U.S. Treasury") in regard to, or in respect of, taxes imposed under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "IRC"), for taxable periods ending on or prior to December 31, 2009, and, (iii) to the extent not described in clause (ii), any and all liabilities (including contingent liabilities) AAC has or may have, now or in the future, to the IRS and/or the U.S. Treasury in regard to, or respect of, any federal tax refunds that were received prior to November 7, 2010, by Ambac (each of clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), the "Allocated AFG Liabilities"). In addition, on November 8, 2010, the Rehabilitation Court issued an order amending the Temporary Injunction to include enjoining the Debtor, any successor-ininterest, any state court receiver of the Debtor, all persons purporting to be creditors of the Debtor, the IRS and all other federal and state governmental entities from commencing or prosecuting any actions, claims, lawsuits or other formal legal proceedings relating to the Allocated AFG Liabilities (the "Supplemental Injunction").

2. <u>Impact of the CDS Settlement Agreement and the Segregated Account</u> Rehabilitation Proceedings on AFG

The aggregate amount of the Surplus Notes, which rank senior to the Debtor's equity investment in AAC, has not yet been determined but will be substantial. There will be residual value to the Debtor in AAC only to the extent that funds remain at AAC after the payment of claims under outstanding financial guaranty policies and the redemption, repurchase or repayment in full of the Surplus Notes and AAC's auction market preferred shares. The value of AFG's equity investment in AAC is difficult to estimate, and will primarily depend upon the performance of AAC's insured portfolio (*i.e.*, the ultimate losses therein relative to its claims paying resources), ongoing remediation efforts of AAC with respect to Segregated Account Policies, and upon other factors, including AAC's ability to repurchase Surplus Notes and auction market preferred shares at less than their face value.

Additionally, the Rehabilitator retains significant decision-making authority with respect to the Segregated Account and has the discretion to oversee and approve certain actions taken by AAC regarding assets and liabilities that remain at AAC. The Rehabilitator will make decisions in respect of oversight and approval of such actions for the benefit of policyholders of AAC and will not take into account the interests of holders of claims against and equity interests in the Debtor. Consequently, actions taken by the Rehabilitator could further reduce the equity value of AAC to the Debtor.

F. Shareholder Litigation

(i) Description of Certain Shareholder Litigation

The Debtor and certain of its present or former officers or directors have been named in lawsuits that allege violations of the federal securities laws and/or state law, some of which have been styled as putative class action suits. Various putative class action suits alleging violations of the federal securities laws have been filed against the Debtor and certain of its present or former directors and officers. These suits include four class actions filed in January and February of 2008 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the "District Court") that were consolidated on May 9, 2008, under the caption In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Securities Litigation, Lead Case No. 08 CV 411 (the "Consolidated Class Action"). On July 25, 2008, another suit, Painting Industry Insurance and Annuity Funds v. Ambac Assurance Corporation, et al., case No. 08 CV 6602, was filed in the District Court. On or about August 22, 2008, a consolidated amended complaint was filed in the consolidated action. The consolidated amended complaint includes the allegations presented by the original four class actions, the allegations presented by the Painting Industry action, and additional allegations. The consolidated amended complaint purports to be brought on behalf of purchasers of the Debtor's common stock from October 25, 2006, to April 22, 2008, on behalf of purchasers of DISCS issued in February 2007, and on behalf of purchasers of Equity Units and common stock in AFG's March 2008 offerings. The suit named as defendants the Debtor, the underwriters for the offerings, the Debtor's independent Certified Public Accountants and certain present and former directors and officers of the Debtor. The consolidated amended complaint alleges, among other things, that the defendants issued materially false and misleading statements regarding Ambac's business and financial results and guarantees of collateralized debt obligation and mortgage-backed securities transactions and that the Registration Statements pursuant to which the offerings were made contained material misstatements and omissions in violation of the securities laws. On August 27, 2009, the Debtor and the individual defendants named in the consolidated securities action moved to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint. On February 22, 2010, the District Court dismissed the claims arising out of the Equity Units and the March 2008 common stock offering (resulting in the dismissal of the Debtor's independent Certified Public Accountants from the action), and otherwise denied the motions to dismiss. On April 15, 2010, the District Court ordered a discovery plan and proposed pretrial schedule, pursuant to which discovery was scheduled to commence on May 10, 2010, with dispositive motions due by December 2, 2011.

On December 24, 2008, a complaint in a putative class action entitled *Stanley Tolin et al.* v. *Ambac Financial Group, Inc. et al.* (the "Tolin Action", and collectively with the Consolidated Class Action, the "Securities Actions"), asserting alleged violations of the federal securities laws was filed in the District Court against the Debtor, one former officer and director and one former officer, Case No. 08 CV 11241. An amended complaint was subsequently filed on January 20, 2009. This action is brought on behalf of all purchasers of Structured Repackaged Asset-Backed Trust Securities, Callable Class A Certificates, Series 2007-1, STRATS(SM) Trust for Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Securities 2007-1 ("STRATS") from June 29, 2007, through April 22, 2008. The STRATS are asset-backed securities that were allegedly issued by a subsidiary of Wachovia Corporation and are allegedly collateralized solely by the DISCS. The complaint asserts, among other things, that the defendants issued materially false and misleading statements

regarding the Debtor's business and financial results and AAC's guarantees of CDO and RMBS transactions, in violation of the securities laws. On April 15, 2009, the Debtor and the individual defendants named in the Tolin Action moved to dismiss the amended complaint. On December 23, 2009, the District Court initially denied defendants' motion to dismiss, but later recalled that decision and requested further briefing from parties in the case before it rendered a decision on the motion to dismiss. The additional briefing was completed on March 5, 2010, and oral argument on the motion to dismiss was heard on August 4, 2010. As of the date hereof, no decision has been rendered.

Various shareholder derivative actions (the "Derivative Actions," and together with the Securities Actions, the "Shareholder Litigation") have been filed against certain present or former officers or directors of the Debtor (together with the individual defendants named in the Securities Actions, the "Individual Defendants"), and against the Debtor as a nominal defendant. These suits, which are brought purportedly on behalf of the Debtor, are in many ways similar and allege violations of law for conduct occurring between October 2005 and the dates of suit regarding, among other things, guarantees of collateralized debt obligation and mortgage-backed securities transactions, the Debtor's public disclosures regarding such guarantees and the Debtor's financial condition, and certain defendants' alleged insider trading on non-public information.

The Derivative Actions include (i) three actions filed in the District Court that have been consolidated under the caption In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Derivative Litigation, Lead Case No. 08 CV 854 (the "District Court Consolidated Derivative Action"); on June 30, 2008, the plaintiffs filed a consolidated and amended complaint that asserts violations of state and federal law, including breaches of fiduciary duties, waste of corporate assets, unjust enrichment and violations of the federal securities laws; on August 8, 2008, the Debtor and the individual defendants named in the consolidated derivative action in the District Court moved to dismiss that action for want of demand and failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted; on December 11, 2008, the District Court granted the plaintiffs' motion for leave to amend the complaint and the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on December 17, 2008; on June 2, 2009, the defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint; on November 22, 2010, the District Court dismissed the consolidated derivative action without prejudice to its renewal when and if the automatic stay provided by the Bankruptcy Code is lifted; (ii) two actions filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery that have been consolidated under the caption In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Shareholders Derivative Litigation, Consolidated C.A. No. 3521; on May 7, 2008, the plaintiffs filed a consolidated and amended complaint that asserts claims including breaches of fiduciary duties, waste, reckless and gross mismanagement, and unjust enrichment; on December 30, 2008, the Delaware Court of Chancery granted the defendants' motion to stay the Delaware shareholder derivative action in favor of the District Court Consolidated Derivative Action; plaintiffs in the Delaware action subsequently moved to intervene in the District Court Consolidated Derivative Action and on May 12, 2009, the motion to intervene was denied; and (iii) two actions filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County, that have been consolidated under the caption In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Shareholder Derivative Litigation, Consolidated Index No. 650050/2008E; on September 22, 2008, the plaintiffs filed a consolidated and amended complaint that asserts claims including breaches of fiduciary duties, gross mismanagement, abuse of control, and waste; on January 5, 2010, the New York Supreme Court granted the defendants motion to stay the New York Supreme Court

action in favor of the District Court Consolidated Derivative Action; one of the actions consolidated in the New York Supreme Court actions is currently listed on the Court's docket as dismissed, the other action remains listed as stayed.

On December 14, 2009, a purchaser of the DISCS filed an individual action entitled *Judy Ehrenreich v. Ambac Financial Group, Inc. et al.*, alleging violations of the federal securities laws, in the District Court, against the Debtor and one former officer, Case No. 09 CV 10173 (the "Ehrenreich Action"). The complaint asserts, among other things, that the defendants issued materially false and misleading statements regarding the Debtor's plan to meet certain investment agreement collateral requirements, as well as materially false and misleading statements regarding the Debtor's valuation of certain of its investment securities. On March 9, 2010, the Debtor and the former officer moved to dismiss. On November 10, 2010, the Debtor filed a "Notice of Bankruptcy" in the action, advising the District Court of its position that in light of the Debtor's bankruptcy filing, as of November 8, 2010, any new or further action against the Debtor is stayed pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 362. On March 28, 2011, the District Court entered an order staying the action pursuant to section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code.

(ii) Pre-Commencement Date Settlement Negotiations and the Signing of the MOU

In July 2009, the Debtor, the Individual Defendants, representatives of the four insurers that are parties to the MOU (as defined below) that issued specified policies of directors and officers liability insurance for the benefit of the Individual Defendants (the "D&O Insurers"), the underwriters named in the Consolidated Class Action (the "Underwriter Defendants") and the plaintiffs in the Securities Actions met to attempt to negotiate a resolution of certain of the litigations with the assistance of a mediator, retired federal judge Nicholas H. Politan. No settlement was reached at the mediation.

In April 2010, the lead plaintiffs in the Consolidated Class Action, the Public School Teachers' Pension & Retirement Fund of Chicago, Arkansas Teacher Retirement System, and Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi, the Debtor, the Individual Defendants, the Underwriter Defendants, and the D&O Insurers, among others, participated in a second in-person mediation session with Judge Politan. No settlement was reached at the mediation, but the parties agreed that mediation would continue through discussions between and among Judge Politan (the mediator), plaintiffs in the Securities Actions, the Debtor, the Individual Defendants, the D&O Insurers, and the Underwriter Defendants, and such discussions continued through the remainder of 2010, including multiple additional mediation sessions with Judge Politan.

During the course of mediated settlement negotiations following April 2010, the Debtor, the Individual Defendants, the D&O Insurers, the plaintiffs in the Securities Actions, and the Underwriter Defendants were able to reach agreements as to the general terms of settlements of claims asserted in the Securities Actions. Pursuant to a November 4, 2010, escrow agreement between the plaintiffs in the Consolidated Class Action and the Debtor, on November 5, 2010, prior to the Commencement Date, the Debtor paid into escrow (the "Escrow Account") its \$2,500,000 contribution to the contemplated settlement fund. On December 8, 2010, after considerable negotiation, the plaintiffs in the Securities Actions, the Individual Defendants, and

the D&O Insurers executed a Memorandum of Understanding reflecting an agreement in principle to settle claims in the Consolidated Class Action and Tolin Action against the Debtor, the Individual Defendants, and their related parties (the "MOU"). In the MOU, the parties also contemplated the resolution, release and bar of certain claims that have been or could be brought by the Debtor or any shareholder or creditor of the Debtor (including any claims purportedly brought derivatively on behalf of the Debtor) against any of its current or former officers, directors or employees, including those related to the subject matter of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions. Following the signing of the MOU, negotiations of a stipulation of settlement and an insurer agreement commenced, as further described in Article III below. In December 2010, the plaintiffs in the Consolidated Class Action and certain of the Underwriter Defendants entered into a separate settlement pursuant to a separate memorandum of understanding and, thereafter, a separate stipulation of settlement, as further described in Article III below.

G. Restructuring Initiatives

Because AAC has been unable to pay dividends to the Debtor for several years, over the year preceding its chapter 11 filing, the Debtor considered various restructuring initiatives, including third-party investment and, through negotiations with an ad hoc committee of AFG's senior noteholders (the "Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee"), a prepackaged bankruptcy.

1. Negotiations with Third-Party Investors

The Debtor considered several possible transactions to attract new capital, met with potential investors and received multiple bids. Such bids contemplated different combinations of (i) the acquisition of less than twenty (20) percent of the Debtor's equity interests in AAC, (ii) an equity investment in AFG, and/or (iii) a loan to AFG. None of the bids, however, sufficiently satisfied AFG's liquidity needs and/or the necessary agreements were not reached. In late October/early November 2010, negotiations with the remaining third-party investors concluded and failed to produce an acceptable transaction that would enable the Debtor to service its debt obligations. As a result, the Debtor concentrated its efforts on negotiations with the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee in hopes of commencing a prepackaged chapter 11 bankruptcy case.

2. Negotiations with the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee

Beginning in August 2010,¹¹ while simultaneously negotiating with potential third-party investors, the Debtor and the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee participated in extensive negotiations in an effort to reach an agreement on a consensual restructuring to be accomplished through a prepackaged bankruptcy plan of reorganization. The Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee engaged Morrison & Foerster LLP as its counsel and Lazard Frères & Co. LLC as its financial advisors. AFG, its counsel, Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP, and its financial advisors, Blackstone

¹¹ Although negotiations began in September, the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee was formed and did significant diligence in preparation for such negotiations and conducted preliminary negotiations over the preceding summer.

Advisory Partners LP ("Blackstone"), attempted to reach a consensual restructuring of the Debtor's balance sheet with the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee and its advisors.

Subjects of negotiation between AFG and the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee included (i) the December 2009 Amendment and June 2010 Amendment, (ii) the Tax Refund Transfers, (iii) the allocation of NOLs between the AFG Subgroup and the AAC Subgroup, and (iv) potential avoidance actions that may be brought on behalf of AFG against AAC. Because settlement of these issues would directly affect AAC, in October 2010, AFG attempted to include OCI in its negotiations with the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee.

3. Negotiations with OCI

The Debtor concluded that it was possible that, if any prepackaged plan agreed upon by AFG and the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee were likely to impact negatively AAC's ability to satisfy policyholder claims, OCI may have placed the General Account into full rehabilitation, thereby potentially eliminating any equity value of AAC to AFG. As a result, the Debtor and the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee sought OCI consent to any possible prepackaged plan of reorganization which contemplated preservation of AAC's going-concern value. Despite a \$37 million dividend received from Ambac (Bermuda) Ltd., however, AFG's liquidity position was deteriorating and it became evident that an agreement among AFG, the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee and OCI regarding a prepackaged bankruptcy plan would not be reached in the appropriate timeframe. Nonetheless, while AFG prepared to file for chapter 11 protection, it continued to negotiate with the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee and OCI, and it remained hopeful that an agreement could be reached on a prenegotiated bankruptcy plan.

H. Events Leading Up to the Commencement Date

On October 28, 2010, the IRS sent to AFG an information document request (an "<u>IDR</u>") regarding the Form 3115 filed by the Debtor in 2008 and three claims filed by the Debtor with the IRS for tentative carryback adjustments on Form 1139 (Corporate Application for Tentative Refund) on account of which the IRS refunded to the Debtor the Tax Refunds in December 2008, September 2009 and February 2010. Additionally, the IRS questioned the loss accounting methods underlying Ambac's reported consolidated NOLs on September 30, 2010, of approximately \$7.3 billion.

On October 29, 2010, AFG's board of directors determined that AFG would not pay the \$2.8 million interest payment on the 7-1/2% Debentures Due 2023 (the "November 1st Interest Payment"). Pursuant to the 1991 Indenture, nonpayment of the November 1st Interest Payment within 30 days of its scheduled due date, *i.e.*, November 30, 2010, would constitute an event of default, giving the Debtor 30 days to decide whether to cure such default or file for chapter 11 protection.

Upon receipt of the IDR, the Debtor's management reviewed the potential ramifications. Because (i) the Tax Refunds were transferred to AFG by the IRS pursuant to a Form 1139 and (ii) AFG is in financial distress, the IRS could assess AFG for a deficiency, and immediately (a) obtain liens and levy upon AFG's cash assets, (b) obtain liens and levy upon AAC's assets,

and/or (c) obtain liens and levy upon the assets of any other Ambac Affiliate, all without notice to the Debtor or an opportunity to pay or object to such assessed deficiency.

The Debtor determined that, if the IRS were to take such enforcement actions with respect to AFG, AFG would have been unable to access its cash or other assets. Additionally, if the IRS were to take such enforcement actions with respect to AAC, there was a real risk that OCI would quickly thereafter commence a rehabilitation of AAC, which would likely cause significant value destruction at AAC and seriously jeopardize or completely destroy the Debtor's reorganization prospects. Although most of AAC's exposure to CDS was commuted in connection with the CDS Settlement Agreement, the General Account continues to be exposed to a significant book of CDS of CDOs, collateralized loan obligations and other structured finance obligations. As with CDS exposures generally, counterparties on these agreements have a right to assert mark-to-market termination claims in the event of a rehabilitation of AAC. Although OCI would presumably have attempted to enjoin the assertion of such mark-to-market damages, there could be no assurance that such injunctions would have ultimately been successful. AAC's exposure to such mark-to-market damage claims in respect of the remaining book of CDS in the General Account was estimated to be approximately \$1.5 billion. In the event that OCI failed to restrain the assertion of such damages, this \$1.5 billion in additional policyholder claims would dilute all other policyholder claims significantly and diminish AAC's residual value (if any) to AFG.

Additionally, irrespective of whether the IRS took enforcement action against AAC, the IRS could have obtained liens and levy upon (i) Everspan, an insurance company subsidiary of AAC with approximately \$160-170 million of surplus, and (ii) two non-insurance subsidiaries of AAC, Ambac Financial Services, LLC ("AFS") and Ambac Capital Funding, Inc. ("ACFI"). AFS engages in swap transactions with clients of AAC and the general marketplace while ACFI has a large book of guaranteed investment contract business. These businesses could be significantly affected if the liens referenced above were instituted. If the businesses of AFS and ACFI were destroyed by an IRS lien and/or levy, both AFS and ACFI (all of whose liabilities to third parties are insured by AAC) could generate significant additional liabilities for AAC and further reduce or eliminate AAC's residual value to AFG.

Negotiations among the Debtor, the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee and OCI continued through November 7, 2010, culminating in a non-binding term sheet (the "<u>Term Sheet</u>"). A copy of the Term Sheet was annexed to a letter sent by Sean Dilweg, the Wisconsin Commissioner of Insurance, to AAC's board of directors on November 7, 2010 (the "<u>Dilweg Letter</u>"), which was attached as an exhibit to the *Affidavit of David W. Wallis in Support of the Debtor's Chapter 11 Petition and First Day Motions and Pursuant to Local Rule 1007-2*, filed on the Commencement Date [Docket No. 2].

The Term Sheet provided, among other things, that: (i) the Debtor would retain ownership of AAC; (ii) OCI would not petition for the full rehabilitation of AAC unless warranted by new material developments; (iii) AAC would allocate to the Segregated Account the Allocated AFG Liabilities; (iv) until the expiry of the Term Sheet, the Rehabilitator would not seek an injunction from the Rehabilitation Court enjoining AFG action in respect of the NOLs and the Debtor would not take any action with regard to allocation of the NOLs between AAC and AFG; (v) until the expiry of the Term Sheet, the Prepetition Ad Hoc Committee would

not to pursue, or support the pursuit of, any preference claim or fraudulent conveyance claim on behalf of AFG pertaining to the Tax Refund Transfers; (vi) the Debtor and AAC would negotiate a cost allocation agreement allocating administrative expenses among Ambac Affiliates and an agreement regarding allocation between AAC and AFG of the fees and expenses incurred by AFG in relation to any litigation in regard to the return of the Tax Refunds; (vii) AAC and the Segregated Account would negotiate in good faith with AFG to modify the TSA and address certain issues including, but not limited to, allocation of the NOLs between AAC and the Debtor (a) the amount of NOLs available for use by AAC, which shall be no greater than \$3.5 billion, (b) the amount paid by AAC to AFG for the use of the NOLs; and (viii) AAC and the Segregated Account would negotiate in good faith with AFG on the amount of the Misallocation Claim, and subject to the approval of the Rehabilitation Court, AAC would pay such amount to AFG, and, if the parties are unable to settle the Misallocation Claim by expiry of the Term Sheet, the dispute would be submitted to binding arbitration.

At meetings convened on the evening of November 7, 2010, the boards of directors of both the Debtor and AAC passed resolutions authorizing management to continue to pursue negotiations with the Debtor's senior creditors and OCI with a view to reaching an agreement on a comprehensive restructuring of the Debtor within the framework of the terms set forth in the Term Sheet.

As discussed above in the context of the Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings, on the morning of the Commencement Date, OCI went into the Rehabilitation Court and informed it of the Term Sheet and the allocation of the Allocated AFG Liabilities. The Rehabilitator also sought expansion of the Temporary Injunction to prevent the IRS from asserting liens against and levying upon the assets of AAC and its subsidiaries and to prevent AFG or AFG-related parties from pursuing the Allocated AFG Liabilities against the Segregated Account, the General Account or AAC's subsidiaries, resulting in Rehabilitation Court's entering the Supplemental Injunction.

Because allocation of the Allocated AFG Liabilities and entry of the Supplemental Injunction affected AAC's obligations to the IRS, the IRS received notice thereof, increasing the concern of the Debtor's board of directors that the IRS would pursue the enforcement actions described above. Because such enforcement actions had the potential to eliminate the Debtor's ability to reorganize and force it into liquidation proceedings, the Debtor's board of directors decided to file for chapter 11 protection on an emergency basis and approved resolutions authorizing the commencement of the Debtor's chapter 11 case.

ARTICLE III. THE CHAPTER 11 CASE

A. Overview of the Chapter 11 Case

1. <u>Commencement of the Chapter 11 Case and First Day Orders</u>

On the Commencement Date, AFG filed a voluntary petition for relief under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court. The Chapter 11 Case was assigned to the Honorable Shelley C. Chapman, United States Bankruptcy Judge. At a hearing held on

November 9, 2010, the Debtor obtained interim approval to, among other things, continue its use of a centralized Cash management system, restrict certain trading activity in the Debtor's Equity Interests and Claims, and continue its business in the ordinary course during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Case. At subsequent hearings on November 30 and December 21, 2010, the Bankruptcy Court approved such actions on a final basis, as well as the Debtor's request to honor certain prepetition obligations to employees, taxing authorities and critical service providers.

The Debtor retained the following advisors in the Chapter 11 Case: Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP as counsel to the Debtor, Togut, Segal & Segal LLP as conflicts counsel to the Debtor, Blackstone Advisory Partners LLP as financial advisor, KPMG LLP as auditors and tax consultants, Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC as claims and noticing agent, Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz as special litigation counsel, and Cornerstone Partners as litigation consultants.

2. The Trading Order

On November 30, 2010, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order restricting certain transfers of Equity Interests in and Claims against the Debtor [Docket No. 40] (the "<u>Trading</u> Order"). The purpose of the Trading Order is to preserve the Debtor's NOLs.

Under IRC section 382, if a corporation undergoes an "ownership change," the amount of its pre-ownership change NOLs which may be utilized to offset future taxable income generally is subject to an annual limitation. In general, the amount of this annual limitation is equal to the product of the fair market value of the stock of the corporation (or, in the case of a consolidated group, the stock of the common parent) immediately before the ownership change (with certain adjustments) and the "long-term tax-exempt rate" in effect for the month in which the ownership change occurs, which is generally defined as the highest rate in effect during the three months prior to and including the month in which the ownership change occurs (for example, 4.30% for an ownership change that occurs during July 2011). An "ownership change" is generally deemed to occur if shareholders owning five percent or more of the corporation's stock increase their ownership by greater than 50 percentage points over a three-year testing period. Although it is likely that the Debtor will undergo an "ownership change" for purposes of IRC section 382 as a result of the consummation of the Plan, the Debtor intends to qualify under a special exception contained in IRC section 382(1)(5) (the "L5 Exception") excepting the Reorganized Debtor from the annual limitation on use of NOLs. The Debtor sought entry of the Trading Order to avoid an "ownership change" prior to consummation of the Plan and to increase the likelihood that the Reorganized Debtor will be able to utilize the L5 Exception.

The Trading Order implements notice and hearing procedures for transfers of Equity Interests by a Person or Entity that beneficially owns more than 13,500,000 shares of the Debtor's stock. Transfers of the Debtor's stock in violation of the Trading Order are void *ab initio*. In addition, the Trading Order generally requires a Person or Entity that beneficially owns a Claim or Claims against the Debtor totaling more than \$55,000,000 to agree to "sell down" a portion of its Claim(s) prior to consummation of a plan, such that such Person or Entity would receive less than five percent of the New Common Stock under a plan, thereby increasing the likelihood that the Reorganized Debtor will be able to utilize the L5 Exception. Because the Reorganized Debtor's ability to utilize its NOLs will be substantially impaired if it does not qualify for the L5 Exception, any Holder of a Claim that does not comply with the Trading Order

will only receive New Common Stock equal to or less than five percent of total New Common Stock issued under a plan.

3. <u>Appointment of Committee</u>

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1102(a)(1), on November 17, 2010, the U.S. Trustee appointed the Committee. The following creditors currently serve on the Committee: (i) Bank of New York Mellon, as Indenture Trustee, (ii) Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, as Indenture Trustee, (iii) Halcyon Master Fund LP, (iv) ValueWorks LLC, and (v) OSS.

4. Claims

(i) Schedule of Assets and Liabilities and Statements of Financial Affairs

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 1007(c), a debtor is required to file schedule of assets and liabilities and statements of financial affairs within 14 days after the filing of its bankruptcy petition. On the Commencement Date, the Debtor filed a motion seeking to extend the deadline to file its Schedules to December 22, 2010. On November 9, 2010, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order granting the Debtor's motion. The Debtor filed its Schedules on December 22, 2010.

(ii) Claims Bar Date and Notice of Bar Date

On January 19, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order setting deadlines for Filing proofs of Claim and requests for payment in the Chapter 11 Case [Docket No. 127] (the "Bar Date Order"), establishing March 2, 2011, as the deadline by which all Persons and Entities must File proofs of Claim and requests for payment (the "Bar Date"), and May 9, 2011, as the deadline by which all "governmental entities" (as defined in Bankruptcy Code section 101(27)) must File proofs of Claim and requests for payment (the "Governmental Bar Date," and together with the Bar Date, the "Bar Dates"). In accordance with the Bar Date Order, notices informing Creditors of the last date to timely File proofs of Claims were mailed at least 35 days prior to the Bar Date, along with a customized proof of claim form. Further, the Debtor published notice of the Bar Date in The Wall Street Journal (National Edition) and the New York Times.

Additionally, on March 1, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order extending the Bar Date to July 2, 2011, for certain former officers and directors of the Debtor who are defendants in the Shareholder Litigation or the ERISA Action in respect of any claims against the Debtor for indemnification, contribution or reimbursement arising from the Shareholder Litigation or the ERISA Action [Docket No. 196]. On June 29, 2011, the Debtor agreed to further extend the Bar Date for such former officers and directors to August 1, 2011 [Docket No. 327].

(iii) Claims Objections and Settlement

On or before the Bar Dates, more than 3100 proofs of claim asserting Claims against the Debtor were received by the Debtor's Notice and Claims Agent or filed with the Bankruptcy Court. Over 600 proofs of claim were Filed after the applicable Bar Dates. Based upon the Debtor's review of these Claims, the Debtor estimates that approximately 3000 of these Claims are duplicative, misclassified or otherwise invalid. Additionally, the Debtor has scheduled

approximately 44 liquidated, noncontingent and undisputed Claims totaling \$1,624,513,560.16, of which \$12,403.84 is scheduled as priority Claims. The aggregate amount of proofs of Claim timely filed totals \$1,038,686,553.36, including duplication but excluding any estimated amounts for contingent or unliquidated Claims.¹²

On March 24, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order granting relief from certain limitations of Bankruptcy Rule 3007 and establishing procedures for objecting to Claims [Docket No 225] (the "Claims Objection Procedures Order"). The Claims Objection Procedures Order authorizes the Debtor to: (i) file a single omnibus objection to no more than 300 Claims at a time on certain specified grounds, in addition to those enumerated in Bankruptcy Rule 3007(d); (ii) serve a personalized notice of the Claim objection, rather than the entire omnibus Claim objection, on each of the claimants whose Claims are the subject of the applicable objection; and (iii) file omnibus motions to deem the Schedules amended, but serve a personalized notice on each affected claimant. The Claims Objection Procedures Order streamlines the Claims objection and reconciliation process, and conserves the resources of the Debtor's estate.

On December 14, 2010, the New York City Department of Finance filed a proof of Claim against the Debtor in the amount of \$116,817,949.00 (the "NYC Tax Claim"), asserting Priority status. On May 23, 2011, in accordance with the Claims Objection Procedures Order, the Debtor filed an objection and request to disallow the NYC Tax Claim [Docket No. 278] (the "NYC Tax Claim Objection"). On July 6, 2011, the New York City Department of Finance filed an opposition to the NYC Tax Claim Objection [Docket No. 364]. The hearing in the Bankruptcy Court in respect of the NYC Tax Claim Objection is currently scheduled for July 25, 2011.

On May 5, 2011, the IRS filed proofs of Claim against the Debtor in the amount of \$807,243,827.91 (the "IRS Claims"), of which \$807,242,027.91 is asserted as an unsecured Priority Tax Claim, and \$, is asserted as a General Unsecured Claim. As discussed in Article III.A.5 below, the Debtor believes these Claims should be valued at \$0, and commenced an adversary proceeding seeking a declaratory judgment to that effect (the "IRS Adversary Proceeding"). On June 14, 2011, in accordance with the Claims Objection Procedures Order, the Debtor filed an objection to the IRS Claims [Docket No. 311] (the "IRS Claims Objection"). The hearing in the Bankruptcy Court in respect of the IRS Claims Objection is currently scheduled for July 25, 2011. Additional information with respect to the IRS Claims may be found in Article III.A.5 below.

In accordance with the Claims Objection Procedures Order, on June 14, 2011, the Debtor filed in the Bankruptcy Court sixteen omnibus objections to approximately 3,680 duplicative, unsubstantiated, misclassified and late-Filed Claims, for hearing by the Bankruptcy Court on July 19, 2011. On July 6, 2011, the Debtor filed in the Bankruptcy Court a seventeenth omnibus objection to approximately 45 duplicative, unsubstantiated, misclassified and late-Filed Claims for hearing by the Bankruptcy Court on August 12, 2011. Upon resolution of these Claims objections, the Debtor expects that over 3,700 of the Claims against the Debtor's estate shall be expunged.

¹² This amount reflects amendments to the Debtor's Schedules and the resolution of certain duplicative Claims.

The Debtor is in the process of evaluating the remaining Filed Claims to determine whether objections seeking the disallowance of certain Claims should be Filed, or whether certain Claims should be resolved in the ordinary course or in a judicial tribunal with appropriate jurisdiction. The Debtor is also reconciling the scheduled Claims with the Claims asserted in proofs of Claim and is continuing to eliminate duplication and other inaccuracies to ensure that only valid Claims are allowed by the Bankruptcy Court. The Debtor anticipates filing additional objections in respect of certain of the remaining Filed proofs of Claim where consensual resolution with the creditors cannot be achieved.

(iv) Claims Estimation

The Debtor intends to file the motions discussed below to estimate certain Claims for the purposes of voting on and determining the feasibility of the Plan. The Debtor has examined the existing Disputed Claims and does not believe that the existence of such unresolved or unliquidated Disputed Claims will impact the feasibility of the Plan. To the extent necessary to demonstrate compliance with Bankruptcy Code section 1129(a)(11), the Debtor will request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate any Disputed Claims at the Confirmation Hearing solely for the purpose of determining feasibility of the Plan.

(a) Estimation of IRS Claims

The Debtor intends to file a motion to estimate the IRS Claims, to request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate the IRS Claims for the purposes of voting on and determining the feasibility of the Plan. Additional information with respect to the IRS Claims may be found in Article III.A.5 below.

(b) Estimation of the NYC Tax Claim

The Debtor also intends to file a motion to estimate the NYC Tax Claim, to request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate the NYC Tax Claim for the purpose of determining the feasibility of the Plan.

(c) Estimation of the Claims for Voting Purposes

Should the Debtor deem it necessary, based upon its review of the proofs of Claim Filed in the Chapter 11 Case, it shall file a motion to estimate certain Claims for the purpose of voting on the Plan.

5. IRS Adversary Proceeding

On November 9, 2010, the Debtor filed and served against the IRS a complaint for a declaratory judgment relating to the Tax Refunds, commencing the IRS Adversary Proceeding, and a motion for a preliminary injunction, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 105(a), barring assessment and collection of the Tax Refunds by the IRS against the non-debtor Entities in the Ambac Consolidated Group (the "Preliminary Injunction"). On the same date, the Debtor and the IRS agreed to a stipulation on the record of the Bankruptcy Court that provides that the IRS would give notice at least 5 business days prior to taking any action against the Debtor's non-debtor subsidiaries in the Ambac Consolidated Group that would violate the Supplemental

Injunction entered by the Rehabilitation Court, whether or not in effect. The stipulation permits the status quo to be maintained from November 9, 2010, until a hearing on the Preliminary Injunction. As of this date, no hearing on the Preliminary Injunction has been scheduled.

On January 13, 2011, the IRS filed a motion in the District Court to withdraw the IRS Adversary Proceeding from the Bankruptcy Court to the District Court. The Debtor opposed such motion. As of the date of filing, no hearing on such motion has been scheduled.

On February 1, 2011, the Debtor filed a motion with the Bankruptcy Court for a pretrial conference and for authorization to implement alternative dispute resolution procedures. On March 2, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court ordered the process of non-binding mediation to begin on or about May 1, 2011, and to conclude no later than on or about September 6, 2011. The mediation commenced on July 6, 2011. The Bankruptcy Court also approved a scheduling order which, among other things, ordered (i) fact discovery in the IRS Adversary Proceeding to be completed by August 5, 2011, (ii) dispositive motions to be filed by September 16, 2011, and (iii) trial to be scheduled thereafter, pursuant to further order of the Bankruptcy Court. On May 5, 2011, prior to the Governmental Bar Date, the IRS filed the IRS Claims. On June 15, 2011, the parties agreed to extend the deadline to (i) complete fact discovery in the IRS Adversary Proceeding to September 9, 2011, and (ii) file dispositive motions to September 23, 2011.

6. <u>Wisconsin Proceedings</u>

(i) Post-Commencement Proceedings in the Rehabilitation Court

On January 24, 2011, the Rehabilitation Court issued the Rehabilitation Plan Confirmation Order. Because the issuance of the Surplus Notes by both AAC and the Segregated Account contemplated by the Rehabilitation Plan could subject AAC to the risk of (a) deconsolidation from the Ambac Consolidated Group for tax purposes or (b) having to recognize significant CODI, which would likely have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of AAC and the Segregated Account, the Rehabilitator is considering substantial amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the initiation of rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC. Such amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan (and, presumably, any rehabilitation plan with respect to AAC) could include the elimination of the issuance of Segregated Account Surplus Notes and/or the imposition of transfer restrictions on any Segregated Account Surplus Notes. Any such amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan could adversely affect the Debtor's interests in AAC.

Interest on any issued Segregated Account Surplus Notes is payable annually in June at the rate of 5.1% on the unpaid principal balance outstanding. All payments of principal and interest on the Segregated Account Surplus Notes are subject to the prior approval of OCI. If OCI does not approve the payment of interest on the Segregated Account Surplus Notes, such interest will accrue and compound annually until paid. The Segregated Account Surplus Notes are issued pursuant to a fiscal agency agreement entered into with The Bank of New York Mellon, as fiscal agent.

On February 10, 2011, the Rehabilitator filed a motion seeking Rehabilitation Court approval for a settlement with three of the four LVM Bondholders. The Rehabilitation Court

approved this settlement on April 21, 2011. The impact of the settlement on the pending appeals will depend on a number of conditions and contingencies.

On March 3, 2011, the Rehabilitator filed a motion seeking Rehabilitation Court approval of a settlement agreement among the Debtor, AAC, the Segregated Account and OSS as the landlord for the Debtor (the "OSS Settlement Agreement"). The Rehabilitation Court approved this settlement without a hearing on March 21, 2011.

On June 1, 2011, the Rehabilitator filed a Report on the Rehabilitation of the Segregated Account of Ambac Assurance Corporation (the "Rehabilitation Report"). The Rehabilitation Report states that the issuance of the Surplus Notes by AAC and the Segregated Account as contemplated by the Rehabilitation Plan, together with continued deterioration of AAC's financial strength, could subject AAC to the risk of deconsolidation from the Ambac Consolidated Group for U.S. federal income tax purposes. This could require AAC to recognize significant CODI and limit AAC's ability to deduct Surplus Note interest, which may have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of AAC and the Segregated Account, and reduce recoveries to Segregated Account policyholders. The Rehabilitator is evaluating these tax considerations and whether amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the initiation of rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC would eliminate or mitigate such adverse potential tax consequences for the benefit of policyholders. Such amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan could include the elimination of the issuance of Surplus Notes by the Segregated Account and/or the imposition of transfer restrictions on any Surplus Notes issued by the Segregated Account. The Rehabilitator does not have a specific timeline for determining whether to seek amendments to or modifications of the Rehabilitation Plan.

(ii) IRS Actions in Wisconsin District Court

On December 8, 2010, the IRS removed the Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings to the United States District Court for the Western District of Wisconsin (the "Wisconsin District Court"). On December 17, 2010, the IRS filed a motion in the Wisconsin District Court to dissolve the Supplemental Injunction. The Rehabilitator moved to remand the proceeding back to the Rehabilitation Court, and on January 14, 2011, that motion was granted by the Wisconsin District Court, which found that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction. The IRS appealed the decision remanding the Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings to the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit (the "Seventh Circuit"). On January 20, 2011, the Seventh Circuit sua sponte ordered the IRS to show cause why its appeal should not be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction (the "Order To Show Cause"), which led to additional briefing. On February 9, 2011, the IRS filed an action in the Wisconsin District Court seeking to prevent enforcement of the Supplemental Injunction. That action was dismissed sua sponte by the Wisconsin District Court on February 18, 2011. The IRS appealed from this dismissal to the Seventh Circuit and moved to consolidate this appeal with its previously filed appeal. On March 29, 2011, the Seventh Circuit suspended briefing of the Order To Show Cause pending determination of the IRS motion to consolidate its two federal appeals.

(iii) Wisconsin Court of Appeals

Various interested parties who opposed the Rehabilitation Plan have appealed from the Rehabilitation Plan Confirmation Order. On May 3, 2011, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals set a briefing schedule for the various appeals, which it had previously consolidated in an order dated March 16, 2011. Under the briefing schedule, appellants will file a combined brief on June 17, 2011. Appellants with individual arguments may file individual supplemental briefs on July 5, 2011.

On March 8, 2011, the IRS filed a notice of appeal from the Rehabilitation Plan Confirmation Order. On March 25, 2011, the Rehabilitator filed a motion in the Court of Appeals to dismiss the IRS appeal, which was granted on May 3, 2011.

(iv) Wisconsin Supreme Court

On June 1, 2011, the IRS filed in the Wisconsin Supreme Court a petition to review the dismissal of its appeal by the Wisconsin Court of Appeals. The Rehabilitator intends to oppose the IRS's petition.

7. <u>Veera Adversary Proceeding</u>

On or about May 24, 2010, Karthikeyan V. Veera, a former employee and participant in the Debtor's Savings Incentive Plan (the "Savings Plan"), filed the action captioned Veera v. Ambac Financial Group, Inc. et al., Case No. 10 CV 4191, in the District Court, asserting violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA") and naming as defendants the Debtor's Savings Plan administrative committee, Savings Plan investment committee, compensation committee of the Debtor's Board of Directors, and a number of current and former officers and directors of the Debtor (the "ERISA Action"). This action is purportedly brought on behalf of all persons, excluding defendants and their immediate families, who were participants in the Savings Plan from October 1, 2006, through July 2, 2008, and whose Savings Plan accounts included an investment in the Debtor's stock. Veera's complaint was amended on September 7, 2010 to exclude the Debtor from the list of named defendants in the action. The complaint alleges, among other things, breaches of fiduciary duties by defendants in respect of the continued offering of the Debtor's stock as an investment option for the Savings Plan and the failure to provide complete and accurate information to Savings Plan participants regarding the Debtor's financial condition, and seeks, among other things, compensatory damages, a constructive trust for amounts by which the fiduciaries allegedly benefited as a result of their breaches, and attorneys' fees.

On October 20, 2010, the defendants named in the amended complaint moved to dismiss all of the claims asserted therein. In an opinion and order issued January 6, 2011, the District Court denied the motion to dismiss, but held that the defendants had no "affirmative duty under ERISA to disclose information about the company's financial condition to plan participants."

On January 18, 2011, the Debtor filed an adversary complaint in the Bankruptcy Court against Veera, seeking declaratory relief to confirm the applicability of the automatic stay under Bankruptcy Code section 362(a) to Veera's claims or, alternatively, for injunctive relief under section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code to preclude Veera from prosecuting his claims pending

the effective date of a chapter 11 plan or further order of the Bankruptcy Court. On February 11, 2011, the Debtor filed a motion in the adversary proceeding for summary judgment declaring that the protections of the automatic stay apply or should be extended to the claims in the ERISA Action and for injunctive relief. Following a hearing on the Debtor's motion on March 4, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order granting the Debtor's motion, holding that the automatic stay applied to the ERISA Action, but also granted Veera relief from the stay to pursue limited discovery during the extended exclusivity period in the Chapter 11 Case. The Debtor has complied with the Court's discovery order and completed production of documents in the case pending any supplemental requests from Veera or further order from the Bankruptcy Court.

8. Exclusivity

On February 28, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1121(d), granting an extension of the Debtor's exclusive period to file a plan of reorganization through and including July 6, 2011, and solicit acceptances thereof through and including September 6, 2011, without prejudice to the right of the Debtor to seek further extension of such periods.

9. One State Street Settlement

On March 1, 2011, the Debtor, AAC, the Segregated Account and OSS entered into the OSS Settlement Agreement terminating the Debtor's existing headquarters office lease with OSS (the "Existing Lease") and settling all claims among the parties with respect thereto, in each case as of the date on which all conditions to effectiveness specified in the OSS Settlement Agreement were satisfied (the "OSS Settlement Effective Date"). On March 1, 2011, AAC also entered into a new lease (the "New AAC Lease") with OSS for an initial term commencing on the effective date of the New AAC Lease through December 31, 2015. The New AAC Lease provides for the rental of a reduced amount of space at the Debtor's current location, One State Street Plaza. The OSS Settlement Agreement also provides that OSS will have an Allowed General Unsecured Claim in the Chapter 11 Case for the amount that the Debtor would owe OSS under the Bankruptcy Code upon rejection of the existing lease, which amount was determined as of the OSS Settlement Effective Date to be \$14,007,368. Pursuant to the OSS Settlement Agreement, the Segregated Account issued to OSS Junior Surplus Notes. Junior Surplus Notes are subordinate to Segregated Account Surplus Notes. The aggregate amount of the Junior Surplus Notes was determined as of the OSS Settlement Effective Date to be \$36,081,612. One of the Junior Surplus Notes is subject to reduction in amounts equal to (x) 83.33% of the value of any distribution received by OSS from the Debtor's bankruptcy estate and (y) the net present value (using a 7% discount rate) of rents paid during any extension term of the New AAC Lease.

The Rehabilitation Court and the Bankruptcy Court approved the OSS Settlement Agreement on March 21 and March 24, 2011, respectively. On May 19, 2011, OSS's mortgage holder approved the OSS Settlement Agreement.

10. Shareholder Litigation Settlement

On May 4, 2011, the lead plaintiffs in the Securities Actions, the Debtor and the Individual Defendants (the "Settling Defendants") entered into a stipulation of settlement, a copy

of which is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u> (the "<u>Stipulation of Settlement</u>"). On the same day, the Debtor, the Individual Defendants, and the D&O Insurers entered into a related agreement (the "<u>Insurer Agreement</u>"). The Stipulation of Settlement is intended by the Settling Defendants and the plaintiffs in the Securities Actions (the "<u>Settling Parties</u>"), among other things, to fully, finally, and forever resolve, discharge and settle any and all claims, actions, suits, controversies, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, that were, could have been, or might have been asserted in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions (the "<u>Settled Claims</u>"). On May 25, 2011, the same respective parties entered into a First Amendment to the Stipulation of Settlement and a First Amendment to the Insurer Agreement. The amendments clarify that the Settled Claims exclude the ERISA claims at issue in the ERISA Action.

Pursuant to the Stipulation of Settlement, the plaintiffs in the Securities Actions and the Settling Defendants stipulated to certification of a class solely for the purposes of the Settlement, pursuant to Rules 23(a) and 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, consisting of all persons (the "Settlement Class") who purchased or otherwise acquired any securities issued by the Debtor, including AFG equity or debt securities or options thereon and any STRATS (collectively, "Ambac Securities"), during the period from October 19, 2005, through and including July 18, 2009 (the "Class Period"). See Stipulation of Settlement ¶ 3. Excluded from the Settlement Class are defendants in the Securities Actions, members of their immediate families, and their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns. Also excluded from the Settlement Class are any persons who exclude themselves by filing a timely and valid request for exclusion in accordance with applicable requirements.

The Stipulation of Settlement provides that, in consideration for the settlement of the Settled Claims, the Debtor and the D&O Insurers shall severally pay to the Settlement Class the total amount of \$27,100,000. See Stipulation of Settlement ¶ 8. The Stipulation of Settlement further provides that, pursuant to the Insurer Agreement, the D&O Insurers shall be required to pay the amount of \$24,600,000 to the Settlement Class, see Stipulation of Settlement ¶ 8(a). In addition, and as further described in Article II above, the Stipulation of Settlement specifies that the Debtor, prior to the Commencement Date, paid the amount of \$2,500,000 in cash into the Escrow Account in consideration of the settlement and that the Debtor has no responsibility to make any other payments into the Escrow Account under the terms of the Stipulation of Settlement. See Stipulation of Settlement ¶ 8(b).

Moreover, the Stipulation of Settlement contemplates that, upon entry of an order by the District Court preliminarily approving the settlement and directing that notice be provided to the Settlement Class, lead counsel for the Settlement Class may pay from the Escrow Account, without further order of the District Court or approval from the Debtor, the Individual Defendants or the D&O Insurers, all notice and administration costs in an amount not to exceed \$500,000. See Stipulation of Settlement ¶ 17. The Stipulation of Settlement further provides that, in the event that the settlement is not consummated, all notice and administration costs actually paid or incurred, including related fees, will not be returned or repaid to the Settling Defendants or the D&O Insurers. See Stipulation of Settlement ¶ 17.

Consummation of the settlement provided for by the Stipulation of Settlement is contingent upon, among other things, (1) final approval of the settlement by the District Court

following notice to the Settlement Class, as prescribed by Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and the entry of a judgment; and (2) entry of either (i) the Confirmation Order, which contains any necessary approvals related to the Debtor's entry into and performance of any obligations under the Stipulation of Settlement or (ii) an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Debtor's entry into and performance of any obligations under the Stipulation of Settlement (either (i) or (ii), the "Bankruptcy Court Approval Order"). See Stipulation of Settlement ¶ 35(f).

Specifically, the Stipulation of Settlement requires that the Bankruptcy Court Approval Order be entered, have become final, and include provisions:

- to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, permanently barring and (i) enjoining all persons or entities, including but not limited to the Debtor and/or the Reorganized Debtor on behalf of the Debtor and any and all of its current and former parents, Affiliates, subsidiaries, predecessors, successors, heirs, estates, administrators, and legal representatives ("Ambac Entities") and any shareholder or creditor of any of the Ambac Entities (including any shareholder or creditor of any of the Ambac Entities or any other person or entity purportedly acting derivatively on behalf of any of the Ambac Entities) from instituting or prosecuting or continuing to prosecute any and all manner of claims, actions, causes of actions, suits, controversies, agreements, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations, or common law of the United States of America, any state or political subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, against any or all of the Individual Defendants and any or all of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity, (aa) that were, could have been, might have been or might be in the future asserted in any of the Securities Actions or any of the Derivative Actions, or (bb) in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act within the Class Period or relevant periods specified in any of the Derivative Actions by any of the Individual Defendants or any of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity relating to any Ambac Entity or in his or her capacity as an officer, director, or employee of any Ambac Entity, or (cc) that allege, arise out of, or are based upon or attributable to any fact, action, omission or failure to act that is (A) alleged in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions or (B) related to any fact, action, omission or failure to act alleged in the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions;
- (ii) providing for full releases by the Debtor, on behalf of itself and (to the fullest extent of the Debtor's power to do so) all Ambac Entities and (to the fullest extent of their power to do so) any shareholder, creditor, or other person or entity purporting to sue on behalf of or in the right of any of the Ambac Entities, of any and all manner of claims, actions, causes of actions, suits, controversies, agreements, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations, or common law of the United States of America, any state or political

subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, against any or all of the Individual Defendants and any or all of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity, (aa) that were, could have been, might have been or might be in the future asserted in any of the Securities Actions or any of the Derivative Actions, or (bb) in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act within the Class Period or relevant periods specified in any of the Derivative Actions by any of the Individual Defendants or any of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity relating to any Ambac Entity or in his or her capacity as an officer, director, or employee of any Ambac Entity, or (cc) that allege, arise out of, or are based upon, or attributable to any fact, action, omission or failure to act that is (A) alleged in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions or (B) related to any fact, action, omission, or failure to act alleged in the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions;

- (iii) directing the filing of appropriate applications seeking dismissal of the Derivative Actions (if such Derivative Actions have not previously been dismissed); and
- (iv) approving the Debtor's entry into the Insurer Agreement.

On May 9, 2011, the Debtor filed a notice of presentment of a stipulation and order modifying the automatic stay for the limited purpose of permitting the parties to the Securities Actions to seek and obtain preliminary approval of the Stipulation of Settlement in the District Court [Docket No. 261]. On May 19, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court entered the stipulation and order [Docket No. 271], granting the Settling Parties limited relief from the stay for the sole and limited purpose of permitting the following: (1) the Settling Parties to seek preliminary approval of the settlement by the District Court; (2) entry by the District of an order preliminarily approving the Settlement and directing that notice be provided to the Class and payment from the Escrow Account of all reasonable notice and administration costs in an amount not to exceed \$500,000; and (3) notice to the Settlement Class. On June 14, 20111, the District Court entered an order preliminarily approving the settlement (the "Preliminary Approval Order"). The District Court also scheduled a final fairness hearing for September 28, 2011.

On June 28, 2011, the Debtor filed a motion in the Bankruptcy Court seeking an order, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 105(a) and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, approving the Stipulation of Settlement and the Insurer Agreement [Docket No. 324] (the "Motion to Approve the Stipulation of Settlement"). This motion is currently scheduled for hearing by the Bankruptcy Court on July 19, 2011. Pursuant to the Preliminary Approval Order, not later than ten days after entry of the order sought by the Motion to Approve the Stipulation of Settlement, a notice of the settlement will be mailed to all members of the Settlement Class who can be identified with reasonable effort.

11. Efforts to Finalize Term Sheet

After the Commencement Date, the Debtor continued to participate in extensive negotiations with OCI and the Committee with a view towards reaching an agreement on a

consensual chapter 11 plan based on the Term Sheet. Although December 31, 2010, was the deadline to reach a binding term sheet with respect to a plan, such deadline was extended several times by agreement of the parties. From the Commencement Date to the date hereof, the Debtor met often with the Committee and OCI, in an effort to negotiate a consensual plan based on the Term Sheet. Additionally, in furtherance thereof, the Debtor met with representatives of AAC and its board of directors, including the Unaffiliated Qualified Directors of AAC.

The Debtor, the Committee and OCI circulated many revised term sheets, none of which were agreeable to all parties. After several months of negotiations, it became clear that, given the Debtor's decreasing liquidity, an agreement on a plan satisfactory to the Debtor, the Committee, AAC and OCI could not be reached in time for the Debtor to emerge successfully from chapter 11. The Debtor continued to negotiate with the Committee and OCI separately and together to determine how best to preserve the Debtor's enterprise value for the benefit of its creditors. In June 2011, an informal group of unaffiliated Holders of Senior Notes represented by Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP (the "Informal Group") joined the negotiations. Based upon these negotiations, certain alternative scenarios were developed with respect to amending the TSA, settling intercompany claims and allocating costs that the Debtor believes benefit all parties. If, on or before the Plan Settlement Deadline, OCI and AAC have agreed to the Plan Settlement and to execute the agreements and effectuate the transactions described below, the Plan shall take the form of the Plan Settlement Option described below. If, by the Plan Settlement Deadline, OCI and AAC have not agreed to the Plan Settlement, the Plan shall take the form of the Deconsolidation Option described below.

B. The Plan

Pursuant to the Plan, in exchange for their Claims, (i) Holders of Senior Notes Claims will receive New Common Stock, (ii) Holders of General Unsecured Claims will receive New Common Stock and the General Unsecured Warrants; and (iii) Holders of Subordinated Notes Claims will receive the Subordinated Notes Warrants, and, if the Class votes in favor of the Plan, New Common Stock in the amount set forth Plan.

The Plan Settlement Option provides that the Reorganized Debtor shall retain ownership of AAC, and the Reorganized Debtor shall not otherwise take any action that will result in a Deconsolidation Event (as defined below). Additionally, the Plan Settlement Option contemplates (i) the assumption of the TSA, (ii) the execution of TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C, (iii) the settlement of certain claims between the Debtor and AAC, OCI and the Segregated Account, and (iv) broad releases of the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, AAC, the Segregated Account, OCI, the board of directors and board committees of the Debtor and AAC, all current and former individual directors, officers, or employees of the Debtor and AAC, the Committee and the individual members thereof, the Indenture Trustees, the Informal Group and the individual members thereof, and each of their respective Representatives (each of the foregoing in its individual capacity as such).

The Deconsolidation Option provides that the Reorganized Debtor shall (i) reject the TSA, (ii) cause a deconsolidation of the AAC Subgroup from the Ambac Consolidated Group for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and (iii) either (a) make an election pursuant to applicable Treasury Regulations to allocate to the Reorganized Debtor the maximum amount of NOLs held

by the Ambac Consolidated Group or (b) take a worthless stock loss in respect of its ownership of stock in AAC. To the extent the Debtor anticipates that any of these steps require regulatory approval of OCI that will not be forthcoming, the Debtor may convert the Chapter 11 Case into a liquidation under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Deconsolidation Option further provides for (i) the transfer to a litigation trust of any and all Claims and Causes of Action the Debtor has against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI, and (ii) broad releases of the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, the board of directors and board committees of the Debtor and AAC, all current and former individual directors, officers, or employees of the Debtor and AAC, the Committee and the individual members thereof, the Indenture Trustees, the Informal Group and the individual members thereof, and each of their respective Representatives (each of the foregoing in its individual capacity as such).

1. The Plan Settlement Option

(i) Amendment to the TSA

Because the NOLs of the Ambac Consolidated Group represent a significant potential asset of the Reorganized Debtor, the Debtor seeks to maximize its ability to realize the potential value of these NOLs. Consequently, the Debtor seeks the acquiescence of OCI and AAC to the Plan Settlement with a view toward maximizing the potential value of such NOLs to the Debtor's creditors and the creditors and policyholders of AAC and the Segregated Account. The Plan Settlement provides that, pursuant to the Plan, the Debtor shall assume the TSA and the Reorganized Debtor shall not take any action that would result in AAC (or any entity that, pursuant to IRC section 381, succeeds to the tax attributes of AAC) not being characterized as an includible corporation with the Ambac Consolidated Group, all within the meaning of IRC section 1504 (a "Deconsolidation Event"). As explained in connection with the discussion of the Deconsolidation Option, the Debtor's covenant not to take any action that would result in a Deconsolidation Event preserves the NOLs for the entire Debtor's U.S. Federal consolidated tax group (including AAC).

The acceptance by OCI and AAC of the Plan Settlement, which is predicated on an equitable sharing of the savings resulting from the use by AAC of the NOLs, should reduce AAC's tax liabilities and increase cash available to pay AAC's policyholders. The Plan Settlement is designed such that a majority of the savings resulting from the use by AAC of the NOLs will be retained by AAC. If, however, OCI and AAC do not accept the Plan Settlement, and (i) the deconsolidation proposed in the Plan occurs and (ii) the NOLs are reattributed in their entirety from AAC to the Debtor, AAC would not have the ability to utilize the NOLs. As a result, AAC could incur hundreds of millions of dollars of increased tax liability to the detriment of policyholders and other parties with an interest in AAC. In sum, the Plan Settlement would materially benefit the Debtor and its creditors, and AAC and its policyholders.

Further, on the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Debtor, AAC and their Affiliates will enter into a fourth amendment to the TSA, which, at the election of OCI and AAC, shall take the form of the amendment attached to the Plan as Exhibit H ("TSA Amendment B"), or the amendment attached to the Plan as Exhibit J ("TSA Amendment B"), or the amendment attached to the Plan as Exhibit J ("TSA Amendment C"), which provide, among other things:

- (a) Any NOLs generated by AAC (determined on a separate company tax basis) and other members of the AAC Subgroup occurring after the date (such date being hereafter referred to as the "<u>Determination Date</u>") which is the earlier of (i) the last day of the calendar quarter preceding the Effective Date and (ii) December 31, 2011 (the "<u>Post-Determination Date NOLs</u>"), shall be available to AAC at no cost.
- (b) Any NOLs generated by AAC (determined on a separate company tax basis) and other members of the AAC Subgroup on or prior to, and existing on, the Determination Date not taking into account the consequences of any settlement with respect to the IRS Dispute (as defined below) (the "Pre-Determination Date NOLs") shall be available for use by the AAC Subgroup as set forth below.
- (c) Unless and until there has been a Deconsolidation Event, the amount of Pre-Determination Date NOLs allocated to, and available for use by, the AAC Subgroup to offset income for regular tax and alternative minimum tax ("AMT") purposes ("Allocated NOLs") shall be an amount (such amount being hereinafter referred to as the "Allocated NOLs Amount") equal to
 - (i) The "Pre-Settlement NOL Amount," defined as the lesser of
 - (a) \$4.0 billion and
 - (b) the total amount of Pre-Determination Date NOLs, *minus* the sum of (A) the amount of CODI realized by the Debtor pursuant to the consummation of the Plan, (B) the amount of interest disallowed pursuant to IRC section 382(l)(5)(B) upon the consummation of the Plan ("Interest Recapture" and, together with CODI, "Debt-Related Income"),
 - (ii) *Minus* the AAC Pro Rata Settlement Portion (as defined below).

The Allocated NOLs Amount shall be available as follows:

TSA Amendment A:

(a) Pursuant to TSA Amendment A, the AAC Subgroup may utilize (to offset income for regular tax and AMT purposes) the Allocated NOLs in an amount up to the Allocated NOLs Amount in exchange for a payment pursuant to the TSA in an amount equal to 40% of the aggregate amount of AAC's regular income tax liability and, without duplication, AMT liability for the taxable year in which the NOLs are used that otherwise would have been paid by AAC if such NOLs were not available for its use (the "AAC Notional Tax Amount").

Additionally, pursuant to TSA Amendment A, if a corresponding amended plan of rehabilitation has not been proposed to the Rehabilitation Court by December 31, 2011, AAC shall make a

cash payment to AFG of \$50 million. If such plan of rehabilitation has not been confirmed by the Rehabilitation Court by March 31, 2012 AAC shall make an additional cash payment to AFG of \$50 million. If the plan of rehabilitation has not been made effective by June 30, 2012, AAC shall make a cash payment to AFG of \$100 million, which shall be fully creditable, without duplication, against future payments in respect of Allocated NOLs.

TSA Amendment B:

(b) Pursuant to TSA Amendment B, the AAC Subgroup may utilize (to offset income for regular tax and AMT purposes) the Allocated NOLs in an amount up to the Allocated NOLs Amount in exchange for a payment pursuant to the TSA in an amount equal to (a) the applicable percentages set forth on the table below, multiplied by (b) the AAC Notional Tax Amount:

NOL Usage Tier	Aggregate Allocated NOLs used as a % of Allocated NOLs Amount, inclusive	Payment as % of the AAC Notional Tax Amount for the taxable year
A	40.00%	0%
В	63.75%	30%
С	87.50%	50%
D	100.00%	75%

Additionally, pursuant to TSA Amendment B, if the Rehabilitation Plan has not been made effective, without modification or change, by December 31, 2011, AAC shall make a cash payment to AFG of \$200 million, which shall be fully creditable, without duplication, against future payments in respect of Allocated NOLs.

TSA Amendment C:

- (c) Pursuant to TSA Amendment C, the AAC Subgroup may utilize (to offset income for regular tax and AMT purposes) the Allocated NOLs in an amount up to the Allocated NOLs Amount in exchange for cash payments of \$60 million paid on each of the Effective Date and the first through fourth anniversaries thereof (inclusive).
- (iii) All cash payments made pursuant to TSA Amendment A or TSA Amendment B will be subject to applicable credits as set forth in the Plan Settlement.
- (iv) A reduction in the Pre-Determination Date NOLs as a result of a settlement of the IRS Dispute (as defined below) prior to the Effective Date (the "Pre-Effective Date Settlement Amount") shall be allocated as follows:

- (a) The "AAC Pro Rata Settlement Portion": The product of (1) the Pre-Effective Date Settlement Amount and (2) the ratio of (x) \$4.0 billion to (y) (i) Pre-Determination Date NOLs minus (ii) Debt-Related Income.
- (b) The "AFG Pro Rata Settlement Portion": Pre-Effective Date Settlement Amount reduced by the AAC Pro Rata Settlement Portion.
- (d) Following the occurrence of a Deconsolidation Event, (1) all Post-Determination Date NOLs shall be allocated to, and owned by, AAC and (2) pursuant to the election set forth in paragraph (g) below, the amount of Pre-Determination Date NOLs allocated to, and owned by, AAC (the "Post-Deconsolidation Allocated NOLs") shall be an amount (such amount being hereinafter referred to as the "Post-Deconsolidation Allocated NOLs Amount") equal to the sum of (A) the Allocated NOLs Amount less (B) the AAC Pre-Deconsolidation Utilized NOLs Amount (as defined below). AAC shall compensate AFG for the use of the Post-Deconsolidation Allocated NOLs at times and according to the same payment schedule as set forth in the TSA with respect to the Allocated NOLs.

The "AAC Pre-Deconsolidation Utilized NOLs Amount" is the amount of Allocated NOLs that, for purposes of paragraph (c) above, is utilized (to offset the AAC Notional Tax Amount) by AAC following the Determination Date and prior to a Deconsolidation Event, plus the amount of any income recognized in connection with such Deconsolidation Event.

- (e) To the extent that AAC has any available Post-Determination Date NOLs, except to the extent otherwise provided in TSA Amendment A or TSA Amendment B, as applicable, solely for purposes of determining the amounts payable under such TSA Amendment, such Post-Determination Date NOLs shall be treated as being used prior to utilization of any Allocated NOLs.
- (f) AFG shall be able to utilize NOLs in excess of the Allocated NOLs, less the AFG Pro Rata Settlement Portion.
- (g) With respect to any taxable year that includes a Deconsolidation Event, AFG shall make valid and timely elections pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-36 such that (i) the NOLs of the AAC Subgroup that exist immediately following a Deconsolidation Event will be an amount equal to the Post-Deconsolidation Allocated NOLs Amount, and (ii) no reduction in the tax basis of any asset of the AAC Subgroup will be required pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-36(d)(4)(i)(D).
- (h) With respect to each taxable year of the Ambac Consolidated Group, if AAC notifies AFG (at least 30 days before the Ambac Consolidated Group tax return is filed) that AAC has reasonably determined that there exists uncertainty as to whether or not a Deconsolidation Event has occurred during such taxable year, AFG shall reasonably cooperate with AAC in making protective elections or

taking other similar actions sought by AAC so that if such a Deconsolidation Event were determined subsequently to have occurred during such taxable year, the results contemplated by paragraph (g) would be achieved to the maximum extent possible. AFG shall provide no less than 60 days prior notice to AAC of its filing of the Ambac Consolidated Group tax return.

- (i) If a Deconsolidation Event occurs on a date other than the last day of a taxable year of AFG, an election under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-76(b)(2)(ii) (a so-called "ratable allocation" election) shall not be made in connection with determining the allocation of the items of the AAC Subgroup between the portion of such taxable year that ends on the date of the Deconsolidation Event and the remaining portion of such taxable year.
- (j) Notwithstanding any provision of TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C, as applicable, to the extent the Reorganized Debtor has an AMT payable pursuant to IRC section 55 or any other provision of state, local or foreign law arising from the AAC Subgroup (the "AAC AMT Amount"), the amount due and payable from AAC to the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to the TSA shall be the sum of (i) the AAC AMT Amount and (ii) the amount due and payable pursuant to the TSA. AAC shall receive the benefit of the tax credit generated by payment of the AAC AMT Amount.

Although it is the intention of the Reorganized Debtor and all parties to the Plan Settlement that AAC should remain part of the Ambac Consolidated Group, if the Surplus Notes are characterized as equity of AAC for U.S. federal income tax purposes and it is determined that the Surplus Notes represent more than twenty (20) percent of the total value of the stock of AAC, issuance of the Surplus Notes may constitute a Deconsolidation Event and AAC and the AAC Subgroup may no longer be characterized as a member of the Ambac Consolidated Group. If such a Deconsolidation Event is deemed to occur, in accordance with paragraph (g) above, the Reorganized Debtor will make an election with respect to the Ambac Consolidated Group's 2010 tax year pursuant to Treasury Regulations section 1.1502-36(d)(6) to reattribute all or a substantial portion of the currently existing NOLs of AAC to the Reorganized Debtor.

(ii) Expense Sharing

Following the Confirmation Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Debtor shall cause its Affiliates to enter into an amended Cost Allocation Agreement, a copy of which is attached to the Plan as Exhibit A (the "Cost Allocation Agreement"), and OCI shall agree to such entry. The Debtor and its Affiliates shall enter into an amended Cost Allocation Agreement to allocate the costs and expenses incurred by certain Affiliates in support of certain service departments or functions which are necessary or beneficial for certain other Affiliates. The Cost Allocation Agreement shall provide, among other things:

(a) AAC shall pay all reasonable AFG operating expenses in arrears for five years, subject to \$6 million per annum cap.

- (b) AFG shall prepare in good faith an annual operating expense budget based on reasonable assumptions that shall be provided to the Rehabilitator within 30 days after the beginning of each fiscal year.
- (c) AAC's obligation to reimburse AFG operating expenses shall terminate upon breach by the Debtor of any material term of the Plan and Plan Settlement, including, but not limited to, exceeding the budget amounts, filing for a new bankruptcy, or taking any action which impairs the ability of AAC and/or the Rehabilitator to continue to use NOLs in accordance with TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C, as applicable, that is not cured within 30 days.
- (d) AAC's obligation to reimburse AFG operating expenses for any annual period ending on an anniversary of the Effective Date shall be reduced by the lesser of (i) \$5,000,000 or (ii) 50% of the sum of (A) and (B) (such product of the sum, the "Reduction Amount"), where (A) is equal to the amount, if any, paid by AAC to AFG during such annual period for the use of NOLs pursuant to the TSA (as modified by TSA Amendment A or TSA Amendment B, as applicable) and (B) is equal to the amount of distributions or payments (except repayments of amounts borrowed), if any, received by AFG (or any subsidiary of AFG other than a Target) during such annual period from any Target (as defined below), multiplied by the proportion that the proceeds of the Cash Grant (as defined below) used to fund the acquisition of the equity interests in the Target (or the acquisition by the Target of assets) bears to the total purchase price (not including, in the case of an asset acquisition, any portion of the purchase price attributable to the assumption of liabilities) for such Target. A "Target" means (i) any entity the equity interests in which are acquired by the Reorganized Debtor or an Affiliate (other than a member of the AAC Subgroup), or (ii) any Affiliate (other than a member of the AAC Subgroup) that acquires assets.

Notwithstanding any existing cost allocation agreement between AAC and the Debtor, pursuant to the Plan Settlement, AAC and the Debtor will share the fees and expenses incurred by the Debtor in relation to any outstanding claims of the IRS against AFG and the Ambac Consolidated Group with respect to the Tax Refunds (the "IRS Dispute"), including the IRS Adversary Proceedings and any related proceedings, on the basis of 85% to AAC and 15% to the Debtor, including, for the avoidance of doubt, all fees and expenses incurred by the Debtor in relation to the IRS Dispute since the Confirmation Date. The Debtor shall not settle or offer to settle the IRS Dispute, incur any defense costs or otherwise assume any contractual obligation, admit any liability, voluntarily make any payment or otherwise agree to any judgment with respect to the IRS Dispute without the written consent of each of AAC and the Rehabilitator, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. AAC and the Rehabilitator shall be entitled to full cooperation and all information and particulars they or either of them may request from the Debtor in relation to the IRS Dispute and any other issues that AAC may have relative to the IRS, including, without limitation, express authorization to engage with IRS directly on matters arising under the Rehabilitation Plan and any amendment or subsequent iteration thereof (including any efforts to obtain a private letter ruling, pre-filing agreement or other form of guidance or clarification).

(iii) Settlement of Claims

The Plan Settlement further provides that, on the Effective Date, AAC shall pay \$30 million to AFG (the "Cash Grant"); provided, however, that up to \$15 million of the Cash Grant will serve as a credit, without duplication, against future payments owed by AAC to the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to TSA Amendment A or TSA Amendment B, as applicable; provided further, however, that until the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date, if the balance of the Cash Grant at any time is (or as a result of a Cash dividend payment would become) \$15 million or less, the Reorganized Debtor will not pay Cash dividends or make any other Cash distributions to Holders of New Common Stock.

Additionally, the Segregated Account shall issue to the Debtor \$350 million of Junior Surplus Notes, the terms of which shall be mutually agreed and no less favorable than those extended to any other recipient of Junior Surplus Notes.

In consideration for the Cash Grant, issuance of Junior Surplus Notes and all the transactions described herein, through the Plan, the Debtor shall unconditionally, fully and completely release AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI from any and all Claims and Causes of Action.

(iv) Releases

The Plan Settlement Option provides for broad releases of the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, AAC, the Segregated Account, OCI, the board of directors and board committees of the Debtor and AAC, all current and former individual directors, officers, or employees of the Debtor and AAC, the Committee and the individual members thereof, the Indenture Trustees, the Informal Group and the individual members thereof, and each of their respective Representatives (each of the foregoing in its individual capacity as such).

(v) Additional Representations

Other than the obligations of the parties with respect to sharing of the expenses of the IRS Dispute, the consummation of the Plan and all agreements and modifications to agreements contemplated by the Plan Settlement are subject to (a) the approval of the Rehabilitation Court within 60 days of the filing hereof, (b) entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court and (c) resolution of the IRS Dispute.

Additionally, the Plan Settlement provides that OCI shall commit that, in the event that any obligations of AAC to the Reorganized Debtor, including (i) obligations with respect to sharing of the fees and expenses incurred by the Debtor in relation to the IRS Dispute, (ii) obligations pursuant to the Cost Allocation Agreement and (ii) obligations pursuant to TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C, as applicable, become subject to the authority of the Rehabilitation Court or another court overseeing a rehabilitation or other insolvency proceeding with respect to AAC, all such obligations shall be provided administrative expense status in such rehabilitation or other insolvency proceeding.

OCI shall support the petition for prompt approval by the Rehabilitation Court of the transactions contemplated by the Plan.

OCI shall commit to allow AAC to repurchase the Surplus Notes, preferred stock or other securities or consideration issued pursuant to the Rehabilitation Plan (whether issued by AAC or the Segregated Account), subject to OCI's determination in its sole and absolute discretion that such repurchases do not violate applicable law, are fair and reasonable to AAC and the Segregated Account, and protect and are equitable to the interests of AAC and Segregated Account policyholders generally.

OCI shall commit to allow AAC to undertake commercially reasonable efforts to transfer to the Reorganized Debtor more than an insignificant amount of an active trade or business.

Additionally, transactions contemplated by the Plan Settlement, including the Plan, TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B, TSA Amendment C and the Cost Allocation Agreement, shall be structured, to the extent practicable, to comply with the CDS Settlement Agreement and the Rehabilitation Plan.

To the extent either the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor or a direct or indirect holder of a Beneficial Interest in the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor requires OCI's consent with respect to any transfer or issuance of a Beneficial Interest in either the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor or AAC (including any equity interest), OCI shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to such transfer and shall notify the Reorganized Debtor in writing of its decision within a reasonable period of time, not exceeding 60 days; *provided*, *however*, such transfer does not result in an "ownership change" as determined for purposes of IRC section 382.

2. <u>The Deconsolidation Option</u>

(i) Rejection of the TSA, Deconsolidation and Reattribution of NOLs

Because the NOLs of the Ambac Consolidated Group represent a significant potential asset of the Reorganized Debtor, the Debtor seeks to maximize its ability to realize the potential value of these NOLs without a corresponding obligation to compensate the AAC Subgroup for the use of any such NOLs by the Ambac Subgroup. Consequently, in the event that OCI and AAC have not accepted the Plan Settlement by the Plan Settlement Deadline, the Deconsolidation Option provides that the Debtor will reject the TSA.

Additionally, on or as soon as reasonably practicable following the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall cause a Deconsolidation Event by transferring more than 20% of its stock in AAC or transferring the economic rights (*i.e.*, the right to dividends and exposure to appreciation and depreciation) of more than 20% of its stock in AAC to either a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes ("AFG Prime"), a third-party, or third parties unrelated to Reorganized AFG (including, without limitation, OCI, another governmental entity, or one or more charitable entities or foundations).

On the U.S. federal income tax return for the taxable year in which the Deconsolidation Event occurs, depending upon the facts applicable at such time, the Reorganized Debtor will (i) elect, under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-36(d)(6), to reattribute up to the maximum amount of AAC's NOLs to the Reorganized Debtor, or (ii) take a worthless stock loss with respect to the AAC stock to the maximum extent permitted under the IRC and applicable Treasury Regulations. As a result, NOLs that may otherwise have been attributable to members

of the AAC Subgroup may be available for use by the Reorganized Debtor and the other members of the Ambac Consolidated Group, which would not include AAC, without compensation.

(ii) Litigation Trust

If the Plan Settlement is not effectuated by the Plan Settlement Deadline, the Plan will provide for the establishment of a litigation trust (the "<u>Litigation Trust</u>") to preserve and hold for the benefit of the Reorganized Debtor all Claims and Causes of Action arising prior to the Effective Date, which have been or could be brought against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI by or on behalf of the Debtor's estate (the "<u>Litigation Trust Assets</u>"). The Litigation Trust Assets shall consist of those causes of action identified in the Plan, and shall include:

- 1. Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI to avoid and/or recover certain tax-related payments made by the Debtor to AAC, including that certain tax refund for approximately \$252.7 million received by the Debtor in September of 2009;
- 2. Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI to avoid and/or recover certain tax-related payments made by the Debtor to AAC, including that certain tax refund for approximately \$443.9 million received by the Debtor in February of 2010;
- 3. Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI pertaining to any possible misallocation of up to \$38,485,850 of tax refunds received by AAC in September of 2009 and February of 2010; and
- 4. Any and all Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI.

(iii) Releases

The Deconsolidation Option provides for broad releases of the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, the board of directors and board committees of the Debtor and AAC, all current and former individual directors, officers, or employees of the Debtor and AAC, the Committee and the individual members thereof, the Indenture Trustees, the Informal Group and the individual members thereof, and each of their respective Representatives (each of the foregoing in its individual capacity as such). AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI are not released pursuant to the Plan in the Deconsolidation Option.

ARTICLE IV. SUMMARY OF THE PLAN

This section provides a summary of the structure and means for implementation of the Plan and the classification and treatment of Claims and Equity Interests under the Plan, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Plan (as well as the exhibits thereto and definitions therein). The statements contained in this Disclosure Statement include summaries of the provisions contained in the Plan and in the documents referred to therein but do not purport to be

precise or complete descriptions of all of the terms and provisions of the Plan or documents referred to therein. Reference is made to the Plan and to such documents for the full and complete statement of such terms and provisions of the Plan or documents referred to therein. In the event of any conflict between this Disclosure Statement and the Plan or any other operative document, the terms of the Plan and/or such other operative document shall control.

A. Administrative Claims and Priority Tax Claims

In accordance with Bankruptcy Code section 1123(a)(1), Administrative Claims, Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation, and Priority Tax Claims have not been classified and, therefore, are excluded from the Classes of Claims and Equity Interests set forth in Article III of the Plan and shall have the following treatment:

1. Administrative Claims

Except with respect to Administrative Claims that are Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation and except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, each Holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim shall be paid in full, in Cash, on the later of (i) the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter; (ii) the first date such Administrative Claim becomes Allowed or as soon as practicable thereafter; and (iii) the date such Allowed Administrative Claim becomes due and payable by its terms or as soon as practicable thereafter.

2. <u>Administrative Claims Bar Date</u>

Requests for the payment of Administrative Claims other than Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation must be Filed and served on the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to the procedures specified in the Confirmation Order no later than sixty (60) days after the Effective Date. Holders of Administrative Claims that are required to, but do not, File and serve a request for payment of such Claims by such date shall be forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from asserting such Claims against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets or properties and such Claims shall be deemed discharged as of the Effective Date. Objections to such requests, if any, must be Filed and served on the Reorganized Debtor and the requesting party no later than ninety (90) days after the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no request for payment of an Administrative Claim need be Filed with respect to an Administrative Claim previously Allowed by Final Order, including all Administrative Claims expressly Allowed under the Plan.

3. Accrued Professional Compensation

Professionals asserting a Claim for Accrued Professional Compensation for services rendered before the Effective Date shall (i) File and serve on the Reorganized Debtor and such other Entities who are designated by the Bankruptcy Rules, the Confirmation Order, the Interim Compensation Order, or other order of the Bankruptcy Court a final application for the allowance of such Claim for Accrued Professional Compensation no later than sixty (60) days after the Effective Date and, (ii) if granted such an award by the Bankruptcy Court, be paid in full in Cash in such amounts as are Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court on the date such Claim for Accrued Professional Compensation becomes Allowed or as soon as practicable thereafter.

Holders of Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation that do not File and serve such application by the required deadline shall be forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from asserting such Claims against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets or properties, and such Claims shall be deemed discharged as of the Effective Date. Objections to Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation shall be Filed no later than ninety (90) days after the Effective Date.

4. Priority Tax Claims

Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Priority Tax Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim due and payable on or before the Effective Date shall receive, at the option of the Debtor, one of the following treatments: (i) Cash, payable by the Debtor on the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such Priority Tax Claim becomes Allowed, or as soon as practicable thereafter, in an amount equal to the amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim; or (ii) Cash in an aggregate amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim payable in installment payments over a period of time not to exceed five (5) years after the Commencement Date, in accordance with Bankruptcy Code section 1129(a)(9)(C).

5. U.S. Trustee Fees

On the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Reorganized Debtor shall pay all U.S. Trustee Fees that are due and owing on the Effective Date. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in the Plan shall release the Reorganized Debtor from its obligation to pay all U.S. Trustee Fees due and owing after the Effective Date before an order or final decree is entered by the Bankruptcy Court concluding or closing the Chapter 11 Case.

6. Indenture Trustee Fees and Informal Group Fees

On the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall pay in Cash the Indenture Trustee Fees and the Informal Group Fees, without the need for the Indenture Trustees or the Informal Group to file fee applications with the Bankruptcy Court; provided, however, that (i) each Indenture Trustee and the Informal Group shall provide the Debtor and the Committee with the invoices for which it seeks payment at least ten (10) days prior to the Effective Date; and (ii) the Debtor and the Committee do not object to the reasonableness of the Indenture Trustee Fees or the Informal Group Fees; provided further, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Reorganized Debtor shall not be required to pay any Informal Group Fees unless (x) the Informal Group supports the Plan and (y) members of the Informal Group holding at least sixty-seven percent (67%) of the aggregate holdings of the Informal Group as of July 6, 2011, vote their Claims to accept the Plan. To the extent that the Debtor or the Committee objects to the reasonableness of any portion of the Indenture Trustee Fees or the Informal Group Fees, the Reorganized Debtor shall not be required to pay such disputed portion until either such objection is resolved or a further order of the Bankruptcy Court is entered providing for payment of such disputed portion. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, each Indenture Trustee's Lien against distributions or property held or collected by it for fees and expenses and priority rights pursuant to the Indentures shall be discharged solely upon payment of its Indenture

Trustee Fees in full on the Effective Date and the termination of such Indenture Trustee's duties under the applicable Indenture.

B. Classification and Treatment of Classified Claims and Equity Interests

1. <u>Summary Classification of Claims and Equity Interests</u>

All Claims and Equity Interests, except Administrative Claims, Accrued Professional Compensation Claims, Priority Tax Claims, and Indenture Trustee Fee Claims, are classified in the Classes set forth in Article III of the Plan. A Claim or Equity Interest is also classified in a particular Class for the purpose of receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan only to the extent that such Claim or Equity Interest is an Allowed Claim or Allowed Equity Interest in that Class and has not been paid, released, or otherwise satisfied prior to the Effective Date.

Class	Claim/Equity Interest	Impairment	Voting Rights
1	Priority Non-Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Accept)
2	Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Accept)
3	General Unsecured Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
4	Senior Notes Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
5	Subordinated Notes Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
6	Section 510(b) Claims	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)
7	Intercompany Claims	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)
8	Equity Interests	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)

2. <u>Treatment of Claims and Equity Interests</u>

The following summarizes the treatment of each Class:

- (i) Class 1 Priority Non-Tax Claims
 - (a) *Classification*: Class 1 consists of all Priority Non-Tax Claims.
 - (b) Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim, on the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such Priority Non-Tax Claim becomes Allowed, or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim shall be paid

in full in Cash.

(c) *Voting*: Class 1 is Unimpaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(f), Holders of Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claims are conclusively presumed to accept the Plan.

(ii) Class 2 – Secured Claims

- (a) Classification: Class 2 consists of all Secured Claims.
- (b) Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Secured Claim, on the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such Secured Claim becomes Allowed, or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed Secured Claim shall receive, in the Reorganized Debtor's sole discretion, (1) Cash, including the payment of any interest required to be paid pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 506(b), in the amount equal to such Allowed Secured Claim, (2) the collateral securing such Allowed Secured Claim, or (3) any other treatment such that the Allowed Secured Claim will be Unimpaired; provided, however, that the aggregate amount of Allowed Secured Claims shall not exceed \$200,000.00.
- (c) *Voting*: Class 2 is Unimpaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(f), Holders of Allowed Secured Claims are conclusively presumed to accept the Plan.

(iii) Class 3 – General Unsecured Claims

- (a) Classification: Class 3 consists of all General Unsecured Claims.
- (b) Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed General Unsecured Claim, on the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such General Unsecured Claim becomes Allowed, or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed General Unsecured Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of (1) the New Common Stock distributed to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims pursuant to the Plan, and (2) the General Unsecured Warrants.
- (c) *Voting*: Class 3 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

- (iv) Class 4 Senior Notes Claims
 - (a) Classification: Class 4 consists of all Senior Notes Claims.
 - (b) Allowance of Senior Notes Claims: The Senior Notes Claims shall be allowed in the aggregate amount of \$1,246,129,468.66, comprised of (a) \$410,115,000.00 in respect of the 5.95% Debentures Due 2035, (b) \$176,085,243.06 in respect of the 5.875% Debentures Due 2103, (c) \$201,256,111.11 in respect of the 5.95% Debentures Due 2103, (d) \$77,921,875.00 in respect of the 7-1/2% Debentures Due 2023, (e) \$125,275,545.05 in respect of the 9-3/8% Debentures Due 2011, and (f) \$255,475,694.44 in respect of the 9.50% Senior Notes Due 2021. For the avoidance of doubt, the Allowed Senior Notes Claims shall not be subject to any avoidance, reductions, setoff. offset, recharacterization, subordination (equitable or contractual or otherwise), counterclaim, defense, disallowance, impairment, objection or any challenges under applicable law or regulation.
 - Treatment: In full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and (c) discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Senior Notes Claim, on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed Senior Notes Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of the New Common Stock distributed to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims, and Subordinated Notes Claims pursuant to the Plan, subject to the condition set forth below. In addition, the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall receive redistributions of New Common Stock and Subordinated Notes Warrants from the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee in accordance with the subordination provisions of the Indentures; provided, however, that (1) the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall transfer to the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee the Subordinated Notes Warrants, to distribute on a Pro Rata basis to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims, and (2) if the Class of Subordinated Notes Claims votes to accept the Plan, the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall, prior to distributing any New Common Stock or Subordinated Notes Warrants to the Holders of Allowed Senior Notes Claims, transfer to the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee 1.5% of the New Common Stock that is distributed to creditors pursuant to the Plan, to distribute on a Pro Rata basis to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims.
 - (d) *Voting*: Class 4 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Senior Notes Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

- (v) Class 5 Subordinated Notes Claims
 - (a) Classification: Class 5 consists of all Subordinated Notes Claims.
 - (b) Allowance of Subordinated Notes Claims: The Subordinated Notes Claims shall be allowed in the aggregate amount of \$444,182,604.08. For the avoidance of doubt, the Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims shall not be subject to any avoidance, reductions, setoff, offset, recharacterization, subordination (equitable or contractual or otherwise), counter-claim, defense, disallowance, impairment, objection or any challenges under applicable law or regulation.
 - Treatment: In full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and (c) discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Subordinated Notes Claim, on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed Subordinated Notes Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of (a) the New Common Stock distributed to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims, and Subordinated Notes Claims pursuant to the Plan, and (b) the Subordinated Notes Warrants; provided, however, that any distribution of New Common Stock and Subordinated Notes Warrants to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims shall be redistributed to the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee for the benefit of Holders of Allowed Senior Notes Claims in accordance with the subordination provisions of the Indentures; provided further, however, that (1) the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall transfer to the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee the Subordinated Notes Warrants, to distribute on a Pro Rata basis to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims, and (2) if the Class of Subordinated Notes Claims votes to accept the Plan, then following such redistribution, the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall, prior to distributing any New Common Stock to the Holders of Allowed Senior Notes Claims, transfer to the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee 1.5% of the New Common Stock that is distributed to creditors pursuant to the Plan to distribute on a Pro Rata basis to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims.
 - (d) *Voting*: Class 5 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.
- (vi) Class 6 Section 510(b) Claims
 - (a) Classification: Class 6 consists of all Section 510(b) Claims.
 - (b) *Treatment*: On the Effective Date, all Section 510(b) Claims shall be terminated, cancelled, and extinguished and each Holder of an

Allowed Section 510(b) Claim shall not be entitled to, and shall not receive or retain, any property or interest in property on account of such Section 510(b) Claim.

(c) *Voting*: Class 6 is Impaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(g), Holders of Section 510(b) Claims are conclusively presumed to reject the Plan.

(vii) Class 7 – Intercompany Claims

- (a) *Classification*: Class 7 consists of all Intercompany Claims.
- (b) *Treatment*: On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, all Intercompany Claims shall be terminated, cancelled, and extinguished and each Holder of an Intercompany Claim shall not be entitled to, and shall not receive or retain, any property or interest in property on account of such Intercompany Claim.
- (c) *Voting*: Class 7 is Impaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(g), Holders of Intercompany Claims are conclusively presumed to reject the Plan.

(viii) Class 8 – Equity Interests

- (a) *Classification*: Class 8 consists of all Equity Interests.
- (b) *Treatment*: On the Effective Date, all Equity Interests shall be terminated, cancelled, and extinguished and each Holder of an Equity Interest shall not be entitled to, and shall not receive or retain, any property or interest in property on account of such Equity Interest.
- (c) *Voting*: Class 8 is Impaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(g), Holders of Equity Interests are conclusively presumed to reject the Plan.

3. Subordinated Claims

The allowance, classification, and treatment of all Allowed Claims and Equity Interests and the respective distributions and treatments under the Plan take into account and conform to the relative priority and rights of the Claims and Equity Interests in each Class in connection with any contractual, legal, and equitable subordination rights relating thereto, whether arising under general principles of equitable subordination, Bankruptcy Code section 510(b), or otherwise. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 510, the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, reserves the right to re-classify any Allowed Claim or Equity Interest in accordance with any contractual, legal, or equitable subordination relating thereto.

4. <u>Confirmation Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1129(b)</u>

Because certain Classes are deemed to have rejected the Plan, the Debtor will request confirmation of the Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b). The Debtor reserves the right to alter, amend, modify, revoke or withdraw the Plan or any related documents, in order to satisfy the requirements of Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b), if necessary.

5. Elimination of Vacant Classes

Any Class of Claims or Equity Interests that does not have a Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Equity Interest or a Claim or Equity Interest temporarily or finally Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court as of the date of the Confirmation Hearing shall be deemed eliminated from the Plan for purposes of voting to accept or reject the Plan and for purposes of determining acceptance or rejection of the Plan by such Class.

6. Controversy Concerning Impairment

If a controversy arises as to whether any Claims or Equity Interests, or any Class of Claims or Equity Interests, are Impaired, the Bankruptcy Court shall, after notice and a hearing, determine such controversy on or before the Confirmation Date.

C. Means for Implementation of the Plan

1. Sources of Consideration for Plan Distributions

All consideration necessary to make all monetary payments in accordance with the Plan shall be obtained from the Cash of the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, including the Cash Grant if OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline.

2. New Organizational Documents

The Debtor's organizational documents shall be amended as necessary in order to satisfy the provisions of the Plan and the Bankruptcy Code. The New Organizational Documents shall include, among other things, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1123(a)(6), a provision prohibiting the issuance of non-voting equity securities for so long as Bankruptcy Code 1123 is in effect and applicable to the Reorganized Debtor.

The New Certificate of Incorporation of the Reorganized Debtor will, among other things, restrict certain transfers of New Common Stock by persons who are, or may become, holders of five (5) percent or more of the New Common Stock. Transfers of New Common Stock in violation of such provisions will be void *ab initio*. The amendment of the New Certificate of Incorporation will permit the board of directors of the Reorganized Debtor to permit certain transfers in its sole discretion. The restrictions applicable to holders of New Common Stock are more fully described in Article IV.E of the Plan.

3. Continued Corporate Existence

In accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware and the New Organizational Documents, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall continue to exist as a separate corporate entity.

4. <u>Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtor</u>

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, on the Effective Date, all property of the Estate and any property acquired by the Debtor pursuant to the Plan shall vest in the Reorganized Debtor, free and clear of all Liens and Claims. On and after the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Reorganized Debtor may operate its business and use, acquire, or dispose of property and compromise or settle any Claims without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules. For the avoidance of doubt, all Causes of Action against the Released Parties belonging to the Debtor which have not been transferred to the Litigation Trust pursuant to Article IV.M shall be deemed released in accordance with Article VIII of the Plan.

5. New Common Stock

Pursuant to the terms set forth in the Plan, on the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall issue shares of New Common Stock for distribution to Holders of Allowed Claims. All of the shares of the New Common Stock issued pursuant to the Plan shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and non-assessable. The Reorganized Debtor will use its commercially reasonable best efforts to list the New Common Stock on a national securities exchange. The issuance and allocation of the New Common Stock shall be structured to ensure that such issuance qualifies for the L5 Exception. In addition, the New Common Stock shall be subject to trading restrictions, as necessary, to prevent an "ownership change" within the meaning of IRC section 382, from occurring until at least two years following the Effective Date.

6. Section 1145 Exemption

Unless required by provision of applicable law, regulation, order, or rule, as of the Effective Date, the issuance of the New Common Stock, the General Unsecured Warrants and the Subordinated Notes Warrants in accordance with the Plan shall be authorized under Bankruptcy Code section 1145 without further act or action by any Entity.

7. Cancellation of Securities and Indentures

On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, all notes, stock, instruments, certificates, indentures, guarantees, and other documents or agreements evidencing the Senior Notes Claims, the Subordinated Notes Claims, and Equity Interests, including, without limitation, the Senior Notes, the Subordinated Notes, and the Indentures, shall be deemed automatically cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect, whether surrendered for cancellation or otherwise, and the obligations of the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor thereunder or in any way related thereto shall be discharged. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Senior Notes, the Subordinated Notes, and the Indentures shall continue in effect solely for the purposes of: (i) allowing the Indenture Trustees to receive and distribute New Common Stock

and the Subordinated Notes Warrants pursuant to the Plan; (ii) permitting the Indenture Trustees to maintain any Lien or priority rights they may have pursuant to the Indentures against distributions or property held or collected by them for fees and expenses; (iii) permitting, but not requiring, the Indenture Trustees to exercise their rights and obligations relating to the interests of their Holders pursuant to the applicable Indentures; and (iv) permitting the Indenture Trustees to appear in the Chapter 11 Case. The Senior Notes, the Subordinated Notes, and the Indentures shall terminate completely upon completion of the distribution of New Common Stock, the General Unsecured Warrants and the Subordinated Notes Warrants pursuant to the Plan.

8. Plan Settlement

(i) Consequences of Acceptance by OCI and AAC of the Plan Settlement

OCI and AAC may accept the Plan Settlement until the Plan Settlement Deadline by filing a notice with the Bankruptcy Court prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline specifying (i) that OCI and AAC accept the Plan Settlement, and (ii) whether the Debtor shall cause its Affiliates to enter into TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C. If OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, entry of the Confirmation Order shall, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date and effective as of the Effective Date, constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Plan Settlement, including the Debtor's assumption of the TSA and entry into the Cost Allocation Agreement and TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C, as applicable. Additionally, for the avoidance of doubt, if OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, entry of the Confirmation Order shall, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date and effective as of the Effective Date, constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Debtor's unconditional, full, and complete release of AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI from any and all Claims and Causes of Action.

(ii) Consequences of Rejection by OCI and AAC of the Plan Settlement

If OCI and AAC have not accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, then: (i) entry of the Confirmation Order shall, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date and effective as of the Effective Date, constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Debtor's rejection of the TSA; (ii) either (a) prior to the Effective Date, the Debtor may seek to convert the Chapter 11 Case to a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1112, or (b) on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Reorganized Debtor shall cause a Deconsolidation Event to occur by transferring more than 20% of its stock in AAC or the economic rights of more than 20% of its stock in AAC to AFG Prime, a third-party, or third-parties unrelated to the Reorganized Debtor (including, without limitation, OCI, another governmental unit, or one or more charitable entities or foundations); (iii) the Reorganized Debtor shall transfer the Litigation Trust Assets to the Litigation Trust pursuant to Article IV.M of the Plan; and (iv) there shall be no releases of AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI.

On the federal income tax return for the taxable year in which the Deconsolidation Event occurs, the Reorganized Debtor will, in its sole discretion, (i) elect, under Treasury Regulation § 1.1502-36(d)(6), to reattribute up to the maximum amount of AAC's NOLs to the Reorganized

Debtor, or (ii) take a worthless stock loss with respect to the Reorganized Debtor's stock in AAC to the maximum extent permitted under the IRC and applicable regulations.

9. <u>Directors and Officers of the Reorganized Debtor</u>

On the Effective Date the term of the current members of the Debtor's board of directors shall expire. On and after the Effective Date, the existing officers of the Debtor shall remain in place in their current capacities as officers of the Reorganized Debtor, subject to the ordinary rights and powers of the New Board to remove or replace them. The New Board shall consist of the Reorganized Debtor's Chief Executive Officer and four (4) additional directors, all of whom shall serve on an interim basis until such time that the Holders of the New Common Stock elect four new directors. The interim directors shall be appointed as follows: one (1) director shall be appointed by the Informal Group, and three (3) directors shall be appointed by the Committee; provided, however, that if members of the Informal Group hold 50% or more of the Senior Notes Claims on the Confirmation Date, the Informal Group shall appoint two (2) directors and the Committee shall appoint two (2) directors. The identity of the members of the New Board and the nature and compensation of each of its members who is an "insider" under Bankruptcy Code section 101(31) shall be disclosed at or prior to the Confirmation Hearing.

10. Corporate Action

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each of the matters provided for by the Plan involving corporate or related actions to be taken by or required of the Reorganized Debtor shall, as of the Effective Date, be deemed to have occurred and be effective as provided in the Plan, and shall be authorized, approved, and, to the extent taken prior to the Effective Date, ratified in all respects without any requirement of further action by Holders of Claims or Equity Interests, directors of the Debtor, or any other Entity. On or prior to the Effective Date, the appropriate officers of the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall be authorized and directed to issue, execute, and deliver the agreements, securities, instruments, or other documents contemplated by the Plan, or necessary or desirable to effect the transactions contemplated by the Plan, in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtor, including New Organizational Documents and any and all other agreements, securities, instruments, or other documents relating to such documents. Notwithstanding any requirements under nonbankruptcy law, the authorizations and approvals contemplated by this provision shall be effective.

11. Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions

On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor and the officers and members of the New Board are authorized to and may issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, securities, instruments, releases, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement, and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan and the New Common Stock in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any approvals, authorization, or consents, except for those expressly required by the Plan.

12. Exemption from Certain Taxes and Fees

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1146(a), any transfers of property pursuant to the Plan shall not be subject to any stamp, real estate transfer, mortgage reporting, sales, use tax or other similar tax or governmental assessment in the United States, and the Confirmation Order shall direct and be deemed to direct the appropriate state or local governmental officials or agents to forego the collection of any such tax or governmental assessment and to accept for filing and recordation instruments or other documents pursuant to such transfers of property without the payment of any such tax or governmental assessment.

13. <u>Litigation Trust</u>

If OCI and AAC have not accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, on the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor and the Litigation Trustee shall enter into the Litigation Trust Agreement, the Reorganized Debtor shall take all other steps necessary to establish the Litigation Trust, and the Litigation Trust Assets shall be transferred to the Litigation Trust. The sole purpose of the Litigation Trust shall be to prosecute the Causes of Action transferred thereto for the benefit of the Reorganized Debtor and to distribute the proceeds thereof in accordance with the terms of the Litigation Trust Agreement. The Litigation Trustee will, subject to the terms of the Litigation Trust Agreement, have full power, authority, and standing to prosecute, compromise, or otherwise resolve the Causes of Action transferred to the Litigation Trust and the Reorganized Debtor will not be subject to any counterclaims with respect to any such Causes of Action.

D. Treatment of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

1. Assumption or Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each of the Debtor's executory contracts and unexpired Leases shall be deemed rejected as of the Effective Date, unless such executory contract or unexpired lease (i) was assumed or rejected previously by the Debtor; (ii) previously expired or terminated pursuant to its terms; (iii) is the subject of a motion to assume or reject Filed on or before the Effective Date; or (iv) is identified on the Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases. Entry of the Confirmation Order shall, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date, constitute the approval by the Bankruptcy Court of the assumptions or rejections of executory contracts and unexpired leases as set forth in the Plan. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, all assumptions or rejections of executory contracts and unexpired leases pursuant to the Plan are effective as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, the Debtor reserves the right to amend, modify, or supplement the Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases at any time before the Effective Date.

2. Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Any monetary defaults under each executory contract and unexpired lease to be assumed pursuant to the Plan shall be satisfied, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 365(b)(1), by payment of the default amount in Cash on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, subject to the limitations described below, or on such other terms as the parties to such executory

contracts or unexpired leases may otherwise agree. At least twenty-one (21) days before the Confirmation Hearing, the Debtor shall distribute, or cause to be distributed, to the appropriate third parties, notices of proposed assumption of executory contracts and unexpired leases and proposed amounts of Cure Claims, which notices shall be in a format reasonably acceptable to the Committee and shall include procedures for objecting to proposed assumptions of executory contracts and unexpired leases and any amounts of Cure Claims to be paid in connection therewith. Any objection by a counterparty to an executory contract or unexpired lease to a proposed assumption or related cure amount must be Filed, served, and actually received by counsel to the Debtor and the Committee at least seven (7) days before the Confirmation Hearing. Any counterparty to an executory contract or unexpired lease that fails to object timely to the proposed assumption or cure amount will be deemed to have assented to such assumption and cure amount. In the event of a dispute regarding (i) the amount of any payments to cure such a default, (ii) the ability of the Reorganized Debtor or any assignee to provide "adequate assurance of future performance," within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code section 365, under the executory contract or unexpired lease to be assumed, or (iii) any other matter pertaining to assumption, the cure payments required by Bankruptcy Code section 365(b)(1) shall be made following the entry of a Final Order or orders resolving the dispute and approving the assumption. Assumption of any executory contract or unexpired lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Claims or defaults, whether monetary or nonmonetary, arising under any assumed executory contract or unexpired lease at any time before the effective date of the assumption.

3. Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

All Proofs of Claim with respect to Claims arising from the rejection of executory contracts or unexpired leases, including any executory contracts or unexpired leases rejected or deemed rejected under the Plan, must be Filed in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Bar Date Order within thirty (30) days after the date of an order approving such rejection, including the Confirmation Order, is entered. Any Claims arising from the rejection of an executory contract or unexpired lease not Filed within such time will be automatically disallowed, forever barred from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets or properties without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtor or further notice to, or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. All Allowed Claims arising from the rejection of the Debtor's executory contracts or unexpired leases shall be classified as General Unsecured Claims and shall be treated in accordance with Article III.B.3 of the Plan. The deadline to object to Claims arising from the rejection of executory contracts or unexpired leases, if any, shall be ninety (90) days following the date on which such Proof of Claim was Filed.

4. Nonoccurrence of Effective Date

In the event that the Effective Date does not occur, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction with respect to any consensual request, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 365(d)(4), to extend the deadline for assuming or rejecting executory contracts and unexpired leases.

E. Provisions Governing Distributions

1. Record Date for Distributions

As of the Distribution Record Date, the transfer registers for each Class of Claims or Equity Interests, as maintained by the Debtor or its agents, shall be deemed closed and there shall be no further changes made to reflect any new record holders of any Claims or Equity Interests. The Debtor shall have no obligation to recognize any transfer of Claims or Equity Interests occurring on or after the Distribution Record Date.

2. <u>Timing and Calculation of Amounts to be Distributed</u>

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter (or if a Claim is not an Allowed Claim on the Effective Date, on the date that such a Claim becomes an Allowed Claim), each Holder of an Allowed Claim against the Debtor shall receive the full amount of the distributions that the Plan provides for Allowed Claims in the applicable Class; *provided*, *however*, that any Holder of Allowed Senior Notes Claims or Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims that does not comply with the Trading Order shall only receive distributions of New Common Stock to the extent set forth in the Trading Order. In the event that any payment or act under the Plan is required to be made or performed on a date that is not a Business Day, then the making of such payment or the performance of such act may be completed on the next succeeding Business Day, but shall be deemed to have been completed as of the required date. If and to the extent that there are Disputed Claims, distributions on account of any such Disputed Claims shall be made in accordance with the provisions set forth in Article VII of the Plan. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, Holders of Claims shall not be entitled to interest, dividends, or accruals on the distributions provided for in the Plan, regardless of whether such distributions are delivered on or at any time after the Effective Date.

3. <u>Disbursing Agent</u>

On the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, all distributions under the Plan shall be made by the Reorganized Debtor as Disbursing Agent or such other Entity designated by the Reorganized Debtor as a Disbursing Agent. Except as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, a Disbursing Agent shall not be required to give any bond or surety or other security for the performance of its duties.

4. Rights and Powers of Disbursing Agent

(i) Powers of the Disbursing Agent

The Disbursing Agent shall be empowered to: (i) effect all actions and execute all agreements, securities, instruments, and other documents necessary to perform its duties under the Plan; (ii) make all distributions contemplated by the Plan; (iii) employ professionals to represent it with respect to its responsibilities; and (iv) exercise such other powers as may be vested in the Disbursing Agent by order of the Bankruptcy Court, pursuant to the Plan, or as deemed by the Disbursing Agent to be necessary and proper to implement the provisions of the Plan.

(ii) Expenses Incurred on or after the Effective Date

Except as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, the amount of any reasonable fees and expenses incurred by the Disbursing Agent on or after the Effective Date (including taxes) and any reasonable compensation and expense reimbursement claims (including reasonable attorney fees and expenses) made by the Disbursing Agent shall be paid in Cash by the Reorganized Debtor.

5. Delivery of Distributions and Undeliverable or Unclaimed Distributions

(i) Delivery of Distributions

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Disbursing Agent shall make distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims as of the Distribution Record Date at the address for each such Holder as indicated on the Debtor's books and records as of the date of any such distribution or as set forth in any Proof of Claim Filed by such Holder; *provided*, *however*, that the manner of such distributions shall be determined at the discretion of the Disbursing Agent. If a Holder holds more than one Claim in any one Class, all Claims of the Holder will be aggregated into one Claim and one distribution will be made with respect to the aggregated Claim. Distributions to Holders of Senior Notes Claims shall be made to the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee for the benefit of the respective Holders of Senior Notes Claims, and shall be deemed completed when made to the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee.

(ii) Minimum; De Minimis Distributions

The Disbursing Agent shall not be required to make partial distributions or payments of fractions of New Common Stock and such fractions shall be deemed to be zero. The total number of authorized shares of New Common Stock to be distributed pursuant to the Plan shall be adjusted, as necessary, to account for the foregoing. No Cash payment of less than \$50 shall be made to a Holder of an Allowed Claim on account of such Allowed Claim.

(iii) Undeliverable Distributions and Unclaimed Property

(a) Failure to Claim Undeliverable Distributions

In the event that any distribution to any Holder is returned as undeliverable, no distribution to such Holder shall be made unless and until the Disbursing Agent has determined the then current address of such Holder, at which time such distribution shall be made to such Holder without interest; *provided*, *however*, that such distributions shall be deemed unclaimed property under Bankruptcy Code section 347(b) at the expiration of six (6) months from the Effective Date. After such date, all unclaimed property or interests in property shall revert to the Reorganized Debtor (notwithstanding any applicable federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed property laws to the contrary), and the Claim of any Holder to such property or interest in property shall be released, settled, compromised, and forever barred.

(b) Failure to Present Checks

Checks issued by the Disbursing Agent on account of Allowed Claims shall be null and void if not negotiated within ninety (90) days after the issuance of such check. Requests for reissuance of any check shall be made directly to the Disbursing Agent by the Holder of the relevant Allowed Claim with respect to which such check originally was issued. Any Holder of an Allowed Claim holding an un-negotiated check that does not request reissuance of such unnegotiated check within ninety (90) days after the issuance of such check shall have its Claim for such un-negotiated check discharged and be discharged and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from asserting any such Claim against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets and properties.

6. Compliance with Tax Requirements

In connection with the Plan, to the extent applicable, the Disbursing Agent shall comply with all tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed upon it by any Governmental Unit, and all distributions pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to such withholding and reporting requirements. Notwithstanding the above, each Holder of an Allowed Claim that is to receive a distribution under the Plan shall have the sole and exclusive responsibility for the satisfaction and payment of any taxes imposed on such holder by any governmental unit, including income, withholding and other tax obligations, on account of such distribution. The Disbursing Agent has the right, but not the obligation, not to make a distribution until such Holder has made arrangements satisfactory to the Disbursing Agent for payment of any such withholding tax obligations and, if the Disbursing Agent fails to withhold with respect to any such Holder's distribution, and is later held liable for the amount of such withholding, the Holder shall reimburse the Disbursing Agent. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the Disbursing Agent shall be authorized to take all actions necessary or appropriate to comply with such withholding and reporting requirements, including liquidating a portion of the distribution to be made under the Plan to generate sufficient funds to pay applicable withholding taxes, withholding distributions pending receipt of information necessary to facilitate such distributions, or establishing any other mechanisms it believes are reasonable and appropriate. The Disbursing Agent may require, as a condition to the receipt of a distribution, that the Holder complete the appropriate Form W-8 or Form W-9, as applicable to each Holder. If the Holder fails to comply with such a request within six months, such distribution shall be deemed an Finally, the Disbursing Agent reserves the right to allocate all unclaimed distribution. distributions made under the Plan in compliance with all applicable wage garnishments, alimony, child support, and other spousal awards, Liens, and encumbrances.

7. Allocations

Distributions in respect of Allowed Claims shall be allocated first to the principal amount (as determined for federal income tax purposes) of such Claims, and then, to the extent the consideration exceeds the principal amount of such Claims, to any portion of such Claims for accrued but unpaid interest.

8. <u>Setoffs and Recoupment</u>

The Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor may, but shall not be required to, setoff against or recoup from any Claims of any nature whatsoever that the Debtor may have against the claimant, but neither the failure to do so nor the Allowance of any Claim shall constitute a waiver or release by the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of any such Claim it may have against the Holder of such Claim.

9. Claims Paid or Payable by Third Parties

(i) Claims Paid by Third Parties

The Debtor, on or prior to the Effective Date, or the Reorganized Debtor, after the Effective Date, shall reduce a Claim, and such Claim shall be disallowed without a Claims objection having to be Filed and without any further notice, action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent that the Holder of such Claim receives payment on account of such Claim from a party that is not the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor. To the extent a Holder of a Claim receives a distribution on account of such Claim and receives payment from a party that is not the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor on account of such Claim, such Holder shall, within two weeks of receipt thereof, repay or return the distribution to the Reorganized Debtor, to the extent the Holder's total recovery on account of such Claim from the third party and under the Plan exceeds the amount of such Claim.

(ii) Claims Payable by Third Parties

No distributions under the Plan shall be made on account of an Allowed Claim that is payable pursuant to one of the Debtor's insurance policies until the Holder of such Allowed Claim has exhausted all remedies with respect to such insurance policy. To the extent that one or more of the Debtor's insurers agrees to satisfy in full a Claim (if and to the extent adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction), then immediately upon such insurers' agreement, such Claim may be expunged without an objection to such Claim having to be Filed and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

F. Procedures for Resolving Contingent, Unliquidated, and Disputed Claims

1. Resolution of Disputed Claims

(i) Allowance of Claims

On or after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall have and shall retain any and all rights and defenses that the Debtor had with respect to any Claim, except with respect to any Claim deemed Allowed as of the Effective Date. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or in any order entered in the Chapter 11 Case prior to the Effective Date, including, without limitation, the Confirmation Order, no Claim shall become an Allowed Claim unless and until such Claim is deemed Allowed (i) under the Plan or the Bankruptcy Code or (ii) by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, including, without limitation, the Confirmation Order.

(ii) No Distributions Pending Allowance

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, if any portion of a Claim is a Disputed Claim, no payment or distribution provided under the Plan shall be made on account of such Claim unless and until such Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim. To the extent a Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim, in accordance with the provisions of the Plan, distributions shall be made to the Holder of such Allowed Claim, without interest.

(iii) Disputed Claims Reserve

(a) Disputed Claims Reserve

On the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall deposit into the Disputed Claims Reserve the amount of Cash and New Common Stock that would have been distributed to Holders of all Disputed Claims as if such Disputed Claims had been Allowed on the Effective Date, with the amount of such Allowed Claims to be determined, solely for the purpose of establishing reserves and for maximum distribution purposes, to be the lesser of (i) the asserted amount of the Disputed Claim Filed with the Bankruptcy Court, or if no Proof of Claim was Filed, listed by the Debtor in the Schedules, (ii) the amount, if any, estimated by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 502(c), and (iii) the amount otherwise agreed to by the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, and the Holder of such Disputed Claim for reserve purposes.

(b) Distribution of Excess Amounts in the Disputed Claims Reserve

When all Disputed Claims are resolved and either become Allowed or are disallowed by Final Order, to the extent Cash or New Common Stock remains in the Disputed Claims Reserve after all Holders of Disputed Claims that have become Allowed have been paid the full amount they are entitled to pursuant to the treatment set forth for the appropriate Class under the Plan, then such remaining Cash and New Common Stock shall vest in the Reorganized Debtor.

(iv) Prosecution of Claim Objections

The Debtor, prior to and on the Effective Date, or the Reorganized Debtor, after the Effective Date, shall have the exclusive authority to File objections to Claims or settle, compromise, withdraw or litigate to judgment objections to any and all Claims, regardless of whether such Claims are in a Class or otherwise. From and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor may settle or compromise any Disputed Claim without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. From and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall have the sole authority to administer and adjust the Claims Register to reflect any such settlements or compromises without any further notice, action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

(v) Claims Estimation

The Debtor, prior to and on the Effective Date, or the Reorganized Debtor, after the Effective Date, may request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate any contingent or unliquidated Claim to the extent permitted by Bankruptcy Code section 502(c) regardless of whether the

Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor has previously objected to such Claim or whether the Bankruptcy Court has ruled on any such objection, and the Bankruptcy Court shall have jurisdiction to estimate any Claim at any time during litigation concerning any objection to such Claim, including during the pendency of any appeal relating to any such objection.

(vi) Expungement or Adjustment of Claims Without Objection

Any Claim that has been paid, satisfied, or superseded may be expunged on the Claims Register by the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, and any Claim that has been amended may be adjusted thereon by the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, in both cases without a Claims objection having to be Filed and without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

(vii) Deadline to File Claims Objections

Any objections to Claims shall be Filed by no later than the Claims Objection Bar Date.

2. Disallowance of Claims

Any Claims held by an Entity from which property is recoverable under Bankruptcy Code sections 542, 543, 550, or 553, or that is a transferee of a transfer avoidable under Bankruptcy Code section 522(f), 522(h), 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, or 724(a), shall be deemed disallowed pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 502(d), and Holders of such Claims may not receive any Distributions on account of such Claims until such time as such Causes of Action against that Entity have been settled or a Final Order with respect thereto has been entered and all sums due, if any, by that Entity have been turned over or paid by such Entity to the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or the Litigation Trustee.

EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE AGREED BY THE DEBTOR OR THE REORGANIZED DEBTOR, AS APPLICABLE, ANY AND ALL PROOFS OF CLAIM FILED AFTER THE CLAIMS BAR DATE SHALL BE DEEMED DISALLOWED AND EXPUNGED AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE WITHOUT ANY FURTHER NOTICE TO OR ACTION, ORDER, OR APPROVAL OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT, AND HOLDERS OF SUCH CLAIMS MAY NOT RECEIVE ANY DISTRIBUTIONS ON ACCOUNT OF SUCH CLAIMS, UNLESS SUCH LATE PROOF OF CLAIM IS DEEMED TIMELY FILED BY A FINAL ORDER OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT.

3. Amendments to Claims

On or after the Effective Date, a Claim may not be Filed or amended without prior authorization of the Bankruptcy Court or the Reorganized Debtor, and any such new or amended Claim Filed without such prior authorization shall be deemed disallowed in full and expunged without any further action.

G. Settlement, Release, Injunction, and Related Provisions

1. <u>Discharge of Claims and Termination of Equity Interests</u>

Pursuant to and to the fullest extent permitted by Bankruptcy Code section 1141(d), and except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the distributions, rights, and treatment that are provided in the Plan shall be in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge, effective as of the Effective Date, of all Claims, Equity Interests, and Causes of Action of any nature whatsoever, including any interest accrued on Claims or Equity Interests from and after the Commencement Date, whether known or unknown, against, liabilities of, Liens on, obligations of, rights against, and Equity Interests in the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets or properties, regardless of whether any property shall have been distributed or retained pursuant to the Plan on account of such Claims or Equity Interests, including demands, liabilities, and Causes of Action that arose before the Effective Date, any contingent or non-contingent liability on account of representations or warranties issued on or before the Effective Date, and all debts of the kind specified in Bankruptcy Code sections 502(g), 502(h), or 502(i), in each case whether or not: (i) a Proof of Claim or Equity Interest based upon such Claim, debt, right, or Equity Interest is Filed or deemed Filed pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 501; (ii) a Claim or Equity Interest based upon such Claim, debt, right, or Equity Interest is Allowed pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 502; or (iii) the Holder of such a Claim or Equity Interest has accepted the Plan. Any default by the Debtor or its Affiliates with respect to any Claim or Equity Interest that existed immediately before or on account of the Filing of the Chapter 11 Case shall be deemed cured on the Effective Date. The Confirmation Order shall be a judicial determination of the discharge of all Claims and Equity Interests subject to the Effective Date occurring.

2. <u>Injunction</u>

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, from and after the Effective Date, all Entities that have held, hold, or may hold Claims against or Equity Interests in the Debtor or the Estate are permanently enjoined from taking any of the following actions against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or the Estate: (i) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Equity Interests; (ii) enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering by any manner or means any judgment, award, decree, or order against such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Equity Interests; (iii) creating, perfecting, or enforcing any Lien of any kind against such Entities or the property or estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Equity Interests; (iv) asserting any right of setoff, subrogation, or recoupment of any kind against any obligation due from such Entities or against the property of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Equity Interests, unless such Holder has Filed a motion requesting the right to perform such setoff, subrogation, or recoupment on or before the Confirmation Date, and notwithstanding an indication in a Proof of Claim or otherwise that such Holder asserts, has, or intends to preserve any right of setoff, subrogation, or recoupment pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 553 or otherwise; and (v) commencing or continuing, in any manner or in any place, any action that does not comply with or is inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan.

3. Exculpation

None of the Released Parties shall have or incur any liability to any holder of any Claim or Equity Interest for any act or omission in connection with or arising out of the Debtor's restructuring, including, without limitation, the negotiation and execution of the Plan, the Chapter 11 Case, the Disclosure Statement, the solicitation of votes for and the pursuit of the Plan, the Consummation of the Plan, or the administration of the Plan or the Cash, New Common Stock, Subordinated Notes Warrants and General Unsecured Warrants to be distributed under the Plan, and further including, without limitation, all documents ancillary thereto, all decisions, actions, inactions and alleged negligence or misconduct relating thereto, and all prepetition activities leading to the promulgation and confirmation of the Plan; *provided*, *however*, that the foregoing shall not apply to any act which constitutes a bankruptcy crime under title 18 of the United States Code.

4. <u>General Releases by the Debtor</u>

For good and valuable consideration, including the facilitation of the Debtor's expeditious reorganization, on and after the Effective Date, the Released Parties shall be released and discharged by the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, and the Estate from any and all Claims and Causes of Action of any nature whatsoever, including any derivative Claims asserted by or on behalf of the Debtor, based upon or relating to any act, omission, transaction, event, or other occurrence taking place on or prior to the Effective Date; *provided*, *however*, that the foregoing shall not apply to (i) Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI transferred to the Litigation Trust pursuant to Article IV.M of the Plan and (ii) any act which constitutes a bankruptcy crime under title 18 of the United States Code.

5. General Releases by Holders of Claims and Equity Interests

To the extent permitted by applicable law as of the Effective Date, each Entity that has held, holds, or may hold a Claim or an Equity Interest, as applicable, in consideration for the obligations of the Debtor under the Plan, the Plan distributions, and other agreements, securities, instruments, or other documents executed or delivered in connection with the Plan, shall be deemed to have conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever released and discharged the Released Parties from any and all Claims and Causes of Action of any nature whatsoever, including any derivative Claims asserted by or on behalf of the Debtor, that such entity would have been legally entitled to assert based upon or relating to any act, omission, transaction, event, or other occurrence taking place on or prior to the Effective Date; *provided*, *however*, that the foregoing shall not apply to (i) Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI transferred to the Litigation Trust pursuant to Article IV.M of the Plan, (ii) any act which constitutes a bankruptcy crime under title 18 of the United States Code, and (iii) any obligations of the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to the Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, OSS shall continue to be entitled to the benefits set forth in the OSS Settlement Agreement.

6. Releases Required Pursuant to the Stipulation of Settlement

In accordance with the Stipulation of Settlement, the Plan includes the following releases:

- To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, on the Effective Date, all Persons or Entities, including, but not limited, to the Ambac Entities and any shareholder or creditor of any of the Ambac Entities (including any other Person or Entity purportedly acting derivatively on behalf of the Ambac Entities) shall be permanently barred and enjoined from instituting, prosecuting, or continuing to prosecute any and all manner of Claims, actions, Causes of Actions, suits, controversies, agreements, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or Unknown (as defined in the Stipulation of Settlement), suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations, or common law of the United States of America, any state or political subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, against any or all of the Individual Defendants and any or all of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity (i) that were, could have been, might have been, or might be in the future asserted in any of the Securities Actions or any of the Derivative Actions; (ii) in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act within the Class Period or relevant periods specified in any of the Derivative Actions by any of the Individual Defendants or any of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity relating to any Ambac Entity or in his or her capacity as an officer, director, or employee of any Ambac Entity; or (iii) that allege, arise out of, or are based upon or attributable to any fact, action, omission, or failure to act that is alleged in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions or related to any fact, action, omission, or failure to act alleged in the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions.
- On the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor, on behalf of itself and (to (ii) the fullest extent of its power to do so) all Ambac Entities and (to the fullest extent of their power to do so) any shareholder, creditor, or other Person or Entity purporting to sue on behalf of or in the right of any of the Ambac Entities, shall be deemed to fully release any and all manner of Claims, actions, Causes of Action, suits, controversies, agreements, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or Unknown (as defined in the Stipulation of Settlement), suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations, or common law of the United States of America, any state or political subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, against any or all of the Individual Defendants and any or all of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity (i) that were, could have been, might have been, or might be in the future asserted in any of the Securities Actions or any of the Derivative Actions; (ii) in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act within the Class Period or relevant periods specified in any of the Derivative Actions by any of the Individual Defendants or any of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity relating to any Ambac Entity or in his or her capacity as an officer, director, or employee of any Ambac Entity; or (iii) that allege, arise out of, or are based upon or attributable to any fact, action, omission, or failure to act that is alleged in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions or related to any fact, action, omission, or failure to act alleged in the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions.

7. Release of Liens

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, on the Effective Date and concurrently with the applicable distributions made pursuant to the Plan, and, in the case of a Class 2 Secured Claim,

satisfaction in full of the portion of such Claim that is Allowed as of the Effective Date, all mortgages, deeds, trusts, Liens, pledges, or other security interests against any property of the Estate shall be fully released and discharged, and all of the right, title, and interest of any Holder of such mortgages, deeds, trusts, Liens, pledges, or other security interests shall revert to the Reorganized Debtor.

H. Conditions Precedent to Confirmation and Consummation of the Plan

1. Conditions Precedent to Confirmation

It shall be a condition to Confirmation of the Plan that the following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Article IX.C of the Plan: (i) the Bankruptcy Court shall have approved the Disclosure Statement with respect to the Plan; and (ii) the proposed Confirmation Order shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Debtor.

2. Conditions Precedent to Consummation

It shall be a condition to Consummation of the Plan that the following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Article IX.C of the Plan: (i) the Bankruptcy Court shall have approved any plan supplement filed with respect to the Plan; (ii) the Confirmation Order shall have become a Final Order; (iii) the New Organizational Documents shall have been effected or executed and delivered to the required parties; (iv) the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall have executed and delivered all documents necessary to effectuate the issuance of the New Common Stock, Subordinated Notes Warrants and General Unsecured Warrants; (v) all authorizations, consents, and regulatory approvals required, if any, in connection with the consummation of the Plan shall have been obtained; (vi) the District Court shall have entered a Final Order certifying the Settlement Class and approving the Stipulation of Settlement; (vii) the Derivative Actions shall have been dismissed; (viii) the Bankruptcy Court shall have approved the Debtor's entry into the Stipulation of Settlement and the Insurer Agreement; (ix) the IRS Dispute shall have been resolved in a manner satisfactory to the Debtor and the Committee; (x) the Bankruptcy Court shall have entered an order estimating for all purposes the IRS Claims at \$0.00 or such other amount that is acceptable to the Debtor and the Committee; (xi) the aggregate face amount of Allowed and Disputed General Unsecured Claims shall be less than \$50,000,000.00; (xii) if OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, the Rehabilitation Court shall have approved the transactions contemplated in the Plan within sixty (60) days of the filing of the Plan; (xiii) if OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, (a) the Cash Grant will have been paid and (b) one of TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B and TSA Amendment C will have been executed; (xiv) if OCI and AAC have not accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, (a) the Bankruptcy Court shall have approved the identity and appointment of the Litigation Trustee and the form of the Litigation Trust Agreement and determined that the Litigation Trustee is authorized to take the actions contemplated by the Litigation Trust Agreement, (b) the Debtor and the Litigation Trustee shall have executed the Litigation Trust Agreement, and (c) the Litigation Trust Assets shall have been transferred to the Litigation Trust; and (xv) all other actions, documents, certificates, and agreements necessary to implement the Plan shall have been effected or executed and delivered to the required parties

and, to the extent required, filed with the applicable Governmental Units in accordance with applicable laws.

3. <u>Waiver of Conditions</u>

Upon notice to the Informal Group and the Committee, the Debtor shall have the right to waive one or more of the conditions to Confirmation or Consummation of the Plan set forth in Article IX of the Plan at any time without notice, leave, or order of the Bankruptcy Court or any formal action other than proceeding to confirm or consummate the Plan.

4. Effect of Nonoccurrence of Conditions to Consummation

If each of the conditions to Confirmation and Consummation has not been satisfied or duly waived on or before the date that is 180 days after the Confirmation Date, or by such later date as determined by the Debtor with the consent of the Committee, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, the Confirmation Order may be vacated by the Bankruptcy Court. If the Confirmation Order is vacated pursuant to this provision, the Plan shall be null and void in all respects and nothing contained in the Plan or the Disclosure Statement shall: (i) constitute a waiver or release of any claims by or Claims against or Equity Interests in the Debtor; (ii) prejudice in any manner the rights of the Debtor, any Holders, or any other Entity; or (iii) constitute an admission, acknowledgment, offer, or undertaking by the Debtor, any Holders, or any other Entity in any respect.

I. Modification, Revocation, or Withdrawal of the Plan

1. Modification and Amendments

The Debtor may amend, modify, or supplement the Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1127(a) at any time prior to the Confirmation Date. After the Confirmation Date, but prior to Consummation of the Plan, the Debtor may, with the consent of the Committee, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, and upon consultation with the Informal Group, amend, modify, or supplement the Plan without further order of the Bankruptcy Court to remedy any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistencies in the Plan or the Confirmation Order.

2. <u>Effect of Confirmation on Modifications</u>

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1127(a), entry of a Confirmation Order shall mean that all modifications or amendments to the Plan since the solicitation thereof are approved and do not require additional disclosure or re-solicitation under Bankruptcy Rule 3019.

3. <u>Revocation or Withdrawal of the Plan</u>

The Debtor reserves the right to revoke or withdraw the Plan prior to the Confirmation Date and to File subsequent chapter 11 plans. If the Debtor revokes or withdraws the Plan, or if Confirmation or Consummation does not occur, then: (i) the Plan shall be null and void in all respects; (ii) any settlement or compromise embodied in the Plan, assumption or rejection of executory contracts or unexpired leases effected by the Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant to the Plan shall be deemed null and void except as may be set forth in a

separate order entered by the Bankruptcy Court; and (iii) nothing contained in the Plan shall constitute a waiver or release of any Claims by or against, or any Equity Interests in, the Debtor or any other Entity, prejudice in any manner the rights of the Debtor or any other Entity, or constitute an admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking of any sort by the Debtor or any other Entity.

J. Retention of Jurisdiction

Notwithstanding the entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall, after the Effective Date, retain such jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Case and all Entities with respect to all matters related to the Chapter 11 Case, the Debtor, and the Plan as legally permissible, including, without limitation, jurisdiction to:

- 1. Allow, disallow, determine, liquidate, classify, estimate, or establish the priority, secured, or unsecured status, or amount of any Claim or Equity Interest, including the resolution of any request for payment of any Administrative Claim, including Claims of a Professional for services rendered to the Debtor or any Committee, and the resolution of any and all objections to the secured or unsecured status, priority, amount, or allowance of Claims or Equity Interests;
- 2. decide and resolve all matters related to the granting and denying, in whole or in part, any applications for allowance of compensation or reimbursement of expenses to Professionals authorized pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or the Plan;
- 3. decide and resolve all matters related to the reasonableness of the Indenture Trustee Fees and the Informal Group Fees;
- 4. resolve any matters related to: (i) the assumption, assumption and assignment, or rejection of any executory contract or unexpired lease to which the Debtor is party or with respect to which the Debtor may be liable, and the hearing, determination, and, if necessary, liquidation of any Claims arising therefrom, including Cure Claims pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 365; (ii) any potential contractual obligation under any executory contract or unexpired lease that is assumed; and (iii) any dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or expired;
- 5. ensure that distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests are accomplished pursuant to the provisions of the Plan;
- 6. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any motions, adversary proceedings, contested or litigated matters, and any other matters, and grant or deny any applications involving the Debtor that may be pending on the Effective Date;
- 7. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any and all matters related to Causes of Action, including, but not limited to, any Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI transferred to the Litigation Trust;

- 8. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any and all matters related to Bankruptcy Code sections 1141 and 1145;
- 9. enter and implement such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to execute, implement, or consummate the provisions of the Plan and all contracts, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents, including the Litigation Trust Agreement, created in connection with the Plan or the Disclosure Statement;
- enter and enforce any order pursuant to Bankruptcy Code sections 363, 1123, or 1146(a) for the sale of property;
- 11. resolve any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action that may arise in connection with the Consummation, interpretation, or enforcement of the Plan or any Entity's obligations in connection with the Plan, including, without limitation, any dispute related to amendments to the TSA or the Plan Settlement, including, without limitation, any dispute related to amendments to the TSA or the Plan Settlement, including, but not limited to, any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action by or against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI;
- 12. issue injunctions, enter and implement other orders, or take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate to restrain interference by any Entity, including, but not limited to, AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI, with Consummation or enforcement of the Plan;
- 13. resolve any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action with respect to the releases, injunctions, and other provisions contained in Article VIII of the Plan and enter such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to implement such releases, injunctions, and other provisions;
- 14. enter and implement such orders as are necessary or appropriate if the Confirmation Order is for any reason modified, stayed, reversed, revoked, or vacated:
- 15. enter an order or final decree concluding or closing the Chapter 11 Case;
- adjudicate any and all disputes arising from or relating to distributions under the Plan;
- 17. consider any modifications of the Plan, to cure any defect or omission, or reconcile any inconsistency in any Bankruptcy Court order, including the Confirmation Order;
- determine requests for the payment of Administrative Claims or Claims entitled to priority pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 507;
- 19. hear and determine disputes arising in connection with the interpretation, implementation, or enforcement of the Plan, or the Confirmation Order, including

disputes arising under agreements, securities, instruments, or other documents, including the Litigation Trust Agreement, executed or delivered in connection with the Plan, and further including any disputes regarding the Debtor's right to cause a Deconsolidation Event as set forth in Article IV.H.2 of the Plan without the approval of OCI;

- 20. hear and determine matters concerning state, local, and federal taxes in accordance with Bankruptcy Code sections 346, 505, and 1146;
- 21. hear and determine all matters relating to the Litigation Trust;
- 22. hear and determine all disputes involving the existence, nature, or scope of the Debtor's discharge, including any dispute relating to any liability arising out of the termination of employment or the termination of any employee or retiree benefit program, regardless of whether such termination occurred prior to or after the Effective Date;
- 23. enforce all orders previously entered by the Bankruptcy Court; and
- 24. hear any other matter not inconsistent with the Bankruptcy Code.

K. Miscellaneous Provisions

1. Immediate Binding Effect

Subject to Article IX.B of the Plan and notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rules 3020(e), 6004(g), 7062, or otherwise, upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, the terms of the Plan shall be immediately effective and enforceable and deemed binding upon the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, and any and all Holders of Claims or Equity Interests (irrespective of whether such Claims or Equity Interests are deemed to have accepted the Plan), all Entities that are parties to or are subject to the settlements, compromises, releases, discharges, and injunctions described in the Plan, each Entity acquiring property under the Plan, and any and all non-Debtor parties to executory contracts and unexpired leases with the Debtor.

2. Additional Documents

On or before the Effective Date, the Debtor may File with the Bankruptcy Court any and all agreements and other documents that may be necessary or appropriate in order to effectuate and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan.

3. Payment of Statutory Fees

All fees payable pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court at a hearing pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1128, shall be paid for each quarter (including any fraction thereof) until the Chapter 11 Case is converted, dismissed, or closed, whichever occurs first.

4. Dissolution of Committee

On the Effective Date, the Committee shall dissolve automatically, whereupon its members, Professionals, and agents shall be released from any further authority, duties obligations and responsibilities in the Chapter 11 Case and under the Bankruptcy Code; provided, however, that, following the Effective Date, the Committee shall: (i) continue to have standing and a right to be heard with respect to (a) Claims and/or applications for compensation by Professionals and requests for allowance of Administrative Expenses, including, but not limited to, filing applications for Accrued Professional Compensation in accordance with Article II.C of the Plan and (b) any appeals of the Confirmation Order that remain pending as of the Effective Date; and (ii) continue to respond to creditor inquiries for one hundred twenty (120) days following the Effective Date.

5. Reservation of Rights

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Plan shall have no force or effect unless the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order. None of the Filing of the Plan, any statement or provision contained in the Plan, or the taking of any action by the Debtor with respect to the Plan or the Disclosure Statement shall be or shall be deemed to be an admission or waiver of any rights of the Debtor with respect to the Holders of Claims or Equity Interests prior to the Effective Date.

6. Successors and Assigns

The rights, benefits, and obligations of any Entity named or referred to in the Plan shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of any heir, executor, administrator, successor or assign, Affiliate, officer, director, agent, representative, attorney, beneficiaries, or guardian, if any, of each Entity.

7. <u>Service of Documents</u>

All notices, requests and demands to or upon the Debtor to be effective shall be in writing (including by facsimile transmission) and, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when actually delivered or, in the case of notice by facsimile transmission, when received and telephonically confirmed, addressed as follows:

Ambac Financial Group, Inc. One State Street Plaza Attn: General Counsel New York, NY 10004

and

Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP Counsel for the Debtor 1301 Avenue of the Americas Attn: Peter A. Ivanick, Esq., and Allison H. Weiss, Esq. New York, NY 10019

With copies to:

Morrison & Foerster LLP Counsel for the Committee 1290 Avenue of the Americas Attn: Anthony Princi, Esq. New York, NY 10104

and

Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld, LLP Counsel for the Informal Group 1333 New Hampshire Ave, N.W. Attn: James R. Savin, Esq. Washington, D.C. 20036.

8. Further Assurances

The Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, all Holders of Claims receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan, and all other Entities shall, from time to time, prepare, execute, and deliver any agreements or documents and take any other actions as may be necessary or advisable to effectuate the provisions and intent of the Plan or the Confirmation Order.

9. Term of Injunctions or Stays

Unless otherwise provided in the Plan or in the Confirmation Order, all injunctions or stays in effect in the Chapter 11 Case pursuant to Bankruptcy Code sections 105 or 362 or any order of the Bankruptcy Court, and extant on the Confirmation Date (excluding any injunctions or stays contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order) shall remain in full force and effect until the Effective Date. All injunctions or stays contained in the Plan, the Confirmation Order and any order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Stipulation of Settlement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms.

10. Entire Agreement

Except as otherwise indicated, the Plan supersedes all previous and contemporaneous negotiations, promises, covenants, agreements, understandings, and representations on such subjects, all of which have become merged and integrated into the Plan.

11. Exhibits and Related Documents

All exhibits and documents Filed in relation to the Plan are incorporated into and are a part of the Plan as if set forth in full in the Plan. After any exhibits and documents are Filed, copies of such exhibits and documents shall be available upon written request to the Debtor's counsel at the address above or by downloading such exhibits and documents from the Debtor's restructuring website, http://www.kccllc.net/ambac, or the Bankruptcy Court's website, http://www.nys.uscourts.gov (a PACER login and password are required to access documents on the Bankruptcy Court's website).

12. Severability of Plan Provisions

If, before Confirmation of the Plan, any term or provision of the Plan is held by the Bankruptcy Court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the Bankruptcy Court shall have the power to alter and interpret such term or provision to make it valid or enforceable to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose of the term or provision held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, and such term or provision shall then be applicable as altered or interpreted. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration, or interpretation, the remainder of the terms and provisions of the Plan shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired, or invalidated by such holding, alteration, or interpretation. The Confirmation Order shall constitute a judicial determination and shall provide that each term and provision of the Plan, as it may have been altered or interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, is valid and enforceable.

13. <u>Closing of Chapter 11 Case</u>

Promptly after the full administration of the Chapter 11 Case, the Reorganized Debtor shall File with the Bankruptcy Court all documents required by Bankruptcy Rule 3022 and any applicable order of the Bankruptcy Court to close the Chapter 11 Case.

14. Waiver or Estoppel Conflicts

Each Holder of a Claim or Equity Interest shall be deemed to have waived any right to assert any argument, including the right to argue that its Claim or Equity Interest should be Allowed in a certain amount, in a certain priority, secured, or not subordinated, by virtue of an agreement made with the Debtor or its counsel, the Committee or its counsel, or any other Entity, if such agreement was not disclosed in the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or papers Filed with the Bankruptcy Court prior to the Confirmation Date.

15. Conflicts

Except as set forth in the Plan or unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent that the Disclosure Statement, any order of the Bankruptcy Court (other than the Confirmation Order), or any exhibit to the Plan or document executed or delivered in connection with the Plan is inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control; provided, however, that to the extent the Stipulation of Settlement or any order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Stipulation of Settlement may be inconsistent with the Plan, the terms of the Stipulation of Settlement or the order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Stipulation of Settlement shall control.

ARTICLE V. SOLICITATION AND VOTING PROCEDURES

The following summarizes briefly the procedures to solicit votes to accept or reject the Plan. Holders of Claims and Equity Interests are encouraged to review the relevant provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and/or to consult their own attorneys.

A. The Solicitation Package

The following materials constitute the Solicitation Package: (i) the Disclosure Statement Order (without exhibits), (ii) the Disclosure Statement, which shall include the Plan as an exhibit thereto, (iii) the appropriate Ballot and/or Master Ballot and voting instructions (with a preaddressed, postage prepaid return envelope), (iv) the Confirmation Hearing Notice, and (v) a cover letter from the Committee.

Because of significantly reduced costs and environmental benefits, Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims shall be served with Solicitation Packages in a CD-ROM format instead of printed copies; *provided, however*, that notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, printed copies of the Ballot shall be distributed to such Holders. Any party who desires a paper copy of the Solicitation Package may request copies from the Balloting Agent by (i) writing to Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC, at 599 Lexington Avenue, 39th Floor, New York, NY 10022, or 2335 Alaska Avenue El Segundo, CA 90245, or (ii) calling (877) 660-6619. The Solicitation Package (except the Ballots and Master Ballots) can also be obtained by accessing the Debtor's restructuring website, www.kccllc.net/Ambac. All parties entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan shall receive a paper copy of each appropriate Ballot or Master Ballot.

Holders of Claims in the Non-Voting Classes shall receive a Confirmation Hearing Notice and a notice of non-voting status.

B. Voting Deadline

The period during which Ballots and Master Ballots with respect to the Plan will be accepted by the Debtor will terminate at 5:00 p.m. (prevailing Pacific Time) on September 23, 2011, unless the Debtor, in its sole discretion, extends the date until which Ballots and Master Ballots will be accepted. Except to the extent the Debtor so determines or as permitted by the Bankruptcy Court, Ballots and Master Ballots that are received after the Voting Deadline will not be counted or otherwise used by the Debtor in connection with the Debtor's request for Confirmation of the Plan (or any permitted modification thereof).

The Debtor reserves the absolute right, from time to time, to extend the period of time (on a daily basis, if necessary) during which Ballots and Master Ballots will be accepted for any reason, including determining whether or not the requisite number of acceptances have been received, by making a public announcement of such extension no later than the first Business Day next succeeding the previously announced Voting Deadline. The Debtor will give notice of any such extension in a manner deemed reasonable to the Debtor in its discretion. There can be no assurance that the Debtor will exercise its right to extend the Voting Deadline.

C. Voting Instructions

Only the Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan, and they may do so by completing the appropriate Ballots and returning them in the envelope provided. The failure of a Holder to deliver a duly executed Ballot will be deemed to constitute an abstention by such Holder with

respect to voting on the Plan and such abstentions will not be counted as votes for or against the Plan. Voting instructions are attached to each Ballot.

The Debtor is providing the Solicitation Package to Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims whose names (or the names of their Nominees) appear as of August 12, 2011, the Voting Record Date in the records maintained by the Debtor. Nominees will receive a reasonably sufficient number of copies of the Solicitation Packages and should distribute such copies of the Solicitation Package to the beneficial owners of eligible Notes Claims within seven (7) days of receipt, with instructions for such beneficial owners to return their Ballots to the Nominee for tabulation on such Nominee's Master Ballot. Any beneficial owner of an eligible Notes Claim that has not received a Ballot should contact its Nominee.

The Debtor has engaged Kurtzman Carson Consulting LLC as the Balloting Agent to assist in the balloting and tabulation process. The Balloting Agent will process and tabulate Ballots and Master Ballots for Class 3, 4 and 5, the sole Classes entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan, and will file the Voting Report prior to the Confirmation Hearing. The Voting Deadline by which the Balloting Agent must receive your Ballot or Master Ballot is 5:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time), on September 23, 2011.

BALLOTS AND MASTER BALLOTS

- 1. Ballots and Master Ballots must be actually received by the Balloting agent by the Voting Deadline.
- 2. Please send your completed Ballot in the envelope provided. If you have received a return envelope addressed to your Nominee, please allow additional time for your vote to be included on a Master Ballot and sent to the Balloting Agent by the Voting Deadline.
- 3. Class 3 Ballots to be returned directly to the Balloting Agent may be sent by First Class Mail, Overnight Courier, or Personal Delivery to:

Ambac Ballot Processing Center c/o Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC 2335 Alaska Avenue El Segundo, CA 90245 Attn: AFG Tabulation

4. Master Ballots to be returned directly to the Balloting Agent may be sent by First Class Mail, Overnight Courier, or Personal Delivery to:

Ambac Ballot Processing Center c/o Kurtzman Carson Consulting LLC 599 Lexington Avenue, 39th Floor, New York, NY 10022 Attn: AFG Tabulation

If you have any questions on the procedures for voting on the Plan, please call the Balloting Agent at the following telephone number:

(877) 660-6619

Any Ballot (or Master Ballot in the case of beneficial Holders of Senior Notes Claims and a Subordinated Notes Claims voting through a Nominee) that is properly executed by the Holder of a Claim (or its Nominee), but which does not clearly indicate an acceptance or rejection of the Plan, or which indicates both an acceptance and a rejection of the Plan, shall not be counted.

All Ballots are accompanied by return envelopes. It is important to follow the specific instructions provided on each Ballot and Master Ballot. If you are returning your Ballot to your Nominee, you must return your Ballot with sufficient time for your vote to be included by your Nominee on a Master Ballot and sent to the Balloting Agent by the Voting Deadline.

By signing and returning a Ballot (or Master Ballot in the case of beneficial Holders of Senior Notes Claims and a Subordinated Notes Claims voting through a Nominee), each Holder of a General Unsecured Claim, Senior Notes Claim and Subordinated Notes Claim (or its Nominee) will be certifying to the Bankruptcy Court and the Debtor that, among other things: (i) the Holder has received and reviewed a copy of the Solicitation Package and acknowledges that the solicitation is being made pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth therein; (ii) the Holder has cast the same vote with respect to all Claims in within the same Class; and (iii) no other Ballot or Master Ballot with respect to the same Claim has been cast, or, if any other Ballots have been cast with respect to such Claim, then any such Ballots or Master Ballots are thereby revoked.

1. Beneficial Owners

A beneficial owner holding Notes as a record holder in its own name should vote on the Plan by completing and signing the enclosed applicable Ballot and returning it directly to the Balloting Agent on or before the Voting Deadline using the enclosed self-addressed, post prepaid return envelope.

Any beneficial owner holding Notes in a "street name" through a Nominee should vote on the Plan by completing and signing the enclosed beneficial owner Ballot. Return the Ballot to the Nominee as promptly as possible and in sufficient time to allow such Nominee to process the Ballot and return it to the Balloting Agent on a Master Ballot by the Voting Deadline. If no self-addressed, postage pre-paid envelope was enclosed for this purpose, the Nominee must be contacted for instructions.

Any Ballot returned to a Nominee by a beneficial owner will not be counted for purposes of acceptance or rejection of the Plan until such Nominee properly completes and delivers to the Balloting Agent that ballot (properly validated) or a Master Ballot that reflects the vote of such beneficial owner.

2. Nominees

(i) Master Ballots

A Nominee that on the Voting Record Date is the registered Holder of Notes for a beneficial owner should obtain the vote of such beneficial owner of such notes by forwarding to the beneficial owners the unsigned Ballots, together with the Solicitation Package, a return envelope provided by, and addressed to, the Nominee, and other materials requested to be forwarded. Each such beneficial owner must then indicate its vote on the Ballot, review and complete the information requested in the Ballot, execute the Ballot, and return the Ballot to the Nominee. After collecting the Ballots, the Nominee should, in turn, complete a Master Ballot compiling the votes and other information from the Ballot, execute the Master Ballot, and deliver the Master Ballot to the Balloting Agent so that it is received by the Balloting Agent before the Voting Deadline. All Ballots returned by beneficial owners should either be forwarded to the Balloting Agent (along with the Master Ballot) or be retained by Nominees for inspection for at least one year from the Voting Deadline.

EACH NOMINEE SHOULD ADVISE ITS BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO RETURN THEIR BALLOTS TO THE NOMINEE BY A DATE CALCULATED BY THE NOMINEE TO ALLOW IT TO PREPARE AND RETURN THE MASTER BALLOT TO THE BALLOTING AGENT SO THAT IT IS RECEIVED BY THE BALLOTING AGENT BEFORE THE VOTING DEADLINE.

(ii) Securities Clearing Agencies

The Debtor expects that The Depository Trust Corporation, as a Nominee Holder of the Notes, will arrange for its participants to vote by executing a letter of authorization in favor of such participants. As a result of such letter, each such participant will be authorized to vote its Voting Record Date positions held in the name of such securities clearing agencies; although the Balloting Agent will in any event rely upon the listing of record date participants.

D. Voting Tabulation

The Ballot or Master Ballot does not constitute, and shall not be deemed to be, a proof of Claim or an assertion or admission of a Claim or Equity Interest. Only Holders of Claims in Classes 3, 4 and 5 shall be entitled to vote with regard to such Claims.

Unless the Debtor decides otherwise, Ballots and Master Ballots received after the Voting Deadline may not be counted. The method of delivery of the Ballots or Master Ballots to be sent to the Balloting Agent is at the election and risk of each Holder or Nominee. Except as otherwise provided in the Solicitation Procedures, a Ballot or Master Ballot will be deemed delivered only when the Balloting Agent actually receives the original executed Ballot or Master Ballot. No Ballot or Master Ballot should be sent to the Debtor, the Debtor's agents (other than the Balloting Agent), or the Debtor's financial or legal advisors. The Debtor expressly reserves the right to amend from time to time the terms of the Plan (subject to compliance with the requirements of Bankruptcy Code section 1127 and the terms of the Plan regarding modifications) upon notice to the Committee and the Informal Group. The Bankruptcy Code may require the Debtor to disseminate additional solicitation materials if the Debtor makes material changes to the terms of the Plan or if the Debtor waives a material condition to Plan confirmation. In that event, the solicitation will be extended to the extent directed by the Bankruptcy Court.

If multiple Ballots are received from the same Holder with respect to the same Claim prior to the Voting Deadline, the last Ballot timely received will be deemed to reflect that voter's intent and will supersede and revoke any prior Ballot. If a Holder holds Claims in more than one Class entitled to vote, such Holder must vote all of its Claim(s) in each class either to accept or reject the Plan and may not split its vote within one voting Class. Accordingly, a Ballot that partially rejects and partially accepts the Plan will not be counted. Further, to the extent there are multiple Claims within Class 3 General Unsecured Claims, Class 4 Senior Notes Claims or Class 5 Subordinated Notes Claims, the Debtor may, in its discretion, and to the extent possible, aggregate the Claims of any particular Holder within the Class for the purpose of counting votes.

In the event a designation of lack of good faith is requested by a party in interest under Bankruptcy Code section 1126(e), the Bankruptcy Court will determine whether any vote to accept and/or reject the Plan cast with respect to that Claim will be counted for purposes of determining whether the Plan has been accepted and/or rejected.

Prior to the Confirmation Hearing, the Debtor will file with the Bankruptcy Court the Voting Report prepared by the Balloting Agent. The Voting Report shall, among other things, delineate every Ballot or Master Ballot that does not conform to the applicable voting instructions or that contains any form of irregularity including, but not limited to, those Ballots or Master Ballots that do not indicate acceptance or rejection of the Plan, are late or (in whole or in material part) illegible, unidentifiable, lacking signatures, or lacking other necessary information, received via facsimile or e-mail or damaged. The Voting Report shall also indicate the Debtor's intentions with regard to such Ballots or Master Ballots that do not conform to the applicable voting instructions or that contains any form of irregularity. Neither the Debtor nor any other Person or Entity will be under any duty to provide notification of defects or irregularities with respect to delivered Ballots or Master Ballots other than as provided in the Voting Report, nor will any of them incur any liability for failure to provide such notification.

ARTICLE VI. VALUATION ANALYSIS AND FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS

TO BE PROVIDED

ARTICLE VII. CONFIRMATION PROCEDURES

A. The Confirmation Hearing

Bankruptcy Code section 1128(a) requires the Bankruptcy Court, after notice, to hold the Confirmation Hearing. Bankruptcy Code section 1128(b) provides that any party in interest may object to confirmation of the Plan. The Debtor is requesting that the Court fix October 5, 2011, at 10:00 a.m. (prevailing Eastern Time), or as soon as practicable thereafter, as the date and time of the Confirmation Hearing. Notice of the Confirmation Hearing will be provided in the manner prescribed by the Bankruptcy Court, and will also be available at the Debtor's restructuring website, http://www.kccllc.net/Ambac. The Confirmation Hearing may be adjourned from time to time by the Bankruptcy Court without further notice except for an announcement of the adjourned date made at the Confirmation Hearing or any subsequent adjourned Confirmation Hearing.

B. Statutory Requirements for Confirmation of the Plan

At the Confirmation Hearing, the Bankruptcy Court shall determine whether the requirements of Bankruptcy Code section 1129 have been satisfied. If so, the Bankruptcy Court

shall enter the Confirmation Order. The Debtor believes that the Plan satisfies or will satisfy the applicable requirements, which are, among others, as follows:

- The Plan complies with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
- The Debtor, as Plan proponent, has complied with the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
- The Plan has been proposed in good faith and not by any means forbidden by law.
- Any payment made or promised under the Plan for services or for costs and expenses in, or in connection with, the Chapter 11 Case, or in connection with the Plan and incident to the case, has been disclosed to the Bankruptcy Court, and any such payment: (i) made before the Confirmation of the Plan is reasonable; or (ii) subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court as reasonable if it is to be fixed after the Confirmation of the Plan.
- Either each Holder of an Impaired Claim or Equity Interest has accepted the Plan, or will receive or retain under the Plan on account of that Claim or Equity Interest, property of a value, as of the Effective Date of the Plan, that is not less than the amount that the Holder would receive or retain if the Debtor were liquidated on that date under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- The Plan provides that the Debtor's New Organizational Documents shall include provisions prohibiting the issuance of non-voting equity securities and setting forth an appropriate distribution of voting power among classes of equity securities possessing voting power pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1123(a)(6) for so long as Bankruptcy Code 1123 is in effect and applicable to the Reorganized Debtor.
- Each Class of Claims and Equity Interests that is entitled to vote upon the Plan has either accepted the Plan or is not Impaired under the Plan, or the Plan can be confirmed without the approval of each Class pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b).
- Except to the extent that the Holder of a particular Claim agrees to a different treatment of its Claim, the Plan provides that Holders of Administrative Claims will be paid in full, Holders of Priority Non-Tax Claims will receive treatment consistent with Bankruptcy Code section 1129(a)(9)(B), and Holders of Priority Tax Claims will receive treatment consistent with Bankruptcy Code section 1129(a)(9)(C).
- At least one Class of Impaired Claims will accept the Plan, determined without including any acceptance of the Plan by any Insider holding a Claim in such Class.

- Confirmation of the Plan is not likely to be followed by the liquidation or the need for further financial reorganization of the Debtor or any successors thereto under the Plan unless such a liquidation or reorganization is proposed in the Plan.
- All fees of the type described in 28 U.S.C. § 1930, including the fees of the U.S. Trustee, will be paid as of the Effective Date.

The Debtor believes that: (i) the Plan satisfies or will satisfy all of the statutory requirements of chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code; (ii) it has complied or will have complied with all of the requirements of chapter 11; and (iii) the Plan has been proposed in good faith. To the extent that the Court does not approve the restructuring steps and transactions described in Article IV of the Plan and Article IV.C hereof, the Debtor does not believe that this will impact the best interests of creditors or the feasibility of the Plan. The proposed restructuring steps and transactions merely serve to further enhance the attributes of the Plan.

1. <u>Best Interests of Creditors Test/Liquidation Analysis</u>

Under the Bankruptcy Code, confirmation of a plan also requires a finding that the plan is in the "best interests" of creditors. Under the "best interests" test, the Bankruptcy Court must find (subject to certain exceptions) that the Plan provides, with respect to each Impaired Class, that each Holder of an Allowed Claim or Equity Interest in such Impaired Class has accepted the Plan, or will receive or retain under the Plan property of a value, as of the Effective Date, that is not less than the amount that such Holder would receive or retain if the Debtor were liquidated under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

The analysis under the "best interests" test requires that the Bankruptcy Court determine what Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests in each Impaired Class would receive if the Chapter 11 Case were converted to a liquidation case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, and the Bankruptcy Court appointed a chapter 7 trustee to liquidate all of the assets into Cash. The Debtor's "liquidation value" would consist primarily of unencumbered and unrestricted Cash held by the Debtor at the time of the conversion to a chapter 7 case, and the proceeds resulting from the chapter 7 trustee's sale of the Debtor's remaining unencumbered assets. The gross Cash available for distribution would be reduced by the costs and expenses incurred in effectuating the chapter 7 liquidation and any additional Administrative Claims incurred during the chapter 7 case.

The Bankruptcy Court then must compare the value of the distributions from the proceeds of the hypothetical chapter 7 liquidation of the Debtor (after subtracting the chapter 7-specific claims and administrative costs) with the value to be distributed to the Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests under the Plan. It is possible that in a chapter 7 liquidation, Claims and Equity Interests may not be classified in the same manner as set forth in the Plan. In a hypothetical chapter 7 liquidation of the Debtor's assets, the rule of absolute priority of distribution would apply, *i.e.*, no junior creditor would receive any distribution until payment in full of all senior creditors, and no Holder of an Equity Interest would receive any distribution until all creditors have been paid in full. Therefore, in a hypothetical chapter 7 liquidation, the Debtor's available assets generally would be distributed to Holders of Claims and Equity Interests in the following order: Administrative Claims, Accrued Professional Compensation

Claims, Priority Tax Claims, Priority Non-Tax Claims, Secured Claims, General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims, Subordinated Notes Claims, Section 510(b) Claims, Intercompany Claims, and Equity Interests.

Of the foregoing groups of Claims, Administrative Claims, Accrued Professional Compensation Claims, Priority Tax Claims, Priority Non-Tax Claims, and Secured Claims are either unclassified or Unimpaired under the Plan, meaning that the Plan generally leaves their legal, equitable, and contractual rights unaltered. As a result, Holders of such Claims and Equity Interests are deemed to accept the Plan. General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims are Impaired under the Plan and are entitled to vote on the Plan. Section 510(b) Claims, Intercompany Claims, and Equity Interests are to receive no distribution under the Plan and, therefore, are deemed to reject the Plan. Because the Bankruptcy Code requires that Impaired creditors either accept the Plan or receive at least as much under the Plan as they would in a hypothetical chapter 7 liquidation, the operative "best interests" inquiry in the context of the Plan is whether in a chapter 7 liquidation, after accounting for recoveries by Holders of Administrative Claims, Priority Tax Claims, Priority Non-Tax Claims, and Secured Claims, Impaired Holders of Claims and Equity Interests would receive more or less than under the Plan. If the probable distribution to Impaired Holders of Claims and Equity Interests under a hypothetical chapter 7 liquidation is greater than the distributions to be received by such Holders under the Plan, then the Plan is not in the best interests of such Holders.

As described in more detail in the liquidation analysis to be filed prior to the Disclosure Statement approval hearing (the "Liquidation Analysis"), the Debtor believes that the value of any distributions in a chapter 7 case would be less than the value of distributions under either the Plan Settlement Option or the Deconsolidation Option. In particular, proceeds received in a chapter 7 liquidation are likely to be significantly discounted due to the distressed nature of the sale, and the fees and expenses of a chapter 7 trustee would likely further reduce Cash available for distribution.

2. Feasibility

Bankruptcy Code section 1129(a)(11) requires the Bankruptcy Court to find, as a condition to confirmation, that confirmation is not likely to be followed by the debtor's liquidation or the need for further financial reorganization, unless that liquidation or reorganization is contemplated by the Plan. The Plan contemplates a material deleveraging of the Debtor's balance sheet. Thus, the Debtor believes that the Plan meets the financial feasibility requirement.

3. <u>Acceptance by Impaired Classes</u>

As a condition to confirmation, the Bankruptcy Code requires that, except as described in the following section, each class of claims and interests that is impaired under a plan accepts the plan. A class that is Unimpaired under a plan is deemed to have accepted the plan and, therefore, solicitation of acceptances with respect to such class is not required. A class is Impaired unless the plan: (i) leaves unaltered the legal, equitable, and contractual rights to which the claim or interest entitles the holder of such claim or interest; (ii) cures any default and reinstates the original terms of the obligation; or (iii) provides that, on the consummation date, the holder of

the claim or interest receives Cash equal to the Allowed amount of that claim or, with respect to any interest, any fixed liquidation preference to which the interest holder is entitled or any fixed price at which the debtor may redeem the security.

Bankruptcy Code section 1126(c) defines acceptance of a plan by a class of Impaired Claims as acceptance by holders of at least two thirds in dollar amount and more than one half in number of claims in that class, but for that purpose counts only those who actually vote to accept or to reject the plan. Thus, a Class of Claims will have voted to accept the Plan only if two thirds in amount and a majority in number actually voting cast their Ballots (or Master Ballots in the case of beneficial Holders of Claims voting through a Nominee) in favor of acceptance of the Plan.

As described above, Holders of Claims in Classes 3, 4 and 5 are the only Holders which are both Impaired and entitled to vote on the Plan. Class 3, 4 and/or 5 will have accepted the Plan if it is accepted by at least two thirds in amount and a majority in number of the Claims of such Class (other than Claims designated under Bankruptcy Code section 1126(e)) that have voted to accept or reject the Plan.

4. Confirmation Without Acceptance by All Impaired Classes

Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b) allows a Bankruptcy Court to confirm a plan, even if all Impaired classes entitled to vote on the plan have not accepted it, provided that the plan has been accepted by at least one Impaired class. Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b) states that, notwithstanding an Impaired class's failure to accept a plan, the plan shall be confirmed, at the plan proponent's request, in a procedure commonly known as "cram down," so long as the plan does not "discriminate unfairly" and is "fair and equitable" with respect to each class of claims and interests that is Impaired under, and has not accepted, the plan.

In general, a plan does not discriminate unfairly if it treats a class substantially equivalent to the treatment of other classes of equal rank. Courts will take into account a number of factors in determining whether a plan discriminates unfairly, including whether the discrimination has a reasonable basis, whether the debtor can carry out a plan without such discrimination, whether such discrimination is proposed in good faith, and the treatment of the class discriminated against. Courts have also held that it is appropriate to classify unsecured creditors separately if the differences in classification are in the best interest of the creditors, foster reorganization efforts, do not violate the absolute priority rule, and do not needlessly increase the number of classes.

The condition that a plan be "fair and equitable" to a non-accepting class of secured claims includes the requirements that: (i) the holders of such secured claims retain the liens securing such claims to the extent of the allowed amount of the claims, whether the property subject to the liens is retained by the debtors or transferred to another entity under the plan; and (ii) each holder of a secured claim in the class receives deferred Cash payments totaling at least the Allowed amount of such claim with a present value, as of the effective date of the plan, at least equivalent to the value of the secured claimant's interest in the debtor's property subject to the liens.

The condition that a plan be "fair and equitable" with respect to a non-accepting class of unsecured claims includes the requirement that either: (i) the plan provides that each holder of a claim of such class receive or retain on account of such claim property of a value, as of the effective date of the plan, equal to the Allowed amount of such claim; or (ii) the holder of any claim or interest that is junior to the claims of such class will not receive or retain under the plan on account of such junior claim or interest any property.

The condition that a plan be "fair and equitable" to a non accepting class of equity interests includes the requirements that either: (i) the plan provides that each holder of an interest in that class receives or retains under the plan, on account of that interest, property of a value, as of the effective date of the plan, equal to the greater of the allowed amount of any fixed liquidation preference to which such holder is entitled, any fixed redemption price to which such holder is entitled, or the value of such interest; or (ii) if the class does not receive such an amount as required under (i), no class of equity interests junior to the non-accepting class may receive a distribution.

Because Impaired Classes 6, 7 and 8 are deemed to have rejected the Plan, the Debtor will request Confirmation of the Plan, as it may be modified from time to time, under Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b). The Debtor reserves the right to alter, amend, modify, revoke or withdraw the Plan or any exhibit or schedule to the Plan, including to amend or modify it to satisfy the requirements of Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b), if necessary.

The Debtor submits that, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b), the Plan is structured such that it does not "discriminate unfairly" and satisfies the "fair and equitable" requirement.

C. Persons to Contact for More Information

Any interested party desiring further information about the Plan should contact: Counsel for the Debtor: Peter A. Ivanick and Allison H. Weiss, Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP, 1301 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10019, via e-mail at pivanick@dl.com or aweiss@dl.com, or by phone at (212) 259-8000.

D. Disclaimer

In formulating the Plan, the Debtor has relied upon financial data derived from its books and records. The Debtor, therefore, represents that everything stated in this Disclosure Statement is true to the best of its knowledge. The Debtor nonetheless cannot, and does not, confirm the current accuracy of all statements appearing in this Disclosure Statement. Moreover, the Bankruptcy Court has not yet determined whether the Plan is confirmable and, therefore, does not recommend whether you should accept or reject the Plan.

The discussion in this Disclosure Statement regarding the Debtor may contain "forward looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements consist of any statement other than a recitation of historical fact and can be identified by the use of forward looking terminology such as "may," "expect," "anticipate," "estimate," or "continue" or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology. The reader is cautioned that all forward looking statements are necessarily

speculative and there are certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those referred to in such forward looking statements. The liquidation analyses, distribution projections, and other information are estimates only, and the timing and amount of actual distributions to creditors may be affected by many factors that cannot be predicted. Therefore, any analyses, estimates or recovery projections may or may not turn out to be accurate.

Nothing contained in this Disclosure Statement or the Plan is, or shall be deemed to be, an admission or statement against interest by the Debtor for purposes of any pending or future litigation matter or proceeding.

Although the attorneys, accountants, advisors, and other professionals employed by the Debtor have assisted in preparing this Disclosure Statement based upon factual information and assumptions respecting financial, business, and accounting data found in the books and records of the Debtor, they have not independently verified such information and make no representations as to the accuracy thereof. The attorneys, accountants, advisors, and other professionals employed by the Debtor shall have no liability for the information in this Disclosure Statement.

The Debtor and its professionals also have made a diligent effort to identify in this Disclosure Statement pending litigation claims and projected objections to claims. However, no reliance should be placed upon the fact that a particular litigation claim or projected objection to claim is, or is not, identified in this Disclosure Statement.

ARTICLE VIII. <u>PLAN-RELATED RISK FACTORS AND</u> <u>ALTERNATIVES TO CONFIRMING THE PLAN</u>

Prior to voting to accept or reject the Plan, all Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims should read and carefully consider the factors set forth below, as well as all other information set forth or otherwise referenced in this Disclosure Statement.

The following provides a summary of various important considerations and risk factors associated with the Plan; however, it is not exhaustive. In considering whether to vote for or against the Plan, Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims entitled to vote should read and carefully consider the factors set forth below, as well as all other information set forth or otherwise referenced or incorporated by reference in this Disclosure Statement, including the risks and other factors described in the Debtor's various Securities Exchange Commission filings, all of which are incorporated herein.

A. Certain Bankruptcy Law Considerations

1. Parties in Interest May Object to the Debtor's Classification of Claims and Equity Interests

Bankruptcy Code section 1122 provides that a plan may place a claim or an interest in a particular class only if such claim or interest is substantially similar to the other claims or

interests in such class. The Debtor believes that the classification of Claims and Equity Interests under the Plan complies with the requirements set forth in the Bankruptcy Code because the Debtor created eight Classes of Claims and Equity Interests, each encompassing Claims or Equity Interests, as applicable, that are substantially similar to the other Claims and Equity Interests in each such Class. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will reach the same conclusion.

2. The Debtor May Fail to Satisfy the Vote Requirement

If votes are received in number and amount sufficient to enable the Bankruptcy Court to confirm the Plan, as promptly as practicable thereafter, the Debtor intends to seek Confirmation of the Plan. In the event that sufficient votes are not received, the Debtor may seek to accomplish an alternative chapter 11 plan. There can be no assurance that the terms of any such alternative chapter 11 plan would be similar or as favorable to the Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests as those proposed in the Plan.

3. The Debtor May Not Be Able to Secure Confirmation of the Plan

Even if the requisite acceptances are received, there can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will confirm the Plan. A non-accepting Holder of an Allowed Claim might challenge either the adequacy of this Disclosure Statement or whether the balloting procedures and voting results satisfy the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules. Even if the Bankruptcy Court determined that this Disclosure Statement, the balloting procedures and the voting results were appropriate, the Bankruptcy Court could still decline to confirm the Plan containing either of the Options if it found that any of the statutory requirements for confirmation had not been met, including the requirements that the terms of the Plan do not "unfairly discriminate" and are "fair and equitable" to non-accepting Classes, confirmation is not likely to be followed by a liquidation or a need for further financial reorganization, and the value of distributions to non-accepting Holders of Claims and Equity Interests within a particular Class under the Plan will not be less than the value of distributions such Holders would receive if the debtor were liquidated under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. While the Debtor believes that the Plan complies with Bankruptcy Code section 1129, there can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will find that these requirements are met.

Confirmation of the Plan is also subject to certain conditions as described in Article IX of the Plan. If the Plan is not confirmed, it is unclear what distributions, if any, Holders of Allowed Claims or Equity Interests would receive with respect to their Allowed Claims and Equity Interests.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Debtor reserves the right to modify the terms and conditions of the Plan as necessary for confirmation. Any such modifications could result in less favorable treatment of any non-accepting Class, as well as any Classes junior thereto, than the treatment currently provided in the Plan. Such less favorable treatment could include a distribution of property to the Class affected by the modification of a lesser value than currently provided in the Plan or no distribution of property whatsoever under the Plan.

4. The Debtor May Object to the Amount or Classification of a Claim or Interest

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Debtor and the Reorganized Debtor reserve the right to object to the amount or classification of any Claim or Interest under the Plan. Any Holder of a Claim or Interest that is subject to an objection thus may not receive its expected share of the estimated distributions described in this Disclosure Statement.

5. Risk of Non-occurrence of the Effective Date

Although the Debtor believes that the Effective Date will occur quickly after the Confirmation Date, there can be no assurance as to such timing, or as to whether the Effective Date will, in fact, occur.

Consummation of the Plan is also subject to certain conditions as described in Article IX of the Plan, which are not certain. For example, the IRS Adversary Proceeding may not be resolved for a significant period of time, thereby delaying consummation. Moreover, the District Court may not approve the Stipulation of Settlement, thereby threatening consummation of the Plan.

6. <u>Contingencies Will Not Affect Votes of Impaired Classes to Accept or Reject the</u> Plan

The Distributions available to Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests under the Plan can be affected by a variety of contingencies, including, without limitation, whether the Bankruptcy Court orders certain Allowed Claims to be subordinated to other Allowed Claims. The occurrence of any and all such contingencies, which could affect distributions available to Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests under the Plan, will not affect the validity of the vote taken by the Impaired Class to accept or reject the Plan or require any sort of revote by the Impaired Class.

7. <u>Liquidation under Chapter 7</u>

If no plan can be confirmed, the Debtor's Chapter 11 Case may be converted to a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, pursuant to which a trustee would be elected or appointed to liquidate the assets of the Debtor for distribution in accordance with the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code. Even if a plan is confirmed, under certain specified scenarios, pursuant to the Deconsolidation Option, the Debtor may seek to convert the Chapter 11 Case to a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. A discussion of the effects that a chapter 7 liquidation would have upon the recoveries of Holders of Claims and Equity Interests will be set forth in the Debtor's Liquidation Analysis.

B. Risks Related to a Plan Based upon the Plan Settlement Option

1. The Reorganized Debtor May Not Be Able to Realize Residual Value in AAC

Given the risks outlined below regarding OCI action with respect to AAC, the Segregated Account and the Rehabilitation Proceedings, the Reorganized Debtor may not be able to realize residual value in its ownership of AAC common equity.

2. The Rehabilitation Court May Not Approve the Plan Settlement

Because the Plan Settlement contemplates settlement of claims among the Debtor, AAC and the Segregated Account, such settlement will require the approval of the Rehabilitation Court. Additionally, because TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B, TSA Amendment C and the Cost Allocation Agreement impact the Segregated Account, Rehabilitation Court approval will be required for these agreements as well. While the Debtor expects the Rehabilitation Court to approve such settlement and agreements if OCI accepts the Plan Settlement, approval cannot be assured.

- 3. <u>Risks Related to U.S. Federal Tax Characterization of NOLs and the Ambac Consolidated Group Specific to the Plan Settlement Option</u>
 - (i) Certain Adverse Tax Consequences Could Result from the Rehabilitation Plan and Possible Substantial Amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the Initiation of Rehabilitation Proceedings against AAC, Likely Resulting in Adverse Consequences to Holders of Claims against the Debtor

As described elsewhere herein, the issuance of the Surplus Notes as currently contemplated by the Rehabilitation Plan could subject AAC to the risk of deconsolidation from the Ambac Consolidated Group for U.S. federal income tax purposes and of having to recognize significant CODI. Deconsolidation or the recognition of substantial CODI would likely have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of AAC and the Segregated Account. As such, the Rehabilitator is considering substantial amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the initiation of rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC. Such amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan (and, presumably, any rehabilitation plan with respect to AAC) could include the elimination of the issuance of Segregated Account Surplus Notes and/or the imposition of transfer restrictions on any Segregated Account Surplus Notes.

Additionally, notwithstanding that amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the initiation of rehabilitation proceedings would be designed to preserve tax attributes for the ultimate benefit of AAC policyholders, such amendments might have other adverse impacts on the Debtor's estate.

(ii) Surplus Notes May Be Characterized as Equity of AAC and, Therefore, AAC May No Longer Be a Member of the Ambac Consolidated Group

It is possible that the AAC Surplus Notes and/or the Segregated Account Surplus Notes may be characterized as equity of AAC for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If the Surplus Notes are characterized as equity of AAC and it is determined the Surplus Notes represented more than twenty (20) percent of the total value of the stock of AAC, issuance of the Surplus Notes may constitute a Deconsolidation Event and AAC and the AAC Subgroup may no longer be characterized as members of the Ambac Consolidated Group.

To the extent AAC is no longer a member of the Ambac Consolidated Group, AAC's NOLs (and certain other available tax attributes) may no longer be available (under certain circumstances) for use by the Ambac Consolidated Group, including the Reorganized Debtor, to

reduce their U.S. federal income tax liabilities. This could result in a material increase in the tax liabilities of those Entities remaining in the Ambac Consolidated Group. In addition, certain other benefits resulting from U.S. federal income tax consolidation may no longer be available to the Ambac Consolidated Group such as certain favorable rules relating to transactions occurring between members of the group, including rules that generally should eliminate any income for U.S. federal income tax purposes resulting from payments to the Debtor under the TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C. In such an event, the amount of NOLs available for use by Reorganized Debtor, if any, could be reduced by the amount of any taxable income associated with such payments. If a sufficient amount of NOLs are not available for use by the Reorganized Debtor to offset such taxable income, the Reorganized Debtor may incur U.S. federal income tax as a result of the payments made pursuant to the TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C.

(iii) The AAC Subgroup May Not Be Permitted to Reconsolidate with the Ambac Consolidated Group for Five Years Following the Issuance of the Surplus Notes and the AAC NOL May Be Subject to Limitation Following Any Permitted Reconsolidation

To the extent AAC is no longer a member of the Ambac Consolidated Group, the AAC Subgroup may not be able to reconsolidate with the Ambac Consolidated Group for a period of five years following such event even if the Reorganized Debtor were to be treated as reacquiring or owning eighty (80) percent or more of the stock of the AAC Subgroup following any Deconsolidation Event. In addition, depending upon certain facts related to such Deconsolidation Event and any reconsolidation with the Ambac Consolidated Group, the acquisition by the Ambac Consolidated Group of additional value with respect to the stock of the AAC Subgroup may also result in the imposition of an IRC section 382 limitation with respect to NOLs attributable to the AAC Subgroup reducing or eliminating (if there is a second ownership change within two years of the confirmation of a chapter 11 or a rehabilitation plan) the potential tax benefit of the NOLs to the Ambac Consolidated Group. The potential limit on reconsolidation and the potential IRC section 382 limitation with respect to the AAC NOL could result in a material increase in the U.S. federal income tax liability of the AAC Subgroup and/or the Ambac Consolidated Group and materially reduce the enterprise value of the Reorganized Debtor.

(iv) If the Surplus Notes Are Characterized as Equity of AAC, the AAC NOL May Be Subject to Limitation under IRC Section 382

It is possible the Surplus Notes may be characterized as equity of AAC for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, transfers of the Surplus Notes by holders who receive or are characterized as owning Surplus Notes representing more than five (5) percent of the equity of AAC may result in an "ownership change" of AAC for purposes of IRC section 382. If such an ownership change were to occur, the value and amount of the NOLs attributable to AAC would be substantially impaired, increasing the U.S. federal income tax liability of AAC and materially reducing cash available to dividend to the Reorganized Debtor, as well as reducing the value of the AAC's stock owned by the Reorganized Debtor.

(v) Issuance of the Surplus Notes May Cause AAC to Recognize CODI, which Could Significantly Reduce the AAC NOL

If either the Surplus Notes or the claims for which the Surplus Notes are exchanged are "publicly traded" for purposes of IRC section 1273 and applicable Treasury Regulations thereunder, AAC will be treated as having satisfied the policyholders' claims against AAC for an amount equal to the fair market value of the Surplus Notes (plus any other consideration transferred). The preceding analysis related to whether the Surplus Notes or claims are "publicly traded" is not clear; there is little authority addressing this issue, and the IRS recently proposed new Treasury Regulations that, if adopted prior to issuance of such Surplus Notes, generally would make it more likely that property will be treated as "publically traded" than under the currently applicable Treasury Regulations. If either the Surplus Notes or claims are "publicly traded," AAC could recognize a potentially significant amount of CODI, which could reduce AAC's NOLs, impairing AAC's ability to satisfy claims asserted against the Segregated Account and reducing the NOL by the amount of such CODI. The reduction in AAC's NOLs attributable to AAC could also reduce the NOL available to the Ambac Consolidated Group or reduce the value of the AAC stock owned by the Reorganized Debtor.

(vi) The Debtor Might Have a Change in Control or Not Qualify for the L5 Exception and be Subject to a Limitation on the Use of its NOLs

The Trading Order implements notice and hearing procedures for transfers of Equity Interests and Claims to improve the likelihood that the Debtor will not be subject to a change of control under IRC Section 382 prior to the Effective Date and should be able to utilize the L5 Exception upon emergence. In addition, the New Charter of Incorporation contains certain trading restrictions to improve the likelihood that the Reorganized Debtor should not be subject to a change of control under IRC section 382 after the Effective Date. The Reorganized Debtor's and AAC's ability to utilize the NOLs will be substantially impaired or eliminated if the Debtor nonetheless suffers a change of control or does not qualify for the L5 Exception.

4. The Amount of Any Payments by AAC to the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to the Applicable TSA Amendment Is Uncertain

The amount of any payments by AAC to the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to the applicable TSA Amendment is uncertain at this time because the amount of income recognized by AAC (including CODI and investment income) is subject to many variables and cannot be predicted with any precision.

C. Risks Related to a Plan Based upon the Deconsolidation Option

1. A Plan Based upon the Deconsolidation Option Leaves Unresolved Allocation of Administrative Expenses and the Costs of the IRS Adversary Proceeding

The Debtor and AAC currently share premises, employees and other administrative services and expenses, allocating these costs between the holding company and the operating company. If a Plan based upon the Deconsolidation Option is confirmed, an agreement would still need to be negotiated between the Reorganized Debtor and AAC to determine allocation of administrative expenses. If such an agreement cannot be reached, the Reorganized Debtor may

have to hire additional staff and independent contractors to provide services, which could significantly increase the administrative costs of the Reorganized Debtor.

Although the Debtor is engaging in alternative dispute resolution procedures to attempt to settle the IRS Claims in an efficient and cost-effective manner, such procedures involve significant legal costs, may not ultimately be successful, and may result in further costly litigation. If a Plan based upon the Deconsolidation Option is confirmed, an agreement would still need to be negotiated between the Reorganized Debtor and AAC to determine allocation of costs of the IRS Adversary Proceeding.

Additionally, because a Plan based upon the Deconsolidation Option does not provide for a cash infusion from AAC to the Reorganized Debtor, there is a risk that the Reorganized Debtor will be unable to finance the IRS Adversary Proceeding and any other litigation, including litigating Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI.

2. <u>Litigation of Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI May Result in an Unfavorable Outcome for the Debtor</u>

A Plan based upon the Deconsolidation Option provides that any and all Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI would be settled or litigated, with any funds recovered funneled to the Litigation Trust. There is a risk, however, that litigation of such claims will not result in return to the Litigation Trust of sufficient funds to compensate for the expense of litigation. Moreover, the Reorganized Debtor may be unable to fund such litigation with its existing cash. Additionally, pursuit of such strategy may cause OCI to place AAC into full rehabilitation, threatening the ability of the Reorganized Debtor to realize residual value in AAC's common equity.

3. Rejection of the TSA and/or Deconsolidation May Not Be Effective, and/or May Not Result in Availability of NOLs to the Reorganized Debtor

OCI may argue that the Temporary Injunction, made permanent through the Rehabilitation Plan Confirmation Order, prohibits the rejection of the TSA. Alternatively, OCI may seek an additional injunction against such rejection. If the rejection of the TSA is deemed ineffective, the Reorganized Debtor will have to reimburse AAC for its use of AAC NOLs beyond CODI realized in respect of pre-petition debt.

OCI may also argue that the Temporary Injunction prohibits the deconsolidation and Treasury Regulation elections contemplated by the Deconsolidation Option. Alternatively, OCI may seek an additional injunction against rejection of such deconsolidation and Treasury Regulation elections. Inability to effect deconsolidation and make the appropriate elections could interfere with the Reorganized Debtor's ability to utilize NOLs. Additionally, pursuit of the Deconsolidation Option may cause OCI to place AAC into full rehabilitation, threatening the ability of the Reorganized Debtor to realize residual value in AAC's common equity.

Additionally, OCI's attempts to avoid rejection of the TSA and/or the deconsolidation and Treasury Regulation elections contemplated by the Deconsolidation Option may result in litigation in Bankruptcy Court and/or the Rehabilitation Court. In the event of litigation involving AFG, AAC and OCI, in particular if such litigation implicates the Segregated Account

and/or AAC is in rehabilitation proceedings, OCI may be able to have any litigation heard in Wisconsin because of reverse preemption principles pursuant to the McCarran-Ferguson Act, rather than in the Bankruptcy Court.

Further, the NOLs are a notional asset the realization of which is contingent upon uncertain future events. Even if the Plan is confirmed and consummated, the Reorganized Debtor, AAC, AFG Prime or other members of the Ambac Consolidated Group, as applicable, may not be able to utilize such NOLs due to an inability to generate sufficient income or engage in more than an insignificant amount of an active trade or business during and subsequent to the Effective Date of the Plan.

4. <u>If a Plan Based upon the Deconsolidation Option Is Confirmed, AFG's</u> Relationship with OCI Will Become Openly Adversarial

If OCI views pursuit of the Deconsolidation Option as contrary to the interests of AAC and/or Segregated Account policyholders, OCI will likely be less inclined to engage in value-creating activities that may benefit Reorganized AFG, as holder of AAC's common equity, but which do not directly benefit AAC or Segregated Account policyholders. Additionally, any agreement with OCI regarding a Cost Allocation Agreement will likely be abandoned. Further, OCI may respond by either initiating a full rehabilitation of AAC or by allocating AFG's claims against AAC to the Segregated Account.

5. Reverse Preemption May Result in Any Litigation between AFG and AAC Being Heard in Wisconsin

In any resulting litigation involving AFG, AAC and OCI, in particular if such litigation implicates the Segregated Account and/or AAC is in rehabilitation proceedings, OCI may seek to have such litigation heard in Wisconsin on the grounds of reverse preemption principles pursuant to the McCarran-Ferguson Act, rather than in the Bankruptcy Court. Although the Debtor believes the Bankruptcy Court will have jurisdiction over such litigation, the outcome of any such jurisdictional dispute is uncertain.

6. Prior to any Deconsolidation Event, Certain Adverse Tax Consequences Could Result from the Rehabilitation Plan and Possible Substantial Amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the Initiation of Rehabilitation

As described elsewhere herein, if prior to any Deconsolidation Event, AAC issues the Surplus Notes as currently contemplated by the Rehabilitation Plan, AAC could be subjected to the risk of having to recognize significant CODI. If either the Surplus Notes or the claims for which the Surplus Notes are exchanged are "publicly traded" for purposes of IRC section 1273 and applicable Treasury Regulations thereunder, AAC will be treated as having satisfied the policyholders' claims against AAC for an amount equal to the fair market value of the Surplus Notes (plus any other consideration transferred). The preceding analysis related to whether the surplus notes or claims are "publicly traded" is not clear; there is little authority addressing this issue, and the IRS recently proposed new Treasury Regulations that, if adopted prior to issuance of such Surplus Notes, generally would make it more likely that property will be treated as "publicly traded" than under the currently applicable Treasury Regulations. If either the Surplus

Notes or claims are "publicly traded," AAC could recognize a potentially significant amount of CODI, which would reduce the NOL attributable to AAC by the amount of such CODI. The reduction in the NOL attributable to AAC may reduce the NOL available to be reattributed to the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to an election under Treasury Regulations section 1.1502-36(d)(6) or reduce the value of the AAC stock directly or indirectly owned by the Reorganized Debtor.

The recognition of substantial CODI would likely have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of AAC and the Segregated Account. As such, the Rehabilitator is considering substantial amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the initiation of rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC. Such amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan (and, presumably, any rehabilitation plan with respect to AAC) could include the elimination of the issuance of Segregated Account Surplus Notes and/or the imposition of transfer restrictions on any Segregated Account Surplus Notes.

Additionally, notwithstanding that amendments to the Rehabilitation Plan and/or the initiation of rehabilitation proceedings would be designed to preserve tax attributes for the ultimate benefit of policyholders, such amendments might have other adverse impacts on the Debtor's estate.

7. <u>AFG Might Have a Change in Control or Not Qualify for the L5 Exception and be</u> Subject to a Limitation on the Use of its NOLs

The Trading Order implements notice and hearing procedures for transfers of Equity Interests and Claims to improve the likelihood that the Debtor will not be subject to a change of control under IRC section 382 prior to the Effective Date and should be able to utilize the L5 Exception upon emergence. In addition, the Reorganized AFG Charter of Incorporation contains certain trading restrictions to improve the likelihood that the Reorganized Debtor should not be subject to a change of control under IRC section 382 after the Effective Date. The Reorganized Debtor's and AAC's ability to utilize the NOLs will be substantially impaired or eliminated if the Debtor nonetheless suffers a change of control or does not qualify for the L5 Exception.

D. Additional Factors to Be Considered

1. Business Factors

(i) The Debtor May Be Unable to Attract and Retain Qualified Executives and Employees

The Debtor's ability to effectively implement a reorganization under chapter 11 and to realize residual value in respect of its ownership of AAC's common equity depends on the retention and recruitment of qualified executives and other professionals. The Debtor relies substantially upon the services of Ambac's current executive team. In addition to these officers, the Debtor requires key staff with risk mitigation, structured finance, insurance, credit, investment, accounting and administrative skills. As a result of AFG's filing for chapter 11 bankruptcy protection and the implementation of the Rehabilitation Proceedings, there is an increased risk that executive officers and other key staff will leave the company and replacements may not be incented to join Ambac. The loss of the services of members of Ambac's senior management team, or its inability to hire and retain other talented personnel,

could delay or prevent the Debtor from fully implementing the Plan and AAC from implementing its remediation strategies.

2. <u>Risks Related to AAC, OCI and the Rehabilitation Proceedings</u>

(i) Disputes, Including Litigation, Between the Debtor and AAC Regarding the Allocation of Certain Tax Attributes, Including NOLs, Could Reduce the Overall Value of the Debtor

If the Debtor, AAC, OCI, the Committee and the Informal Group have not come to an agreement with respect to the allocation of potential sources of value (principally, NOLs and other claims with respect to certain payments made by the Debtor to AAC pursuant to the TSA) and expenses, the Debtor's creditors could take actions which would adversely affect AAC and/or the Segregated Account. For example, the creditors could seek to impose a constructive trust with respect to Cash payments received by AAC and/or seek to reorganize the Debtor's ownership interest in AAC in order to achieve a deconsolidation of the Debtor and AAC for tax purposes, with the result that the Debtor would become entitled to the use of all NOLs in existence on the date of such deconsolidation. Such disputes and/or litigation between the Debtor and AAC could impede confirmation or consummation of the Plan, prolong the Chapter 11 Case, with resultant increases in the expenses of the Chapter 11 Case, and could ultimately impair the Debtor's ability to successfully reorganize. Additionally, such disputes and/or litigation could prompt OCI to initiate rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC, either preemptively, or in response to any such action; initiation of a rehabilitation proceeding with respect to AAC could decrease the residual value, if any, of AAC.

(ii) Pursuit of Litigation by Parties in Interest Could Disrupt Confirmation of the Plan and Could Have Material Adverse Effects on the Reorganized Debtor's Financial Condition.

There can be no assurance that any of the parties in interest will not pursue litigation strategies to enforce any Claims against the Debtor or AAC, for example, the IRS motion, filed in the District Court on January 13, 2011, to withdraw the IRS Adversary Proceeding from the Bankruptcy Court to the District Court. Litigation is by its nature uncertain and there can be no assurance of the ultimate resolution of any such proceedings. Any litigation may be expensive, lengthy, and disruptive to the Plan confirmation process. Additionally, a resolution of any such strategies that is unfavorable to the Debtor, especially in respect of the IRS Claims, could have a material adverse affect on Plan confirmation process or the Debtor's business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity or cash flow.

(iii) The Occurrence of Certain Events Could Result in the Initiation of Rehabilitation Proceedings against AAC

The IRS and certain policyholders of the Segregated Account Policies have challenged the establishment of the Segregated Account. If such challenges are successful, OCI may determine that it is in the best interests of policyholders to initiate rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC. Similarly, if the Debtor, the Committee, the Informal Group, OCI and AAC have not come to an agreement, the Debtor (or its creditors) could take actions which would

adversely affect AAC and/or the Segregated Account. As such, OCI may determine that it is in the best interests of policyholders to initiate rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC, either preemptively or in response to any such action. Finally, the incurrence of large losses in respect of policies in the General Account and other unknown contingencies (including disputes between the Debtor and AAC and/or the Segregated Account) might occur which would prompt OCI to initiate rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC.

If, as a result of the occurrence of any such event(s), OCI decides to initiate rehabilitation proceedings with respect to AAC, adverse consequences may result, including, without limitation, the assertion of damages by counterparties (including mark-to-market claims with respect to insured transactions executed in ISDA format) and the acceleration of losses based on early termination triggers and the loss of control rights in insured transactions, thereby reducing the residual value of AAC. Additionally, the Rehabilitator would assume control of all of AAC's assets and management of AAC. In exercising control, the Rehabilitator will act for the benefit of policyholders, and will not take into account the interests of the Reorganized Debtor; such actions may result in material adverse consequences for the Reorganized Debtor. In addition, the initiation of delinquency proceedings against AAC would further decrease the likelihood that OCI will permit AAC to make future dividend payments to the Reorganized Debtor.

(iv) As a Result of the Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings, Various Adverse Events in the Insured Portfolio May Be Triggered. If Injunctions Issued by the Rehabilitation Court Enjoining Such Adverse Effects Are Ineffective, Substantial Adverse Events May Occur

The Temporary Injunction, as amended by the Supplemental Injunction, made permanent by the Segregated Account Rehabilitation Plan, enjoins certain actions by Segregated Account policyholders and other counterparties, including the assertion of damages or acceleration of losses (including mark-to-market claims with respect to insured transactions executed in ISDA format) based on early termination triggers and the loss of control rights in insured transactions. If the challenges to such injunction are successful, losses in the Segregated Account would likely increase substantially.

(v) AAC's Inability to Realize the Remediation Recoveries Included in AAC's Loss Reserves Could Adversely Impact Its Liquidity and Financial Condition and Lead to Delinquency Proceedings.

As of December 31, 2010, AAC has estimated subrogation recoveries of \$2,391.3 million (net of reinsurance), which is included in AAC's loss reserves. These recoveries are based principally on contractual claims arising from RMBS transactions which AAC has insured, and represent AAC's estimate of the amount it will ultimately recover. However, AAC's ability to recover these amounts is subject to significant uncertainty, including risks inherent in litigation, collectability of such amounts from counterparties and/or their respective parents and affiliates, timing of receipt of any such recoveries, regulatory intervention which could impede AAC's ability to take the actions required to realize such recoveries and uncertainty inherent in the assumptions used in estimating such recoveries. The amount of these subrogation recoveries is

significant and if AAC is unable to recover any amounts, its residual value, if any, to the Debtor would be substantially impaired.

(vi) Actions of the Rehabilitator Could Adversely Affect the Debtor, Including Impacting AAC's Ability to Realize Remediation Recoveries.

As a consequence of the Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings, the Rehabilitator retains operational control and decision-making authority with respect to all matters related to the Segregated Account, including surveillance, remediation, loss mitigation and efforts to recover losses in the Segregated Account, including recovery efforts in respect of breaches of representations and warranties by sponsors of Ambac-insured RMBS. Similarly, by virtue of the contracts executed between AAC and the Segregated Account in connection with the establishment, and subsequent rehabilitation, of the Segregated Account, the Rehabilitator retains the discretion to oversee and approve certain actions taken by AAC in respect of assets and liabilities which remain in AAC. As a result, any efforts to remediate losses, and any actions taken by AAC, are subject to the approval of the Rehabilitator. In exercising such authority, the Rehabilitator will act for the benefit of policyholders, and will not take into account the interests of the Debtor. Decisions made by the Rehabilitator for the benefit of policyholders may result in material adverse consequences for the Debtor. In addition, the Debtor is not able to predict the impact such oversight will have on the remediation of losses, and, in particular, on AAC's efforts to recover losses attributable to breaches of representations and warranties by sponsors of Ambac-insured RMBS and AAC's ability to commute outstanding policies and repurchase Surplus Notes, nor whether the Rehabilitator will pursue such remediation as vigorously as AAC has done in the past. In addition, as a result of the Segregated Account Rehabilitation Proceedings, certain key personnel have chosen to leave the Debtor, and additional people may decide to leave. The loss of such personnel could adversely impact remediation efforts, reducing AAC's ability to make future dividend payments to the Reorganized Debtor and possibly impacting the residual value, if any, of AAC to the Reorganized Debtor.

(vii) Loss Reserves May Not Be Adequate to Cover Potential Losses; Changes in Loss Reserves May Result in Further Volatility of Net Income and Earnings

Loss reserves established with respect to AAC's non-derivative financial guarantee insurance business are based upon estimates and judgments by management, including estimates and judgments with respect to the probability of default, the severity of loss upon default and estimated remediation recoveries for, among other things, breaches by the issuer of representations and warranties. Loss reserves are established when management has observed credit deterioration, in most cases, when the underlying credit is considered below investment grade. Furthermore, the objective of establishing loss reserve estimates is not to reflect the worst possible outcome. As such, there can be no assurance that the actual losses in AAC's financial guarantee insurance portfolio will not exceed AAC's loss reserves.

Additionally, inherent in AAC's estimates of loss severities and remediation recoveries is the assumption that AAC will retain control rights in respect of its insured portfolio. However, AAC is subject to the loss of control rights in many insured transactions, in the event that it is the subject of delinquency proceedings and/or other regulatory actions which could result from

AAC's deteriorated financial position. In the event that AAC loses control rights, its ability to mitigate loss severities and realize remediation recoveries will be compromised, and actual ultimate losses in its insured portfolio could exceed AAC's loss reserves. The Temporary Injunction, as amended by the Supplemental Injunction, enjoins certain actions by holders of the Segregated Account Policies and other counterparties, including the loss of control rights. If this injunction were successfully challenged, AAC could lose its control rights with respect to the Segregated Account Policies.

AAC also relies on internally and externally developed complex financial models, including a recently licensed statistical regression model related to RMBS, which were used for the first time in connection with the preparation of AAC's first quarter 2011 results, to project performance of AAC's insured obligations. Differences in the models that we employ, and/or flaws in these financial models and/or faulty assumptions used by these financial models, could lead to increased losses and loss reserves. Uncertainty with respect to the ultimate performance of certain of AAC's insured exposures may result in substantial changes in loss reserves and/or actual losses. Correspondingly, such changes to loss reserves would affect AAC's reported earnings. If AAC does not have sufficient liquidity to meet the increase in actual losses, AAC or its Affiliates may become subject to delinquency proceedings, reducing the residual value, if any, of AAC to the Reorganized Debtor.

(viii) Some of the State and Local Governments and Finance Authorities that Issue AAC-Insured Public Finance Obligations Are Experiencing Unprecedented Budget Shortfalls that Could Result in Increased Credit Losses or Impairments on Those Obligations

AAC has historically experienced low levels of defaults in its U.S. public finance insured portfolio, including during the financial crisis that began in mid-2007. However, recently many state and local governments that issue some of the obligations it insures has reported unprecedented budget shortfalls that will require them to significantly raise taxes and/or cut spending in order to satisfy their obligations. While there has been some support provided by the U.S. federal government designed to provide aid to state and local governments, certain state and local governments remain under extreme financial stress. If the issuers of the obligations in the Debtor's U.S. public finance portfolio are unable to raise taxes, cut spending, or receive federal assistance, AAC may experience losses or impairments on those obligations, which could adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations, reducing the probability that AAC will be able to make future dividend payments to the Reorganized Debtor.

(ix) Market Risks Could Adversely Impact AAC's Assets Posted as Collateral in Respect of Investment Agreements and Interest Rate Swap and Currency Swap Transactions

As a result of the downgrades of AAC's financial strength rating, it is required to post collateral with respect to certain investment agreements, interest rate swap and currency swap transactions. AAC will be required to post additional collateral if the market value of the assets used to collateralize its obligations declines or if there are changes in the collateral posting obligations under these agreements and transactions.

These collateral-posting obligations could have a material adverse effect on AAC's liquidity. At present, these collateral-posting requirements are being partially satisfied by AAC and by loans from AAC to its financial services Affiliates. As required by Wisconsin law, these transactions were approved by the OCI. To the extent that collateral-posting requirements increase as a result of changes in market conditions, as described above, it is likely that AAC would need to provide increased lending capacity to its financial services Affiliates in order to satisfy these collateral-posting obligations. Any such increases to lending capacity would be subject to the prior consent of the OCI; there can be no assurance that AAC would obtain such consent. OCI would likely consider several factors in determining whether to grant such consent, including its view of AAC's financial condition at the time of such loan or contribution.

If AAC's financial services Affiliates fail to post collateral as required, counterparties may be entitled to terminate the transactions. Upon such terminations, AAC could liquidate securities with unrealized mark-to-market losses which could have a material adverse effect on its liquidity. The termination of such transactions, if unpaid by AAC's financial services Affiliates, would trigger AAC's obligations to make payments under the financial guarantee insurance policies it previously issued, reducing AAC's ability to make future dividend payments to the Reorganized Debtor. To the extent that the OCI determines that the payment by AAC under such policies could place AAC in a hazardous condition, the OCI could seize AAC and place it into rehabilitation, eliminating the residual value, if any, of AAC to the Reorganized Debtor.

(x) Risks Which Impact Assets in the Debtor's Investment Portfolio Could Adversely Affect the Debtor's Business

The Debtor's investment portfolio may be adversely affected by events and developments in the capital markets, including interest rate movements, credit rating downgrades and foreign exchange movements.

During the course of 2010, management identified and periodically revised certain investment securities in the investment portfolio to potentially sell in connection with plans to reposition the investment portfolio and/or to meet potential liquidity needs. Ambac recorded an impairment charge through income on the portion of those securities which were in an unrealized loss position. Additionally, management determined that certain investments had suffered credit impairments. Credit impaired securities included certain securities that are guaranteed by AAC under policies that are subject to the Rehabilitation Plan. Ambac recorded an impairment charge through income in the amount of the estimated credit impairment on such securities. The impairments in value in the remaining investment portfolio are not deemed other-thantemporary, as such the remaining unrealized losses have been recognized in other comprehensive income.

To the extent AAC liquidates large blocks of investment assets in order to pay claims under financial guarantee insurance policies, to make payments under investment agreements and/or to collateralize AAC's obligations under investment agreements and interest rate swaps, such investment assets could be sold at prices less than fair value as of December 31, 2010.

Prior to the rating agency actions on AAC, AAC managed its investment portfolio in accordance with rating agency standards for a AAA-rated insurance company. As a result of the significant declines in AAC's financial strength ratings, it is no longer necessary to comply with the strict investment portfolio guidelines for an AAA-rated company. Therefore, AAC has decided to maintain a portion of its investment portfolio in lower-rated securities in order to increase the investment return on its portfolio. The investment in lower-rated securities and "alternative assets" could expose AAC to increased losses on its investment portfolio in excess of those described above and/or decrease the liquidity of the insured portfolio. However, AAC's investment policies are subject to certain covenants made for the benefit of the Segregated Account and the CDS Settlement Agreement. Any such changes could adversely impact the performance of the investment portfolio, reducing AAC's ability to make future dividend payments to the Reorganized Debtor and possibly impacting the residual value, if any, of AAC to the Reorganized Debtor.

(xi) The Determination of the Amount of Impairments Taken on the Debtor's Investments Is Highly Subjective and Could Materially Impact the Results of Operations or Financial Position

The determination of the amount of impairments on the Debtor's investments vary by investment type and is based upon the Debtor's periodic evaluation and assessment of known and inherent risks associated with the respective asset class. Such evaluations and assessments are revised as conditions change and new information becomes available. Management updates its evaluations regularly and reflects changes in impairments in operations as such evaluations are revised. There can be no assurance that the Debtor's management has accurately assessed the level of impairments taken in the Debtor's financial statements. Furthermore, additional impairments may need to be taken in the future. Historical trends may not be indicative of future impairments. Ambac uses internally and externally developed financial models (including a recently licensed statistical regression model which was employed for the first time in connection with the preparation of the Debtor's first quarter 2011 results) to project impairments with respect to RMBS held in its investment portfolio. Differences in the models employed and/or flaws in these models and/or faulty assumptions used by these models, could lead to increased impairments with respect to RMBS in the Debtor's investment portfolio, reducing AAC's ability to make future dividend payments to the Reorganized Debtor and possibly impacting the residual value, if any, of AAC to the Reorganized Debtor.

(xii) Ambac Is Subject to Dispute Risk in Connection with AAC's Reinsurance Agreements

In addition to having credit exposure to AAC's reinsurance counterparties, reinsurance counterparties have disputed their obligations to make payments required by applicable reinsurance agreements, including scheduled payments and payments due in connection with the commutation of financial guarantee insurance policies. These disputes, and any other similar dispute with other reinsurers, could result in AAC's being unable to collect all amounts due from reinsurers and/or collecting such amounts after potentially lengthy dispute resolution processes, reducing AAC's ability to make future dividend payments to the Reorganized Debtor and possibly impacting the residual value, if any, of AAC to the Reorganized Debtor.

3. <u>Risk Factors That May Affect the Value of Securities to be Issued Under the Plan</u> and/or Recoveries under the Plan

(i) The Valuation of the Reorganized Debtor May Not Be Adopted by the Bankruptcy Court

The Debtor's financial projections will provide an approximate midpoint equity value of the Reorganized Debtor. Parties in interest in this Chapter 11 Case may oppose Confirmation of the Plan by alleging that the midpoint equity value of the Reorganized Debtor is higher or lower than that the Debtor's projections and that the Plan thereby improperly limits or extinguishes their rights to recoveries under the Plan. At the Confirmation Hearing, the Bankruptcy Court will hear evidence regarding the views of the Debtor and opposing parties, if any, with respect to the valuation of the Reorganized Debtor. Based upon that evidence, the Bankruptcy Court will determine the appropriate valuation for the Reorganized Debtor for purposes of the Plan.

(ii) A Liquid Trading Market for the New Common Stock May Not Develop

The Debtor cannot provide assurances that an active trading market will develop, or if a market develops, what the liquidity or pricing characteristics of that market will be. The New Common Stock will be issued without registration under the Securities Act or any similar federal, state or local law as set forth in greater detail in Article IX hereof, titled "Exemptions from Securities Act Registration." Additionally, pursuant to the New Certificate of Incorporation, trading in the New Common Stock will be limited to protect the Debtor's eligibility for the L5 Exemption. Thus, at least in the short-term, a liquid trading market for the New Common Stock does develop, the liquidity of any market therefore will depend upon, among other things, the number of Holders of New Common Stock, the Reorganized Debtor's financial performance and the market for similar securities, none of which can be determined or predicted.

(iii) The Reorganized Debtor May Not Be Able to Achieve Projected Financial Results, Meet its Post-Reorganization Debt Obligations and/or Fund its Operating Expenses, Working Capital Needs and/or Capital Expenditures

The Reorganized Debtor may not be able to meet its projected financial results or achieve projected revenues and cash flows assumed in projecting future business prospects. To the extent the Reorganized Debtor does not meet its projected financial results or achieve projected revenues and cash flows, the Reorganized Debtor may lack sufficient liquidity to continue operating as planned after the Effective Date, may be unable to service its debt obligations as they come due or may not be able to meet its operational needs. Further, a failure of the Reorganized Debtor to meet its projected financial results or achieve projected revenues and cash flows could lead to cash flow and working capital constraints, which constraints may require the Reorganized Debtor to seek additional working capital. The Reorganized Debtor may not be able to obtain such working capital when it is required. Further, even if the Reorganized Debtor were able to obtain additional working capital, it may only be available on unreasonable terms. For example, the Reorganized Debtor may be required to take on additional debt, the interest costs of which could adversely affect the results of operations and the financial condition of the Reorganized Debtor. If any such required capital is obtained in the form of equity, the equity

interests of the Holders of the then-existing New Common Stock could be diluted. Although the Debtor's Financial Projections represent management's view based upon current known facts and assumptions about the future operations of the Reorganized Debtor, there is no guarantee that the Financial Projections will be realized.

(iv) Neither the Estimated Valuation of the Reorganized Debtor and the New Common Stock nor the Estimated Recoveries to Holders of Allowed Claims are Intended to Represent the Private Sale Value of the New Common Stock

The estimated recoveries to Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests set forth herein are not intended to represent the private sale values of the Reorganized Debtor's securities. Instead, the estimated recoveries are based upon numerous assumptions (the realization of many of which is beyond the control of the Reorganized Debtor), including, without limitation: (a) the successful reorganization of the Debtor; (b) an assumed date for the occurrence of the Effective Date; (c) the Debtor's ability to achieve the operating and financial results included in the Financial Projections; (d) the Debtor's ability to maintain adequate liquidity to fund operations; and (e) the assumption that capital and equity markets remain consistent with current conditions.

4. Because of the Limitations on Transfer of New Common Stock in the Amended Certificate of Incorporation, the Reorganized Debtor's Ability to Raise Capital Through Equity Investment Is Limited

If the Reorganized Debtor is unable to meet its projected financial results or achieve projected revenues and cash flows assumed in projecting future business prospects, the Reorganized Debtor may be required to raise additional working capital. Because the Amended Certificate of Incorporation contains provisions to prevent a "change in control" of the Reorganized Debtor and preserve NOLs, the Reorganized Debtor's ability to raise needed capital in the form of equity will be restricted. Consequently, the Reorganized Debtor may only be able to raise capital as debt which may be on unreasonable terms, the interest costs of which could adversely affect the results of operations and the financial condition of the Reorganized Debtor. Although, based upon the Debtor's Financial Projections and current known facts and assumptions about the future operations of the Reorganized Debtor, management believes its working capital will be sufficient, there is no guarantee that the Financial Projections will be realized.

5. Potential Shareholder Action

Certain Holders of Equity Interests in the Debtor may express dissatisfaction with the proposed Plan and the Options contained therein. As of the date hereof, the Debtor does not express any views with respect to the outcome of potential actions of such Holders. It is possible that such actions could lead to modifications to the Plan. It is also possible that such actions could impact the Debtor's business operations.

- 6. Risks Related to U.S. Federal Tax Characterization of NOLs and the Ambac Consolidated Group Applicable to Both the Plan Settlement Option and the Deconsolidation Option
 - (i) Characterization of Losses on AAC's CDS Portfolio as Capital Losses for Federal Tax Purposes Could Result in a Material Assessment for Federal Income Taxes

AAC's CDS portfolio experienced significant losses. The majority of these CDS contracts are on a "pay as you go" basis, which the Debtor believes are properly characterized as notional principal contracts for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Generally, losses on notional principal contracts are ordinary losses. However, the federal income tax treatment of CDS is an evolving area of tax law. As part of the ongoing audit of Ambac's 2007-2009 federal income tax returns and refund claims, the IRS has recently proposed to disallow AAC's deductions of CDS losses as ordinary losses, effectively taking the position that they were more properly characterized as capital losses. As of March 31, 2011, Ambac had NOLs and capital loss carryforwards amounting to approximately \$7.2 billion for federal income tax purposes. Although Ambac believes these CDS contracts are properly characterized as notional principal contracts, if the IRS were to successfully assert the proposed disallowance resulting from its examination, Ambac would be subject to both a substantial reduction in its NOLs and would suffer a material assessment for federal income taxes of up to \$800 million. Such assessments and reductions in NOLs would have a material adverse impact on the financial condition of the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable. Such assessments related to the Tax Refunds, which amount to approximately \$700 million, may be made by the IRS at any time, without prior notice to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, and without providing an opportunity to dispute the assessment, pursuant to IRC section 6213(b). Subject to applicable law and existing court orders, the IRS may then file a lien that attaches to the property interests of any member of the Ambac Consolidated Group, and may proceed to collect immediately on the assessment in any manner available under applicable law. Moreover, the IRS may be prevented from collecting the Tax Refund Transfers from AAC or the Segregated Account, the liability for which the OCI allocated to the Segregated Account, providing the IRS with a greater incentive to seek such amounts to the extent possible from the Debtor or another member of the Ambac Consolidated Group. If these events occur, the Debtor's ability to shelter CODI and/or reorganize effectively may be seriously jeopardized.

(ii) The Reorganized Debtor May Be Unable to Make Use of the NOLs

Although NOLs of AAC may be available for use by the Reorganized Debtor if, pursuant to the Plan Settlement, AAC remains a member of the Ambac Consolidated Group or if, following a Deconsolidation Event, an election is made under Treasury Regulations section 1.1502-36(d)(6) to reattribute AAC's NOLs to the Reorganized Debtor, the NOLs available to the Reorganized Debtor may be limited under IRC section 382 to the extent the Debtor fails to qualify for the L5 Exception.

Additionally, the NOLs are a notional asset the realization of which is contingent upon uncertain future events. Even if the Plan is confirmed and consummated, the Reorganized Debtor, AAC, AFG Prime or other members of the Ambac Consolidated Group, as applicable,

may not be able to utilize such NOLs due to an inability to generate sufficient income or engage in more than an insignificant amount of an active trade or business during and subsequent to the Effective Date of the Plan.

7. The Outcome of the IRS Adversary Proceeding May Be Unfavorable to the Debtor

Allowance of the IRS Claims as filed would be catastrophic to the value of the Debtor's estate and would likely result in conversion to a chapter 7 case. Although the Debtor believes the IRS Claims should be disallowed in its entirety, there can be no guarantee that the Bankruptcy Court will so find. Additionally, if the IRS Adversary Proceeding cannot be settled through the mediation that began on July 6, 2011, resolution of the IRS Adversary Proceeding, a condition to consummation of the Plan, may take a significant period of time, particularly if any lower court decision with respect to the IRS Adversary Proceeding is appealed by either party, and may cause the Debtor to incur substantial legal fees.

8. <u>Certain Tax Implications of the Debtor's Reorganization May Increase the Tax Liability of the Reorganized Debtor</u>

Holders of Claims in the Voting Class should carefully review Article X below, entitled "Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan" to determine how the tax implications of the Plan and this Chapter 11 Case may adversely affect the Reorganized Debtor.

9. The Outcome of the NYC Tax Claim Objection May Be Unfavorable to the Debtor

Allowance of the NYC Tax Claim as filed would seriously jeopardize the Debtor's ability to reorganize and may result in conversion to a chapter 7 case. Although the Debtor believes the NYC Tax Claim should be disallowed in its entirety, there can be no guarantee that the Bankruptcy Court will so find.

E. Disclosure Statement Disclaimer

1. The Information Contained Herein Is for Soliciting Votes Only

The information contained in this Disclosure Statement is for purposes of soliciting acceptances of the Plan and may not be relied upon for any other purposes.

2. The Information in this Disclosure Statement May Be Inaccurate

Unless otherwise specified herein, the statements contained in this Disclosure Statement are made by the Debtor as of the date hereof, and the delivery of this Disclosure Statement after that date does not imply that there has not been a change since that date in the information set forth herein. The Debtor may subsequently update the information in this Disclosure Statement, but it has no duty to update this Disclosure Statement unless ordered to do so by the Court. Further, the performance and prospective financial information contained herein, unless otherwise expressly indicated, is unaudited. Finally, neither the Securities and Exchange

Commission nor any other governmental authority has passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Disclosure Statement, the Plan, or any Exhibits thereto.

Although the Debtor has used its reasonable best efforts to ensure the accuracy of the financial information provided in this Disclosure Statement, some of the financial information contained in this Disclosure Statement has not been audited and is based upon an analysis of data available at the time of the preparation of the Plan and this Disclosure Statement. While the Debtor believes that such financial information fairly reflects the financial condition of the Debtor, the Debtor is unable to warrant or represent that the information contained herein and attached hereto is without inaccuracies.

3. <u>Financial Projections and Other Forward Looking Statements Are Not Assured</u>

This Disclosure Statement contains various projections concerning the financial results of the Reorganized Debtor's operations, including the Financial Projections, that are, by their nature, forward looking, and which projections are necessarily based upon certain assumptions and estimates. Should any or all of these assumptions or estimates ultimately prove to be incorrect, the actual future experiences of the Reorganized Debtor may turn out to be different from the Financial Projections.

Specifically, the projected financial results contained in this Disclosure Statement reflect numerous assumptions concerning the anticipated future performance of the Reorganized Debtor, some of which may not materialize, including, without limitation, assumptions concerning: (i) the timing of confirmation and consummation of the Plan in accordance with its terms; (ii) the anticipated future performance of the Reorganized Debtor, including, without limitation, the Debtor's ability to maintain or increase revenue and gross margins, control future operating expenses or make necessary capital expenditures; (iii) general business and economic conditions; and (iv) overall industry performance and trends.

Due to the inherent uncertainties associated with projecting financial results generally, the projections contained in this Disclosure Statement will not be considered assurances or guarantees of the amount of funds or the amount of Claims that may be Allowed in the various Classes. While the Debtor believes that the Financial Projections contained in this Disclosure Statement are reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will be realized.

4. This Disclosure Statement Was Not Approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission

This Disclosure Statement has not been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or any state regulatory authority. Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state regulatory authority has passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Disclosure Statement, or the exhibits or the statements contained herein, and any representation to the contrary is unlawful.

5. <u>The Debtor Relied upon Certain Exemptions from Registration under the Securities Act</u>

This Disclosure Statement has been prepared pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1125 and Bankruptcy Rule 3016(b) and is not necessarily in accordance with the requirements of federal law, Blue Sky Laws or other similar laws. The offer of New Common Stock and Warrants to Holders of Class 3, Class 4 and Class 5 Claims has not been registered under the Securities Act or similar Blue Sky Laws. To the maximum extent permitted by Bankruptcy Code section 1145, the Securities Act and other applicable non-bankruptcy law, the issuance of the New Common Stock and the Warrants will be exempt from registration under the Securities Act by virtue of Bankruptcy Code section 1145. If New Common Stock or Warrants are issued to "underwriters," as defined in section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, in the Bankruptcy Code and in Article IX.B.2 below, such New Common Stock or Warrants will be issued pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, and such securities will be considered "restricted securities."

6. This Disclosure Statement Contains Forward Looking Statements

This Disclosure Statement contains "forward looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements consist of any statement other than a recitation of historical fact and can be identified by the use of forward looking terminology such as "may," "expect," "anticipate," "estimate" or "continue" or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology. The reader is cautioned that all forward looking statements are necessarily speculative and there are certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those referred to in such forward looking statements. The liquidation analysis, distribution projections and other information contained herein and attached hereto are estimates only, and the timing and amount of actual distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims may be affected by many factors that cannot be predicted. Therefore, any analyses, estimates or recovery projections may or may not turn out to be accurate.

7. No Legal or Tax Advice Is Provided to You by this Disclosure Statement

This Disclosure Statement shall not constitute legal or tax advice. The contents of this Disclosure Statement should not be construed as legal, business, or tax advice. Each Holder of a Claim or an Interest should consult his or her own legal counsel and accountant with regard to any legal, tax and other matters concerning his or her Claim or Equity Interest. This Disclosure Statement may not be relied upon for any purpose other than to determine how to vote on the Plan or object to Confirmation of the Plan.

8. No Admissions Are Made by this Disclosure Statement

The information and statements contained in this Disclosure Statement will neither (a) constitute an admission of any fact or liability by any entity (including, without limitation, the Debtor) nor (b) be deemed evidence of the tax or other legal effects of the Plan upon the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, Holders of Allowed Claims or Equity Interests or any other parties in interest.

9. No Reliance Should be Placed upon any Failure to Identify Litigation Claims or Projected Objections

No reliance should be placed upon the fact that a particular litigation claim or projected objection to a particular Claim or Interest is, or is not, identified in this Disclosure Statement. The Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor may seek to investigate, file and prosecute Claims and Equity Interests and may object to Claims after the Confirmation or Effective Date of the Plan irrespective of whether this Disclosure Statement identifies such Claims or Objections to Claims.

10. <u>Nothing Herein Constitutes a Waiver of any Right to Object to Claims or Recover</u> Transfers and Assets

The vote by a Holder of an Allowed Claim for or against the Plan does not constitute a waiver or release of any Claims of the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor or rights of the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor (or any party in interest, as the case may be) to object to that Holder's Allowed Claim, or recover any preferential, fraudulent or other voidable transfer or assets, regardless of whether any Claims or Causes of Action of the Debtor or its Estate is specifically or generally identified herein.

11. The Information Used Herein Was Provided by the Debtor and Was Relied Upon by the Debtor's Advisors

Counsel to and other advisors retained by the Debtor have relied upon information provided by the Debtor in connection with the preparation of this Disclosure Statement. Although counsel to and other advisors retained by the Debtor have performed certain limited due diligence in connection with the preparation of this Disclosure Statement, they have not verified independently the information contained herein.

12. The Potential Exists for Inaccuracies, and the Debtor Has No Duty to Update

The statements contained in this Disclosure Statement are made by the Debtor as of the date hereof, unless otherwise specified herein, and the delivery of this Disclosure Statement after that date does not imply that there has not been a change in the information set forth herein since that date. While the Debtor has used its reasonable business judgment to ensure the accuracy of all of the information provided in this Disclosure Statement and in the Plan, the Debtor nonetheless cannot, and do not, confirm the current accuracy of all statements appearing in this Disclosure Statement. Further, although the Debtor may subsequently update the information in this Disclosure Statement, the Debtor has no affirmative duty to do so unless ordered to do so by the Bankruptcy Court.

13. No Representations Made Outside this Disclosure Statement Are Authorized

No representations concerning or relating to the Debtor, the Chapter 11 Case or the Plan are authorized by the Bankruptcy Court or the Bankruptcy Code, other than as set forth in this Disclosure Statement. Any representations or inducements made to secure your acceptance or rejection of the Plan that are other than as contained in, or included with, this Disclosure Statement, should not be relied upon by you in arriving at your decision. You should promptly

report unauthorized representations or inducements to the counsel to the Debtor and the U.S. Trustee.

ARTICLE IX. EXEMPTIONS FROM SECURITIES ACT REGISTRATION

A. New Common Stock and Warrants

The Plan provides for the Debtor to issue the New Common Stock and the Warrants. The Debtor believes that each of the New Common Stock and the Warrants constitutes a "security," as defined in Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act, Bankruptcy Code section 101, and applicable Blue Sky Laws. The Debtor further believes that the offer and sale of the New Common Stock and the Warrants pursuant to the Plan are, and subsequent transfers of the Securities by the Holders thereof that are not "underwriters," as defined in Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act and in the Bankruptcy Code, will be, exempt from federal and state securities registration requirements under various provisions of the Securities Act, the Bankruptcy Code and Blue Sky Laws.

B. Issuance and Resale of New Common Stock and Warrants under the Plan

1. Exemption from Registration

Section 3(a)(7) of the Securities Act provides that, except for securities exchanged in a case under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, the registration requirements of section 5 of the Securities Act shall not apply to securities exchanged by an issuer with its existing security Holders exclusively where no commission or other remuneration is paid or given directly or indirectly for soliciting such exchange. By virtue of section 18 of the Securities Act, section 3(a)(7) also provides that any Blue Sky Laws requirements shall not apply to such exchange.

Bankruptcy Code section 1145 provides that the registration requirements of section 5 of the Securities Act (and any Blue Sky Laws requirements) shall not apply to the offer or sale of stock, options, warrants, or other securities by a debtor if (i) the offer or sale occurs under a plan of reorganization; (ii) the recipients of the securities hold a claim against, an interest in, or claim for administrative expense against, the debtor; and (iii) the securities are issued in exchange for a claim against or interest in a debtor or are issued principally in such exchange and partly for cash and property. In reliance upon this exemption, the offer and sale of the New Common Stock, General Unsecured Warrants and Subordinated Notes Warrants will not be registered under the Securities Act or any Blue Sky Laws.

To the extent that the issuance of the New Common Stock, General Unsecured Warrants and Subordinated Notes Warrants is covered by Bankruptcy Code section 1145, such securities may be resold without registration under the Securities Act or other federal securities laws, unless the Holder is an "underwriter" (as discussed below) with respect to such securities, as that term is defined in section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act and in the Bankruptcy Code. In addition, the New Common Stock, General Unsecured Warrants and Subordinated Notes Warrants generally may be able to be resold without registration under Blue Sky Laws pursuant to various exemptions provided by such laws; however, the availability of such exemptions cannot be known unless individual Blue Sky Laws are examined. Therefore, recipients of the New

Common Stock, General Unsecured Warrants and Subordinated Notes Warrants wishing to resell their securities are advised to consult with their own legal advisors as to the availability of any such exemption from registration under state Blue Sky Laws in any given instance and as to any applicable requirements or conditions to such availability.

If the issuance of the New Common Stock, General Unsecured Warrants and Subordinated Notes Warrants is not covered by Bankruptcy Code section 1145, such securities will be considered "restricted securities" as defined by Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act ("Rule 144") and may be resold under the Securities Act or applicable Blue Sky Laws only pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or an applicable exemption from registration, including Rule 144. Recipients of the New Common Stock, General Unsecured Warrants and Subordinated Notes Warrants are advised to consult with their own legal advisors as to the applicability of Bankruptcy Code section 1145 to the New Common Stock, General Unsecured Warrants and Subordinated Notes Warrants and the availability of any exemption from registration under the Securities Act and Blue Sky Laws in the event that Bankruptcy Code section 1145 is not applicable to such recipients' New Common Stock, General Unsecured Warrants or Subordinated Notes Warrants.

2. Resale of New Common Stock; Definition of Underwriter

Bankruptcy Code section 1145(b)(1) defines an "underwriter" as one who, except with respect to "ordinary trading transactions" of an entity that is not an "issuer," (i) purchases a claim against, interest in, or claim for an administrative expense in the case concerning, a debtor, if such purchase is with a view to distribution of any security received or to be received in exchange for such claim or interest; or (ii) offers to sell securities offered or sold under a plan for the Holders of such securities; or (iii) offers to buy securities offered or sold under a plan from the Holders of such securities, if such offer to buy is with a view to distribution of such securities and under an agreement made in connection with the plan, with the consummation of the plan, or with the offer or sale of securities under the plan; or (iv) is an "issuer" of the securities within the meaning of section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act.

The definition of an "issuer" for purposes of whether a Person is an underwriter under Bankruptcy Code section 1145(b)(1)(D), by reference to section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, includes

any person who has purchased from an issuer with a view to, or offers or sells for an issuer in connection with, the distribution of any security, or participates or has a direct or indirect participation in any such undertaking, or participates or has a participation in the direct or indirect underwriting of any such undertaking; but such term shall not include a person whose interest is limited to a commission from an underwriter or dealer not in excess of the usual and customary distributors' or sellers' commission. As used in this paragraph the term "issuer" shall include, in addition to an issuer, any person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by the issuer, or any person under direct or indirect common control with the issuer.

"Control," as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise. Accordingly, an officer or director of a reorganized debtor or its successor under a plan of reorganization may be deemed to "control" of such debtor or successor, particularly if coupled with ownership of a significant percentage of the reorganized debtor's or its successor's voting securities.

Resales of the New Common Stock by Persons deemed to be "underwriters" (which definition includes "controlling Persons") are not exempted by Bankruptcy Code section 1145 from registration under the Securities Act or other applicable law. Under certain circumstances, Holders of New Common Stock who are deemed to be "underwriters" may be entitled to resell their New Common Stock pursuant to the limited safe harbor resale provisions of Rule 144. Generally, Rule 144 would permit the public sale of securities received by persons who are "affiliates" if current information regarding the issuer is publicly available and if volume limitations, manner of sale requirements and certain other conditions are met. For the purpose of Rule 144, an "affiliate of an issuer" is "a person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such issuer." Whether any particular Person would be deemed to be an "affiliate" of the issuer would depend upon various facts and circumstances applicable to that Person. Accordingly, the Debtor expresses no view as to whether any Person would be deemed an "underwriter" or an "affiliate," with respect to the New Common Stock or would be able to utilize the exemption from Securities Act registration provided by Rule 144. In view of the complex nature of the question of whether a particular Person may be an "underwriter," the Debtor makes no representations concerning the right of any Person to freely resell New Common Stock. Accordingly, the Debtor recommends that potential recipients of New Common Stock consult their own counsel concerning their ability to freely trade such securities without compliance with the federal and state securities laws.

ARTICLE X. <u>CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME</u> TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN

The following discussion summarizes certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the implementation of the Plan to the Debtor and the Reorganized Debtor and certain Holders of Claims and Equity Interests. The discussion does not, however, summarize the U.S. federal income tax consequences to such Holders of the ownership and disposition of the New Common Stock and Warrants. Holders of Claims should consult their own tax advisors regarding the consequences of the ownership and disposition of New Common Stock and Warrants.

This discussion is based on the IRC, Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, judicial decisions and published administrative rules, and pronouncements of the IRS, each as in effect on the date hereof. Legislative, judicial, or administrative changes or interpretations enacted or promulgated after the date hereof could alter or modify the discussion set forth below with respect to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Plan. Any such changes or interpretations may be retroactive and could significantly affect the U.S. federal income tax consequences described herein.

This discussion does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences to Holders of Claims who (a) are unimpaired or otherwise entitled to payment in full in Cash on the Effective Date under the Plan or (b) are otherwise not entitled to vote under the Plan. The discussion also assumes that each holder of a Claim holds only Claims in a single class, each Holder of a Claim holds such Claims only as "capital assets" within the meaning of the IRC, none of the Claims has "original issue discount" ("OID") within the meaning of the IRC, and the various debt and other arrangements to which the Debtor and the Reorganized Debtor are or will be parties will be respected for U.S. federal income tax purposes in accordance with their form.

The U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Plan are complex and are subject to substantial uncertainties. The Debtor has not requested and does not expect to request a ruling from the IRS or an opinion of counsel with respect to any of the tax aspects of the Plan, and the discussion set forth below of certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Plan is not binding upon the IRS. Thus, no assurance can be given that the IRS would not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a position different from any discussed herein, resulting in U.S. federal income tax consequences to the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, and/or Holders of Claims that are substantially different from those discussed herein. The Debtor has not requested, and does not expect to request, an opinion of counsel with respect to any of the tax aspects of the Plan, and no opinion is given by this Disclosure Statement.

This discussion does not apply to a Holder of a Claim that is not a "United States person," as such term is defined in the IRC. Moreover, this discussion does not address U.S. federal taxes other than income taxes nor any state, local or non-U.S. tax consequences of the Plan, nor does it purport to address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to United States persons in light of their individual circumstances or to United States persons that may be subject to special tax rules, such as persons who are related to the Debtor within the meaning of the IRC, broker-dealers, banks, mutual funds, insurance companies, financial institutions, small business investment companies, regulated investment companies, tax-exempt organizations, pass-through entities, beneficial owners of pass-through entities, subchapter S corporations, employees of the Debtor, persons who received their Claims as compensation, persons who hold Claims or Equity Interests or who will hold the New Common Stock or Warrants as part of a straddle, hedge, conversion transaction, or other integrated investment, persons using a mark to market method of accounting, and Holders of Claims who are themselves in bankruptcy. If a partnership or entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds Claims, the tax treatment of a partner generally will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership.

THE FOLLOWING SUMMARY OF CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT A SUBSTITUTE FOR CAREFUL TAX PLANNING AND ADVICE BASED UPON THE INDIVIDUAL CIRCUMSTANCES PERTAINING TO A HOLDER OF A CLAIM. ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, NON-U.S. INCOME, ESTATE, GIFT, AND OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN.

IRS CIRCULAR 230 DISCLOSURE: ANY TAX ADVICE CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT (INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS) IS NOT INTENDED

OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE USED, BY ANY TAXPAYER FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING TAX-RELATED PENALTIES UNDER THE TAX CODE. TAX ADVICE CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT (INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS) IS WRITTEN IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROMOTION OR MARKETING OF THE TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS ADDRESSED BY THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT. EACH TAXPAYER SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON THE TAXPAYER'S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR

A. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtor

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Debtor is the common parent of the Ambac Consolidated Group. For federal income tax purposes, the Ambac Consolidated Group's estimated NOL and capital loss carryforwards as of March 31, 2011, were approximately \$7.2 billion. The amount of these NOLs and other losses remains subject to audit and adjustment by the IRS. For a further discussion of the ongoing tax controversy, please see the discussion contained in Article III.

As discussed below, it is anticipated that a substantial portion of the losses and other tax attributes of the Ambac Consolidated Group will be utilized or eliminated in connection with the implementation of the Plan. It is further anticipated that the use of remaining losses by the Ambac Consolidated Group to offset future taxable income may be subject to significant limitation. In addition, the tax basis of the assets and certain other tax attributes held by certain members of the Ambac Consolidated Group may be reduced in connection with implementation of the Plan.

There also may be other U.S. federal income tax consequences to the Reorganized Debtor as a result of certain restructuring transactions.

1. Cancellation of Indebtedness Income

As a result of the Plan, the Debtor's existing indebtedness will be eliminated.

Generally, a corporation will recognize CODI upon satisfaction of its outstanding indebtedness for total consideration less than the amount of such indebtedness. A corporation will not, however, be required to include any amount of CODI in gross income if the corporation is a debtor under the jurisdiction of a court in a case under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code and the discharge of debt occurs pursuant to that proceeding (the "108(a) Bankruptcy Exception"). Instead, as a consequence of such exclusion, the debtor must reduce its tax attributes by the amount of CODI excluded from gross income. In general, tax attributes are reduced in the following order: (a) NOLs, (b) general business and minimum tax credit carryforwards, (c) capital loss carryforwards, (d) the basis of the debtor's assets, and (e) foreign tax credit carryforwards.

If a debtor with excluded CODI is a member of a consolidated group, Treasury Regulations address the application of the rules for the reduction of tax attributes (the "Consolidated Attribute Reduction Rules"). The Consolidated Attribute Reduction Rules generally provide that the tax attributes attributable to the member with excluded CODI are

reduced first, including the member's tax basis in its assets (which includes the stock of subsidiaries). If the member reduces its basis in the stock of a subsidiary that is a member of the consolidated group, corresponding reductions must be made to the subsidiary's tax attributes, including the subsidiary's basis in its assets. Generally, any required attribute reduction takes place after the consolidated group has determined its taxable income (or loss) for the taxable year in which the CODI is incurred.

The Debtor expects to incur significant CODI as a result of the Plan. The amount of CODI will depend on, among other things, the fair market value of the New Common Stock and Warrants, which may not be determined until after the Effective Date of the Plan. Pursuant to the 108(a) Bankruptcy Exception, the Debtor will not include its CODI in gross income. Instead, the Debtor will be required to reduce its tax attributes in accordance with the Consolidated Attribute Reduction Rules after determining the taxable income (or loss) of the Ambac Consolidated Group for the taxable year of discharge.

Under the Consolidated Attribute Reduction Rules, the Debtor's excluded CODI will be applied to reduce its NOLs and, if necessary, other tax attributes, including the Debtor's tax basis in its assets. To the extent that the amount of excluded CODI results in a reduction in the basis of the stock of members of the Ambac Consolidated Group, the Consolidated Attribute Reduction Rules require these members to reduce their tax attributes accordingly, including, among other things, such members' NOLs, capital losses, credits, and tax basis in their assets.

The extent to which NOLs and other tax attributes remain following the application of the Consolidated Attribute Reduction Rules will depend on a number of factors, including the amount of CODI.

2. <u>Annual Section 382 Limitation on Use of NOLs and "Built-In" Losses and Deductions</u>

(i) Limitation on NOLs and Other Tax Attributes

Under IRC section 382, if a "loss corporation" (generally, a corporation with NOLs and/or built-in losses) undergoes an "ownership change," the amount of its pre-ownership change NOLs (the "<u>Pre-Change Losses</u>") that may be utilized to offset future taxable income generally is subject to an annual limitation (the "<u>Annual Section 382 Limitation</u>"). Similar rules apply to the corporation's capital loss carryforwards and tax credits.

The Debtor's issuance of New Common Stock pursuant to the Plan is expected to result in an ownership change for purposes of IRC section 382. Accordingly, subject to the discussion below of certain special bankruptcy exceptions, the Ambac Consolidated Group's Pre-Change Losses may be subject to the Annual Section 382 Limitation. This limitation applies in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other limitation that may already or in the future be in effect and the attribute reduction that may result from CODI.

(ii) General Section 382 Limitation

In general, the amount of the Annual Section 382 Limitation is equal to the product of (1) the fair market value of the stock of the loss corporation (or, in the case of a consolidated group,

generally the stock of the common parent) immediately before the ownership change (with certain adjustments) and (2) the "long-term tax-exempt rate" in effect for the month in which the ownership change occurs, which is generally defined as the highest rate in effect during the three months prior to and including the month in which the ownership change occurs (for example, 4.30% for an ownership change that occurs during July 2011). For a corporation (or consolidated group) in bankruptcy that undergoes an ownership change pursuant to a confirmed bankruptcy plan of reorganization, the stock value generally is determined immediately after (rather than before) the ownership change.

Any unused portion of the Annual Section 382 Limitation generally may be carried forward, thereby increasing the Annual Section 382 Limitation in the subsequent taxable year. However, unless a corporation qualifies for certain bankruptcy exceptions discussed below, if the corporation (or consolidated group) does not continue its historic business or use a significant portion of its assets in a business for two years after the ownership change, the Annual Section 382 Limitation is reduced to zero. In addition, if a redemption or other corporate contraction occurs in connection with the ownership change of the loss corporation (or consolidated group), or if the loss corporation (or consolidated group) has substantial nonbusiness assets, the Annual Section 382 Limitation is reduced to take the redemption, other corporate contraction, or nonbusiness assets into account. Furthermore, if the corporation (or consolidated group) undergoes a second ownership change, the second ownership change may result in a lesser (but never a greater) Annual Section 382 Limitation with respect to any losses that existed at the time of the first ownership change.

(iii) Built-in Gains and Losses

If a loss corporation (or consolidated group) has a "net unrealized built-in loss" at the time of the ownership change, then any built-in losses or deductions recognized during the following five years (up to the amount of the original net unrealized built-in loss) generally will be treated as a Pre-Change Loss subject to the Annual Section 382 Limitation. Conversely, if the loss corporation (or consolidated group) has a "net unrealized built-in gain" at the time of the ownership change, then any built-in gains recognized during the following five years (up to the amount of the original net unrealized built-in gain) will increase the Annual Section 382 Limitation in the year recognized.

(iv) Special Bankruptcy Exceptions

As discussed above in conjunction with the Trading Order, the L5 Exception, pursuant to IRC section 382(1)(5), provides an exception to the application of the Annual Section 382 Limitation when a corporation is under the jurisdiction of a bankruptcy court in a title 11 case. The L5 Exception generally applies where (1) shareholders of a debtor immediately before an ownership change and (2) qualified creditors of a debtor (generally, certain long-term creditors, historic trade creditors or creditors receiving less than 5 percent of the stock of the debtor in the title 11 case), in respect of their interests and claims, receive stock with at least 50 percent of the voting power and value of all the stock of the reorganized debtor.

Under the L5 Exception, a debtor's Pre-Change Losses are not limited on an annual basis but, instead, are required to be reduced by the amount of any interest deductions claimed during

the three taxable years preceding the effective date of the reorganization, and during the part of the taxable year before and including the reorganization, in respect of all debt converted into stock in the reorganization. Moreover, if the L5 Exception applies, a second ownership change of the debtor within a two-year period after the bankruptcy plan of reorganization generally will cause the debtor to forfeit all its unused NOLs that were incurred before the second ownership change. If a debtor qualifies for the L5 Exception, the exception applies unless the debtor affirmatively elects for it not to apply.

If a debtor in bankruptcy is not eligible for the L5 Exception or elects out of the exception, a special rule under IRC section 382(l)(6) will apply for purposes of determining the Annual Section 382 Limitation. Under this special rule, the Annual Section 382 Limitation will be calculated by reference to the lesser of (1) the value of the debtor's stock (with certain adjustments) immediately after the ownership change (as opposed to immediately before the ownership change, as described above) or (2) the value of the debtor's assets (determined without regard to liabilities) immediately before the ownership change. Unlike the L5 Exception, there is no reduction for interest deductions claimed under this special rule.

(v) Application of Section 382 to the Debtor

As discussed above, it is expected that the Debtor will undergo an ownership change as a result of the implementation of the Plan. However, the Debtor intends to qualify for the L5 Exception. In connection with the bankruptcy filing, the Bankruptcy Court entered the Trading Order requiring certain claimholders to sell a sufficient amount of Claims such that the claimholder may be presumed to be characterized as a "qualified creditor" of the Debtor. As a result, it is expected that the Debtor, depending upon Holders of Claims, may qualify for the L5 Exception.

Assuming that the Debtor qualifies for the L5 Exception, Ambac's NOLs and other tax attributes should generally not be subject to an Annual Section 382 Limitation. However, under the rules contained in the L5 Exception, the Debtor's Annual Section 382 Limitation will be zero if an ownership change occurs in the two years following the Effective Date of the Plan. Through the Plan, the Debtor will implement the New Charter of Incorporation, including, among other things, a provision restricting transfers of certain equityholders following the Effective Date of the Plan in order to reduce the risk of an ownership change during such two-year period.

The Debtor's ability to qualify for the L5 Exception is not certain. If the Debtor does not qualify for the L5 Exception or if the Debtor affirmatively elects out of the L5 Exception, its Annual Section 382 Limitation should be calculated under the special rule contained in section 382(1)(6). As a result, there is uncertainty with respect to the Annual Section 382 Limitation of the Debtor, and there can be no assurance that the limitation will not be significantly lower than anticipated.

In addition, most of the losses of the Ambac Consolidated Group's NOLs were generated by AAC, which is not under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court. As a result, the applicability of the L5 Exception and the special rule under IRC section 382(l)(6) to AAC's

losses is unclear, but the Debtor believes either exception should apply to all of the Ambac Consolidated Group's NOLs, including those generated by AAC.

Furthermore, if there were an ownership change prior to the Effective Date, the Annual Section 382 Limitation resulting from the implementation of the Plan might result in a lesser (but not a greater) limitation with respect to losses that existed at the time of the first ownership change. The Debtor obtained Court approval of the Trading Order to restrict transfers of equity in an attempt to avoid the occurrence of an ownership change prior to implementation of the Plan. It is possible, however, that such an ownership change has nonetheless occurred, in which case the Section 382 Limitation would be significant lower than anticipated.

3. Alternative Minimum Tax

In general, a federal alternative minimum tax ("<u>AMT</u>") is imposed on a corporation's alternative minimum taxable income ("<u>AMTI</u>") each year at a twenty percent (20%) rate to the extent that such tax exceeds the corporation's regular federal income tax for such year. AMTI is generally equal to regular taxable income with certain adjustments. For purposes of computing AMTI, certain tax deductions and other beneficial allowances are modified or eliminated. In particular, even though a corporation may otherwise be able to offset all of its taxable income for regular tax purposes by available NOLs, only ninety percent (90%) of a corporation's AMTI generally may be offset by available alternative tax NOLs.

In addition, if a corporation or consolidated group undergoes an ownership change within the meaning of IRC section 382 and has a net unrealized built-in loss at the time of such change, the corporation's or consolidated group's aggregate basis in its assets would be reduced for certain AMT purposes to reflect the fair market value of such assets as of the date of the ownership change.

Any AMT that a corporation pays generally will be allowed as a nonrefundable credit against its regular federal income tax liability in future years when the corporation is not subject to the AMT. Any unused credit is carried forward indefinitely.

B. Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to Holders of General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims

Pursuant to the Plan, in full satisfaction and discharge of their Claims, (i) Holders of Senior Notes Claims will receive New Common Stock, (ii) Holders of General Unsecured Claims will receive New Common Stock and the General Unsecured Warrants, and (iii) Holders of Subordinated Notes Claims will receive the Subordinated Notes Warrants and, if the Class votes to accept the Plan, New Common Stock. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a Holder should generally realize gain or loss (if any) equal to the difference between such Holder's amount realized with respect to the exchange of its claim and the Holder's adjusted tax basis in its claim. Subject to the discussion of accrued interest in Section X.C.2.b below, a Holder's amount realized should be equal to the fair market value of the New Common Stock and/or Warrants, if any, received by the Holder.

After the Effective Date, certain Holders may receive New Common Stock and/or Cash from the Disputed Claims Reserve as a result of determinations with respect to Disputed Claims

(a "<u>Disputed Claims Payment</u>"). This discussion generally does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences of a Disputed Claims Payment (although certain consequences relating to the Disputed Claims Reserve are addressed in Section X.D below). A Holder should consult its tax advisor regarding the tax consequences of such a payment. These tax consequences include the treatment of a Disputed Claims Payment in determining the amount realized by the holder with respect to its Allowed Claim, as well as the tax consequences related to the right to receive consideration prospectively, including the amount required to be taken into account with respect to the receipt of the right, the consequences of holding the right, the treatment and characterization of payments received after the Effective Date with respect to the right, and the potential deferral of the recognition of any loss realized with respect to an Allowed Claim until all consideration related to the claim is determined and received.

The recognition of gain realized by a Holder may be affected by the installment method of reporting gain. This discussion assumes that such method either is not available with respect to the Holder's exchange of its Claim or, if available, the Holder elects out of such method. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the availability and application of (and, if available, the election out of) the installment method of reporting gain that may be recognized with respect to their Claims.

As discussed more fully below, the recognition of gain or loss realized by A Holder also may be affected by whether the holder's Allowed Claim constitutes a "security" for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

1. <u>Securities for Tax Purposes</u>

Whether a debt instrument constitutes a "security" for U.S. federal income tax purposes is determined based on all of the facts and circumstances. Certain authorities have held that one factor to be considered is the length of the initial term of the debt instrument. These authorities have held that an initial term of less than five years is evidence that the instrument is not a security; whereas, an initial term of ten years or more is evidence that it is a security. Numerous factors other than the term of an instrument could be taken into account in determining whether a debt instrument is a security, including whether repayment is secured, the degree of subordination of the instrument, the creditworthiness of the obligor, whether the holders have the right to vote or otherwise participate in the management of the obligor, whether the instrument is convertible into an equity interest of the obligor, whether payments of interest are fixed, variable, or contingent, and whether such payments are made on a current basis or are accrued.

Each Holder should consult its tax advisor to determine whether the debt underlying its Allowed Claim constitutes a "security" for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

2. <u>Allowed Claims Constituting Securities</u>

(i) Holders of Senior Notes Claims

If the debt underlying a Holder's Allowed Senior Notes Claim constitutes a security in the Debtor, the exchange of the Allowed Senior Notes Claim may qualify as a recapitalization or other nonrecognition transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes and consequently, a Holder of such an Allowed Claim generally should not recognize gain on the exchange of its

Claim for New Common Stock. A Holder, however, that realizes loss on the exchange would not be permitted to recognize the loss. For a discussion of potential scenarios where gain but not loss may be required to be recognized, please see the discussion below relating to "accrued interest" and "market discount."

A Holder's tax basis in the New Common Stock received in exchange for an Allowed Senior Notes Claim generally should equal the Holder's tax basis in the Allowed Senior Notes Claim immediately prior to the exchange, and a Holder should have a holding period for the New Common Stock that includes the holding period for the Allowed Senior Notes Claim exchanged therefor.

(ii) Holders of General Unsecured Claims and Subordinated Notes Claims

If the debt underlying an Allowed General Unsecured Claim or an Allowed Subordinated Notes Claim is a security in the Debtor, the exchange of the Allowed General Unsecured Claim or Allowed Subordinated Notes Claim may qualify as a recapitalization or other nonrecognition transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In such case, a Holder that realizes a loss on the exchange would not be permitted to recognize the loss. A Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim will receive New Common Stock and General Unsecured Warrants. A Holder of a Subordinated Notes Claim will receive New Common Stock and Subordinated Notes Warrants. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Warrants should qualify as securities and should be treated as having a "principal amount" of zero. As a result, a Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim or an Allowed Subordinated Notes Claim generally should not recognize any gain or loss on the exchange. For a discussion of potential scenarios where gain but not loss may be required to be recognized, please see the discussion below relating to "accrued interest" and "market discount."

Such Holder should obtain a tax basis in the New Common Stock and Warrants it receives in exchange for such claims generally equal to the Holder's tax basis in the Allowed General Unsecured Claim or Allowed Subordinated Notes Claim, as the case may be, immediately prior to the exchange. This tax basis should be allocated among the New Common Stock and the Warrants in proportion to the relative fair market values of such securities received, and a Holder should have a holding period for the New Common Stock and Warrants that includes the holding period for the Allowed Claims exchanged therefor.

3. Allowed Claims Not Constituting Securities

If the debt underlying a Holder's Allowed Claim does not constitute a security, the exchange of the Allowed Claim for the New Common Stock (and Warrants, if any) should be treated as a taxable exchange for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Holder generally should recognize the gain or loss realized on the exchange equal to the difference between (1) the fair market value as of the Effective Date of the New Common Stock and of the Warrants that is not allocable to accrued interest (not previously included in income) with respect to the exchanged Allowed Claim and (2) the Holder's tax basis in the Allowed Claims surrendered by the Holder (other than any tax basis attributable to accrued interest not previously included in income). The character of such recognized gain or loss as capital gain or loss or as ordinary income or loss should depend, among other things, on the application of the market discount rules, and a Holder

may recognize ordinary income to the extent that a portion of the consideration received in exchange for an Allowed Claim is treated as received in satisfaction of accrued but untaxed interest on the Allowed Claim. If recognized gain or loss is capital, it generally would be long-term capital gain or loss if the Holder held its Allowed Claim for more than one year at the time of the exchange. If the Holder is a non-corporate taxpayer, any such long-term capital gain may be taxed at preferential rates. In general, a Holder's basis in the property received (*i.e.*, the New Common Stock and Warrants) should equal the fair market value of such property as of the Effective Date, and a Holder's holding period for the stock or warrants received should begin on the day following the Effective Date. The use of capital losses may be subject to limitation under the IRC.

* * *

Each Holder should consult its tax advisor regarding whether (and the extent to which) the exchange of an Allowed Claim qualifies as a recapitalization or other nonrecognition transaction and, whether or not it so qualifies, the tax consequences to such holder of the exchange of an Allowed Claim for the consideration received by the Holder under the Plan.

C. Market Discount and Accrued Interest

1. <u>Market Discount</u>

The market discount provisions of the IRC may apply to certain Holders. In general, a debt obligation acquired by a Holder in the secondary market is considered to be acquired with market discount as to that holder if its stated redemption price at maturity (or, in the case of a debt obligation having OID, its adjusted issue price) exceeds, by more than a statutory *de minimis* amount, the tax basis of the debt obligation in the holder's hands immediately after its acquisition.

Any gain recognized by a Holder on the exchange of an Allowed Claim that was acquired with market discount should be treated as ordinary income to the extent of the market discount that accrued thereon (unless the holder elected to include market discount in income as it accrued). Holders with accrued market discount with respect to their Allowed Claims should consult their tax advisors as to the application of the market discount rules in view of their specific tax circumstances, particularly in connection with the disposition of any of the New Common Stock or Warrants received pursuant to the Plan.

2. Accrued Interest

A portion of any New Common Stock or Warrants may be treated as received in exchange for interest accrued but untaxed on the Claim. To the extent that any portion of the consideration received by a Holder is attributable to accrued but untaxed interest, the Holder will recognize ordinary income if the Holder has not previously included the accrued interest in income. Conversely, a Holder generally should recognize a loss to the extent any accrued interest was previously included in income and is not paid in full.

A Holder's tax basis in any New Common Stock or Warrants treated as received in exchange for accrued but untaxed interest (if any) generally will be equal to the fair market value

of such New Common Stock or Warrants as of the Effective Date. The holding period of such New Common Stock or Warrants generally will begin on the day following the Effective Date.

The Plan provides that all amounts paid on a Claim that includes both principal and accrued but unpaid interest will be allocated first to the principal amount owing and only to interest to the extent the recovery exceeds the principal. There can be no assurance that the IRS will agree with such treatment. Each Holder should consult its tax advisor regarding the proper allocation of the consideration received under the Plan.

D. Treatment of the Disputed Claims Reserve

The Disputed Claims Reserve is intended to be treated, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as a disputed ownership fund within the meaning of Treasury Regulations section 1.468B-9(b)(1). If so treated, any payment made out of the Disputed Claims Reserve should not be deemed to have been made to any recipient until, and to the extent that, the amount to which the recipient is entitled has been determined and distributed. At such time, the recipient will take such amount into account for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Recipients of amounts from the Disputed Claims Reserve should report consistently with the foregoing and should consult their tax advisors concerning the federal, state, local, and other tax consequences of the receipt of amounts from the Disputed Claims Reserve and the consequences of owning and disposing of New Common Stock received from the Disputed Claims Reserve.

The Disputed Claims Reserve generally will treat a distribution of property in respect of Disputed Claims as a sale or exchange of such property for purposes of IRC section 1001(a). Any income realized by the Disputed Claims Reserve (including with respect to any appreciation in the value of New Common Stock while held by the Disputed Claims Reserve) will be reported by the Disbursing Agent as income of and taxable to the Disputed Claims Reserve.

THE FOREGOING SUMMARY IS PROVIDED FOR GENERAL INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY. HOLDERS OF CLAIMS ARE STRONGLY URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS REGARDING FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND NON-U.S. TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN TO THEM.

ARTICLE XI. Recommendation

In the opinion of the Debtor, because the Plan provides for a larger distribution to the Debtor's creditors than would otherwise result in a liquidation under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Plan is preferable to the alternatives described in this Disclosure Statement. In addition, any alternative other than Confirmation of the Plan could result in extensive delays and increased administrative expenses resulting in smaller Distributions than that which is proposed under the Plan. Accordingly, the Debtor recommends that parties entitled to vote on the Plan support Confirmation of the Plan and vote to accept the Plan.

Respectfully submitted,

Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

By: Diana Adams

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: July 8, 2011

Prepared by:

Peter A. Ivanick Allison H. Weiss DEWEY & LEBOEUF LLP 1301 Avenue of the Americas New York, New York 10019

Tel: (212) 259-8000 Fax: (212) 259-6333

- and -

Todd L. Padnos (admitted *pro hac vice*) DEWEY & LEBOEUF LLP 1950 University Avenue, Suite 500 East Palo Alto, California 94303 Tel: (650) 845-7000

Tel: (650) 845-7000 Fax: (650) 845-7333

Attorneys for the Debtor and Debtor in Possession

EXHIBIT A

Plan of Reorganization

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

-----X

In re

: Chapter 11

AMBAC FINANCIAL GROUP, INC.,

: Case No. 10-15973 (SCC)

Debtor.

:

PLAN OF REORGANIZATION OF AMBAC FINANCIAL GROUP, INC.

Peter A. Ivanick Allison H. Weiss DEWEY & LEBOEUF LLP 1301 Avenue of the Americas New York, New York 10019 Tel: (212) 259-8000

Tel: (212) 259-8000 Fax: (212) 259-6333

- and -

Todd L. Padnos (admitted *pro hac vice*) DEWEY & LEBOEUF LLP 1950 University Avenue, Suite 500 East Palo Alto, California 94303

Tel: (650) 845-7000 Fax: (650) 845-7333

Attorneys for the Debtor and Debtor in Possession

Dated: July 6, 2011

New York, New York

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I. 1	DEFINED TERMS, RULES OF CONSTRUCTION, COMPUTATION OF TI	ME,
AND GOVER	RNING LAW	1
A.	Defined Terms	1
B.	Rules of Construction	16
C.	Computation of Time	17
D.	Governing Law	17
E.	Reference to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor	17
ARTICLE II.	ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS, ACCRUED PROFESSIONAL	
	TION CLAIMS, PRIORITY TAX CLAIMS, U.S. TRUSTEE FEES, AND	
	E TRUSTEE FEES	17
A.	Administrative Claims	17
B.	Administrative Claims Bar Date	18
C.	Accrued Professional Compensation	18
D.	Priority Tax Claims	18
E.	U.S. Trustee Fees	19
F.	Indenture Trustee Fees and Informal Group Fees	19
ARTICLE III	. CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND EQUITY	
		19
A.	Summary of Classification of Claims and Equity Interests	19
B.	Treatment of Claims and Equity Interests	
	1. Class 1 – Priority Non-Tax Claims	20
	2. Class 2 – Secured Claims	20
	3. Class 3 – General Unsecured Claims	21
	4. Class 4 – Senior Notes Claims	21
	5. Class 5 – Subordinated Notes Claims	
	6. Class 6 – Section 510(b) Claims	23
	7. Class 7 – Intercompany Claims	23
	8. Class 8 – Equity Interests	23
C.	Subordinated Claims	
D.	Confirmation Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1129(b)	24
E.	Elimination of Vacant Classes	24
F.	Controversy Concerning Impairment	24
ARTICLE IV	. MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN	24
A.	Sources of Consideration for Monetary Plan Distributions	24
B.	New Organizational Documents	25
C.	Continued Corporate Existence	25
D.	Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtor	25
E.	New Common Stock	25
F.	Section 1145 Exemption	25
G.	Cancellation of Securities and Indentures.	26
H.	Plan Settlement	
	Consequences of Acceptance by OCI and AAC of the Plan Settlement	26

	2. Consequences of Rejection by OCI and AAC of the Plan Settlement	26
I.	Directors and Officers of the Reorganized Debtor	27
J.	Corporate Action	27
K	Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions	28
L	Exemption from Certain Taxes and Fees	
M	Litigation Trust	
ARTICLE V.	TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEAS	ES
		28
A.	Assumption or Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	28
B.	Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	29
C.	Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	29
D.	Nonoccurrence of Effective Date	30
ARTICLE VI.	PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS	30
A.	Record Date for Distributions	
В.	Timing and Calculation of Amounts to be Distributed	
C.	Disbursing Agent	
D.	Rights and Powers of Disbursing Agent	
	1. Powers of the Disbursing Agent	
	2. Expenses Incurred On or After the Effective Date	
E.	Delivery of Distributions and Undeliverable or Unclaimed Distributions	
	1. Delivery of Distributions	
	2. Minimum; De Minimis Distributions	
	3. Undeliverable Distributions and Unclaimed Property	
	(i) Failure to Claim Undeliverable Distributions	
	(ii) Failure to Present Checks	
F.	Compliance with Tax Requirements	
G.	Allocations	
Н.	Setoffs and Recoupment	
I.	Claims Paid or Payable by Third Parties	
1.	1. Claims Paid by Third Parties	
	2. Claims Payable by Third Parties	
	2. Claims I ayable by Timu I arties	55
	I. PROCEDURES FOR RESOLVING CONTINGENT, UNLIQUIDATED, A	
DISPUTED C		
A.	Resolution of Disputed Claims	
	2. No Distribution Pending Allowance	
	3. Disputed Claims Reserve	
	4. Prosecution of Objections to Claims	
	5. Claims Estimation	
	6. Expungement or Adjustment of Claims Without Objection	
	7. Deadline to File Claims Objections	
B.	Disallowance of Claims	
C.	Amendments to Claims	36

ARTICLE '	VIII. SETTLEMENT, RELEASE, INJUNCTION, AND RELATED PROVISION	ONS
Α.	Discharge of Claims and Termination of Equity Interests	36
В.	Injunction	
C.	Exculpation	
D.	General Releases by the Debtor	
E.	General Releases by Holders of Claims and Equity Interests	37
F.	Releases Required Pursuant to the Stipulation of Settlement	
G.	Release of Liens	39
ARTICLE 1	X. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CONFIRMATION AND CONSUMMA	TION
OF THE PL	AN	39
A.	Conditions Precedent to Confirmation.	39
B.	Conditions Precedent to Consummation	39
C.	Waiver of Conditions	40
D.	Effect of Nonoccurrence of Conditions	40
ARTICLE	X. MODIFICATION, REVOCATION, OR WITHDRAWAL OF THE PLAN	41
A.	Modification and Amendments	
В.	Effect of Confirmation on Modifications	
C.	Revocation or Withdrawal of the Plan	
ARTICLE 2	XI. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION	41
ARTICLE	XII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	44
A.	Immediate Binding Effect	
В.	Additional Documents	
C.	Payment of Statutory Fees	
D.	Dissolution of Committee	
E.	Reservation of Rights	
F.	Successors and Assigns	
G.	Service of Documents	
H.	Further Assurances	
I.	Term of Injunctions or Stays	
J.	Entire Agreement	
K.	Exhibits and Related Documents	
L.	Severability of Plan Provisions	
M.	Closing of Chapter 11 Case	
N.	Waiver or Estoppel Conflicts	47
0	Conflicts	47

EXHIBITS (TO BE PROVIDED)

Exhibit A: Cost Allocation Agreement

Exhibit B: General Unsecured Warrant Agreement

Exhibit C: Litigation Trust Agreement Exhibit D: Reorganized AFG By-laws

Exhibit E: Reorganized AFG Certificate of Incorporation

Exhibit F: Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Exhibit G: Subordinated Notes Warrant Agreement

Exhibit H: TSA Agreement A Exhibit I: TSA Amendment B Exhibit J: TSA Amendment C

INTRODUCTION

Ambac Financial Group, Inc. (the "<u>Debtor</u>") respectfully proposes the following chapter 11 plan of reorganization (as amended, supplemented, or modified, the "<u>Plan</u>"). Capitalized terms used in the Plan and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in Article I of the Plan.

ARTICLE I.

DEFINED TERMS, RULES OF CONSTRUCTION, COMPUTATION OF TIME, AND GOVERNING LAW

A. Defined Terms

- 1. "5.875% <u>Debentures Due 2103</u>" means those certain 5.875% debentures due on March 24, 2103 and issued pursuant to the 2001 Indenture.
- 2. "<u>5.95% Debentures Due 2035</u>" means those certain 5.95% debentures due on December 5, 2035 and issued pursuant to the 2003 Indenture.
- 3. "5.95% Debentures Due 2103" means those certain 5.95% debentures due on February 28, 2103 and issued pursuant to the 2001 Indenture.
- 4. "7-1/2% Debentures Due 2023" means those certain 7-1/2% debentures due on May 1, 2023 and issued pursuant to the 1991 Indenture.
- 5. "9-3/8% <u>Debentures Due 2011</u>" means those certain 9-3/8% debentures due on August 1, 2011 and issued pursuant to the 1991 Indenture.
- 6. "9.50% Senior Notes Due 2021" means those certain 9.50% senior notes due on February 15, 2021 and issued pursuant to the 2008 Indenture.
- 7. "1991 Indenture" means that certain Indenture, dated as of August 1, 1991, between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon, as successor indenture trustee to The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association).
- 8. "2001 Indenture" means that certain Indenture, dated as of August 24, 2001, between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon, as successor indenture trustee to The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association).
- 9. "2003 Indenture" means that certain Indenture, dated as of April 22, 2003, between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon, as successor indenture trustee to JPMorgan Chase Bank.
- 10. "2008 Indenture" means that certain Indenture, dated as of February 15, 2006 between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon, as successor in interest to The Bank of New York, as supplemented by the Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 12, 2008, between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon, as successor in interest to The Bank of

New York, together with the Purchase Contract Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2008, between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon, as successor in interest to The Bank of New York, and the Pledge Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2008, between the Debtor and The Bank of New York Mellon, as successor in interest to The Bank of New York.

- 11. "AAC" means Ambac Assurance Corporation.
- 12. "<u>Accrued Professional Compensation</u>" means all Claims for accrued fees and expenses for services rendered by a Professional through and including the Confirmation Date, to the extent such fees and expenses have not been paid pursuant to the Interim Compensation Order or any other order of the Bankruptcy Court and regardless of whether a fee application has been Filed for such fees and expenses.
- 13. "Administrative Claim" means a Claim for costs and expenses of administration pursuant to Bankruptcy Code sections 503(b), 507(b), or 1114(e)(2), including, without limitation, (i) the actual and necessary costs and expenses incurred after the Commencement Date of preserving the Estate and operating the Debtor's business; (ii) all fees and charges assessed against the Estate pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930; and (iii) all requests for compensation or expense reimbursement for making a substantial contribution in the Chapter 11 Case pursuant to Bankruptcy Code sections 503(b)(3)-(5).
- 14. "<u>Affiliate</u>" means an "affiliate" as such term is defined in Bankruptcy Code section 101(2). For the avoidance of doubt, Affiliate includes AAC.
- 15. "<u>AFG Prime</u>" means a limited liability company to which more than 20% of the Reorganized Debtor's stock in AAC or economic rights in more than 20% of its stock in AAC may be transferred pursuant to Article IV.H.2 of the Plan
- of which has been timely Filed by the applicable Claims Bar Date; (ii) any Claim that is listed in the Schedules, as such Schedules may be amended by the Debtor from time to time in accordance with Bankruptcy Rule 1009, as liquidated in amount and not disputed or contingent, and with respect to which no contrary Proof of Claim has been timely Filed; (iii) any Claim Allowed pursuant to the Plan or a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court; *provided*, *however*, that with respect to any Claim described in clauses (i) and (ii) above, such Claim shall be considered Allowed only if and to the extent that no objection to the allowance thereof has been interposed within the applicable period fixed by the Plan, the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, or by a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court. Any Claim that has been or is hereafter listed in the Schedules as contingent, unliquidated, or disputed, and for which no Proof of Claim is or has been timely Filed, is not considered Allowed and shall be expunged without further action by the Debtor and without further notice to any party or action, approval, or order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 17. "Ambac Entities," as defined in the Stipulation of Settlement, means the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, and any and all of their current and former parents, Affiliates, subsidiaries, predecessors, successors, heirs, estates, administrators, and legal Representatives.

- 18. "Avoidance Actions" means any and all avoidance, recovery, subordination, or other actions or remedies that may be brought on behalf of the Debtor or its Estate under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable non-bankruptcy law, including, without limitation, actions or remedies under Bankruptcy Code sections 510, 542, 543, 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, 550, 551, 552, and 553.
 - 19. "Bankruptcy Code" means title 11 of the United States Code.
- 20. "<u>Bankruptcy Court</u>" means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York or any other court having jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Case.
- 21. "Bankruptcy Rules" means the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, as applicable to the Chapter 11 Case, promulgated under 28 U.S.C. § 2075 and the general, local, and chambers rules of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 22. "Bar Date Order" means the *Order Pursuant to Sections 105(a) and 501 of the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rules 2002 and 3003, and Local Rule 3003-1 (i) Establishing Deadlines for Filing Proofs of Claim and Requests for Payment and (ii) Approving the Form and Manner of Notice Thereof, entered by the Bankruptcy Court on January 19, 2011 [Docket No. 127], as amended, supplemented, or modified.*
- 23. "Beneficial Interest" means any ownership interest or share in an Entity or Person, including, without limitation, options, warrants, rights, or other securities or agreements to acquire such interest or share in such Entity or Person, whether or not transferrable, preferred, common, or voting and whether or not arising under or in connection with any employment agreement.
- 24. "Business Day" means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday, or "legal holiday" (as defined in Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a)).
- 25. "<u>Cash</u>" means legal tender of the United States of America or the equivalent thereof.
 - 26. "Cash Grant" means Cash in the amount of \$30 million.
- 27. "Cause of Action" means any Claim, cause of action (including Avoidance Actions), controversy, right of setoff, cross claim, counterclaim, or recoupment and any Claim on contracts or for breaches of duties imposed by law or in equity, demand, right, action, Lien, indemnity, guaranty, suit, obligation, liability, damage, judgment, account, defense, power, privilege, license, and franchise of any kind or character whatsoever, whether known or unknown, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, suspected or unsuspected, liquidated or unliquidated, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, assertable directly or derivatively, whether arising before, on, or after the Commencement Date, in contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or pursuant to any other theory of law.
- 28. "<u>CDS Settlement Agreement</u>" means the settlement agreement among AAC, Ambac Credit Products, LLC, the Debtor, and certain credit default swap contract counterparties, dated as of June 7, 2010, pursuant to which, in exchange for the termination of certain commuted

- obligations, AAC paid to such counterparties \$2,600,000,000 in Cash and \$2,000,000,000 of surplus notes of AAC that have a scheduled maturity of June 7, 2020.
- 29. "<u>Chapter 11 Case</u>" means the case Filed by the Debtor in the Bankruptcy Court under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, as referenced by Case No. 10-15973 (SCC).
- 30. "<u>Chief Executive Officer</u>" means, effective July 7, 2011, Diana Adams, the Debtor's President and Chief Executive Officer.
- 31. "Claim" means a "claim" as such term is defined in Bankruptcy Code section 101(5).
- 32. "Claims Bar Date" means the deadline by which a Proof of Claim must be or must have been Filed, as established by the Bar Date Order or the Plan, or with respect to Proofs of Claim for certain former officers and directors of the Debtor, August 1, 2011, or such date as further extended pursuant to the *Order Extending the Deadline For Filing Proofs of Claim For Certain Former Officers And/Or Directors of the Debtor* [Docket No. 196].
- 33. "<u>Claims Objection Bar Date</u>" means the date that is 90 days after the Effective Date, or such later date as may be fixed by order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 34. "<u>Claims Register</u>" means the official register of Claims maintained by Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC, in its capacity as the Debtor's notice and claims agent.
- 35. "<u>Class</u>" means a category of Holders of Claims or Equity Interests established pursuant to Article III of the Plan.
- 36. "<u>Class Period</u>" means, with respect to the Securities Actions, the period from October 19, 2005 through and including July 18, 2009.
 - 37. "Commencement Date" means November 8, 2010.
 - 38. "Committee" means the Statutory Committee of Creditors in the Chapter 11 Case.
- 39. "<u>Confirmation</u>" means the entry on the docket of the Chapter 11 Case of the Confirmation Order.
- 40. "<u>Confirmation Date</u>" means the date upon which the Bankruptcy Court enters on the docket of the Chapter 11 Case the Confirmation Order.
- 41. "<u>Confirmation Hearing</u>" means the hearing before the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1128 to consider confirmation of the Plan, as the same may be continued from time to time.
- 42. "<u>Confirmation Order</u>" means the order pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Court confirming the Plan, as amended, supplemented, or modified.
 - 43. "Consummation" means the occurrence of the Effective Date.

- 44. "Cost Allocation Agreement" means an agreement among the Debtor, AAC, and their Affiliates other than Ambac Assurance UK Limited, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
- 45. "<u>Cure Claim</u>" means a Claim based upon a monetary default, if any, by the Debtor on an executory contract or unexpired lease at the time such contract or lease is assumed by the Debtor pursuant to Bankruptcy Code sections 365 or 1123.
- 46. "<u>D&O Insurers</u>" means the Debtor's director and officer liability insurance carriers which are or become parties to the Insurer Agreement.
 - 47. "Debtor" means Ambac Financial Group, Inc.
- 48. "<u>Deconsolidation Event</u>" means any event that results in neither AAC nor any entity that, pursuant to IRC section 381, succeeds to the tax attributes of AAC described in IRC section 381(b) being characterized as an includible corporation with the affiliated group of corporations of which the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or any successor thereto is the common parent, all within the meaning of IRC section 1504.
- 49. "Derivative Actions" means *In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Derivative Litigation*, No. 08-cv-854-SHS (S.D.N.Y.), *In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Shareholder Derivative Litigation*, C.A. No. 3521-VCL (Del. Ch.), *In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Shareholder Derivative Litigation*, No. 650050/2008E (N.Y. Supp.), and/or any of the individual actions included therein or any of them.
- 50. "<u>Disbursing Agent</u>" means the Reorganized Debtor or the Entity or Entities chosen by the Reorganized Debtor to make or facilitate distributions pursuant to the Plan.
- 51. "<u>Disclosure Statement</u>" means the *Disclosure Statement for Debtor's Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code*, as amended, supplemented, or modified in accordance with the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules.
 - 52. "<u>Disputed Claim</u>" means any Claim that is not yet Allowed.
- 53. "<u>Disputed Claims Reserve</u>" means a reserve of Cash and/or New Common Stock, to be created by the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, for the payment of Disputed Claims that become Allowed Claims after the Effective Date according to the procedures set forth in Article VII.A.3 of the Plan.
- 54. "<u>Distribution Record Date</u>" means the date that the Confirmation Order is entered by the Bankruptcy Court and shall be the date for determining which Holders of Allowed Claims are entitled to receive distributions under the Plan.
- 55. "<u>District Court</u>" means the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York or any other court having jurisdiction over the Securities Actions.

- 56. "<u>Effective Date</u>" means the first Business Day after the Confirmation Date on which no stay of the Confirmation Order is in effect and all of the conditions specified in Article IX.B of the Plan have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Article IX.C of the Plan.
- 57. "<u>Entity</u>" means an "entity" as such term is defined in Bankruptcy Code section 101(15).
- 58. "Equity Interest" means any ownership interest or share in the Debtor, including, without limitation, options, warrants, rights, or other securities or agreements to acquire such interest or share in the Debtor, whether or not transferrable, preferred, common, or voting and whether or not arising under or in connection with any employment agreement.
- 59. "<u>Estate</u>" means the estate of the Debtor created on the Commencement Date pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 541.
- 60. "<u>File</u>" or "<u>Filed</u>" means file, filed, or filing with the Bankruptcy Court or its authorized designee in the Chapter 11 Case.
- 61. "Final Order" means an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court or other court of competent jurisdiction with respect to the relevant subject matter, which has not been reversed, stayed, modified, or amended, and as to which the time to appeal, petition for certiorari, or move for reargument or rehearing has expired and no appeal or petition for certiorari or motion for reargument or rehearing has been timely taken, or as to which any appeal that has been taken or any petition for certiorari or motion for reargument or rehearing that has been or may be Filed has been resolved by the highest court to which the order or judgment was appealed or from which certiorari was sought; *provided*, *however*, that the possibility that a motion under Rule 60 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or any analogous Bankruptcy Rule may be Filed relating to such order shall not prevent such order from being a Final Order.
- 62. "General Unsecured Claim" means any Claim against the Debtor that is not an Administrative Claim, a Priority Tax Claim, a Claim for Accrued Professional Compensation, a Claim for Indenture Trustee Fees, a Claim for U.S. Trustee Fees, a Priority Non-Tax Claim, a Secured Claim, a Senior Notes Claim, a Subordinated Notes Claim, a Section 510(b) Claim, an Intercompany Claim, or a Claim included in any other Class under the Plan.
- 63. "General Unsecured Warrant Agreement" means the agreement, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.
- 64. "General Unsecured Warrants" means warrants, to be issued to the Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims pursuant to the terms of the General Unsecured Warrant Agreement, to acquire an amount of New Common Stock such that, in the aggregate, the amount of New Common Stock received by Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims shall not be diluted by the exercise of the Subordinated Notes Warrants, with an expiration date of the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date and an exercise price based on an implied total equity value for the Reorganized Debtor of \$750,000,000.
- 65. "Governmental Unit" means "governmental unit" as such term is defined in Bankruptcy Code section 101(27).

- 66. "Holder" means any Entity or Person holding a Claim or Equity Interest.
- 67. "<u>Impaired</u>" means, with respect to a Class of Claims or Equity Interests, a Class of Claims or Equity Interests that is not Unimpaired.
- 68. "<u>Indenture Trustee Fees</u>" means the reasonable and documented fees and expenses, including, without limitation, professional fees and expenses, of each Indenture Trustee incurred pursuant to the respective Indentures after the Commencement Date in connection with carrying out its duties as provided for under the applicable Indenture, service on the Committee, and making distributions under the Plan.
- 69. "<u>Indenture Trustees</u>" means the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee and the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee.
- 70. "<u>Indentures</u>" means the 1991 Indenture, the 2001 Indenture, the 2003 Indenture, the 2008 Indenture, and the Junior Subordinated Indenture.
- 71. "Individual Defendants" means Michael A. Callen, Jill M. Considine, Robert J. Genader, W. Grant Gregory, Philip B. Lassiter, Sean T. Leonard, Thomas C. Theobald, John W. Uhlein, III, Laura S. Unger, Henry D.G. Wallace, David W. Wallis, Gregg L. Bienstock, Kevin J. Doyle, Philip Duff, Thomas J. Gandolfo, Kathleen McDonough, William T. McKinnon, Douglas C. Renfield-Miller, and Robert G. Shoback.
- 72. "<u>Informal Group</u>" means that certain ad hoc group of unaffiliated holders of Senior Notes represented by Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP.
- 73. "<u>Informal Group Fees</u>" means the reasonable and documented fees and expenses, including, without limitation, professional fees and expenses, of the Informal Group incurred after the Commencement Date.
- 74. "Insurer Agreement" means the agreement contemplated by the Stipulation of Settlement, dated as of May 4, 2011, among the Debtor, the Individual Defendants, and the D&O Insurers.
 - 75. "Intercompany Claim" means any Claim held by any Affiliate against the Debtor.
- 76. "Interim Compensation Order" means the Order Pursuant to Sections 105(a) and 331 of the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rule 2016, and Local Rule 2016-1 Establishing Procedures for Interim Monthly Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses of Professionals, entered by the Bankruptcy Court on December 21, 2010 [Docket No. 81], as amended, supplemented, or modified.
 - 77. "IRC" means title 26 of the United States Code.
 - 78. "IRS" means the Department of the Treasury Internal Revenue Service.
- 79. "IRS Adversary Proceeding" means the adversary proceeding in the Chapter 11 Case captioned *Ambac Financial Group, Inc. and The Official Committee of Unsecured*

Creditors v. United States of America, Adv. Pro. No. 10-4210 (SCC) and any and all actions or proceedings relating thereto.

- 80. "<u>IRS Claims</u>" means any and all Proofs of Claim Filed by the IRS in the Chapter 11 Case, including Proof of Claim Nos. 3694 and 3699.
- 81. "<u>IRS Dispute</u>" means any and all litigation arising from or relating to the IRS Claims or the IRS Adversary Proceeding.
- 82. "Junior Subordinated Indenture" means that certain Junior Subordinated Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2007, between the Debtor and Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, as successor indenture trustee to The Bank of New York Mellon, as supplemented by a First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2007, between the Debtor and Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, as successor indenture trustee to The Bank of New York Mellon.
- 83. "Junior Surplus Notes" means the 5.1% unsecured notes issued by the Segregated Account in accordance with the Rehabilitation Plan and scheduled to mature on June 7, 2020. For the avoidance of doubt, the terms of the Junior Surplus Notes transferred to the Reorganized Debtor, if any, shall be no less favorable than those extended to any other recipient of such notes.
- 84. "<u>Lien</u>" means a "lien" as such term is defined in Bankruptcy Code section 101(37).
- 85. "<u>Litigation Trust</u>" means the trust to be established in accordance with the Litigation Trust Agreement on the Effective Date.
- 86. "<u>Litigation Trust Agreement</u>" means the agreement to between the Debtor and the Litigation Trustee that, among other things, creates and establishes the Litigation Trust, describes the powers, duties, and responsibilities of the Litigation Trustee, and provides for the distribution of proceeds of the Litigation Trust's assets, which agreement shall be substantially in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C</u>.
- 87. "<u>Litigation Trust Assets</u>" means, the following potential or actual Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI to be preserved and transferred by the Reorganized Debtor to the Litigation Trust on the Effective Date pursuant to Article IV.M of the Plan if OCI and AAC have not accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline:
 - (i) Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI to avoid and/or recover certain tax-related payments made by the Debtor to AAC, including that certain tax refund for approximately \$252.7 million received by the Debtor in September of 2009;
 - (ii) Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI to avoid and/or recover certain tax-related payments made by the Debtor to AAC, including that certain tax refund for approximately \$443.9 million received by the Debtor in February of 2010;

- (iii) Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI pertaining to any possible misallocation of up to \$38,485,850 of tax refunds received by AAC in September of 2009 and February of 2010; and
- (iv) any and all Claims and Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI.
- 88. "<u>Litigation Trustee</u>" means the trustee of the Litigation Trust appointed pursuant to the Litigation Trust Agreement.
- 89. "New Board" means the initial board of directors of the Reorganized Debtor, to be appointed as of the Effective Date.
- 90. "New By-Laws" means the new by-laws of the Reorganized Debtor, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D.
- 91. "New Certificate of Incorporation" means the form of the initial certificate of incorporation of the Reorganized Debtor, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.
- 92. "New Common Stock" means the common stock in the Reorganized Debtor to be authorized, issued, or outstanding on the Effective Date, which collectively shall constitute all equity interests in the Reorganized Debtor.
- 93. "New Organizational Documents" means the New Certificate of Incorporation and New By-Laws.
- 94. "<u>NOLs</u>" means net operating losses as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
- 95. "OCI" means the Office of the Commissioner of Insurance for the State of Wisconsin in its role as regulator of AAC, and/or the Commissioner of Insurance for the State of Wisconsin in his role as rehabilitator of the Segregated Account, as applicable.
- 96. "OSS Settlement Agreement" means the Settlement, Discontinuance, and Release Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2011, among One State Street, LLC, the Debtor, AAC, and the Segregated Account, approved by the Bankruptcy Court on March 24, 2011 [Docket No. 223].
- 97. "Person" means a "person" as such term is defined in Bankruptcy Code section 101(41).
- 98. "<u>Plan Settlement</u>" means the global compromise and settlement of certain disputes among the Debtor, AAC, the Committee, the Informal Group and OCI. Pursuant to the Plan Settlement, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release and discharge of and in exchange for the relinquishment of certain Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI,

- (i) following the Confirmation Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Debtor shall cause its Affiliates to enter into the Cost Allocation Agreement, and OCI shall agree to such entry;
- (ii) upon execution of the Plan Settlement, AAC and the Debtor will share the fees and expenses incurred by the Debtor in relation to the IRS Dispute, on the basis of 85% to AAC and 15% to the Debtor, including, for the avoidance of doubt, all fees and expense incurred by the Debtor in relation to the IRS Dispute since the Commencement Date;
- (iii) (a) the Debtor shall assume the TSA pursuant to Article V.A of the Plan, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date and effective as of the Effective Date, and (b) on the Confirmation Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Debtor shall cause its Affiliates to enter into either TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C;
- (iv) TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B and TSA Amendment C provide for differing conditions of use of NOLs, which shall be allocated as follows:
 - (a) Any NOLs generated by AAC (determined on a separate company tax basis) and other members of the AAC Subgroup (as defined in the TSA) occurring after the date (such date being hereafter referred to as the "Determination Date") which is the earlier of (i) the last day of the calendar quarter preceding the Effective Date and (ii) December 31, 2011 (the "Post-Determination Date NOLs"), shall be available to AAC at no cost.
 - (b) Any NOLs generated by AAC (determined on a separate company tax basis) and other members of the AAC Subgroup on or prior to, and existing on, the Determination Date not taking into account the consequences of any settlement with respect to the IRS Dispute ("Pre-Determination Date NOLs") shall be available for use by the AAC Subgroup as set forth in the applicable TSA Amendment.
 - (c) Unless and until there has been a Deconsolidation Event, the amount of Pre-Determination Date NOLs allocated to, and available for use by, the AAC Subgroup to offset income for regular tax and alternative minimum tax purposes ("Allocated NOLs") shall be an amount (such amount being hereinafter referred to as the "Allocated NOLs Amount") equal to:
 - i. The "<u>Pre-Settlement NOL Amount</u>," defined as the lesser of
 - (1) \$4.0 billion; and

- (2) the total amount of Pre-Determination Date NOLs, MINUS the sum of (A) the amount of cancellation of indebtedness income ("CODI") within the meaning of IRC section 108, realized by the Debtor pursuant to the consummation of the Plan and (B) the amount of interest disallowed pursuant to IRC section 382(1)(5)(B) upon the consummation of the Plan ("Interest Recapture" and, together with CODI, "Debt-Related Income")
- ii. MINUS the AAC Pro Rata Settlement Portion.
- (d) A reduction in the Pre-Determination Date NOLs as a result of a settlement of the IRS Dispute prior to the Effective Date ("<u>Pre-Effective Date Settlement Amount</u>") shall be allocated as follows:
 - i. "AAC Pro Rata Settlement Portion": The product of (1) the Pre-Effective Date Settlement Amount and (2) the ratio of (x) \$4.0 billion to (y) (i) Pre-Determination Date NOLs minus (ii) Debt-Related Income.
 - ii. "<u>AFG Pro Rata Settlement Portion</u>": Pre-Effective Date Settlement Amount reduced by the AAC Pro Rata Settlement Portion;
- (v) (1) in the event that TSA Amendment A is entered into, if a corresponding amended plan of rehabilitation with respect to the Segregated Account has not been proposed to the Rehabilitation Court by December 31, 2011, AAC shall make a Cash payment to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of \$50,000,000, and further, if such plan of rehabilitation has not been confirmed by the Rehabilitation Court by March 31, 2012, AAC shall make an additional Cash payment to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of \$50,000,000, and further, if a plan of rehabilitation has not become effective by June 30, 2012, AAC shall make a Cash payment to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of \$100,000,000; or (2) in the event that TSA Amendment B is entered into, if the Rehabilitation Plan has not become effective, without modification or change, by December 31, 2011, AAC shall make a Cash payment to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of \$200,000,000; provided, however, that all Cash payments made by AAC pursuant to (1) or (2) above shall serve as a credit, without duplication, against future payments in respect of Allocated NOLs;
- (vi) on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, AAC shall deliver the Cash Grant to the Reorganized Debtor; *provided*, *however*, that up to \$15 million of the Cash Grant shall serve as a credit, without duplication, against future payments owed by AAC to the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to TSA Amendment A or TSA Amendment B, as

applicable; *provided further*, *however*, that until the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date, if the balance of the Cash Grant at any time is (or as a result of a Cash dividend payment would become) \$15,000,000 or less, the Reorganized Debtor shall not pay Cash dividends or make any other Cash distributions to Holders of New Common Stock;

- (vii) the Debtor and the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall not take any actions which would result in the occurrence of a Deconsolidation Event:
- (viii) OCI shall agree that in the event that any obligations of AAC under the Plan Settlement (including for the avoidance of doubt, any obligations under the TSA as amended by TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C) become subject to the authority of the Rehabilitation Court or another court overseeing a rehabilitation or other insolvency proceeding with respect to AAC, all such obligations shall be provided administrative expense status in such rehabilitation or other insolvency proceeding;
- (ix) on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Segregated Account shall issue \$350,000,000 of Junior Surplus Notes to the Reorganized Debtor;
- (x) OCI shall support the petition for prompt approval by the Rehabilitation Court of all transactions contemplated by the Plan;
- (xi) OCI shall allow AAC to repurchase surplus notes, preferred stock, or other securities issued pursuant to the Rehabilitation Plan (whether issued by AAC or the Segregated Account), subject to OCI's determination in its sole and absolute discretion that such repurchases do not violate applicable law, are fair and reasonable to AAC and the Segregated Account, and protect and are equitable to the interests of AAC and the Segregated Account policyholders generally;
- (xii) OCI shall allow AAC to undertake commercially reasonable efforts to transfer to the Reorganized Debtor more than an insignificant amount of an active trade or business;
- (xiii) the transactions described in the Plan shall be structured, to the extent practicable, to comply with the CDS Settlement Agreement and the Rehabilitation Plan;
- (xiv) to the extent that either the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or a direct or indirect holder of a Beneficial Interest in the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor requires OCI's consent with respect to any transfer or issuance of a Beneficial Interest in either the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor or AAC, OCI shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to such transfer and shall notify the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of its decision within a reasonable period of time, not exceeding sixty (60) days; provided,

- *however*, such transfer does not result in an "ownership change," as determined for purposes under IRC section 382;
- (xv) the Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI shall not be transferred to the Litigation Trust pursuant to Article IV.M of the Plan; and
- (xvi) the definition of "Released Parties" in the Plan shall include AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI.
- 99. "Plan Settlement Deadline" means July 29, 2011.
- 100. "<u>Priority Tax Claim</u>" means a Claim of a Governmental Unit of the kind specified in Bankruptcy Code section 507(a)(8).
- 101. "<u>Priority Non-Tax Claim</u>" means a Claim entitled to priority in right of payment pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 507(a), other than an Administrative Claim, a Claim for Accrued Professional Compensation, or a Priority Tax Claim.
- 102. "<u>Pro Rata</u>" means the proportion that an Allowed Claim in a particular Class bears to the aggregate amount of Allowed Claims in that Class, or the proportion of a particular recovery that a Class is entitled to share with other Classes entitled to the same recovery under the Plan.
- 103. "<u>Professional</u>" means any Person or Entity retained by order of the Bankruptcy Court in the Chapter 11 Case pursuant to Bankruptcy Code sections 327, 328, 330, or 1103, excluding any ordinary course professionals retained pursuant to a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 104. "<u>Proof of Claim</u>" means a proof of Claim Filed against the Debtor in the Chapter 11 Case.
- 105. "Rehabilitation Court" means the Circuit Court of Dane County Wisconsin, with respect to the Segregated Account rehabilitation proceeding, Case No. 10-cv-1576.
 - 106. "Released Parties" means either of the following:
 - (i) if OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, collectively, the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, AAC, the Segregated Account, OCI, the board of directors and board committees of the Debtor and AAC, all current and former individual directors, officers, or employees of the Debtor and AAC, the Committee and the individual members thereof, the Indenture Trustees, the Informal Group and the individual members thereof, and each of their respective Representatives (each of the foregoing in its individual capacity as such); or

- (ii) if OCI and AAC have not accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, collectively, the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, the board of directors and board committees of the Debtor and AAC, all current and former individual directors, officers, or employees of the Debtor and AAC, the Committee and the individual members thereof, the Indenture Trustees, the Informal Group and the individual members thereof, and each of their respective Representatives (each of the foregoing in its individual capacity as such).
- 107. "Rehabilitation Plan" means the plan of rehabilitation with respect to the Segregated Account, as confirmed by the Rehabilitation Court on January 24, 2011.
- 108. "Reorganized Debtor" means Ambac Financial Group, Inc., as reorganized under and pursuant to the Plan, or any successor thereto, by merger, consolidation, transfer of substantially all assets, or otherwise, on and after the Effective Date.
- 109. "Representatives" means, with respect to an Entity, such Entity's directors, officers, employees, members, attorneys, financial advisors, accountants, agents, and their respective professional firms.
- 110. "Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases" means the schedule of certain executory contracts and unexpired leases to be assumed by the Debtor pursuant to the Plan, as amended, supplemented, or modified at any time before the Effective Date, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit F.
- 111. "Schedules" means the Debtor's schedule of assets and liabilities and statement of financial affairs, as amended, supplemented, or modified.
- 112. "Section 510(b) Claim" means any Claim that is subordinated to General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims, or Subordinated Notes Claims or subject to such subordination under Bankruptcy Code section 510(b), including Claims arising from the purchase or sale of a security of the Debtor for damages, reimbursement, or contribution.
- 113. "Secured Claim" means a prepetition Claim that is secured by a Lien, or that has the benefit of rights of setoff under Bankruptcy Code section 553, but only to the extent of the value of the creditor's interest in the Debtor's interest in such property, or to the extent of the amount subject to setoff, which value shall be determined by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Code sections 506(a), 553, and/or 1129(b)(2)(A), as applicable.
- 114. "Securities Actions" means the consolidated action captioned *In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Securities Litigation*, No. 08-cv-411-NRB (S.D.N.Y.) and the action captioned *Tolin v. Ambac Financial Group, Inc., et al.*, No. 08-cv-11241-CM (S.D.N.Y.).

- 115. "Segregated Account" means the segregated account of AAC, established pursuant to a plan of operation which sets forth the manner by which AAC shall establish and operate such segregated account in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 611.24(2).
- 116. "Senior Notes" means the 9-3/8% Debentures Due 2011, the 7-1/2% Debentures Due 2023, the 5.95% Debentures Due 2103, the 5.875% Debentures Due 2103, the 5.95% Debentures Due 2035, and the 9.50% Senior Notes Due 2021.
- 117. "Senior Notes Claim" means any Claim arising from or relating to the Senior Notes, excluding the fees and expenses of the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee, which fees and expenses shall be paid pursuant to Article II.F of the Plan.
- 118. "Senior Notes Indenture Trustee" means The Bank of New York Mellon, as indenture trustee under the 1991 Indenture, the 2001 Indenture, the 2003 Indenture, and the 2008 Indenture, together with its respective successors and assigns in such capacity.
- 119. "Settlement Class" means the settlement class comprising all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired any securities issued by the Debtor, including, without limitation, any Senior Notes, Subordinated Notes, Equity Interests, options thereon, or any STRATS during the Class Period. Excluded from the Settlement Class are defendants in the Securities Actions, members of their immediate families, and their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns. Also excluded from the Settlement Class are any persons who exclude themselves by filing a timely and valid request for exclusion in accordance with applicable requirements.
- 120. "<u>Stipulation of Settlement</u>" means the *Stipulation of Settlement with Ambac and the Individual Defendants*, which has been preliminarily approved by the District Court in the Securities Actions, and attached as an exhibit to the Disclosure Statement and any agreements entered into in connection therewith or pursuant thereto and the orders of the Bankruptcy Court and/or the District Court with respect to the settlement of the Securities Actions.
- 121. "<u>Subordinated Notes</u>" means those certain 6.15% Directly-Issued Subordinated Capital Securities due February 15, 2087, issued pursuant to the Junior Subordinated Indenture.
- 122. "<u>Subordinated Notes Claim</u>" means any Claim arising from or relating to the Subordinated Notes, excluding the fees and expenses of the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee, which fees and expenses shall be paid pursuant to Article II.F of the Plan.
- 123. "<u>Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee</u>" means Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, as successor indenture trustee under the Junior Subordinated Indenture, together with its successors and assigns in such capacity.
- 124. "<u>Subordinated Notes Warrant Agreement</u>" means the agreement, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit G.
- 125. "<u>Subordinated Notes Warrants</u>" means warrants, to be distributed to the Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims pursuant to the terms of the Subordinated Notes Warrant Agreement, to acquire 10% of the New Common Stock with customary anti-dilution provisions

to be set forth in the Subordinated Notes Warrant Agreement, and with an expiration date of the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date and an exercise price based on an implied total equity value for the Reorganized Debtor of \$750,000,000.

- 126. "Trading Order" means the Final Order Pursuant to Sections 105(a), 362, and 541 of the Bankruptcy Code Establishing Procedures for Certain Transfers of Equity Interests in and Claims Against the Debtor, entered by the Bankruptcy Court on November 30, 2010 [Docket No. 40]
- 127. "TSA" means the Tax Sharing Agreement, entered into as of July 18, 1991, among the Debtor and certain of its Affiliates, as amended by (i) Amendment No. 1, effective as of October 1, 1997, (ii) Amendment No. 2, effective as of November 19, 2009, and (iii) Amendment No. 3, effective as of January 1, 2010, and as further amended, supplemented, or modified.
- 128. "<u>TSA Amendment A</u>" means an amendment to the TSA, substantially in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit H</u>.
- 129. "<u>TSA Amendment B</u>" means an amendment to the TSA, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit I.
- 130. "<u>TSA Amendment C</u>" means an amendment to the TSA, substantially in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit J</u>.
- 131. "<u>Unimpaired</u>" means, with respect to a Class of Claims or Equity Interests, a Class of Claims or Equity Interests that is unimpaired within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code section 1124.
- 132. "<u>U.S. Trustee</u>" means the Office of the United States Trustee for the Southern District of New York.
- 133. "<u>U.S. Trustee Fees</u>" means fees arising under 28 U.S.C. § 1930, and, to the extent applicable, accrued interest thereon arising under 31 U.S.C. § 3717.

B. Rules of Construction

For the purposes of the Plan: (i) terms and phrases, whether capitalized or not, that are used but not defined in the Plan, but that are defined in the Bankruptcy Code, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Bankruptcy Code; (ii) in the appropriate context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural, shall include both the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine, or neuter gender shall include the masculine, feminine, and the neuter gender; (iii) any reference in the Plan to an existing document or exhibit having been Filed or to be Filed shall mean that document or exhibit, as it may thereafter be amended, modified, or supplemented; *provided*, *however*, that the "Rehabilitation Plan" refers only to the Rehabilitation Plan confirmed by the Rehabilitation Court on January 24, 2011; (iv) except as otherwise provided in the Plan, all references in the Plan to "Articles" are references to Articles of the Plan; (v) except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the words "herein," "hereof," and "hereto" refer to the Plan in its entirety rather than to a particular portion of the Plan; (vi)

captions and headings to Articles are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the interpretation of the Plan; (vii) the rules of construction set forth in Bankruptcy Code section 102 shall apply; and (viii) any immaterial effectuating provisions may be interpreted by the Reorganized Debtor in a manner that is consistent with the overall purpose and intent of the Plan, all without further order of the Bankruptcy Court.

C. Computation of Time

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) shall apply in computing any period of time prescribed or allowed in the Plan.

D. Governing Law

Unless a rule of law or procedure is supplied by federal law or unless otherwise specifically stated, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the principles of conflict of laws, shall govern the rights, obligations, construction, and implementation of the Plan, and any agreements, securities, instruments, or other documents executed or delivered in connection with the Plan (except as otherwise set forth in those documents, in which case the governing law of such documents shall control); *provided, however*, that corporate governance matters relating to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware.

E. Reference to the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, references in the Plan to the Debtor or to the Reorganized Debtor shall mean the Debtor and the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, to the extent that the context requires.

ARTICLE II.

ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS, ACCRUED PROFESSIONAL COMPENSATION CLAIMS, PRIORITY TAX CLAIMS, U.S. TRUSTEE FEES, AND INDENTURE TRUSTEE FEES

In accordance with Bankruptcy Code section 1123(a)(1), Administrative Claims, Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation, and Priority Tax Claims have not been classified and, therefore, are excluded from the Classes of Claims and Equity Interests set forth in Article III of the Plan and shall have the following treatment:

A. Administrative Claims

Except with respect to Administrative Claims that are Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation and except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, each Holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim shall be paid in full, in Cash, on the later of (i) the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter; (ii) the first date such Administrative Claim becomes Allowed or as soon as practicable thereafter; and (iii) the date such Allowed Administrative Claim becomes due and payable by its terms or as soon as practicable thereafter.

B. Administrative Claims Bar Date

Requests for the payment of Administrative Claims other than Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation must be Filed and served on the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to the procedures specified in the Confirmation Order no later than sixty (60) days after the Effective Date. Holders of Administrative Claims that are required to, but do not, File and serve a request for payment of such Claims by such date shall be forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from asserting such Claims against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets or properties and such Claims shall be deemed discharged as of the Effective Date. Objections to such requests, if any, must be Filed and served on the Reorganized Debtor and the requesting party no later than ninety (90) days after the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no request for payment of an Administrative Claim need be Filed with respect to an Administrative Claim previously Allowed by Final Order, including all Administrative Claims expressly Allowed under the Plan.

C. Accrued Professional Compensation

Professionals asserting a Claim for Accrued Professional Compensation for services rendered before the Effective Date shall (i) File and serve on the Reorganized Debtor and such other Entities who are designated by the Bankruptcy Rules, the Confirmation Order, the Interim Compensation Order, or other order of the Bankruptcy Court a final application for the allowance of such Claim for Accrued Professional Compensation no later than sixty (60) days after the Effective Date and; (ii) if granted such an award by the Bankruptcy Court, be paid in full in Cash in such amounts as are Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court on the date such Claim for Accrued Professional Compensation becomes Allowed or as soon as practicable thereafter. Holders of Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation that do not File and serve such application by the required deadline shall be forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from asserting such Claims against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets or properties, and such Claims shall be deemed discharged as of the Effective Date. Objections to Claims for Accrued Professional Compensation shall be Filed no later than ninety (90) days after the Effective Date.

D. Priority Tax Claims

Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Priority Tax Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim due and payable on or before the Effective Date shall receive, at the option of the Debtor, one of the following treatments: (i) Cash, payable by the Debtor on the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such Priority Tax Claim becomes Allowed, or as soon as practicable thereafter, in an amount equal to the amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim; or (ii) Cash in an aggregate amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim payable in installment payments over a period of time not to exceed five (5) years after the Commencement Date, in accordance with Bankruptcy Code section 1129(a)(9)(C).

E. U.S. Trustee Fees

On the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Reorganized Debtor shall pay all U.S. Trustee Fees that are due and owing on the Effective Date. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in the Plan shall release the Reorganized Debtor from its obligation to pay all U.S. Trustee Fees due and owing after the Effective Date before an order or final decree is entered by the Bankruptcy Court concluding or closing the Chapter 11 Case.

F. Indenture Trustee Fees and Informal Group Fees

On the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall pay in Cash the Indenture Trustee Fees and the Informal Group Fees, without the need for the Indenture Trustees or the Informal Group to file fee applications with the Bankruptcy Court; provided, however, that (i) each Indenture Trustee and the Informal Group shall provide the Debtor and the Committee with the invoices for which it seeks payment at least ten (10) days prior to the Effective Date; and (ii) the Debtor and the Committee do not object to the reasonableness of the Indenture Trustee Fees or the Informal Group Fees; provided further, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Reorganized Debtor shall not be required to pay any Informal Group Fees unless (x) the Informal Group supports the Plan and (y) members of the Informal Group holding at least sixty-seven percent (67%) of the aggregate holdings of the Informal Group as of July 6, 2011, vote their Claims to accept the Plan. To the extent that the Debtor or the Committee objects to the reasonableness of any portion of the Indenture Trustee Fees or the Informal Group Fees, the Reorganized Debtor shall not be required to pay such disputed portion until either such objection is resolved or a further order of the Bankruptcy Court is entered providing for payment of such disputed portion. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, each Indenture Trustee's Lien against distributions or property held or collected by it for fees and expenses and priority rights pursuant to the Indentures shall be discharged solely upon payment of its Indenture Trustee Fees in full on the Effective Date and the termination of such Indenture Trustee's duties under the applicable Indenture.

ARTICLE III.

CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND EQUITY INTERESTS

A. Summary of Classification of Claims and Equity Interests

All Claims and Equity Interests, except Administrative Claims, Accrued Professional Compensation Claims, Priority Tax Claims, and Indenture Trustee Fee Claims are classified in the Classes set forth in Article III of the Plan. A Claim or Equity Interest is also classified in a particular Class for the purpose of receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan only to the extent that such Claim or Equity Interest is an Allowed Claim or Allowed Equity Interest in that Class and has not been paid, released, or otherwise satisfied prior to the Effective Date.

Class	Claim/Equity Interest	Impairment	Voting Rights
1	Priority Non-Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Accept)

Class	Claim/Equity Interest	Impairment	Voting Rights
2	Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Accept)
3	General Unsecured Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
4	Senior Notes Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
5	Subordinated Notes Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
6	Section 510(b) Claims	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)
7	Intercompany Claims	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)
8	Equity Interests	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote (Deemed to Reject)

B. Treatment of Claims and Equity Interests

The following summarizes the treatment of each Class:

1. Class 1 – Priority Non-Tax Claims

- (i) Classification: Class 1 consists of all Priority Non-Tax Claims.
- (ii) Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim, on the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such Priority Non-Tax Claim becomes Allowed, or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim shall be paid in full in Cash.
- (iii) *Voting*: Class 1 is Unimpaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(f), Holders of Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claims are conclusively presumed to accept the Plan.

2. Class 2 – Secured Claims

- (i) Classification: Class 2 consists of all Secured Claims.
- (ii) Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Secured Claim, on the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such Secured Claim becomes Allowed, or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed Secured Claim shall receive, in the Reorganized Debtor's sole discretion, (1) Cash, including the payment

of any interest required to be paid pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 506(b), in the amount equal to such Allowed Secured Claim, (2) the collateral securing such Allowed Secured Claim, or (3) any other treatment such that the Allowed Secured Claim will be Unimpaired; *provided, however*, that the aggregate amount of Allowed Secured Claims shall not exceed \$200,000.00.

(iii) *Voting*: Class 2 is Unimpaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(f), Holders of Allowed Secured Claims are conclusively presumed to accept the Plan.

3. Class 3 – General Unsecured Claims

- (i) Classification: Class 3 consists of all General Unsecured Claims.
- (ii) Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed General Unsecured Claim, on the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such General Unsecured Claim becomes Allowed, or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed General Unsecured Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of (1) the New Common Stock distributed to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims, and Subordinated Notes Claims pursuant to the Plan; and (2) the General Unsecured Warrants.
- (iii) *Voting*: Class 3 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

4. Class 4 – Senior Notes Claims

- (i) Classification: Class 4 consists of all Senior Notes Claims.
- (ii) Allowance of Senior Notes Claims: The Senior Notes Claims shall be allowed in the aggregate amount of \$1,246,129,468.66, comprised of (a) \$410,115,000.00 in respect of the 5.95% Debentures Due 2035, (b) \$176,085,243.06 in respect of the 5.875% Debentures Due 2103, (c) \$201,256,111.11 in respect of the 5.95% Debentures Due 2103, (d) \$77,921,875.00 in respect of the 7-1/2% Debentures Due 2023, (e) \$125,275,545.05 in respect of the 9-3/8% Debentures Due 2011, and (f) \$255,475,694.44 in respect of the 9.50% Senior Notes Due 2021. For the avoidance of doubt, the Allowed Senior Notes Claims shall not be subject to any avoidance, reductions, setoff, offset, recharacterization, subordination (equitable or contractual or otherwise), counter-claim, defense, disallowance, impairment, objection or any challenges under applicable law or regulation.

- (iii) *Treatment*: In full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Senior Notes Claim, on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed Senior Notes Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of the New Common Stock distributed to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims. Senior Notes Claims, and Subordinated Notes Claims pursuant to the Plan, subject to the condition set forth below. In addition, the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall receive redistributions of New Common Stock and Subordinated Notes Warrants from the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee in accordance with the subordination provisions of the Indentures; provided, however, that (1) the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall transfer to the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee the Subordinated Notes Warrants, to distribute on a Pro Rata basis to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims; and (2) if the Class of Subordinated Notes Claims votes to accept the Plan, the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall, prior to distributing any New Common Stock to the Holders of Allowed Senior Notes Claims, transfer to the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee 1.5% of the New Common Stock that is distributed to creditors pursuant to the Plan, to distribute on a Pro Rata basis to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims.
- (iv) *Voting*: Class 4 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Senior Notes Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

5. Class 5 – Subordinated Notes Claims

- (i) Classification: Class 5 consists of all Subordinated Notes Claims.
- (ii) Allowance of Subordinated Notes Claims: The Subordinated Notes Claims shall be allowed in the aggregate amount of \$444,182,604.08. For the avoidance of doubt, the Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims shall not be subject to any avoidance, reductions, setoff, offset, recharacterization, subordination (equitable or contractual or otherwise), counter-claim, defense, disallowance, impairment, objection or any challenges under applicable law or regulation.
- (iii) Treatment: In full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Subordinated Notes Claim, on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, each Holder of such Allowed Subordinated Notes Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of (a) the New Common Stock distributed to Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims, Senior Notes Claims, and Subordinated Notes Claims pursuant to the Plan; and (b) the Subordinated Notes Warrants; provided, however, that any distribution of New Common Stock and Subordinated Notes Warrants to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims shall be redistributed to the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee for the benefit of Holders of Allowed Senior Notes Claims in accordance with the

subordination provisions of the Indentures; provided further, however, that (1) the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall transfer to the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee the Subordinated Notes Warrants, to distribute on a Pro Rata basis to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims; and (2) if the Class of Subordinated Notes Claims votes to accept the Plan, the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee shall, prior to distributing any New Common Stock to the Holders of Allowed Senior Notes Claims, transfer to the Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee 1.5% of the New Common Stock that is distributed to creditors pursuant to the Plan, to distribute on a Pro Rata basis to Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims.

(iv) *Voting*: Class 5 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

6. Class 6 – Section 510(b) Claims

- (i) Classification: Class 6 consists of all Section 510(b) Claims.
- (ii) Treatment: On the Effective Date, all Section 510(b) Claims shall be terminated, cancelled, and extinguished and each Holder of an Allowed Section 510(b) Claim shall not be entitled to, and shall not receive or retain any property or interest in property on account of such Section 510(b) Claim.
- (iii) Voting: Class 6 is Impaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(g), Holders of Section 510(b) Claims are conclusively presumed to reject the Plan.

7. Class 7 – Intercompany Claims

- (i) Classification: Class 7 consists of all Intercompany Claims.
- (ii) *Treatment*: On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, all Intercompany Claims shall be terminated, cancelled, and extinguished and each Holder of an Intercompany Claim shall not be entitled to, and shall not receive or retain any property or interest in property on account of such Intercompany Claim.
- (iii) *Voting*: Class 7 is Impaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(g), Holders of Intercompany Claims are conclusively presumed to reject the Plan.

8. Class 8 – Equity Interests

- (i) Classification: Class 8 consists of all Equity Interests.
- (ii) *Treatment*: On the Effective Date, all Equity Interests shall be terminated, cancelled, and extinguished and each Holder of an Equity Interest shall not

be entitled to, and shall not receive or retain any property or interest in property on account of, such Equity Interest.

(iii) *Voting*: Class 8 is Impaired. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1126(g), Holders of Equity Interests are conclusively presumed to reject the Plan.

C. Subordinated Claims

The allowance, classification, and treatment of all Allowed Claims and Equity Interests and the respective distributions and treatments under the Plan take into account and conform to the relative priority and rights of the Claims and Equity Interests in each Class in connection with any contractual, legal, and equitable subordination rights relating thereto, whether arising under general principles of equitable subordination, Bankruptcy Code section 510(b), or otherwise. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 510, the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, reserves the right to re-classify any Allowed Claim or Equity Interest in accordance with any contractual, legal, or equitable subordination relating thereto.

D. Confirmation Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1129(b)

Because certain Classes are deemed to have rejected the Plan, the Debtor will request confirmation of the Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b). The Debtor reserves the right to alter, amend, modify, revoke or withdraw the Plan or any related documents, in order to satisfy the requirements of Bankruptcy Code section 1129(b), if necessary.

E. Elimination of Vacant Classes

Any Class of Claims or Equity Interests that does not have a Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Equity Interest or a Claim or Equity Interest temporarily or finally Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court as of the date of the Confirmation Hearing shall be deemed eliminated from the Plan for purposes of voting to accept or reject the Plan and for purposes of determining acceptance or rejection of the Plan by such Class.

F. Controversy Concerning Impairment

If a controversy arises as to whether any Claims or Equity Interests, or any Class of Claims or Equity Interests, are Impaired, the Bankruptcy Court shall, after notice and a hearing, determine such controversy on or before the Confirmation Date.

ARTICLE IV.

MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN

A. Sources of Consideration for Monetary Plan Distributions

All consideration necessary to make all monetary payments in accordance with the Plan shall be obtained from the Cash of the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable,

including the Cash Grant if OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline.

B. New Organizational Documents

The Debtor's organizational documents shall be amended as necessary in order to satisfy the provisions of the Plan and the Bankruptcy Code. The New Organizational Documents shall include, among other things, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1123(a)(6), a provision prohibiting the issuance of non-voting equity securities.

C. Continued Corporate Existence

In accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware and the New Organizational Documents, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall continue to exist as a separate corporate entity.

D. Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtor

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, on the Effective Date, all property of the Estate and any property acquired by the Debtor pursuant to the Plan shall vest in the Reorganized Debtor, free and clear of all Liens and Claims. On and after the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Reorganized Debtor may operate its business and use, acquire, or dispose of property and compromise or settle any Claims without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules. For the avoidance of doubt, all Causes of Action against the Released Parties belonging to the Debtor which have not been transferred to the Litigation Trust pursuant to Article IV.M shall be deemed released in accordance with Article VIII of the Plan.

E. New Common Stock

Pursuant to the terms set forth in the Plan, on the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall issue shares of New Common Stock for distribution to Holders of Allowed Claims. All of the shares of the New Common Stock issued pursuant to the Plan shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and non-assessable. The Reorganized Debtor will use its commercially reasonable best efforts to list the New Common Stock on a national securities exchange. The issuance and allocation of the New Common Stock shall be structured to ensure that such issuance qualifies as an exchange subject to IRC section 382(1)(5). In addition, the New Common Stock shall be subject to trading restrictions, as necessary, to prevent an "ownership change" within the meaning of IRC section 382, from occurring until at least two years following the Effective Date.

F. Section 1145 Exemption

Unless required by provision of applicable law, regulation, order, or rule, as of the Effective Date, the issuance of the New Common Stock, the General Unsecured Warrants and the Subordinated Notes Warrants in accordance with the Plan shall be authorized under Bankruptcy Code section 1145 without further act or action by any Entity.

G. Cancellation of Securities and Indentures

On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, all notes, stock, instruments, certificates, indentures, guarantees, and other documents or agreements evidencing the Senior Notes Claims, the Subordinated Notes Claims, and Equity Interests, including, without limitation, the Senior Notes, the Subordinated Notes, and the Indentures, shall be deemed automatically cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect, whether surrendered for cancellation or otherwise, and the obligations of the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor thereunder or in any way related thereto shall be discharged. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Senior Notes, the Subordinated Notes, and the Indentures shall continue in effect solely for the purposes of (i) allowing the Indenture Trustees to receive and distribute New Common Stock and the Subordinated Notes Warrants pursuant to the Plan; (ii) permitting the Indenture Trustees to maintain any Lien or priority rights they may have pursuant to the Indentures against distributions or property held or collected by them for fees and expenses; (iii) permitting, but not requiring, the Indenture Trustees to exercise their rights and obligations relating to the interests of their Holders pursuant to the applicable Indentures; and (iv) permitting the Indenture Trustees to appear in the Chapter 11 Case. The Senior Notes, the Subordinated Notes, and the Indentures shall terminate completely upon completion of the distribution of New Common Stock, the General Unsecured Warrants, and the Subordinated Notes Warrants pursuant to the Plan.

H. Plan Settlement

1. Consequences of Acceptance by OCI and AAC of the Plan Settlement

OCI and AAC may accept the Plan Settlement until the Plan Settlement Deadline by filing a notice with the Bankruptcy Court prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline specifying (i) that OCI and AAC accept the Plan Settlement, and (ii) whether the Debtor shall cause its Affiliates to enter into TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C. If OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, entry of the Confirmation Order shall, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date and effective as of the Effective Date, constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Plan Settlement, including the Debtor's assumption of the TSA and entry into the Cost Allocation Agreement and either TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B or TSA Amendment C, as applicable. In addition, for the avoidance of doubt, if OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, entry of the Confirmation Order shall, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date and effective as of the Effective Date, constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Debtor's unconditional, full, and complete release of AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI from any and all Claims and Causes of Action.

2. Consequences of Rejection by OCI and AAC of the Plan Settlement

If OCI and AAC have not accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, then (i) entry of the Confirmation Order shall, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date and effective as of the Effective Date, constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Debtor's rejection of the TSA; (ii) either (a) prior to the Effective Date, the Debtor may seek to convert the Chapter 11 Case to a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1112; or (b) on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable

thereafter, the Reorganized Debtor shall cause a Deconsolidation Event to occur by transferring more than 20% of its stock in AAC or the economic rights of more than 20% of its stock in AAC to AFG Prime, a third-party, or third-parties unrelated to the Reorganized Debtor (including, without limitation, OCI, another governmental unit, or one or more charitable entities or foundations); (iii) the Reorganized Debtor shall transfer the Litigation Trust Assets to the Litigation Trust pursuant to Article IV.M of the Plan; and (iv) there shall be no releases of AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI.

On the federal income tax return for the taxable year in which the Deconsolidation Event occurs, the Reorganized Debtor will, in its sole discretion, (i) elect, under Treas. Reg. § 1.1502-36(d)(6), to reattribute up to the maximum amount of AAC's NOLs to the Reorganized Debtor; or (ii) take a worthless stock loss with respect to the Reorganized Debtor's stock in AAC to the maximum extent permitted under the IRC and applicable regulations.

I. Directors and Officers of the Reorganized Debtor

On the Effective Date the term of the current members of the Debtor's board of directors shall expire. On and after the Effective Date, the existing officers of the Debtor shall remain in place in their current capacities as officers of the Reorganized Debtor, subject to the ordinary rights and powers of the New Board to remove or replace them. The New Board shall consist of the Reorganized Debtor's Chief Executive Officer and four (4) additional directors, all of whom shall serve on an interim basis until such time that the Holders of the New Common Stock elect four new directors. The interim directors shall be appointed as follows: one (1) director shall be appointed by the Informal Group and three (3) directors shall be appointed by the Committee; provided, however, that if members of the Informal Group hold 50% or more of the Senior Notes Claims on the Confirmation Date, the Informal Group shall appoint two (2) directors and the Committee shall appoint two (2) directors. The identity of the members of the New Board and the nature and compensation of each of its members who is an "insider" under Bankruptcy Code section 101(31) shall be disclosed at or prior to the Confirmation Hearing.

J. Corporate Action

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each of the matters provided for by the Plan involving corporate or related actions to be taken by or required of the Reorganized Debtor shall, as of the Effective Date, be deemed to have occurred and be effective as provided in the Plan, and shall be authorized, approved, and, to the extent taken prior to the Effective Date, ratified in all respects without any requirement of further action by Holders of Claims or Equity Interests, directors of the Debtor, or any other Entity. On or prior to the Effective Date, the appropriate officers of the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall be authorized and directed to issue, execute, and deliver the agreements, securities, instruments, or other documents contemplated by the Plan, or necessary or desirable to effect the transactions contemplated by the Plan, in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtor, including New Organizational Documents and any and all other agreements, securities, instruments, or other documents relating to such documents. Notwithstanding any requirements under nonbankruptcy law, the authorizations and approvals contemplated by this provision shall be effective.

K. Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions

On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor and the officers and members of the New Board are authorized to and may issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, securities, instruments, releases, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement, and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan and the New Common Stock in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any approvals, authorization, or consents, except for those expressly required by the Plan.

L. Exemption from Certain Taxes and Fees

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1146(a), any transfers of property pursuant to the Plan shall not be subject to any stamp, real estate transfer, mortgage reporting, sales, use tax or other similar tax or governmental assessment in the United States, and the Confirmation Order shall direct and be deemed to direct the appropriate state or local governmental officials or agents to forego the collection of any such tax or governmental assessment and to accept for filing and recordation instruments or other documents pursuant to such transfers of property without the payment of any such tax or governmental assessment.

M. Litigation Trust

If OCI and AAC have not accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, on the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor and the Litigation Trustee shall enter into the Litigation Trust Agreement, the Reorganized Debtor shall take all other steps necessary to establish the Litigation Trust, and the Litigation Trust Assets shall be transferred to the Litigation Trust. The sole purpose of the Litigation Trust shall be to prosecute the Causes of Action transferred thereto for the benefit of the Reorganized Debtor and to distribute the proceeds thereof in accordance with the terms of the Litigation Trust Agreement. The Litigation Trustee will, subject to the terms of the Litigation Trust Agreement, have full power, authority, and standing to prosecute, compromise, or otherwise resolve the Causes of Action transferred to the Litigation Trust and the Reorganized Debtor will not be subject to any counterclaims with respect to any such Causes of Action.

ARTICLE V.

TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

A. Assumption or Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each of the Debtor's executory contracts and unexpired Leases shall be deemed rejected as of the Effective Date, unless such executory contract or unexpired lease (i) was assumed or rejected previously by the Debtor; (ii) previously expired or terminated pursuant to its terms; (iii) is the subject of a motion to assume or reject Filed on or before the Effective Date; or (iv) is identified on the Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases. Entry of the Confirmation Order shall, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date, constitute the approval by the Bankruptcy Court of the

assumptions or rejections of executory contracts and unexpired leases as set forth in the Plan. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, all assumptions or rejections of executory contracts and unexpired leases pursuant to the Plan are effective as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, the Debtor reserves the right to amend, modify, or supplement the Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases at any time before the Effective Date.

B. Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Any monetary defaults under each executory contract and unexpired lease to be assumed pursuant to the Plan shall be satisfied, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 365(b)(1), by payment of the default amount in Cash on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, subject to the limitations described below, or on such other terms as the parties to such executory contracts or unexpired leases may otherwise agree. At least twenty-one (21) days before the Confirmation Hearing, the Debtor shall distribute, or cause to be distributed, to the appropriate third parties, notices of proposed assumption of executory contracts and unexpired leases and proposed amounts of Cure Claims, which notices shall be in a format reasonably acceptable to the Committee and shall include procedures for objecting to proposed assumptions of executory contracts and unexpired leases and any amounts of Cure Claims to be paid in connection therewith. Any objection by a counterparty to an executory contract or unexpired lease to a proposed assumption or related cure amount must be Filed, served, and actually received by counsel to the Debtor and the Committee at least seven (7) days before the Confirmation Hearing. Any counterparty to an executory contract or unexpired lease that fails to object timely to the proposed assumption or cure amount will be deemed to have assented to such assumption and cure amount. In the event of a dispute regarding (i) the amount of any payments to cure such a default, (ii) the ability of the Reorganized Debtor or any assignee to provide "adequate assurance of future performance," within the meaning of Bankruptcy Code section 365, under the executory contract or unexpired lease to be assumed, or (iii) any other matter pertaining to assumption, the cure payments required by Bankruptcy Code section 365(b)(1) shall be made following the entry of a Final Order or orders resolving the dispute and approving the assumption. Assumption of any executory contract or unexpired lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Claims or defaults, whether monetary or nonmonetary, arising under any assumed executory contract or unexpired lease at any time before the effective date of the assumption.

C. Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

All Proofs of Claim with respect to Claims arising from the rejection of executory contracts or unexpired leases, including any executory contracts or unexpired leases rejected or deemed rejected under the Plan, must be Filed in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Bar Date Order within thirty (30) days after the date of an order approving such rejection, including the Confirmation Order, is entered. Any Claims arising from the rejection of an executory contract or unexpired lease not Filed within such time will be automatically disallowed, forever barred from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets or properties without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtor or further notice to, or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. All Allowed Claims arising from the rejection of the Debtor's executory contracts or unexpired

leases shall be classified as General Unsecured Claims and shall be treated in accordance with Article III.B.3 of the Plan. The deadline to object to Claims arising from the rejection of executory contracts or unexpired leases, if any, shall be ninety (90) days following the date on which such Proof of Claim was Filed.

D. Nonoccurrence of Effective Date

In the event that the Effective Date does not occur, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction with respect to any consensual request, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 365(d)(4), to extend the deadline for assuming or rejecting executory contracts and unexpired leases.

ARTICLE VI.

PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS

A. Record Date for Distributions

As of the Distribution Record Date, the transfer registers for each Class of Claims or Equity Interests, as maintained by the Debtor or its agents, shall be deemed closed and there shall be no further changes made to reflect any new record holders of any Claims or Equity Interests. The Debtor shall have no obligation to recognize any transfer of Claims or Equity Interests occurring on or after the Distribution Record Date.

B. Timing and Calculation of Amounts to be Distributed

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter (or if a Claim is not an Allowed Claim on the Effective Date, on the date that such a Claim becomes an Allowed Claim), each Holder of an Allowed Claim against the Debtor shall receive the full amount of the distributions that the Plan provides for Allowed Claims in the applicable Class; *provided*, *however*, that any Holder of Allowed Senior Notes Claims or Allowed Subordinated Notes Claims that does not comply with the Trading Order shall only receive distributions of New Common Stock to the extent set forth in the Trading Order. In the event that any payment or act under the Plan is required to be made or performed on a date that is not a Business Day, then the making of such payment or the performance of such act may be completed on the next succeeding Business Day, but shall be deemed to have been completed as of the required date. If and to the extent that there are Disputed Claims, distributions on account of any such Disputed Claims shall be made in accordance with the provisions set forth in Article VII of the Plan. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, Holders of Claims shall not be entitled to interest, dividends, or accruals on the distributions provided for in the Plan, regardless of whether such distributions are delivered on or at any time after the Effective Date.

C. Disbursing Agent

On the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, all distributions under the Plan shall be made by the Reorganized Debtor as Disbursing Agent or such other Entity designated by the Reorganized Debtor as a Disbursing Agent. Except as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy

Court, a Disbursing Agent shall not be required to give any bond or surety or other security for the performance of its duties.

D. Rights and Powers of Disbursing Agent

1. Powers of the Disbursing Agent

The Disbursing Agent shall be empowered to: (i) effect all actions and execute all agreements, securities, instruments, and other documents necessary to perform its duties under the Plan; (ii) make all distributions contemplated by the Plan; (iii) employ professionals to represent it with respect to its responsibilities; and (iv) exercise such other powers as may be vested in the Disbursing Agent by order of the Bankruptcy Court, pursuant to the Plan, or as deemed by the Disbursing Agent to be necessary and proper to implement the provisions of the Plan.

2. Expenses Incurred On or After the Effective Date

Except as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, the amount of any reasonable fees and expenses incurred by the Disbursing Agent on or after the Effective Date (including taxes) and any reasonable compensation and expense reimbursement claims (including reasonable attorney fees and expenses) made by the Disbursing Agent shall be paid in Cash by the Reorganized Debtor.

E. Delivery of Distributions and Undeliverable or Unclaimed Distributions

1. Delivery of Distributions

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Disbursing Agent shall make distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims as of the Distribution Record Date at the address for each such Holder as indicated on the Debtor's books and records as of the date of any such distribution or as set forth in any Proof of Claim Filed by such Holder; *provided*, *however*, that the manner of such distributions shall be determined at the discretion of the Disbursing Agent. If a Holder holds more than one Claim in any one Class, all Claims of the Holder will be aggregated into one Claim and one distribution will be made with respect to the aggregated Claim. Distributions to Holders of Senior Notes Claims shall be made to the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee for the benefit of the respective Holders of Senior Notes Claims, and shall be deemed completed when made to the Senior Notes Indenture Trustee.

2. Minimum; De Minimis Distributions

The Disbursing Agent shall not be required to make partial distributions or payments of fractions of New Common Stock and such fractions shall be deemed to be zero. The total number of authorized shares of New Common Stock to be distributed pursuant to the Plan shall be adjusted, as necessary, to account for the foregoing. No Cash payment of less than \$50 shall be made to a Holder of an Allowed Claim on account of such Allowed Claim.

3. <u>Undeliverable Distributions and Unclaimed Property</u>

(i) Failure to Claim Undeliverable Distributions

In the event that any distribution to any Holder is returned as undeliverable, no distribution to such Holder shall be made unless and until the Disbursing Agent has determined the then current address of such Holder, at which time such distribution shall be made to such Holder without interest; *provided*, *however*, that such distributions shall be deemed unclaimed property under Bankruptcy Code section 347(b) at the expiration of six (6) months from the Effective Date. After such date, all unclaimed property or interests in property shall revert to the Reorganized Debtor (notwithstanding any applicable federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed property laws to the contrary), and the Claim of any Holder to such property or interest in property shall be released, settled, compromised, and forever barred.

(ii) Failure to Present Checks

Checks issued by the Disbursing Agent on account of Allowed Claims shall be null and void if not negotiated within ninety (90) days after the issuance of such check. Requests for reissuance of any check shall be made directly to the Disbursing Agent by the Holder of the relevant Allowed Claim with respect to which such check originally was issued. Any Holder of an Allowed Claim holding an un-negotiated check that does not request reissuance of such unnegotiated check within ninety (90) days after the issuance of such check shall have its Claim for such un-negotiated check discharged and be discharged and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from asserting any such Claim against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets and properties.

F. Compliance with Tax Requirements

In connection with the Plan, to the extent applicable, the Disbursing Agent shall comply with all tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed upon it by any Governmental Unit, and all distributions pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to such withholding and reporting requirements. Notwithstanding the above, each Holder of an Allowed Claim that is to receive a distribution under the Plan shall have the sole and exclusive responsibility for the satisfaction and payment of any taxes imposed on such holder by any governmental unit, including income, withholding and other tax obligations, on account of such distribution. The Disbursing Agent has the right, but not the obligation, not to make a distribution until such Holder has made arrangements satisfactory to the Disbursing Agent for payment of any such withholding tax obligations and, if the Disbursing Agent fails to withhold with respect to any such Holder's distribution, and is later held liable for the amount of such withholding, the Holder shall reimburse the Disbursing Agent. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the Disbursing Agent shall be authorized to take all actions necessary or appropriate to comply with such withholding and reporting requirements, including liquidating a portion of the distribution to be made under the Plan to generate sufficient funds to pay applicable withholding taxes, withholding distributions pending receipt of information necessary to facilitate such distributions, or establishing any other mechanisms it believes are reasonable and appropriate. The Disbursing Agent may require, as a condition to the receipt of a distribution, that the Holder complete the appropriate Form W-8 or Form W-9, as applicable to each Holder. If the Holder

fails to comply with such a request within six months, such distribution shall be deemed an unclaimed distribution. Finally, the Disbursing Agent reserves the right to allocate all distributions made under the Plan in compliance with all applicable wage garnishments, alimony, child support, and other spousal awards, Liens, and encumbrances.

G. Allocations

Distributions in respect of Allowed Claims shall be allocated first to the principal amount (as determined for federal income tax purposes) of such Claims, and then, to the extent the consideration exceeds the principal amount of such Claims, to any portion of such Claims for accrued but unpaid interest.

H. Setoffs and Recoupment

The Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor may, but shall not be required to, setoff against or recoup from any Claims of any nature whatsoever that the Debtor may have against the claimant, but neither the failure to do so nor the Allowance of any Claim shall constitute a waiver or release by the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor of any such Claim it may have against the Holder of such Claim.

I. Claims Paid or Payable by Third Parties

1. Claims Paid by Third Parties

The Debtor, on or prior to the Effective Date, or the Reorganized Debtor, after the Effective Date, shall reduce a Claim, and such Claim shall be disallowed without a Claims objection having to be Filed and without any further notice, action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent that the Holder of such Claim receives payment on account of such Claim from a party that is not the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor. To the extent a Holder of a Claim receives a distribution on account of such Claim and receives payment from a party that is not the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor on account of such Claim, such Holder shall, within two weeks of receipt thereof, repay or return the distribution to the Reorganized Debtor, to the extent the Holder's total recovery on account of such Claim from the third party and under the Plan exceeds the amount of such Claim.

2. Claims Payable by Third Parties

No distributions under the Plan shall be made on account of an Allowed Claim that is payable pursuant to one of the Debtor's insurance policies until the Holder of such Allowed Claim has exhausted all remedies with respect to such insurance policy. To the extent that one or more of the Debtor's insurers agrees to satisfy in full a Claim (if and to the extent adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction), then immediately upon such insurers' agreement, such Claim may be expunged without an objection to such Claim having to be Filed and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

ARTICLE VII.

PROCEDURES FOR RESOLVING CONTINGENT, UNLIQUIDATED, AND DISPUTED CLAIMS

A. Resolution of Disputed Claims

1. Allowance of Claims

On or after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall have and shall retain any and all rights and defenses that the Debtor had with respect to any Claim, except with respect to any Claim deemed Allowed as of the Effective Date. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or in any order entered in the Chapter 11 Case prior to the Effective Date, including, without limitation, the Confirmation Order, no Claim shall become an Allowed Claim unless and until such Claim is deemed Allowed (i) under the Plan or the Bankruptcy Code or (ii) by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, including, without limitation, the Confirmation Order.

2. No Distribution Pending Allowance

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, if any portion of a Claim is a Disputed Claim, no payment or distribution provided under the Plan shall be made on account of such Claim unless and until such Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim. To the extent a Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim, in accordance with the provisions of the Plan, distributions shall be made to the Holder of such Allowed Claim, without interest.

3. <u>Disputed Claims Reserve</u>

(i) Disputed Claims Reserve

On the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall deposit into the Disputed Claims Reserve the amount of Cash and New Common Stock that would have been distributed to Holders of all Disputed Claims as if such Disputed Claims had been Allowed on the Effective Date, with the amount of such Allowed Claims to be determined, solely for the purpose of establishing reserves and for maximum distribution purposes, to be the lesser of (i) the asserted amount of the Disputed Claim Filed with the Bankruptcy Court, or if no Proof of Claim was Filed, listed by the Debtor in the Schedules, (ii) the amount, if any, estimated by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 502(c), and (iii) the amount otherwise agreed to by the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, and the Holder of such Disputed Claim for reserve purposes.

(ii) Distribution of Excess Amounts in the Disputed Claims Reserve

When all Disputed Claims are resolved and either become Allowed or are disallowed by Final Order, to the extent Cash or New Common Stock remains in the Disputed Claims Reserve after all Holders of Disputed Claims that have become Allowed have been paid the full amount they are entitled to pursuant to the treatment set forth for the appropriate Class under the Plan, then such remaining Cash and New Common Stock shall vest in the Reorganized Debtor.

4. Prosecution of Objections to Claims

The Debtor, prior to and on the Effective Date, or the Reorganized Debtor, after the Effective Date, shall have the exclusive authority to File objections to Claims or settle, compromise, withdraw or litigate to judgment objections to any and all Claims, regardless of whether such Claims are in a Class or otherwise. From and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor may settle or compromise any Disputed Claim without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. From and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor shall have the sole authority to administer and adjust the Claims Register to reflect any such settlements or compromises without any further notice, action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

5. Claims Estimation

The Debtor, prior to and on the Effective Date, or the Reorganized Debtor, after the Effective Date, may request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate any contingent or unliquidated Claim to the extent permitted by Bankruptcy Code section 502(c) regardless of whether the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor has previously objected to such Claim or whether the Bankruptcy Court has ruled on any such objection, and the Bankruptcy Court shall have jurisdiction to estimate any Claim at any time during litigation concerning any objection to such Claim, including during the pendency of any appeal relating to any such objection.

6. Expungement or Adjustment of Claims Without Objection

Any Claim that has been paid, satisfied, or superseded may be expunged on the Claims Register by the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, and any Claim that has been amended may be adjusted thereon by the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, in both cases without a Claims objection having to be Filed and without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

7. Deadline to File Claims Objections

Any objections to Claims shall be Filed by no later than the Claims Objection Bar Date.

B. Disallowance of Claims

Any Claims held by an Entity from which property is recoverable under Bankruptcy Code sections 542, 543, 550, or 553, or that is a transferee of a transfer avoidable under Bankruptcy Code section 522(f), 522(h), 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, or 724(a), shall be deemed disallowed pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 502(d), and Holders of such Claims may not receive any Distributions on account of such Claims until such time as such Causes of Action against that Entity have been settled or a Final Order with respect thereto has been entered and all sums due, if any, by that Entity have been turned over or paid by such Entity to the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or the Litigation Trustee.

EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE AGREED BY THE DEBTOR OR THE REORGANIZED DEBTOR, AS APPLICABLE, ANY AND ALL PROOFS OF CLAIM FILED AFTER THE CLAIMS BAR DATE SHALL BE DEEMED DISALLOWED AND EXPUNGED AS OF THE

EFFECTIVE DATE WITHOUT ANY FURTHER NOTICE TO OR ACTION, ORDER, OR APPROVAL OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT, AND HOLDERS OF SUCH CLAIMS MAY NOT RECEIVE ANY DISTRIBUTIONS ON ACCOUNT OF SUCH CLAIMS, UNLESS SUCH LATE PROOF OF CLAIM IS DEEMED TIMELY FILED BY A FINAL ORDER OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT.

C. Amendments to Claims

On or after the Effective Date, a Claim may not be Filed or amended without prior authorization of the Bankruptcy Court or the Reorganized Debtor, and any such new or amended Claim Filed without such prior authorization shall be deemed disallowed in full and expunged without any further action.

ARTICLE VIII.

SETTLEMENT, RELEASE, INJUNCTION, AND RELATED PROVISIONS

A. Discharge of Claims and Termination of Equity Interests

Pursuant to and to the fullest extent permitted by Bankruptcy Code section 1141(d), and except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the distributions, rights, and treatment that are provided in the Plan shall be in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge, effective as of the Effective Date, of all Claims, Equity Interests, and Causes of Action of any nature whatsoever, including any interest accrued on Claims or Equity Interests from and after the Commencement Date, whether known or unknown, against, liabilities of, Liens on, obligations of, rights against, and Equity Interests in the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or their assets or properties, regardless of whether any property shall have been distributed or retained pursuant to the Plan on account of such Claims or Equity Interests, including demands, liabilities, and Causes of Action that arose before the Effective Date, any contingent or non-contingent liability on account of representations or warranties issued on or before the Effective Date, and all debts of the kind specified in Bankruptcy Code sections 502(g), 502(h), or 502(i), in each case whether or not: (i) a Proof of Claim or Equity Interest based upon such Claim, debt, right, or Equity Interest is Filed or deemed Filed pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 501; (ii) a Claim or Equity Interest based upon such Claim, debt, right, or Equity Interest is Allowed pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 502; or (iii) the Holder of such a Claim or Equity Interest has accepted the Plan. Any default by the Debtor or its Affiliates with respect to any Claim or Equity Interest that existed immediately before or on account of the Filing of the Chapter 11 Case shall be deemed cured on the Effective Date. The Confirmation Order shall be a judicial determination of the discharge of all Claims and Equity Interests subject to the Effective Date occurring.

B. Injunction

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, from and after the Effective Date, all Entities that have held, hold, or may hold Claims against or Equity Interests in the Debtor or the Estate are permanently enjoined from taking any of the following actions against the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, or the Estate: (i) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or

other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Equity Interests; (ii) enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering by any manner or means any judgment, award, decree, or order against such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Equity Interests; (iii) creating, perfecting, or enforcing any Lien of any kind against such Entities or the property or estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Equity Interests; (iv) asserting any right of setoff, subrogation, or recoupment of any kind against any obligation due from such Entities or against the property of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Equity Interests, unless such Holder has Filed a motion requesting the right to perform such setoff, subrogation, or recoupment on or before the Confirmation Date, and notwithstanding an indication in a Proof of Claim or otherwise that such Holder asserts, has, or intends to preserve any right of setoff, subrogation, or recoupment pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 553 or otherwise; and (v) commencing or continuing, in any manner or in any place, any action that does not comply with or is inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan.

C. Exculpation

None of the Released Parties shall have or incur any liability to any holder of any Claim or Equity Interest for any act or omission in connection with or arising out of the Debtor's restructuring, including, without limitation, the negotiation and execution of the Plan, the Chapter 11 Case, the Disclosure Statement, the solicitation of votes for and the pursuit of the Plan, the Consummation of the Plan, or the administration of the Plan or the Cash, New Common Stock, Subordinated Notes Warrants and General Unsecured Warrants to be distributed under the Plan, and further including, without limitation, all documents ancillary thereto, all decisions, actions, inactions and alleged negligence or misconduct relating thereto, and all prepetition activities leading to the promulgation and confirmation of the Plan; *provided*, *however*, that the foregoing shall not apply to any act which constitutes a bankruptcy crime under title 18 of the United States Code.

D. General Releases by the Debtor

For good and valuable consideration, including the facilitation of the Debtor's expeditious reorganization, on and after the Effective Date, the Released Parties shall be released and discharged by the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, and the Estate from any and all Claims and Causes of Action of any nature whatsoever, including any derivative Claims asserted by or on behalf of the Debtor, based upon or relating to any act, omission, transaction, event, or other occurrence taking place on or prior to the Effective Date; *provided*, *however*, that the foregoing shall not apply to (i) Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI transferred to the Litigation Trust pursuant to Article IV.M of the Plan; and (ii) any act which constitutes a bankruptcy crime under title 18 of the United States Code.

E. General Releases by Holders of Claims and Equity Interests

To the extent permitted by applicable law, as of the Effective Date, each Entity that has held, holds, or may hold a Claim or an Equity Interest, as applicable, in consideration for the obligations of the Debtor under the Plan, the Plan distributions, and other agreements, securities, instruments, or other documents executed or delivered in connection with the Plan, shall be

deemed to have conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever released and discharged the Released Parties from any and all Claims and Causes of Action of any nature whatsoever, including any derivative Claims asserted by or on behalf of the Debtor, that such entity would have been legally entitled to assert based upon or relating to any act, omission, transaction, event, or other occurrence taking place on or prior to the Effective Date; *provided*, *however*, that the foregoing shall not apply to (i) Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account and OCI transferred to the Litigation Trust pursuant to Article IV.M of the Plan; (ii) any act which constitutes a bankruptcy crime under title 18 of the United States Code; and (iii) any obligations of the Reorganized Debtor pursuant to the Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, One State Street, LLC shall continue to be entitled to the benefits set forth in the OSS Settlement Agreement.

F. Releases Required Pursuant to the Stipulation of Settlement

In accordance with the Stipulation of Settlement, the Plan includes the following releases:

- To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, on the Effective Date, all Persons or Entities, including, but not limited, to the Ambac Entities and any shareholder or creditor of any of the Ambac Entities (including any other Person or Entity purportedly acting derivatively on behalf of the Ambac Entities) shall be permanently barred and enjoined from instituting, prosecuting, or continuing to prosecute any and all manner of Claims, actions, Causes of Actions, suits, controversies, agreements, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or Unknown (as defined in the Stipulation of Settlement), suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations, or common law of the United States of America, any state or political subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, against any or all of the Individual Defendants and any or all of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity (i) that were, could have been, might have been, or might be in the future asserted in any of the Securities Actions or any of the Derivative Actions; (ii) in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act within the Class Period or relevant periods specified in any of the Derivative Actions by any of the Individual Defendants or any of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity relating to any Ambac Entity or in his or her capacity as an officer, director, or employee of any Ambac Entity; or (iii) that allege, arise out of, or are based upon or attributable to any fact, action, omission, or failure to act that is alleged in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions or related to any fact, action, omission, or failure to act alleged in the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions.
- 2. On the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor, on behalf of itself and (to the fullest extent of its power to do so) all Ambac Entities and (to the fullest extent of their power to do so) any shareholder, creditor, or other Person or Entity purporting to sue on behalf of or in the right of any of the Ambac Entities, shall be deemed to fully release any and all manner of Claims, actions, Causes of Action, suits, controversies, agreements, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or Unknown (as defined in the Stipulation of Settlement), suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations, or common law of the United States of America, any state or political subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, against any or all of the Individual

38

Defendants and any or all of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity (i) that were, could have been, might have been, or might be in the future asserted in any of the Securities Actions or any of the Derivative Actions; (ii) in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act within the Class Period or relevant periods specified in any of the Derivative Actions by any of the Individual Defendants or any of the current or former officers, directors, or employees of any Ambac Entity relating to any Ambac Entity or in his or her capacity as an officer, director, or employee of any Ambac Entity; or (iii) that allege, arise out of, or are based upon or attributable to any fact, action, omission, or failure to act that is alleged in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions or related to any fact, action, omission, or failure to act alleged in the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions.

G. Release of Liens

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, on the Effective Date and concurrently with the applicable distributions made pursuant to the Plan, and, in the case of a Class 2 Secured Claim, satisfaction in full of the portion of such Claim that is Allowed as of the Effective Date, all mortgages, deeds, trusts, Liens, pledges, or other security interests against any property of the Estate shall be fully released and discharged, and all of the right, title, and interest of any Holder of such mortgages, deeds, trusts, Liens, pledges, or other security interests shall revert to the Reorganized Debtor.

ARTICLE IX.

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CONFIRMATION AND CONSUMMATION OF THE PLAN

A. Conditions Precedent to Confirmation

It shall be a condition to Confirmation of the Plan that the following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Article IX.C of the Plan: (i) the Bankruptcy Court shall have approved the Disclosure Statement with respect to the Plan; (ii) the Bankruptcy Court shall have approved any plan supplement filed with respect to the Plan; and (iii) the proposed Confirmation Order shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Debtor.

B. Conditions Precedent to Consummation

It shall be a condition to Consummation of the Plan that the following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Article IX.C of the Plan: (i) the Confirmation Order shall have become a Final Order; (ii) the New Organizational Documents shall have been effected or executed and delivered to the required parties; (iii) the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall have executed and delivered all documents necessary to effectuate the issuance of the New Common Stock, Subordinated Notes Warrants and General Unsecured Warrants; (iv) all authorizations, consents, and regulatory approvals required, if any, in connection with the consummation of the Plan shall have been obtained; (v) the District Court shall have entered a Final Order certifying the Settlement Class and approving the Stipulation of Settlement; (vi) the Derivative Actions shall have been dismissed; (vii) the Bankruptcy Court

shall have approved the Debtor's entry into the Stipulation of Settlement and the Insurer Agreement; (viii) the IRS Dispute shall have been resolved in a manner satisfactory to the Debtor and the Committee; (ix) the Bankruptcy Court shall have entered an order estimating the IRS Claims at \$0.00 for all purposes or such other amount that is acceptable to the Debtor and the Committee; (x) the aggregate face amount of Allowed and Disputed General Unsecured Claims shall be less than \$50,000,000; (xi) if OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, the Rehabilitation Court shall have approved the transactions contemplated in the Plan within sixty (60) days of the filing of the Plan; (xii) if OCI and AAC have accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, (a) the Cash Grant will have been paid and (b) one of TSA Amendment A, TSA Amendment B and TSA Amendment C will have been executed; (xiii) if OCI and AAC have not accepted the Plan Settlement prior to the Plan Settlement Deadline, (a) the Bankruptcy Court shall have approved the identity and appointment of the Litigation Trustee and the form of the Litigation Trust Agreement and determined that the Litigation Trustee is authorized to take the actions contemplated by the Litigation Trust Agreement, (b) the Debtor and the Litigation Trustee shall have executed the Litigation Trust Agreement, and (c) the Litigation Trust Assets shall have been transferred to the Litigation Trust; and (xiv) all other actions, documents, certificates, and agreements necessary to implement the Plan shall have been effected or executed and delivered to the required parties and, to the extent required, filed with the applicable Governmental Units in accordance with applicable laws.

C. Waiver of Conditions

Upon notice to the Informal Group and the Committee, the Debtor shall have the right to waive one or more of the conditions to Confirmation or Consummation of the Plan set forth in Article IX of the Plan at any time without notice, leave, or order of the Bankruptcy Court or any formal action other than proceeding to confirm or consummate the Plan.

D. Effect of Nonoccurrence of Conditions

If each of the conditions to Confirmation and Consummation has not been satisfied or duly waived on or before the date that is 180 days after the Confirmation Date, or by such later date as determined by the Debtor with the consent of the Committee, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, the Confirmation Order may be vacated by the Bankruptcy Court. If the Confirmation Order is vacated pursuant to this provision, the Plan shall be null and void in all respects and nothing contained in the Plan or the Disclosure Statement shall: (i) constitute a waiver or release of any claims by or Claims against or Equity Interests in the Debtor; (ii) prejudice in any manner the rights of the Debtor, any Holders, or any other Entity; or (iii) constitute an admission, acknowledgment, offer, or undertaking by the Debtor, any Holders, or any other Entity in any respect.

ARTICLE X.

MODIFICATION, REVOCATION, OR WITHDRAWAL OF THE PLAN

A. Modification and Amendments

The Debtor may amend, modify, or supplement the Plan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1127(a) at any time prior to the Confirmation Date. After the Confirmation Date, but prior to Consummation of the Plan, the Debtor may, with the consent of the Committee, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, and upon consultation with the Informal Group, amend, modify, or supplement the Plan without further order of the Bankruptcy Court to remedy any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistencies in the Plan or the Confirmation Order.

B. Effect of Confirmation on Modifications

Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1127(a), entry of a Confirmation Order shall mean that all modifications or amendments to the Plan since the solicitation thereof are approved and do not require additional disclosure or re-solicitation under Bankruptcy Rule 3019.

C. Revocation or Withdrawal of the Plan

The Debtor reserves the right to revoke or withdraw the Plan prior to the Confirmation Date and to File subsequent chapter 11 plans. If the Debtor revokes or withdraws the Plan, or if Confirmation or Consummation does not occur, then: (i) the Plan shall be null and void in all respects; (ii) any settlement or compromise embodied in the Plan, assumption or rejection of executory contracts or unexpired leases effected by the Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant to the Plan shall be deemed null and void except as may be set forth in a separate order entered by the Bankruptcy Court; and (iii) nothing contained in the Plan shall constitute a waiver or release of any Claims by or against, or any Equity Interests in, the Debtor or any other Entity, prejudice in any manner the rights of the Debtor or any other Entity, or constitute an admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking of any sort by the Debtor or any other Entity.

ARTICLE XI.

RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

Notwithstanding the entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall, after the Effective Date, retain such jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Case and all Entities with respect to all matters related to the Chapter 11 Case, the Debtor, and the Plan as legally permissible, including, without limitation, jurisdiction to:

- 1. Allow, disallow, determine, liquidate, classify, estimate, or establish the priority, secured, or unsecured status, or amount of any Claim or Equity Interest, including the resolution of any request for payment of any Administrative Claim, including Claims of a Professional for services rendered to the Debtor or any Committee, and the resolution of any and all objections to the secured or unsecured status, priority, amount, or allowance of Claims or Equity Interests;
- 2. decide and resolve all matters related to the granting and denying, in whole or in part, any applications for allowance of compensation or reimbursement of expenses to Professionals authorized pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or the Plan;
- 3. decide and resolve all matters related to the reasonableness of the Indenture Trustee Fees and the Informal Group Fees;
- 4. resolve any matters related to: (i) the assumption, assumption and assignment, or rejection of any executory contract or unexpired lease to which the Debtor is party or with respect to which the Debtor may be liable, and the hearing, determination, and, if necessary, liquidation of any Claims arising therefrom, including Cure Claims pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 365; (ii) any potential contractual obligation under any executory contract or unexpired lease that is assumed; and (iii) any dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or expired;
- 5. ensure that distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims and Equity Interests are accomplished pursuant to the provisions of the Plan;
- 6. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any motions, adversary proceedings, contested or litigated matters, and any other matters, and grant or deny any applications involving the Debtor that may be pending on the Effective Date;
- 7. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any and all matters related to Causes of Action, including, but not limited to, any Causes of Action against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI transferred to the Litigation Trust;
- 8. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any and all matters related to Bankruptcy Code sections 1141 and 1145;
- 9. enter and implement such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to execute, implement, or consummate the provisions of the Plan and all contracts, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents, including the Litigation Trust Agreement, created in connection with the Plan or the Disclosure Statement;
- 10. enter and enforce any order pursuant to Bankruptcy Code sections 363, 1123, or 1146(a) for the sale of property;

- 11. resolve any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action that may arise in connection with the Consummation, interpretation, or enforcement of the Plan or any Entity's obligations in connection with the Plan, including, without limitation, any dispute related to amendments to the TSA or the Plan Settlement, including, but not limited to, any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action by or against AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI;
- 12. issue injunctions, enter and implement other orders, or take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate to restrain interference by any Entity, including, but not limited to, AAC, the Segregated Account or OCI, with Consummation or enforcement of the Plan;
- 13. resolve any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action with respect to the releases, injunctions, and other provisions contained in Article VIII of the Plan and enter such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to implement such releases, injunctions, and other provisions;
- 14. enter and implement such orders as are necessary or appropriate if the Confirmation Order is for any reason modified, stayed, reversed, revoked, or vacated;
- 15. enter an order or final decree concluding or closing the Chapter 11 Case;
- 16. adjudicate any and all disputes arising from or relating to distributions under the Plan;
- 17. consider any modifications of the Plan, to cure any defect or omission, or reconcile any inconsistency in any Bankruptcy Court order, including the Confirmation Order;
- 18. determine requests for the payment of Administrative Claims or Claims entitled to priority pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 507;
- 19. hear and determine disputes arising in connection with the interpretation, implementation, or enforcement of the Plan, or the Confirmation Order, including disputes arising under agreements, securities, instruments, or other documents, including the Litigation Trust Agreement, executed or delivered in connection with the Plan, and further including any disputes regarding the Debtor's right to cause a Deconsolidation Event as set forth in Article IV.H.2 herein without the approval of OCI;
- 20. hear and determine matters concerning state, local, and federal taxes in accordance with Bankruptcy Code sections 346, 505, and 1146;
- 21. hear and determine all matters relating to the Litigation Trust;
- 22. hear and determine all disputes involving the existence, nature, or scope of the Debtor's discharge, including any dispute relating to any liability arising out of

the termination of employment or the termination of any employee or retiree benefit program, regardless of whether such termination occurred prior to or after the Effective Date;

- 23. enforce all orders previously entered by the Bankruptcy Court; and
- 24. hear any other matter not inconsistent with the Bankruptcy Code.

ARTICLE XII.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

A. Immediate Binding Effect

Subject to Article IX.B of the Plan and notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rules 3020(e), 6004(g), 7062, or otherwise, upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, the terms of the Plan shall be immediately effective and enforceable and deemed binding upon the Debtor, the Reorganized Debtor, and any and all Holders of Claims or Equity Interests (irrespective of whether such Claims or Equity Interests are deemed to have accepted the Plan), all Entities that are parties to or are subject to the settlements, compromises, releases, discharges, and injunctions described in the Plan, each Entity acquiring property under the Plan, and any and all non-Debtor parties to executory contracts and unexpired leases with the Debtor.

B. Additional Documents

On or before the Effective Date, the Debtor may File with the Bankruptcy Court any and all agreements and other documents that may be necessary or appropriate in order to effectuate and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan.

C. Payment of Statutory Fees

All fees payable pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court at a hearing pursuant to Bankruptcy Code section 1128, shall be paid for each quarter (including any fraction thereof) until the Chapter 11 Case is converted, dismissed, or closed, whichever occurs first.

D. Dissolution of Committee

On the Effective Date, the Committee shall dissolve automatically, whereupon its members, Professionals, and agents shall be released from any further authority, duties obligations and responsibilities in the Chapter 11 Case and under the Bankruptcy Code; provided, however, that, following the Effective Date, the Committee shall (i) continue to have standing and a right to be heard with respect to (a) Claims and/or applications for compensation by Professionals and requests for allowance of Administrative Expenses, including, but not limited to, filing applications for Accrued Professional Compensation in accordance with Article II.C of the Plan; (b) any appeals of the Confirmation Order that remain pending as of the Effective Date; and (ii) continue to respond to creditor inquiries for one hundred twenty (120) days following the Effective Date.

E. Reservation of Rights

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Plan shall have no force or effect unless the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order. None of the Filing of the Plan, any statement or provision contained in the Plan, or the taking of any action by the Debtor with respect to the Plan or the Disclosure Statement shall be or shall be deemed to be an admission or waiver of any rights of the Debtor with respect to the Holders of Claims or Equity Interests prior to the Effective Date.

F. Successors and Assigns

The rights, benefits, and obligations of any Entity named or referred to in the Plan shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of any heir, executor, administrator, successor or assign, Affiliate, officer, director, agent, representative, attorney, beneficiaries, or guardian, if any, of each Entity.

G. Service of Documents

All notices, requests and demands to or upon the Debtor to be effective shall be in writing (including by facsimile transmission) and, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when actually delivered or, in the case of notice by facsimile transmission, when received and telephonically confirmed, addressed as follows:

Ambac Financial Group, Inc. One State Street Plaza Attn: General Counsel New York, NY 10004

and

Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP Counsel for the Debtor 1301 Avenue of the Americas Attn: Peter A. Ivanick, Esq., and Allison H. Weiss, Esq. New York, NY 10019

With copies to:

Morrison & Foerster LLP Counsel for the Committee 1290 Avenue of the Americas Attn: Anthony Princi, Esq. New York, NY 10104

and

Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld, LLP Counsel for the Informal Group 1333 New Hampshire Ave, N.W. Attn: James R. Savin, Esq. Washington, D.C. 20036

After the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtor has authority to send a notice to Entities that in order to continue to receive documents pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002, they must File a renewed request to receive documents with the Bankruptcy Court. After the Effective Date, the Debtor is authorized to limit the list of Entities receiving documents pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002 to those Entities who have Filed such renewed requests.

H. Further Assurances

The Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, all Holders of Claims receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan, and all other Entities shall, from time to time, prepare, execute, and deliver any agreements or documents and take any other actions as may be necessary or advisable to effectuate the provisions and intent of the Plan or the Confirmation Order.

I. Term of Injunctions or Stays

Unless otherwise provided in the Plan or in the Confirmation Order, all injunctions or stays in effect in the Chapter 11 Case pursuant to Bankruptcy Code sections 105 or 362 or any order of the Bankruptcy Court, and extant on the Confirmation Date (excluding any injunctions or stays contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order) shall remain in full force and effect until the Effective Date. All injunctions or stays contained in the Plan, the Confirmation Order and any order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Stipulation of Settlement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms.

J. Entire Agreement

Except as otherwise indicated, the Plan supersedes all previous and contemporaneous negotiations, promises, covenants, agreements, understandings, and representations on such subjects, all of which have become merged and integrated into the Plan.

K. Exhibits and Related Documents

All exhibits and documents Filed in relation to the Plan are incorporated into and are a part of the Plan as if set forth in full in the Plan. After any exhibits and documents are Filed, copies of such exhibits and documents shall be available upon written request to the Debtor's counsel at the address above or by downloading such exhibits and documents from the Debtor's restructuring website, http://www.kccllc.net/ambac, or the Bankruptcy Court's website, http://www.nys.uscourts.gov (a PACER login and password are required to access documents on the Bankruptcy Court's website).

L. Severability of Plan Provisions

If, before Confirmation of the Plan, any term or provision of the Plan is held by the Bankruptcy Court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the Bankruptcy Court shall have the power to alter and interpret such term or provision to make it valid or enforceable to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose of the term or provision held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, and such term or provision shall then be applicable as altered or interpreted. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration, or interpretation, the remainder of the terms and provisions of the Plan shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired, or invalidated by such holding, alteration, or interpretation. The Confirmation Order shall constitute a judicial determination and shall provide that each term and provision of the Plan, as it may have been altered or interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, is valid and enforceable.

M. Closing of Chapter 11 Case

Promptly after the full administration of the Chapter 11 Case, the Reorganized Debtor shall File with the Bankruptcy Court all documents required by Bankruptcy Rule 3022 and any applicable order of the Bankruptcy Court to close the Chapter 11 Case.

N. Waiver or Estoppel Conflicts

Each Holder of a Claim or Equity Interest shall be deemed to have waived any right to assert any argument, including the right to argue that its Claim or Equity Interest should be Allowed in a certain amount, in a certain priority, secured, or not subordinated, by virtue of an agreement made with the Debtor or its counsel, the Committee or its counsel, or any other Entity, if such agreement was not disclosed in the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or papers Filed with the Bankruptcy Court prior to the Confirmation Date.

O. Conflicts

Except as set forth in the Plan or unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent that the Disclosure Statement, any order of the Bankruptcy Court (other than the Confirmation Order), or any exhibit to the Plan or document executed or delivered in connection with the Plan is inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control; provided, however, that to the extent the Stipulation of Settlement or any order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Stipulation of Settlement may be inconsistent with the Plan, the terms of the Stipulation of Settlement or the order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Stipulation of Settlement shall control.

Dated: July 6, 2011

New York, New York

Respectfully Submitted,

Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

By: Diana Adams

Title: Senior Managing Director

EXHIBIT A

Cost Allocation Agreement

EXHIBIT B

General Unsecured Warrant Agreement

EXHIBIT C

Litigation Trust Agreement

EXHIBIT D

New By-Laws

EXHIBIT E

New Certificate of Incorporation

EXHIBIT F

Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

EXHIBIT G

Subordinated Notes Warrant Agreement

EXHIBIT H

TSA Amendment A

EXHIBIT I

TSA Amendment B

EXHIBIT J

TSA Amendment C

EXHIBIT B

Stipulation of Settlement (without exhibits) and First Amendment to the Stipulation of Settlement

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

IN RE AMBAC FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. SECURITIES LITIGATION

Case No. 08-cv-00411-NRB

STANLEY TOLIN and EDWARD WALTON, Individually and On Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated,

Case No. 08-cv-11241-CM

Plaintiffs,

v.

AMBAC FINANCIAL GROUP, INC., ROBERT J. GENADER and SEAN T. LEONARD,

Defendants.

STIPULATION OF SETTLEMENT WITH AMBAC AND THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS

This Stipulation of Settlement (the "Stipulation") is entered into between and among the following Settling Parties (as defined in paragraph 1 below) by and through their respective counsel: (i) the Lead Plaintiffs in the Ambac Class Action (as defined below), the Public School Teachers' Pension & Retirement Fund of Chicago, Arkansas Teacher Retirement System, Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi; Plaintiff Painting Industry Insurance and Annuity Funds; and plaintiffs in the Tolin Action (as defined below), Stanley Tolin, and Edward Walton (collectively, "Plaintiffs"), on behalf of themselves and the members of the Class (as hereinafter defined); (ii) Ambac Financial Group, Inc. ("Ambac" or the "Company")¹; and (iii) Michael A. Callen ("Callen"), Jill M. Considine ("Considine"), Robert J. Genader ("Genader"), W. Grant Gregory ("Gregory"), Philip B. Lassiter ("Lassiter"), Sean T. Leonard ("Leonard"), Thomas C. Theobald ("Theobald"), John W. Uhlein, III ("Uhlein"), Laura S. Unger ("Unger"), Henry D.G. Wallace ("Wallace"), David W. Wallis ("Wallis"), Gregg L. Bienstock ("Bienstock"), Kevin J. Doyle ("Doyle"), Philip Duff ("Duff"), Thomas J. Gandolfo ("Gandolfo"), Kathleen McDonough ("McDonough"), William T. McKinnon ("McKinnon"), Douglas C. Renfield-Miller ("Renfield-Miller"), and Robert G. Shoback ("Shoback"; collectively, "Individual Defendants") (collectively, Ambac and the Individual Defendants are the "Settling Defendants"). The Stipulation is intended by the Settling Parties to fully, finally and forever resolve, discharge and settle the Settled Claims, upon and subject to the terms and conditions hereof.

WHEREAS:

¹ On November 8, 2010, Ambac commenced a voluntary case under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code. As explained below, the Ambac Settlement is conditioned on receiving an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving Ambac's participation in the Settlement.

- A. All terms with initial capitalization not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in paragraph 1 herein.
- B. Beginning on or about January 16, 2008, putative class action complaints were filed against Ambac and certain Individual Defendants in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, asserting violations of the federal securities laws. Pursuant to the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the "PSLRA"), notice to the public was issued setting forth the deadline by which putative class members could move the Court to be appointed to act as lead plaintiff.
- C. By Order dated May 9, 2008, the Court consolidated the related actions in the Ambac Class Action, appointed Lead Plaintiffs as the lead plaintiffs in the Ambac Class Action, and appointed Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann LLP and Kaplan Fox & Kilsheimer LLP as lead counsel in the Ambac Class Action ("Lead Counsel").
- D. On August 25, 2008, Lead Plaintiffs on behalf of a putative class of persons who purchased or acquired Ambac securities filed the Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint (the "Ambac Complaint") in the Ambac Class Action, asserting claims under §§ 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 and §§ 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder against Ambac, Genader, Leonard, Uhlein, Wallis, Callen, Lassiter, Considine, Gregory, Theobald, Unger, Wallace, Duff, the Underwriter Defendants; Lehman Brothers Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Banc of America Securities LLC, Keefe, Bruyette & Wood, Inc., and KPMG LLP ("KPMG") (collectively "Defendants").
- E. On October 21, 2008, Defendants in the Ambac Class Action moved to dismiss the Ambac Complaint, which Lead Plaintiffs opposed on December 19, 2008. Reply memoranda were filed on February 10, 2009.

- F. On December 24, 2008, the initial complaint in the Tolin Action, which alleged violations of the federal securities laws based on certain factual allegations similar to certain of the factual allegations in the Ambac Class Action, but on behalf of a different class of purchasers, was filed.
- G. An Amended Class Action Complaint in the Tolin Action (collectively, with the Ambac Complaint, "Complaints") was filed on January 20, 2009, asserting violations of the federal securities laws against Ambac, Genader and Leonard, on behalf of a putative class of persons who purchased or acquired Structured Repackaged Asset-Backed Trust Securities, Callable Class A Certificates, Series 2007-1, STRATS(SM) Trust for Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Securities, Series 2007-1.
- H. On April 15, 2009, Ambac and the individual defendants in the Tolin Action moved to dismiss the Amended Class Action Complaint in the Tolin Action, which plaintiffs in the Tolin Action opposed on May 15, 2009. A reply memorandum was filed on May 22, 2009.
- I. In order to facilitate settlement and mediation efforts, on July 15, 2009, upon application of all parties, the Court ordered Defendants' pending motions to dismiss in the Ambac Class Action withdrawn without prejudice to re-filing motions to dismiss.
- J. Lead Plaintiffs, plaintiffs in the Tolin Action, the Settling Defendants, and the Underwriter Defendants, among others, participated in an in-person mediation before Judge Nicholas Politan (Ret.) on July 30, 2009, in New York, New York. No settlement was reached at the mediation.

- K. On August 27, 2009, renewed motions to dismiss by Defendants; renewed opposition thereto by Lead Plaintiffs, and Defendants' renewed reply briefs, were filed in the Ambac Class Action.²
- L. Following a hearing held on December 17, 2009, by Order dated February 22, 2010, the Court granted in part and denied in part Defendants' motions to dismiss the Ambac Complaint in the Ambac Class Action, sustaining claims under the Exchange Act and claims under the Securities Act with respect to Ambac's February 2007 DISCS Offering, and dismissing claims under the Securities Act with respect to Ambac's March 2008 Offering. All claims against Defendants KPMG, Philip Duff, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Banc of America Securities LLC, and Keefe Bruyete & Wood, Inc. in the Ambac Class Action were dismissed.
- M. On December 23, 2009, Judge McMahon denied defendants' motion to dismiss in the Tolin Action. Defendants in that action filed a motion for reconsideration or certification for interlocutory appeal on January 6, 2010, and on February 2, 2010 Judge McMahon recalled her prior opinion and on February 5, 2010 granted reargument on the motion to dismiss. Judge McMahon thereafter heard oral argument on the motion to dismiss on August 5, 2010. The motion to dismiss in the Tolin Action remained pending as of the time Judge McMahon was advised that the parties had reached an agreement in principle to settle the Tolin Action.
- N. On March 8, 2010, certain Defendants in the Ambac Class Action filed a motion for certification for interlocutory appeal of the Court's February 22, 2010 Order denying in part their motions to dismiss; other Defendants joined in the motion on March 15, 2010. Lead

² Underwriter Defendant Lehman Brothers Inc. was not included in the renewed motion to dismiss (or proceedings thereafter) as a result of the December 23, 2008 Order of Stay consistent

Plaintiffs filed their opposition on March 22, 2010, and certain Defendants filed their reply on March 29, 2010. The Court denied the motion for certification for interlocutory appeal by Order dated April 29, 2010.

- O. On or about April 22, 2010, Lead Plaintiffs, the Settling Defendants, the Underwriter Defendants, and the D&O Insurers, among others, participated in a second in-person mediation session with Judge Politan. No settlement was reached at the mediation, but the parties agreed that mediation efforts would continue through discussions between and among Judge Politan (the mediator), the Lead Plaintiffs, plaintiffs in the Tolin Action, the Settling Defendants, the Underwriter Defendants and the D&O Insurers, and such discussions continued through the remainder of 2010.
- P. Although mediation efforts continued, on May 7, 2010, certain Defendants filed Answers to the Ambac Complaint in the Ambac Class Action.
- Q. On July 2, 2010, Lead Plaintiffs, the Settling Defendants, and the D&O Insurers participated in a third in-person mediation session with Judge Politan. At the conclusion of the session, an agreement in principle was reached that would resolve the claims in the Ambac Complaint in the Ambac Class Action.
- R. On August 10, 2010, Lead Plaintiffs, plaintiffs in the Tolin Action, and the Settling Defendants participated in a fourth in-person mediation session with Judge Politan. At the conclusion of the session, an agreement in principle was reached that would also resolve the claims in the Complaint in the Tolin Action.

with the Order Commencing Liquidation, dated September 19, 2008, and the Automatic Stay provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code.

- S. After the aforementioned agreements in principle were reached, the parties worked to reach agreement on a memorandum of understanding that would document the agreements that had been reached.
- T. On November 8, 2010, Ambac filed in the Bankruptcy Court (as defined below) a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code.
- U. On or about November 10, 2010, Lead Plaintiffs, certain of the Settling Defendants, and the Underwriter Defendants participated in a fifth in-person mediation session with Judge Politan.
- V. On December 3, 2010, after considerable negotiation, Lead Plaintiffs and the Underwriter Defendants executed a Memorandum of Understanding reflecting an agreement in principle to settle claims in the Ambac Class Action against the Underwriter Defendants and their related parties.
- W. On December 8, 2010, after considerable negotiation, Lead Plaintiffs, the plaintiffs in the Tolin Action, Ambac, the Individual Defendants, and the D&O Insurers executed a Memorandum of Understanding reflecting an agreement in principle to settle claims in the Ambac Class Action and Tolin Action against Ambac, the Individual Defendants and their related parties (the "Ambac/Individuals MOU"). In the Ambac/Individuals MOU, the parties also contemplated the resolution, release and bar of certain claims that have been or could be brought by Ambac or any shareholder or creditor of Ambac (including any claims purportedly brought derivatively on behalf of Ambac) against any of Ambac's current or former officers, directors or employees, including those related to the subject matter of the Securities Actions or the subject matter of the claims asserted in the Derivative Actions (as defined below).

- X. The Settling Defendants have denied and continue to deny that they have committed any act or omission giving rise to any liability and/or violation of law, including any violations of the federal securities laws or any other legal obligation or duty potentially giving rise to the Settled Claims, and are entering into this Settlement to eliminate the burden and expense of further litigation and the risk of an adverse judgment were the Securities Actions to proceed. Neither the Settlement nor any of its terms shall in any way be construed or deemed to be evidence of, or an admission or concession on the part of any of the Settling Defendants with respect to, any claim of fault or liability or wrongdoing or damage whatsoever, or any infirmity in the defenses that the Settling Defendants have, or could have, asserted. The Settling Parties recognize, however, that the Securities Actions have been filed by Plaintiffs and defended by the Settling Defendants in good faith, that no party has violated Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, that the Securities Actions are being voluntarily settled on terms that each party believes to be reasonable considering the merits of its claims or defenses and taking into account the expense and uncertainty of continued litigation. This Stipulation shall not be construed or deemed to be a concession by Plaintiffs of any infirmity in the claims asserted in the Securities Actions.
- Y. Lead Counsel and Tolin's Counsel have conducted an extensive investigation relating to the claims and the underlying events and transactions alleged in the Complaints. Lead Counsel and Tolin's Counsel have analyzed evidence adduced during their investigations and in discovery and have researched the applicable law with respect to the claims of Plaintiffs and the Class against Defendants, as well as the potential defenses thereto.
- Z. Based upon their investigation, Lead Counsel and Tolin's Counsel have concluded that the terms and conditions of this Stipulation are fair, reasonable and adequate to

Plaintiffs and the Class, and in their best interests, and have agreed to settle the claims raised in the Securities Actions pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Stipulation, after considering (i) the substantial benefits that Plaintiffs and the members of the Class will receive from resolution of the Securities Actions as against the Defendants, (ii) the attendant risks of litigation, and (iii) the desirability of permitting the Settlement to be consummated as provided by the terms of this Stipulation.

AA. The Settling Parties agree that certification of a class, for settlement purposes only, is appropriate in the Securities Actions. For purposes of this Settlement only, the Class is defined in paragraph 1 below. Nothing in this Stipulation shall serve or be used in any fashion, either directly or indirectly, as evidence or support for certification of a litigation class, and the Settling Parties intend that the provisions herein concerning certification of the Class shall have no effect whatsoever in the event the Settlement does not become Final.

NOW THEREFORE, without any admission or concession on the part of Plaintiffs of any lack of merit of the Securities Actions whatsoever, and without any admission or concession of any liability or wrongdoing or lack of merit in the defenses whatsoever by the Settling Defendants, it is hereby STIPULATED AND AGREED, by and among the Settling Parties, through their respective attorneys, subject to approval of the Court pursuant to Rule 23(e) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and also subject to the approvals of the Bankruptcy Court as provided for herein, in consideration of the benefits flowing to the parties hereto from the Settlement, that all Settled Claims as against the Released Parties and all Released Parties' Claims shall be fully, finally and forever compromised, settled, released, discharged and dismissed with prejudice, upon and subject to the following terms and conditions:

DEFINITIONS

- 1. As used in this Stipulation, the following terms shall have the meanings specified below.
 - (a) "Ambac" or the "Company" means Ambac Financial Group, Inc.
- (b) "Ambac Class Action" means the action encaptioned *In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Securities Litigation*, No. 08-cv-411-NRB (S.D.N.Y.).
- (c) "Ambac Complaint" means the Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint filed in the Ambac Class Action on August 25, 2008.
- (d) "Ambac Settlement" means the settlement set forth in this Stipulation among Plaintiffs, Ambac, and the Individual Defendants. "Ambac Settlement" and "Settlement" may be used interchangeably herein.
- (e) "Ambac Settlement Amount" means the total amount of \$27,100,000 in cash as set forth below in paragraph 8. "Ambac Settlement Amount" and "Settlement Amount" may be used interchangeably herein.
- (f) "Authorized Claimant" means a Class Member who submits a timely and valid Proof of Claim Form to the Claims Administrator (in accordance with the requirements established by the Court) that is approved for payment from the Net Settlement Fund.
- (g) "Bankruptcy Court" means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the South District of New York.
- (h) "Bankruptcy Court Approval Order" means the order of the Bankruptcy Court including any necessary approval related to Ambac's entry into and performance under this Stipulation and containing the releases, bars and injunctions provided in paragraph 35(f).

- (i) "Claim" means a completed and signed Proof of Claim Form submitted to the Claims Administrator in accordance with the instructions on the Proof of Claim Form.
- (j) "Claim Form" or "Proof of Claim Form" means the Proof of Claim Form and Release (substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-2 to Exhibit A) that a Class Member must complete if that Class Member seeks to be eligible to share in a distribution of the Net Settlement Fund.
- (k) "Claimant" means a person or entity that submits a Claim Form to the Claims Administrator seeking to be eligible to share in the proceeds of the Settlement Fund.
- "Claims Administrator" means the claims administrator selected by Lead
 Counsel.
- (m) "Class" means all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired any Ambac securities, including Ambac equity or debt securities or options thereon, or any Structured Repackaged Asset-Backed Trust Securities, Callable Class A Certificates, Series 2007-1, STRATS(SM) Trust for Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Securities, Series 2007-1 ("STRATS") (collectively "Ambac Securities") in the period from October 19, 2005, through and including July 18, 2009. Excluded from the Class are Defendants; members of the immediate families of any Defendant; and their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns. Also excluded from the Class are any persons who exclude themselves by filing a timely and valid request for exclusion in accordance with the requirements set forth in the Notice.
- (n) "Class Distribution Order" means an order entered by the Court authorizing and directing that the Net Settlement Fund be distributed, in whole or in part, to Authorized Claimants.

- (o) "Class Member" means a person or entity that is a member of the Class and that does not exclude himself, herself or itself by filing a timely and valid request for exclusion in accordance with the requirements set forth in the Notice.
- (p) "Class Period" means the period from October 19, 2005, through and including July 18, 2009.
- (q) "Complaints" means, collectively, the Ambac Complaint and the Tolin Complaint.
- (r) "Court" means the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York.
- (s) "D&O Insurers" means four of the insurers that issued specified policies of directors and officers liability insurance for the benefit of the Individual Defendants, that are contributing to the Settlement Amount, and that are parties to the Insurer Agreement and the MOU.
- (t) "Defendants" means Ambac, Genader, Leonard, Uhlein, Wallis, Callen, Lassiter, Considine, Gregory, Theobald, Unger, Wallace, Duff, the Underwriter Defendants; Lehman Brothers Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Banc of America Securities LLC, Keefe, Bruyette & Wood, Inc., and KPMG LLP.
- (u) "Derivative Actions" means In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Derivative Litigation, No. 08-cv-854-SHS (S.D.N.Y.), In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Shareholder Derivative Litigation, C.A. No. 3521-VCL (Del. Ch.), and/or In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Shareholder Derivative Litigation, No. 650050/2008E (N.Y. Sup.), and/or any of the individual actions included therein or any of them.

- (v) "Dismissal Order" means the stipulation of dismissal with prejudice to be entered in the Tolin Action upon all other conditions to the Effective Date of the Ambac Settlement having occurred, reciting that the claims of the members of the putative class in the Tolin Action were included within the Class in, and resolved as part of the Settlement approved in, the Ambac Class Action.
- (w) "Effective Date" means the first date by which all of the events and conditions specified in paragraphs 35 (and all subparagraphs thereto) of this Stipulation have been met, have been waived, or have occurred, as set forth in those paragraphs.
- (x) "Escrow Account" means an interest-bearing escrow account(s) maintained at the Escrow Agent, which account shall be under the exclusive control of Lead Counsel.
 - (y) "Escrow Agent" means Valley National Bank.
- (z) "Escrow Agreement" means the agreement(s) among Lead Counsel and the Escrow Agent setting forth the terms under which the Escrow Agent shall maintain the Escrow Account.
- (aa) "Final" when referring to an order or judgment means: (i) that the time for appeal or appellate review of the order or judgment has expired, and no appeal has been taken; or (ii) if there has been an appeal, (a) that the appeal has been decided by all appellate courts without causing a material change in the order or judgment; or (b) that the order or judgment has been upheld on appeal and is no longer subject to appellate review by further appeal or writ of certiorari. "Final" when referring to the Settlement means that all of the conditions to the Effective Date have been met, unless waived in accordance with the Stipulation.

- (bb) "Final Approval Hearing" or "Settlement Hearing" means the hearing set by the Court under Rule 23(e) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to consider final approval of the Settlement.
- (cc) "Individual Defendants" means Michael A. Callen, Jill M. Considine, Robert J. Genader, W. Grant Gregory, Philip B. Lassiter, Sean T. Leonard, Thomas C. Theobald, John W. Uhlein, III, Laura S. Unger, Henry D.G. Wallace, David W. Wallis, Gregg L. Bienstock, Kevin J. Doyle, Philip Duff, Thomas J. Gandolfo, Kathleen McDonough, William T. McKinnon, Douglas C. Renfield-Miller, and Robert G. Shoback.
- (dd) "Insurer Agreement" means the separate document agreed upon and executed by or on behalf of Ambac, the Individual Defendants, and the D&O Insurers.
- (ee) "Judgment" means an order of judgment and dismissal, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, to be entered by the Court pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b). Any plan of allocation submitted by Lead Counsel or any order entered regarding any motion for attorneys' fees and expenses filed by Lead Counsel shall in no way affect or delay the finality of the Judgment and shall not affect or delay the Effective Date of the Settlement.
 - (ff) "KPMG" means KPMG LLP.
- (gg) "Lead Counsel" means the law firms of Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann LLP and Kaplan Fox & Kilsheimer LLP.
- (hh) "Lead Plaintiffs" means the Public School Teachers' Pension & Retirement Fund of Chicago, Arkansas Teacher Retirement System, and Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi.

- (ii) "Litigation Expenses" means the reasonable costs and expenses incurred by Plaintiffs' Counsel in connection with commencing and prosecuting the Action, for which Lead Counsel intend to apply to the Court for reimbursement from the Settlement Fund. Litigation Expenses may also include reimbursement of the expenses of Plaintiffs in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(a)(4). All Litigation Expenses, whether of Plaintiffs' Counsel or Plaintiffs, shall be paid solely from the Settlement Fund.
- (jj) "Net Settlement Fund" means the Settlement Fund less: (i) any Taxes; (ii) any Notice and Administration Costs; (iii) any Litigation Expenses awarded by the Court; and (iv) any attorneys' fees awarded by the Court.
- (kk) "Notice" means the Notice of Pendency of Class Action and Proposed Settlement, Final Approval Hearing, and Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Reimbursement of Litigation Expenses (substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 to Exhibit A), which is to be sent to members of the Class.
- (II) "Notice and Administration Costs" means the costs, fees and expenses that are incurred by the Claims Administrator in connection with (i) providing notice to the Class; and (ii) administering the Claims process.
- (mm) "Plaintiffs" means Lead Plaintiffs, and Plaintiffs Painting Industry
 Insurance and Annuity Funds, Stanley Tolin, and Edward Walton.
- (nn) "Plaintiffs' Counsel" means Lead Counsel and all other counsel who, at the direction and under the supervision of Lead Counsel, represent Class Members in the Action, and Tolin's counsel.
- (oo) "Plan of Allocation" means the proposed plan of allocation of the Net Settlement Fund set forth in the Notice.

- (pp) "Preliminary Approval Order" means the order (substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A) to be entered by the Court preliminarily approving the Settlement and directing that Notice be provided to the Class.
- "Released Ambac Parties" means (i) Ambac and any and all of its current or former parents, affiliates, subsidiaries, predecessors and successors, as well as any and all of its or their current or former officers, directors, employees, agents, insurers, reinsurers, attorneys, auditors, accountants, assigns, creditors, administrators, heirs, estates and legal representatives, (ii) any and all of the Individual Defendants, and any and all of their respective current or former agents, insurers, reinsurers, attorneys, auditors, accountants, successors, assigns, creditors, administrators, heirs, estates and legal representatives, and (iii) any and all of the D&O Insurers and any and all of their respective current or former parents, affiliates, subsidiaries, predecessors, officers, directors, employees, agents, insurers, reinsurers, attorneys, auditors, accountants, successors, assigns, creditors, administrators, heirs, estates and legal representatives. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary herein, Released Ambac Parties does not include the Underwriter Defendants and does not include RLI Insurance Company. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary herein, nothing in this Stipulation of Settlement is intended to, and this Settlement and Stipulation do not, reflect or effect a release of RLI Insurance Company by any party.
- (rr) "Released Parties" means the Released Ambac Parties. "Released Parties" and "Released Ambac Parties" may be used interchangeably herein.
- (ss) "Released Parties' Claims" means any and all claims, rights, causes of action, liabilities or any other matters, whether known or Unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, whether arising under federal, state, common or foreign law, which arise out of the institution,

prosecution or settlement of the Securities Actions, that have been or could have been asserted by any or all of the Released Parties against Plaintiffs or Plaintiffs' Counsel, or against the Class Members. Released Parties' Claims does not include any claims by any Released Party that may be necessary to enforce the Settlement, which survive the Effective Date, if any. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary herein, Released Parties' Claims shall not include any claims by the Released Parties against RLI Insurance Company, the Underwriter Defendants, or the D&O Insurers.

- (tt) "Released Underwriter Parties" means any and all of the Underwriter Defendants, their past or present parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, successors and predecessors, or other individual or entity in which any of the foregoing entities has a majority interest or which is related to or affiliated with any of the foregoing entities; and their respective officers, directors, agents, employees, attorneys, advisors, investment advisors, auditors, accountants, insurers, successors, and assigns of such entities and individuals.
 - (uu) "Securities Actions" means the Ambac Class Action and the Tolin Action.
- (vv) "Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants" or "Settled Claims" means any and all manner of claims, actions, causes of actions, suits, controversies, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or Unknown, suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations or common law of the United States of America, any state or political subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, that were, could have been, or might have been asserted in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions, in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act, including but not limited to any action or omission or failure to act within the

Class Period or relevant periods specified in any of the Derivative Actions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, "Settled Claims" does not include any claims to enforce obligations under the Settlement that survive the Effective Date, if any.

- (ww) "Settled Claims" means the Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants and the terms may be used interchangeably herein.
- (xx) "Settlement" means this Stipulation of Settlement and the settlement contained herein. "Settlement" and "Ambac Settlement" may be used interchangeably herein.
- (yy) "Settlement Amount" means the sum of \$27.1 million in cash paid or to be paid into the Escrow Account by Ambac and the D&O Insurers as set forth in paragraph 8. The obligations of Ambac and each of the D&O Insurers to pay its portion of the Settlement Amount are several, as set forth in paragraph 9. "Settlement Amount" and "Ambac Settlement Amount" may be used interchangeably herein.
 - (zz) "Settlement Fund" means the Settlement Amount plus accrued interest.
 - (aaa) "Settling Defendants" means (i) Ambac and (ii) the Individual Defendants.
- (bbb) "Settling Defendants' Counsel" means the law firms representing the Settling Defendants as indicated on the signature block below.
- (ccc) "Settling Parties" means the Settling Defendants and Plaintiffs on behalf of themselves and the Class Members.
 - (ddd) "Stipulation" means this Stipulation of Settlement.
- (eee) "Summary Notice" means the Summary Notice, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-3 to Exhibit A, to be published as set forth in the Preliminary Approval Order.

- (fff) "Supplemental Agreement" means the Ambac Supplemental Agreement as defined below in paragraph 41.
- (ggg) "Taxes" means: (i) all federal, state, local and/or foreign taxes of any kind (together with any and all interest, penalties, additions to tax and additional amounts imposed with respect thereto) arising with respect to the Settlement Fund (including any taxes for any period during which the Settlement Fund does not qualify as a "qualified settlement fund" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 1.468B-1, if any); and (ii) the reasonable expenses and costs incurred by Lead Counsel in connection with determining the amount of, and paying, any taxes owed by the Settlement Fund (including, without limitation, reasonable expenses of tax attorneys and accountants).
- (hhh) "Tolin Action" means the action encaptioned *Tolin v. Ambac Financial* Group, Inc. et al., No. 08-cv-11241-CM (S.D.N.Y.).
- (iii) "Tolin Complaint" means the Amended Class Action Complaint filed in the Tolin Action on January 20, 2009.
 - (iji) "Tolin's Counsel" means the law firm of Gardy & Notis, LLP.
- (kkk) "Underwriter Defendants" means Citigroup Global Markets, Inc., UBS Securities LLC, Goldman, Sachs & Co., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner, & Smith Incorporated, and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, now known as Wells Fargo Securities, LLC.
- (Ill) "Underwriter Settlement" means the settlement set forth in the stipulation between Lead Plaintiffs and the Underwriter Defendants.
- (mmm)"Unknown Claims" means (i) any and all Settled Claims that any Plaintiff and/or Class Member, and each of their agents or attorneys, or their current or former officers,

directors or employees, does not know or suspect to exist in his, her or its favor at the time of the release of the Released Parties, and (ii) any Released Parties' Claims that the Settling Defendants, and each of their agents or attorneys, or their current or former officers, directors or employees, do not know or suspect to exist in their favor, which in the case of both (i) and (ii) if known by them might have affected their settlement with and release of the Released Parties (or Plaintiffs, as appropriate), or might have affected their decision not to object to this Settlement or not exclude themselves from the Class. With respect to any and all Settled Claims and Released Parties' Claims, the Settling Parties stipulate and agree that, upon the Effective Date, Plaintiffs and the Settling Defendants shall expressly waive, and each Class Member shall be deemed to have waived, and by operation of the Judgment shall have expressly waived, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any and all provisions, rights and benefits conferred by Cal. Civ. Code § 1542 and analogous statutes, and any law of any state or territory of the United States, or principle of common law, or the law of any foreign jurisdiction, that is similar, comparable or equivalent to Cal. Civ. Code § 1542, which provides:

A general release does not extend to claims, which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.

Plaintiffs and Class Members may hereafter discover facts in addition to or different from those which he, she or it now knows or believes to be true with respect to the subject matter of the Settled Claims, but each Plaintiff shall expressly – and each Class Member by operation of the Judgment shall be deemed to have – upon the Effective Date, fully, finally and forever settle and release any and all Settled Claims, known or Unknown, suspected or unsuspected, contingent or non-contingent, whether or not concealed or hidden, which now exist, or heretofore have existed, upon any theory of law or equity now existing or coming into existence in the

future, including, but not limited to, conduct which is negligent, reckless, intentional, with or without malice, or a breach of any duty, law or rule, without regard to the subsequent discovery or existence of such different or additional facts. Plaintiffs and the Settling Defendants acknowledge, and Class Members by law and operation of the Judgment shall be deemed to have acknowledged, that the inclusion of "Unknown Claims" in the definition of Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants and Released Parties' Claims was separately bargained for and was a material element of the Settlement.

STIPULATION OF CLASS CERTIFICATION

2. Solely for purposes of this Settlement, the Settling Parties stipulate to the certification of a Class (as defined above), pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The certification of the Class shall be binding only with respect to the Settlement of the Securities Actions and only if the Judgment contemplated by this Stipulation becomes Final and the Effective Date occurs.

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

Date, Plaintiffs and each of the Class Members shall release, and shall be deemed by operation of law to have fully, finally and forever released, relinquished, waived, discharged and dismissed, each and every Settled Claim Against Ambac and Individual Defendants, and shall forever be enjoined and barred from prosecuting any or all Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants, against any Released Ambac Party. Plaintiffs further covenant on their own behalf and on behalf of the Class not to sue any Released Ambac Party on the basis of any of the Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants or to assist any person in commencing or

maintaining any suit relating to any Settled Claim Against Ambac and Individual Defendants, including any derivative suit.

- 4. Pursuant to the Judgment, upon the Effective Date, each of the Released Parties, shall release and be deemed by operation of law to have released, waived, discharged and dismissed each and every of the Released Parties' Claims, and shall forever be enjoined from prosecuting any or all of the Released Parties' Claims against Plaintiffs, their officers, directors, employees, agents and attorneys, and all other Class Members. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, no provision of this Settlement or Stipulation, represents or should be deemed to represent a release by the Released Parties of any claim against the D&O Insurers; any such releases will be set out solely in the Insurer Agreement.
- 5. Pursuant to the Judgment, upon the Effective Date, the Individual Defendants shall release and discharge Ambac of and from any right of indemnity with respect to the Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants that are released under the terms of this Stipulation, except as otherwise provided (i) in this Stipulation, (ii) in the Insurer Agreement, or (iii) in the proposed Judgment.
- 6. Pursuant to the Judgment, upon the Effective Date, Ambac and the Individual Defendants shall be deemed to have released claims and claims over for contribution or indemnity (or any other claim or claim-over, however denominated on whatsoever theory) against the Underwriter Defendants in connection with the action encaptioned *In re Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Securities Litigation*, No. 08-cv-411-NRB (S.D.N.Y.), the action encaptioned *Tolin v. Ambac Financial Group, Inc. et al.*, No. 08-cv-11241-CM (S.D.N.Y.), and any other actions arising out of the same subject matter; provided, however, that nothing in this paragraph shall alter the contractual rights, if any, between Ambac, on the one hand, and the

Underwriter Defendants, on the other hand, under any applicable Underwriting Agreements with respect to any right of indemnification in connection with the payment of the Settlement Amount or incurrence of defense costs, which claims as between Ambac and the Underwriter Defendants are not barred, released, or discharged by the Judgment. The release provided in this paragraph shall become effective only upon receipt by Ambac and the Individual Defendants of a comparable release from the Underwriter Defendants.

7. If Plaintiffs on their own behalf, or on behalf of all or some portion of the Class, enter into a settlement with any other defendant named in the Securities Actions other than Ambac and the Individual Defendants, or any party who is or may be added as a defendant in the Securities Actions or Derivative Actions or named or claimed against in any other action arising out of, or which is in any way related to the Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants, or any other party acting for or on behalf of such defendant or party (collectively, "Other Settling Party"), counsel for Plaintiffs or all or such portion of the Class (if a settlement on behalf of all or such portion of the Class) shall obtain from such Other Settling Party releases of claims (including any claims for attorneys' fees, expenses or costs in this litigation) or claimsover of such Other Settling Party against the Released Ambac Parties and, upon Lead Counsel's request, and contingent upon there being a Final judgment as defined above, the Released Ambac Parties will deliver a comparable release of their claims (including any claims for attorneys' fees, expenses or costs in this litigation) or claims-over against such Other Settling Party, except that such comparable releases of the Released Ambac Parties and of such Other Settling Parties shall not extend to claims or claims-over arising out of any claim which is not covered by the respective settlements of such parties. Such releases shall be contingent upon the occurrence of both the Effective Date of the Settlement having occurred and a Final order(s) having been

issued approving the settlement with such Other Settling Party. Except as provided herein, the Released Ambac Parties are not otherwise by this Settlement releasing or agreeing to release any claims or claims-over the Released Ambac Parties now have or may have in the future against any person or entity not a party hereto. Counsel to the Class shall obtain court approval of all other settlements and shall give the Released Ambac Parties sufficient notice of any proceedings in connection with such other class settlements so as to permit the Released Ambac Parties to timely object to the extent necessary to enforce their rights.

THE SETTLEMENT CONSIDERATION

- 8. In consideration of the Settlement of the Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants against the Released Ambac Parties, Ambac and the D&O Insurers shall severally pay the total sum of \$27,100,000 as set forth below:
- (a) Pursuant to the Insurer Agreement, the D&O Insurers shall pay the sum of \$24,600,000 in cash into the Escrow Account by check or by wire transfer within fifteen (15) business days after (i) entry of the Preliminary Approval Order and (ii) the provision by Lead Plaintiffs to the D&O Insurers (with a copy to Settling Defendants' Counsel) of information necessary to effectuate a payment by check or wire transfer of funds, including as necessary the bank name and ABA routing number, account name and number, and/or a signed W-9 reflecting any taxpayer or employer identification number for the Settlement Fund. The payment obligations of each D&O Insurer pursuant to this subparagraph 8(a) shall be several and in the amounts set forth in the Insurer Agreement. Ambac and the Individual Defendants shall have no responsibility for paying this sum of \$24,600,000 into the Escrow Account; and

- (b) Ambac previously paid the sum of \$2,500,000 in cash into the Escrow Account pursuant to the Escrow Agreement. Neither Ambac nor the Individual Defendants shall have any responsibility or obligation to make any other payments into the Escrow Account.
- 9. Other than the several obligation of Ambac and the D&O Insurers to pay or cause to be paid these amounts to the Escrow Agent, the Settling Defendants shall have no obligation to make any payment into the Escrow Account pursuant to this Stipulation. Ambac shall not be liable for any portion of the payments to be provided by the D&O Insurers; the D&O Insurers shall not be liable for any portion of the payment that has been provided by Ambac; and the Individual Defendants shall not be liable for any portion of the payment that is to be or that has been provided by Ambac or the D&O Insurers. The interest earned on the Settlement Fund shall be for the benefit of the Class if the Settlement becomes Final. If the Settlement Amount is not fully deposited into the Escrow Account as set forth above, Lead Plaintiffs may, in their sole discretion: (i) enforce the Settlement by seeking to compel payment of any payment required to be made by Ambac or a D&O Insurer pursuant to the terms of this Stipulation or the Ambac/Individuals MOU to which the D&O Insurers, as well as Lead Plaintiffs, were signatories; (ii) enforce the Settlement despite the Settlement Amount not being fully deposited into the Escrow Account; or (iii) terminate the Settlement, in which case paragraphs 37 or 39, as applicable, below shall govern.

USE OF SETTLEMENT FUND

10. The Settlement Fund shall be used to pay any: (i) Taxes; (ii) Notice and Administration Costs pursuant to paragraph 17 below and as otherwise approved by the Court; (iii) attorneys' fees awarded by the Court; (iv) Litigation Expenses awarded the Court; and (v)

other Court-approved deductions. The balance remaining in the Settlement Fund shall be distributed to Authorized Claimants as provided below.

- 11. The Net Settlement Fund shall be distributed to Authorized Claimants as provided herein. The Released Parties shall have no responsibility or liability for the maintenance or distribution of the Settlement Fund pursuant to this Settlement. Except as provided herein or pursuant to orders of the Court, the Net Settlement Fund shall remain in the Escrow Account prior to the Effective Date. All funds held by the Escrow Agent shall be deemed to be in the custody of the Court and shall remain subject to the jurisdiction of the Court until such time as the funds shall be distributed or returned pursuant to the terms of this Stipulation and/or further order of the Court. The Escrow Agent shall invest any funds in excess of U.S. \$100,000 in United States Treasury Bills having maturities of 180 days or less, or money market mutual funds comprised of investments secured by the full faith and credit of the United States Government, or an account fully insured by the United States Government Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). Any funds held in escrow in an amount of less than U.S. \$100,000 may be held in an interest-bearing account insured by the FDIC or money market mutual funds comprised of investments secured by the full faith and credit of the United States Government or fully insured by the United States Government. All risks related to the investment of the Settlement Fund shall be borne by the Settlement Fund.
- 12. The Settling Parties agree that the Settlement Fund is intended to be a "qualified settlement fund" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 1.468B-1, and that Lead Counsel, as administrator of the Settlement Fund within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 1.468B-2(k)(3), shall be solely responsible for filing or causing to be filed all informational and other tax returns as may be necessary or appropriate (including, without limitation, the returns described in

Treasury Regulation §§ 1.468B-2(k) and (1)) with respect to the Settlement Fund. Such returns shall be consistent with this paragraph and in all events shall reflect that all Taxes shall be paid out of the Settlement Fund as provided by paragraph 13 below. Lead Counsel shall also be solely responsible for causing payment to be made from the Settlement Fund of any Taxes owed with respect to the Settlement Fund. Ambac agrees to provide promptly to Lead Counsel upon request from Lead Counsel the required statement described in Treasury Regulation § 1.468B-3(e). Lead Counsel, as administrator of the Settlement Fund within the meaning of Treasury Regulation §1.468B-2(k)(3), shall timely make such elections as are necessary or advisable to carry out this paragraph, including, as necessary, making a "relation back election," in accordance with Treasury Regulation § 1.468B-1(j) (2), to cause the qualified settlement fund to come into existence at the earliest allowable date, and shall take or cause to be taken all actions as may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith.

13. All Taxes shall be paid out of the Settlement Fund, and shall be timely paid by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the disbursement instructions set forth in the Escrow Agreement, and without prior Order of the Court. Any tax returns prepared with respect to the Settlement Fund (as well as any election set forth therein) shall be consistent with the previous paragraph and in all events shall reflect that all Taxes shall be paid out of the Settlement Fund as provided herein. The Setting Parties agree that the Released Parties shall be held harmless from and shall be entitled to indemnification out of the Settlement Fund for any Taxes and related expenses of any kind whatsoever (including without limitation, taxes payable by reason of any such indemnification). The Settling Defendants shall notify the Escrow Agent promptly if they receive any notice of any claim for Taxes relating to the Settlement Fund.

- 14. This is not a claims-made settlement; there will be no reversion. Upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, neither the Settling Defendants nor the D&O Insurers will have any right to the return of the Settlement Fund or any portion thereof irrespective of the number of Claims filed, the collective amount of losses of Authorized Claimants, the percentage of recovery of losses, or the amounts to be paid to Authorized Claimants from the Net Settlement Fund.
- 15. The Claims Administrator shall discharge its duties under Lead Counsel's supervision and subject to the jurisdiction of the Court. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Released Parties shall have no responsibility whatsoever for the administration of the Settlement, and shall have no liability whatsoever to any person, including, but not limited to, the Class Members, in connection with any such administration.
- 16. Lead Counsel shall cause the Claims Administrator to mail the Notice and Proof of Claim to those members of the Class at the address of each such person as set forth in the records of Ambac (or its transfer agent(s)), or who otherwise may be identified through further reasonable effort. Lead Counsel will cause to be published the Summary Notice pursuant to the terms of the Preliminary Approval Order or in whatever other form or manner might be ordered by the Court. For the purpose of identifying and providing notice to the Class, within five (5) business days of the date of entry of the Preliminary Approval Order, Ambac shall provide or cause to be provided to the Claims Administrator (at no cost to the Settlement Fund, Lead Counsel or the Claims Administrator) its security holder lists (consisting of security holder names and addresses), in electronic form.
- 17. Following entry of the Preliminary Approval Order, Lead Counsel may pay from the Escrow Account, without further approval from the Settling Defendants or the D&O Insurers or further order of the Court, all reasonable Notice and Administration Costs. Such costs and

expenses shall include, without limitation, the actual costs of publication, printing and mailing the Notice, reimbursements to nominee owners for forwarding the Notice to their beneficial owners, the administrative expenses actually incurred and fees reasonably charged by the Claims Administrator in connection with providing Notice and processing the submitted claims, and the reasonable fees, if any, of the Escrow Agent. In the event that the Settlement is terminated pursuant to the terms of this Stipulation, all Notice and Administration Costs actually paid or incurred, including any related fees, will not be returned or repaid to the Settling Defendants, the D&O Insurers or any person or entity who or which paid any portion of the Settlement Fund, and the amounts not returned shall be allocated on a *pro rata* basis based on each contributing party's contribution actually paid into the Escrow Account. Prior to final approval of the Settlement, the amount that may be paid for reasonable Notice and Administration Costs without further approval from the Settling Defendants or the D&O Insurers or further order of the Court pursuant to this paragraph may not exceed five-hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000).

18. The Released Parties shall have no responsibility for, interest in, or liability whatsoever with respect to the maintenance, investment or distribution of the Settlement Fund, the establishment or maintenance of the Escrow Account, the establishment or administration of the Plan of Allocation, the determination, administration, or calculation of claims, the payment or withholding of Taxes, the distribution of the Net Settlement Fund, the administration of the Settlement, or any losses incurred in connection with such matters. The Settling Defendants take no position with respect to the provisions of this Stipulation governing those issues.

ATTORNEYS' FEES AND LITIGATION EXPENSES

19. Lead Counsel will apply to the Court for a collective award of attorneys' fees to Plaintiffs' Counsel as specified in paragraph 6 of the Notice attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 to

Exhibit A. Lead Counsel will request that the Court approve an allocation from the awarded fee to Tolin's Counsel in the amount of four-hundred thousand dollars (\$400,000) for Tolin's Counsel's fees and expenses in connection with the Tolin Action; subject to any limits imposed by the Court and/or as a matter of law, Lead Counsel shall otherwise have the sole authority to allocate the Court-awarded attorneys' fees and Litigation Expenses amongst Plaintiffs' Counsel in a manner which they, in good faith, believe reflects the contributions of such counsel to the prosecution and settlement of the Securities Actions. The Released Parties shall have no responsibility for the allocation among Plaintiffs' Counsel, and/or any other person or entity who may assert some claim thereto, of any award of attorneys' fees or Litigation Expenses that the Court may make in the Securities Actions, and the Settling Defendants shall take no position with respect to such matters.

- 20. Lead Counsel also may apply to the Court for reimbursement of Litigation Expenses, which may include reimbursement of the expenses of Plaintiffs in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(a)(4). The Settling Defendants shall not take any position with respect to Lead Counsel's applications or awards. Such matters are not the subject of any agreement between the Settling Parties other than what is set forth in this Stipulation.
- 21. Upon application to the Court, any attorneys' fees and Litigation Expenses that are awarded by the Court may be paid to Lead Counsel, with the Court's approval, immediately upon award, notwithstanding the existence of any timely filed objections thereto, or potential for appeal therefrom, or collateral attack on the Settlement or any part thereof, subject to Lead Counsel's obligation to make appropriate refunds or repayments to the Settlement Fund, plus accrued interest at the same net rate as is earned by the Settlement Fund, if the Settlement is terminated pursuant to the terms of this Stipulation or if, as a result of any appeal or further

proceedings on remand, or successful collateral attack, the award of attorneys' fees and/or Litigation Expenses is reduced or reversed. Lead Counsel shall make the appropriate refund or repayment in full no later than fifteen (15) business days after receiving from a court of appropriate jurisdiction notice of the termination of the Settlement or notice of any reduction of the award of attorneys' fees and/or Litigation Expenses. An award of attorneys' fees and/or Litigation Expenses is not a necessary term of this Stipulation and is not a condition of this Stipulation. Lead Plaintiffs and Lead Counsel may not cancel or terminate the Stipulation or the Settlement based on this Court's or any appellate court's ruling with respect to attorneys' fees and/or Litigation Expenses.

22. Subject to any necessary approval by the Bankruptcy Court (which Ambac will seek or has sought), Ambac agrees that it will pay defense costs incurred by the existing counsel for Ambac and the Individual Defendants in connection with the efforts of Ambac and the Individual Defendants to obtain court approval of the Settlement. However, nothing in this Stipulation shall preclude the Individual Defendants from seeking to recover from the D&O Insurers defense costs incurred or that may be incurred if the Effective Date does not occur or defense costs, including costs in connection with efforts to obtain court approval of a settlement or to enforce or assert the releases or bar orders provided by a settlement, if those defense costs have not been paid by Ambac.

CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR

23. The Claims Administrator shall administer the process of receiving, reviewing and approving or denying claims under Lead Counsel's supervision and subject to the jurisdiction of the Court. Other than Ambac's obligation to provide its shareholder transfer records, as provided herein in paragraph 16, none of the Released Parties shall have any

responsibility for the administration of the Settlement or the claims process. The Settling Defendants and Settling Defendants' Counsel shall cooperate in the administration of the Settlement to the extent reasonably necessary to effectuate its terms and to the extent consistent with the terms of this Stipulation.

- 24. The Claims Administrator shall receive Claims and administer them according to the Plan of Allocation, as proposed by Plaintiffs and approved by the Court, or according to such other Plan of Allocation as the Court approves. The proposed Plan of Allocation is as set forth in paragraph 2 and 41-75 of the Notice attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 to Exhibit A.
- 25. The allocation of the Net Settlement Fund among Authorized Claimants is a matter separate and apart from the proposed Settlement between the Settling Parties, and any decision by the Court concerning the Plan of Allocation shall not affect the validity or finality of the proposed Settlement. The Plan of Allocation proposed in the Notice is not a necessary term of this Stipulation, and it is not a condition of this Stipulation that any particular plan of allocation be approved by the Court. Plaintiffs and/or their counsel may not cancel or terminate the Stipulation or the Settlement based on this Court's or any appellate court's ruling with respect to the Plan of Allocation in the Securities Actions. The Settling Defendants shall have no responsibility or liability whatsoever for allocation of the Net Settlement Fund, nor shall the Settling Defendants object to the Plan of Allocation proposed by Plaintiffs.
- 26. Lead Counsel shall be responsible for supervising the administration of the Settlement and the Settlement Fund and for supervising the disbursement of the Net Settlement Fund. Neither the Settling Defendants nor any other Released Party shall have any liability, obligation or responsibility whatsoever for the administration of the Settlement or the Settlement Fund or for supervising the disbursement of the Net Settlement Fund. Neither the Settling

Defendants nor any other Released Party shall be permitted to review, contest or object to any Claim Form or any decision of the Claims Administrator or Lead Counsel with respect to accepting or rejecting any Claim Form or Claim for payment by a Class Member, except as provided for in paragraph 28. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a potential Class Member or actual Class Member files any legal action against any Settling Defendant or other Released Party, the Settling Defendant or Released Party that is named as a defendant in such an action shall have the right to obtain and review any Claim Form or Claim for Payment that such potential or actual Class Member submitted.

- 27. All Claim Forms must be submitted by the date set by the Court in the Preliminary Approval Order and specified in the Notice, unless such deadline is extended by Order of the Court. Any Class Member who fails to submit a Claim Form by such date shall be forever barred from receiving any distribution from the Net Settlement Fund or payment pursuant to this Stipulation (unless, by Order of the Court, late-filed Claim Forms are accepted), but shall in all other respects be bound by all of the terms of this Stipulation and the Settlement, including the terms of the Judgment and the releases provided for herein, and will be permanently barred and enjoined from bringing any action, claim or other proceeding of any kind against any Released Party concerning any Settled Claim, including but not limited to the releases and bars provided by the terms of paragraphs 3, 30 and 32 of this Stipulation and the Judgment provided for therein. A Claim Form shall be deemed to be submitted when posted, if received with a postmark indicated on the envelope and if mailed by first-class mail and addressed in accordance with the instructions thereon.
- 28. Each Claimant shall be deemed to have consented and submitted to the jurisdiction of the Court with respect to the Claimant's Claim, including, but not limited to,

consents to the releases provided for in the Judgment, and the Claim will be subject to investigation and discovery under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, provided that such investigation and discovery shall be limited to that Claimant's status as a Class Member and the validity and amount of the Claimant's Claim. No discovery shall be allowed on the merits of the Securities Actions or this Settlement in connection with the processing of Claim Forms, provided, however, that the Settling Defendants may determine whether specific persons who opt out of the Class have submitted Claim Forms and obtain any documentation relating thereto.

- 29. Lead Counsel will apply to the Court, on notice to Ambac and the Individual Defendants, for a Class Distribution Order: (i) approving the Claims Administrator's administrative determinations concerning the acceptance and rejection of the Claims submitted; (ii) approving payment of any outstanding administration fees and expenses associated with the administration of the Settlement from the Escrow Account; and (iii) if the Effective Date has occurred, directing payment of the Net Settlement Fund to Authorized Claimants from the Escrow Account.
- 30. Payment pursuant to the Class Distribution Order shall be final and conclusive against any and all Class Members. All Class Members whose Claims are not approved by the Court shall be barred from participating in distributions from the Net Settlement Fund, but otherwise shall be bound by all of the terms of this Stipulation and the Settlement, including the terms of the Judgment, and the releases provided for therein, and will be permanently barred and enjoined from bringing any action against any and all Released Parties concerning any and all of the Settled Claims.
- 31. All proceedings with respect to the administration, processing and determination of Claims and the determination of all controversies relating thereto, including disputed

questions of law and fact with respect to the validity of Claims, shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the Court.

TERMS OF THE JUDGMENT

32. Lead Counsel shall request that the Court enter a Judgment, substantially in the form annexed hereto as Exhibit B, including, among other things, the releases, bar orders, judgment reduction provisions, and conditions provided for therein. The terms of the Judgment shall provide *inter alia* that the Released Ambac Parties shall have no liability to any nonsettling defendant or any other party or person for contribution or indemnification, however denominated, in connection with, arising out of or in any way related to the Securities Actions, or with respect to any Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants, and that any such claims-over shall be extinguished. The entry of such a Judgment is one of the conditions precedent to the occurrence of the Effective Date.

WAIVER OR TERMINATION

33. Within thirty (30) days of: (a) the Court's entry of an order expressly declining to enter the Preliminary Approval Order in any material respect without leave to amend and resubmit; (b) the Court's refusal to approve this Stipulation or any material part of it; (c) the Court's declining to enter the Judgment, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, in any material respect; or (d) the date upon which the Judgment is modified or reversed in any material respect in an order that represents a Final decision on the matter, the Settling Parties each shall have the right to terminate the Settlement and this Stipulation, by providing written notice to the other of an election to do so. However, any decision with respect to an application for attorneys' fees or Litigation Expenses, with respect to the Court's findings and conclusions pursuant to § 21D(c)(1) of the Exchange Act, as amended by the PSLRA, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-

- 4(c)(1), or with respect to any plan of allocation, shall not be considered material to the Settlement and shall not be grounds for termination.
- 34. The Ambac Settlement was negotiated separately and independently from the settlement between Lead Plaintiffs and the Underwriter Defendants and shall proceed separately if the Underwriter Settlement is terminated; one is not conditioned on the other. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is the mutual intent of all of the parties to both settlements that the settlements be treated together for notice, opt out and approval purposes as much as practicable.
- 35. The effectiveness of the Settlement shall be conditioned on the occurrence or waiver of all of the following events and the Effective Date of the Settlement shall be the date upon which all of the following events have occurred or been waived:
 - a. Ambac and the D&O Insurers have fully paid, or caused to be fully paid, pursuant to the terms of this Stipulation, the Ambac Settlement Amount as required above;
 - Ambac and/or the Individual Defendants have not exercised their option to terminate their participation in this Stipulation pursuant to paragraph 41 hereof;
 - c. The Court has approved the Settlement as described herein, following notice to the Class and a hearing, as prescribed by Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and entered the Judgment, or a judgment substantially similar in the form and substance of Exhibit B hereto;
 - d. The Judgment has become Final, as defined in paragraph 1(aa);
 - e. A notice of dismissal with prejudice and without costs to any party has been executed in the Tolin Action and filed and approved pursuant to paragraph 48;
 - f. The Bankruptcy Court has either (i) entered an order, which order shall include any necessary approvals related to Ambac's entry into and performance of any obligations

under this Stipulation, confirming a plan of reorganization (the "Confirmation Order") in respect of Ambac (the "Plan of Reorganization"), or (ii) entered an order pursuant to Rule 9019, in accordance with the terms of paragraph 50 below, of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure approving Ambac's entry into and performance of any obligations under this Stipulation (the "9019 Order"). Such Confirmation Order or such 9019 Order, as the case may be, shall include provisions (w) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, permanently barring and enjoining all persons or entities, including but not limited to Ambac and/or Ambac as debtor in possession on behalf of Ambac and any and all of its current and former parents, affiliates, subsidiaries, predecessors, successors, heirs, estates, administrators and legal representatives ("Ambac Entities") and any shareholder or creditor of any of the Ambac Entities (including any shareholder or creditor of any of the Ambac Entities or any other person or entity purportedly acting derivatively on behalf of any of the Ambac Entities), from instituting or prosecuting or continuing to prosecute any and all manner of claims, actions, causes of actions, suits, controversies, agreements, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or Unknown, suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations or common law of the United States of America, any state or political subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, against any or all of the Individual Defendants and any or all of the current or former officers, directors or employees of any Ambac Entity, (aa) that were, could have been, might have been or might be in the future asserted in any of the Securities Actions or any of the Derivative Actions, or (bb) in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based

upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act within the Class Period or relevant periods specified in any of the Derivative Actions by any of the Individual Defendants or any of the current or former officers, directors or employees of any Ambac Entity relating to any Ambac Entity or in his or her capacity as an officer, director, or employee of any Ambac Entity, or (cc) that allege, arise out of, or are based upon or attributable to any fact, action, omission or failure to act that is (A) alleged in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions or (B) related to any fact, action, omission or failure to act alleged in the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions; (x) providing for full releases by Ambac, on behalf of itself and (to the fullest extent of Ambac's power to do so) all Ambac Entities and (to the fullest extent of their power to do so) any shareholder, creditor or other person or entity purporting to sue on behalf of or in the right of any of the Ambac Entities, of any and all manner of claims, actions, causes of actions, suits, controversies, agreements, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or Unknown, suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations or common law of the United States of America, any state or political subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, against any or all of the Individual Defendants and any or all of the current or former officers, directors or employees of any Ambac Entity, (aa) that were, could have been, might have been or might be in the future asserted in any of the Securities Actions or any of the Derivative Actions, or (bb) in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act within the Class Period or relevant periods

specified in any of the Derivative Actions by any of the Individual Defendants or any of the current or former officers, directors or employees of any Ambac Entity relating to any Ambac Entity or in his or her capacity as an officer, director, or employee of any Ambac Entity, or (cc) that allege, arise out of, or are based upon or attributable to any fact, action, omission or failure to act that is (A) alleged in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions or (B) related to any fact, action, omission or failure to act alleged in the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions; (y) directing the filing of appropriate applications seeking dismissal of the Derivative Actions (if such Derivative Actions have not previously been dismissed) and (z) approving Ambac's entry into the Insurer Agreement;

- g. The order or orders of the Bankruptcy Court entered pursuant to subparagraph (f) of this paragraph have become Final; and
- h. Dismissal of the Derivative Actions.
- 36. Upon the occurrence or waiver of all of the events referenced in paragraph 35 above and upon the Effective Date, any and all remaining interest or right of Settling Defendants in or to the Settlement Fund, if any, shall be absolutely and forever extinguished and the releases provided for in paragraphs 3-6 herein shall be effective, except as otherwise stated herein.
- 37. If Ambac and/or the Individual Defendants exercise their right to terminate their participation in this Stipulation and Settlement as provided in paragraph 41 below, or the Court does not approve the Ambac Settlement but does approve the Underwriter Settlement, or Bankruptcy Court approval is not obtained as set forth in paragraphs 35(f), then:
 - a. The Underwriter Settlement shall proceed as set forth in that stipulation without further notice to the Class.

- b. The releases set forth in the Proofs of Claim shall be given only with respect to the Underwriter Defendants and the Released Underwriter Parties, and not with respect to Ambac, the Individual Defendants, or the Released Ambac Parties.
- c. Plaintiffs and the Settling Defendants shall be restored to their respective positions with respect to one another in the litigation as of December 3, 2010.
- d. The terms and provisions of this Stipulation, with the exception of provisions in paragraphs 13, 17, 21, 22, 40, 42, 45, 46, and 60 herein, shall have no further force and effect, and shall not be used in the litigation or in any other proceeding for any purpose with respect to Ambac, the Individual Defendants and the Released Ambac Parties.
- e. Any Judgment or order entered by the Court in accordance with the terms of this Stipulation, including but not limited to the certification of the Class, shall be treated as vacated, *nunc pro tunc*, with respect to Ambac and the Individual Defendants. Without limiting the foregoing, in such case, this Stipulation will not be binding on Ambac or the Individual Defendants, and Ambac and the Individual Defendants may oppose and assert all objections to certification of any class or subclass sought by any party to the litigation, to the same extent, if any, that they would have been able to had they not entered into this Stipulation.
- f. Unless otherwise agreed in writing between Lead Counsel and counsel for Ambac, within fifteen (15) business days after written notification of the termination of the Ambac Settlement is sent by Lead Counsel to the Escrow Agent, the payments to the Settlement Fund made by Ambac and/or the D&O Carriers shall be refunded by the Escrow Agent to Ambac and/or the D&O Insurers who made the payments on a *pro*

rata basis based on each party's contribution actually paid into the Escrow Account. In such event, the refunds to Ambac and/or the D&O Insurers shall include the pro rata share of interest accrued, net of applicable Taxes and Notice and Administration Costs, on their respective payments to the Settlement Fund.

- 38. If the Underwriter Settlement is terminated or the Court does not approve the Underwriter Settlement but does approve the Ambac Settlement, then:
 - a. The Ambac Settlement shall proceed as set forth in this Stipulation without further notice to the Class.
 - b. Pursuant to the terms of agreement between the Lead Plaintiffs and the Underwriter Defendants, the payments to the settlement fund made by or on behalf of the Underwriter Defendants, if any, shall be refunded by the Escrow Agent to the Underwriter Defendants who made the payments. In such event, the refunds to the Underwriter Defendants shall include the pro rata share of interest accrued, net of applicable Taxes and Notice and Administration Costs, on their respective payments to the settlement fund.
- 39. If both the Ambac Settlement and the Underwriter Settlement are terminated or not approved, then:
 - a. This Stipulation shall be canceled and terminated unless Lead Counsel and Settling Defendants' Counsel otherwise mutually agree in writing and the Court (and to the extent necessary, the Bankruptcy Court) allows the Settling Parties to proceed with this Stipulation.
 - b. Plaintiffs and the Settling Defendants shall be restored to their respective positions with respect to one another in the litigation as of December 3, 2010.

- c. The terms and provisions of this Stipulation, with the exception of provisions in paragraphs 13, 17, 21, 22, 40, 42, 45, 46, and 60 herein, shall have no further force and effect and shall not be used in the litigation or in any other proceeding for any purpose with respect to Ambac, the Individual Defendants and the Released Ambac Parties. Any Judgment or order entered by the Court in accordance with the terms of this Stipulation, including but not limited to the certification of the Class, shall be treated as vacated, *nunc pro tunc*. Without limiting the foregoing, in such case, this Stipulation will not be binding on Ambac or the Individual Defendants, and Ambac and the Individual Defendants may oppose and assert all objections to certification of any class or subclass sought by any party to the litigation, to the same extent, if any, that they would have been able to had they not entered into this Stipulation.
- 40. Within fifteen (15) business days after written notification of termination is sent by Lead Counsel to the Escrow Agent, the Settlement Fund (including accrued interest), less Notice and Administration Expenses which have either been disbursed, or are determined to be incurred and chargeable to Notice and Administration Expenses, and less any Taxes paid or owing pursuant to paragraphs 13 and 17 hereto, shall be refunded by the Escrow Agent to the parties who contributed funds to the Escrow Account on a *pro rata* basis based on each party's contribution actually paid into the Escrow Account. For purposes of calculating the amounts to be refunded under the circumstances addressed in this subparagraph, interest, Taxes and Notice and Administration Expenses shall be attributed *pro rata* based on the amounts paid into the Settlement Fund. At the request and under the direction of counsel for Ambac, the Underwriter Defendants and/or the D&O Insurers, the Escrow Agent or its designee shall apply for any tax refund owed to the Settlement Fund and pay the proceeds, after deduction of any fees or

expenses incurred in connection with such application(s) for refund, to Ambac and the Underwriter Defendants and/or the D&O Insurers, as applicable, on a *pro rata* basis.

- 41. If a portion of the Class, equal to or greater than the portion specified in a separate supplemental agreement between Plaintiffs and Ambac and the Individual Defendants (the "Ambac Supplemental Agreement") delivers timely and valid requests for exclusion from the Class, then Ambac and the Individual Defendants shall have the option to terminate their participation in this Stipulation and the Ambac Settlement, pursuant to the terms set forth in the Ambac Supplemental Agreement.
- 42. The Supplemental Agreement is confidential and shall not be filed with any court unless and until a dispute as between or among Plaintiffs and the Settling Defendants concerning its interpretation or application arises. In that event, the Settling Parties shall file and maintain the Supplemental Agreement with any court under seal. The terms and conditions of the Supplemental Agreement shall otherwise be kept confidential and shall not be disclosed, unless ordered by a court, provided that the Supplemental Agreement may be disclosed to the Settling Defendants, their attorneys, accountants, and advisers, the D&O Insurers and their counsel, and members of the Creditors' Committee and their counsel.
- 43. The proposed schedule reflected in the proposed Preliminary Approval Order and proposed Notice shall provide that any request for exclusion must be received at least twenty-one (21) calendar days prior to the Final Approval Hearing. The Settling Parties intend and agree that Lead Plaintiffs will request that the Court order that any members of the Class opting out of either the Settlement provided herein or the Plaintiffs' settlement with the Underwriter Defendants shall be deemed to have opted out of both the Ambac and Underwriter Settlements; approval by the Court of this request is not a condition to the Settlement.

- Administrator (or other person designated to receive exclusion requests) shall be provided to Lead Counsel and Settling Defendants' Counsel by e-mail or facsimile within three (3) business days of receipt thereof. If the opt-out threshold specified by the Supplemental Agreement is reached, Ambac and the Individual Defendants shall have until five (5) business days prior to the Final Approval Hearing to inform Lead Counsel, in writing, that they elect to exercise their option to terminate the Settlement. Lead Counsel shall have the right to communicate with the holders of such securities and, if, prior to the conclusion of the Final Approval Hearing, a sufficient number of them withdraw in writing their requests for exclusion such that the remaining "opt outs" represent less than the threshold, the notice of termination shall be deemed withdrawn.
- 45. Except as otherwise provided herein, in the event the Settlement is terminated, the Settlement termination shall be without prejudice, and none of the terms of the Settlement shall be effective or enforceable and the facts of the Settlement shall not be admissible in any trial of the Securities Actions, and the Settling Parties shall be deemed to have reverted to their respective status in these Securities Actions as of December 3, 2010, and, this Stipulation shall be null and void and shall have no further force or effect, the Settling Parties shall proceed in all respects as if this Stipulation and any related orders had not been entered, and any portion of the Settlement consideration previously paid or caused to be paid by the Settling Defendants, including, but not limited to, any funds disbursed in payment of Litigation Expenses and attorneys' fees, together with any interest earned or appreciation thereon, less any Taxes paid or due with respect to such income, and less Notice and Administration Costs incurred and paid or payable, shall be returned to the Settling Defendants or the D&O Insurers, as appropriate, within

fifteen (15) business days after written notification of such event by Lead Counsel to the Escrow Agent, pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement.

NO ADMISSION OF WRONGDOING

- 46. Whether or not the Settlement is approved by the Court, and whether or not the Settlement is consummated, the fact and terms of this Stipulation, including exhibits, all negotiations, discussions, drafts and proceedings in connection with the Settlement, and any act performed or document signed in connection with the Settlement:
- evidence of, or construed as, or deemed to be evidence of any presumption, concession or admission by any of the Released Parties with respect to the truth of any fact alleged by Plaintiffs or the validity of any claim that was or could have been asserted against any of the Released Parties in the Securities Actions or in any litigation, in this or any other court, administrative agency, arbitration forum or other tribunal, or of any liability, negligence, fault or other wrongdoing of any kind of any of the Released Parties to Plaintiffs, the Class or anyone else;
- (b) shall not be offered or received against any of the Released Parties as evidence of a presumption, concession or admission of any fault, misrepresentation or omission with respect to any statement or written document approved or made by any of the Released Parties, or against the Released Parties, Plaintiffs or any Class Member(s) as evidence of any infirmity in the claims or defenses that have been or could have been asserted in the Securities Actions;
- (c) shall not be offered or received against any of the Released Parties, or against the Plaintiffs or any other Class Member(s), as evidence of a presumption, concession or admission with respect to any liability, negligence, fault or wrongdoing of any kind, or in any

way referred to for any other reason or purpose as against any of the Released Parties, in any other civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding, other than such proceedings as may be necessary to effectuate the provisions of this Stipulation; provided, however, that if this Stipulation is approved by the Court, any Released Party may file this Stipulation, the Judgment, any Claim Form submitted by a Class Member, and/or the Dismissal Order in any action for any purpose, including, but not limited to, in order to support a defense or counterclaim based on principles of res judicata, collateral estoppel, release and discharge, good faith settlement, judgment bar or reduction or any other theory of claim preclusion or issue preclusion or similar defense or counterclaim;

- (d) shall not be construed against any of the Released Parties, Plaintiffs or any other Class Member(s) as an admission, concession or presumption that the consideration to be given hereunder represents the amount which could be or would have been recovered after trial; and
- (e) shall not be construed against Plaintiffs or any other Class Member(s) as an admission, concession or presumption that any of their claims are without merit or that damages recoverable under the Securities Actions would not have exceeded the amount of the Settlement Fund.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 47. All of the following exhibits attached hereto are hereby incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein: proposed Preliminary Approval Order, Notice, Proof of Claim Form, Summary Notice and proposed Judgment.
- 48. Upon all conditions to the Effective Date of the Ambac Settlement having occurred, the Dismissal Order held by counsel designated by Ambac shall be filed in the Tolin

Action. If the other conditions to the Effective Date of the Ambac Settlement do not occur or the Settlement is terminated, the Dismissal Order shall not be filed and shall be returned to Tolin's Counsel.

- 49. Lead Plaintiffs agree that they will not appeal the Court's Order dated February 22, 2010, unless and until this Stipulation is terminated pursuant to the terms of one or more of paragraphs 33-45. Lead Plaintiffs further agree that if both the Ambac Settlement and the Underwriter Settlement become Final, then Lead Plaintiffs will waive any right to appeal, and will not at any time thereafter appeal, the Court's Order dated February 22, 2010.
- 50. In the event the Confirmation Order is not entered on or before August 8, 2011, then (at Plaintiffs' option) Ambac shall promptly, upon appropriate notice to parties in interest, proceed to seek the 9019 Order by motion made under Rule 9019 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedures on or before September 9, 2011, independent of any approval and confirmation of the Plan of Reorganization.
- 51. If any claim barred and enjoined by the Bankruptcy Court Approval Order is asserted against any Released Ambac Party, notwithstanding the judgment(s), approval(s) or order(s) provided herein, Ambac shall retain counsel on behalf of such Released Ambac Party to seek the dismissal of and defend against such claim, so as to effectuate the judgment(s), approval(s) or order(s) provided herein, and shall (subject to any necessary Bankruptcy Court approvals, which Ambac will seek) pay the fees and expenses of such counsel and other defense costs of such Released Ambac Party. The requirements contained in this paragraph will not impact the Effective Date.
- 52. The Settling Parties intend this Settlement to be a final and complete resolution of all disputes asserted or that could be asserted by the Plaintiffs or any other Class Member(s)

against all Released Parties with respect to all Settled Claims. Accordingly, the Settling Parties agree not to assert in any forum that the Securities Actions were brought by Plaintiffs or Lead Counsel, or defended by the Settling Defendants or Settling Defendants' Counsel, in bad faith or without a reasonable basis. For the purpose of the Court's findings and conclusions pursuant to § 21D(c)(1) of the Exchange Act, as amended by the PSLRA, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(c)(1), Plaintiffs and the Settling Defendants and their respective counsel agree that each has complied fully with Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and shall assert no claims of any violation of Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or other court rule or statute relating to the prosecution, defense or settlement of the Securities Actions. The Settling Parties agree that the amount paid and the other terms of this Settlement were negotiated at arm's length and in good faith, including in connection with a mediation conducted by an experienced and respected mediator, and reflect a settlement that was reached voluntarily after consultation with experienced legal counsel.

Agreement referred to in paragraph 41 above, may not be modified or amended, nor may any of its provisions be waived, except by a signed writing. Any condition in this Stipulation may be waived by the party entitled to enforce the condition in a writing signed by that party or its counsel. The waiver by any party of any breach of this Stipulation by any other party shall not be deemed a waiver of the breach by any other party, or a waiver of any other prior or subsequent breach of this Stipulation by that party or any other party. Without further order of the Court, the parties may agree to reasonable extensions of time to carry out any of the provisions of this Stipulation.

- 54. The headings herein are used for the purpose of convenience only and are not meant to have legal effect.
- 55. The administration and consummation of this Settlement as embodied in this Stipulation shall be under the authority of the Court, and the Court shall retain jurisdiction for the purpose of, *inter alia*, entering orders providing for the enforcement of the terms of this Stipulation, including, but not limited to, the releases provided for herein, and awards of attorneys' fees and Litigation Expenses to Lead Counsel.
- 56. This Stipulation may be executed in one or more original, e-mailed and/or faxed counterparts. All executed counterparts and each of them shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument.
- 57. This Stipulation shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the successors, trustees, and assigns of the parties hereto.
 - 58. The Settling Parties shall use their best efforts to consummate the Settlement.
- 59. The Settling Parties agree that, prior to final approval by the appropriate court(s) of the Settlement, the Honorable Nicholas H. Politan will continue to serve as a mediator for any disputes or issues that may arise relating to the Settlement.
- 60. All agreements made and orders entered during the course of the Securities Actions relating to the confidentiality of information shall survive this Stipulation.
- 61. The construction, interpretation, operation, effect and validity of this Stipulation, and all documents necessary to effectuate it, shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of New York without regard to conflicts of laws, except to the extent that federal law requires that federal law govern.

- 62. This Stipulation shall not be construed more strictly against one Settling Party than another merely by virtue of the fact that it, or any part of it, may have been prepared by counsel for one of the Settling Parties, it being recognized that it is the result of arm's-length negotiations between the Settling Parties and all Settling Parties have contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of this Stipulation.
- 63. Each individual executing this Stipulation and any of the exhibits hereto, or any related Settlement documents, represents that he or she is authorized by his or her client(s) to enter into this Stipulation and any of the exhibits hereto, or any related Settlement documents.
- 64. Lead Counsel and Settling Defendants' Counsel agree to cooperate fully in seeking Court approval of the Preliminary Approval Order, the Stipulation and this Settlement, and to use reasonable efforts to promptly agree upon and execute all such other documentation as may be reasonably required to obtain final approval by the Court of the Settlement.
- 65. The parties stipulate and agree that all litigation activity, except that contemplated herein and in the Preliminary Approval Order, the Notice, and the Judgment, shall be stayed and all hearings, deadlines, and other proceedings in this action, except a preliminary approval hearing (if any) and the Final Approval Hearing, shall be taken off calendar.
- 66. The Court shall retain jurisdiction with respect to implementation and enforcement of the terms of the Stipulation, and all parties hereto submit to the jurisdiction of the Court for purposes of implementing and enforcing the Settlement embodied in the Stipulation.
- 67. If any party is required to give notice to the other parties under this Stipulation, such notice shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt by hand delivery, facsimile transmission or electronic mail to the recipients in the signature block below.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Stipulation to be executed,

by their duly authorized attorneys as of May 4, 2011.

On behalf of Lead Plaintiffs in In re Ambac Securities Litigation

BERNSTEIN LITOWITZ BERGER & GROSSMANN LLP

Ву:	Stever	1 B. ~	J.nyv of	
Steven B	. Singer		0	

Steven B. Singer Kurt Hunciker

Niki L. Mendoza

Lauren A. McMillen

1285 Avenue of the Americas, 38th Floor

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 554-1400

Facsimile: (212) 554-1444

-and-

KAPLAN FOX & KILSHEIMER LLP

By:	
Frederic S. Fox	
Donald Hall	
Hae Sung Nam	
850 Third Avenue, 14th Floor	
New York, New York 10022	
Telephone: (212) 687-1980	
Facsimile: (212) 687-7714	

On behalf of Plaintiffs in Tolin v. Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

GARDY & NOTIS, LLP

James S. Noti

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Stipulation to be executed, by their duly authorized attorneys as of May 4, 2011.

On behalf of Lead Plaintiffs in In re Ambac Securities Litigation

BERNSTEIN LITOWITZ BERGER & GROSSMANN LLP

Ву:
Steven B. Singer
Kurt Hunciker
Niki L. Mendoza
Lauren A. McMillen
1285 Avenue of the Americas, 38th Floor
New York, New York 10019
Telephone: (212) 554-1400
Facsimile: (212) 554-1444
-and-
KAPLAN FOX & KILSHEIMER LLP
1
Ву:
Frederic S. Fox
Donald Hall
Hae Sung Nam
850 Third Avenue, 14th Floor
New York, New York 10022
Telephone: (212) 687-1980
Facsimile: (212) 687-7714
On behalf of Plaintiffs in Tolin v. Ambac Financial Group, Inc.
GARDY & NOTIS, LLP
Ву:
James S. Notis

Kelly A. Noto 560 Sylvan Avenue

Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey 07632

Telephone: (201) 567-7377 Facsimile: (201) 567-7337

On behalf of Michael A. Callen, Jill M. Considine, Robert J. Genader, W. Grant Gregory, Philip B. Lassiter, Sean T. Leonard, Thomas C. Theobald, John W. Uhlein III, Laura S. Unger, Henry D.G. Wallace, and David W. Wallis

By: WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ, counsel to the above

By:

Peter C. Hein (pchein@wlrk.com) Warren R. Stern (wrstern@wlrk.com) Lee Wilson (clwilson@wlrk.com)

51 West 52nd Street

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 403-1000 Facsimile: (212) 403-2000

On behalf of Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

Allison Weiss

DEWEY & LEBOEUF LLP 1301 Avenue of the Americas New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 259-8000 Facsimile: (212) 259-6333

Counsel to Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

Peter C. Hein (pchein@wlrk.com) Warren R. Stern (wrstern@wlrk.com) Lee Wilson (clwilson@wlrk.com) WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ

51 West 52nd Street New York, New York 10019

Telephone: (212) 403-1000

On behalf of Gregg L. Bienstock, Kevin J. Doyle, Philip Duff, Thomas J. Gandolfo, Kathleen McDonough, William T. McKinnon, Douglas C. Renfield-Miller, Robert G. Shoback

By: WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ, counsel to the above

By: Peter C. Hein (pchein@wlrk.com) Warren R. Stern (wrstern@wlrk.com) Lee Wilson (clwilson@wlrk.com)

51 West 52nd Street

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 403-1000 Facsimile: (212) 403-2000

Facsimile: (212) 403-2000 Counsel to Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

IN RE AMBAC FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. SECURITIES LITIGATION

Case No. 08-cv-00411-NRB

STANLEY TOLIN and EDWARD WALTON, Individually and On Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated,

Case No. 08-cv-11241-CM

Plaintiffs,

v.

AMBAC FINANCIAL GROUP, INC., ROBERT J. GENADER and SEAN T. LEONARD,

Defendants.

FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE STIPULATION OF SETTLEMENT WITH AMBAC AND THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS

This First Amendment to the Stipulation of Settlement with Ambac and the Individual Defendants dated May 4, 2011 (the "Stipulation"), is entered into between and among the undersigned Settling Parties (as defined in paragraph 1 of the Stipulation) by and through their respective counsel.

- A. The Settling Parties hereby agree that Paragraph 1(vv) of the Stipulation is amended to read as follows:
 - 1(vv) "Settled Claims Against Ambac and Individual Defendants" or "Settled Claims" means any and all manner of claims, actions, causes of actions, suits, controversies, costs, damages, judgments, and demands whatsoever, known or Unknown, suspected or unsuspected, accrued or unaccrued, arising under the laws, regulations or common law of the United States of America, any state or political subdivision thereof, or any foreign country or jurisdiction, in law, contract, or in equity, that were, could have been, or might have been asserted in any of the Securities Actions or the Derivative Actions, in connection with, arising out of, related to, or based upon, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any action or omission or failure to act, including but not limited to any action or omission or failure to act within the Class Period or relevant periods specified in any of the Derivative Actions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, "Settled Claims" does not include any claims to enforce obligations under the Settlement that survive the Effective Date, if any. Excluded from this paragraph and from the release are the claims arising under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 at issue in the ERISA action entitled Veera v. Ambac Administrative Committee et al., No. 10-cv-4191 (HB) ("Veera") that is pending before Judge Harold Baer, Jr. in the Southern District of New York relating to the Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Savings Incentive Plan, provided, however, that nothing herein shall be deemed a waiver by the defendants in Veera of their rights to maintain that any recovery by the Ambac Financial Group, Inc. Savings Incentive Plan pursuant to this Settlement shall offset any recovery by the plaintiffs in Veera.
- B. The Settling Parties further agree that conforming changes will be made to the Proof of Claim Form (*see* Exhibit A-2 to Exhibit A to the Stipulation) and the Notice of Pendency of Class Action and Proposed Settlement, Final Approval Hearing, and Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Reimbursement of Litigation Expenses (*see* Exhibit A-1 to Exhibit A to the Stipulation) prior to distribution.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this First Amendment to the

Stipulation to be executed, by their duly authorized attorneys as of May 25, 2011.

On behalf of Lead Plaintiffs in In re Ambac Securities Litigation

BERNSTEIN LITOWITZ BERGER & GROSSMANN LLP

Steven B. Singer

Kurt Hunciker Niki L. Mendoza Lauren A. McMillen

1285 Avenue of the Americas, 38th Floor

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 554-1400 Facsimile: (212) 554-1444

-and-

KAPLAN FOX & KILSHEIMER LLP

Frederic S. Fox Donald Hall Hae Sung Nam

850 Third Avenue, 14th Floor New York, New York 10022 Telephone: (212) 687-1980 Facsimile: (212) 687-7714

On behalf of Plaintiffs in Tolin v. Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

GARDY & NOTIS, LLP

James S. Notis Kelly A. Noto

560 Sylvan Avenue

Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey 07632

Telephone: (201) 567-7377 Facsimile: (201) 567-7337

On behalf of Michael A. Callen, Jill M. Considine, Robert J. Genader, W. Grant Gregory, Philip B. Lassiter, Sean T. Leonard, Thomas C. Theobald, John W. Uhlein III, Laura S. Unger, Henry D.G. Wallace, and David W. Wallis

By: WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ, counselvo the above

By: Peter C. Hein (pchein@wlrk.com)

Warren R. Stern (wrstern@wlrk.com)

Lee Wilson (clwilson@wlrk.com)

51 West 52nd Street

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 403-1000

Facsimile: (212) 403-2000

On behalf of Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

By:

Peter Ivanick
Allison Weiss
DEWEY & LEBOEUF LLP
1301 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10019
Telephone: (212) 259-8000
Facsimile: (212) 259-6333

Counsel to Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

Peter C. Hein (pchein@wlrk.com)
Warren R. Stern (wrstern@wlrk.com)
Lee Wilson (clwilson@wlrk.com)
WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ
51 West 52nd Street
New York, New York 10019
Telephone: (212) 403-1000
Facsimile: (212) 403-2000
Counsel to Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

On behalf of Gregg L. Bienstock, Kevin J. Doyle, Philip Duff, Thomas J. Gandolfo, Kathleen McDonough, William T. McKinnon, Douglas C. Renfield-Miller, Robert G. Shoback

By: WACNTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ,

counse to the above

Peter C. Hein (pchein@wlrk.com)
Warren R. Stern (wrstern@wlrk.com)
Lee Wilson (clwilson@wlrk.com)

51 West 52nd Street

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 403-1000 Facsimile: (212) 403-2000 On behalf of Michael A. Callen, Jill M. Considine, Robert J. Genader, W. Grant Gregory, Philip B. Lassiter, Sean T. Leonard, Thomas C. Theobald, John W. Uhlein III, Laura S. Unger, Henry D.G. Wallace, and David W. Wallis

By: WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ, counsel to the above

By:

Peter C. Hein (pchein@wlrk.com) Warren R. Stern (wrstern@wlrk.com) Lee Wilson (clwilson@wlrk.com)

51 West 52nd Street

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 403-1000 Facsimile: (212) 403-2000

On behalf of Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

Peter Ivanick

Allison Weiss

DEWEY & LEBOEUF LLP 1301 Avenue of the Americas

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 259-8000 Faesimile: (212) 259-6333

Counsel to Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

Peter C. Hein (pchein@wlrk.com) Warren R. Stern (wrstern@wlrk.com)

Lee Wilson (clwilson@wlrk.com)

WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ

51 West 52nd Street

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 403-1000 Facsimile: (212) 403-2000

Counsel to Ambac Financial Group, Inc.

On behalf of Gregg L. Bienstock, Kevin J. Doyle, Philip Duff, Thomas J. Gandolfo, Kathleen McDonough, William T. McKinnon, Douglas C. Renfield-Miller, Robert G. Shoback

By: WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ, counsel to the above

By:

Peter C. Hein (pchein@wlrk.com) Warren R. Stern (wrstern@wlrk.com) Lee Wilson (clwilson@wlrk.com) 51 West 52nd Street

New York, New York 10019 Telephone: (212) 403-1000 Facsimile: (212) 403-2000